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HISTORY OF MEXICO.

CHAPTER 1.

OPENING OF THE SEVENTEENTH CENTURY.
1601-1620.

CHARACTER OF VICEROY MONTEREY— V1ZCAINO’S EXPLORATION—ATTEMPTED
INTERCOURSE WITH JAPAN —MONTESCLAROS’ FIRM RuLE— VELASCO
AGAIN MADE VICEROY—MEXICO UNDER WATER—THE DRAINAGE WORK
or HueaUETOCA 18 BRGUN—A GREAT ENGINEERING FERAT, YET IN-
EFFICIENT—NEGR0 REVOLT —PROGRESS OF SETTLEMENT IN NUEVA
Vizcaya, SINALOA, AND SoNORA—A NEw PoLricy ror CoNQUEsT—UP-
RISING OF THE ACAXEES AND XIXIMES—THE TEPERUANE WAR—PRo-
TECTIVE MEASURES FOR INDIANS—ARCHBISHOP GUERRA’S BRIEFr RULB
A8 VicErovy—PoMPoUus FUNERAL CEREMONIES—THE TIMID AUDIENCIA
AND THE P1G8—SPILBERGEN AT ACAPULCO—INCREASE oF CORRUPTION
UNDER VICEROY GUADALCAZAR.

WE have learned something of the count of Mon-
terey, of his character and abilities as a governor and
representative of royalty; we have noted his policy
with regard to the Indians and other affairs, and have
seen how his name has been retained for the capitals
of two provinces, namely, those of Nuevo Leon and
of California, to both of which countries he de-
spatched expeditions.

Little remains to be said in taking leave of him.
‘We have found him on the whole a wecll-meaning
man, and rather inclined to caution. He was deeply
enough impredsed with the duties of a ruler, and
quite ready to carry out reforms. He fell into few
serious errors, and these he was prepared to acknowl-
edge and remedy so that even the Indians, the

Vor. IIl. 1



2 OPENING OF THE SEVENTEENTH CENTCRY.

main sufferers by reason of his mistakes, recognized
the benevolence of his motives. Certain measures
toward the last, and the attendant vacillations, seemed
to indicate less of that soundness of judgment and
firmness which were at first ascribed to him. This
verdict is sustained by his leniency toward those who
by their corrupt dealings contributed to his failures.
The absence of severity, and the neglect to enforce
other needed reforms, may have been dictated by a
prudential regard for powerful Spaniards, who had
shown themselves so ready to retaliate in malignant
letters to the home government whenever their inter-
ests were assailed. Nevertheless, the reports on the
whole must have been rather favorable, tor, the vice-
royalty of Peru becoming vacant soon after the turn
of the century, Monterey was advanced to this more
lucrative place.! His departure was generally regret-
ted, and the Indians filled the air with lamentation.
One reason for his popularity lay in a showy open-
handedness which spared not even the royal coffers, as
we have seen. He did not long survive the change,
for he died in Peru in March, 1606.2

Of the foundation of the capital of Nuevo Leon I
have already spoken. California’s capital was not
established till nearly two centuries later, when it
assumed the name of the bay discovered by Sebastian
Vizcaino. This navigator, to whom the north-west
latitudes were already somewhat familiar, had beeun
despatched from Acapuleco in May 1602, with three
vessels carrying nearly two hundred men, having in-
structions to examine the coast of California for a
suitable port wherein vessels from the Philippines

! Felipe III. fixed the salary at 30,000 ducats, duc from the date of setting
out for Peru. Montemayor, Srmarios, 158. That of the Mexican viceroy was
20,000, with a smaller guard of honor than was granted 3o the Peruvian. Mon-
terey received 8,000 ducats to aid him in entering his new office, and 10.000
he borrowed. Cafle, Mem. y Not.. 55.

2 Aiter a rule of a little over two years. Vetancrrt, Trat. Mez., 12; Mo-
reri, Gran. Dic., viii. 152. He was affable but slow to determine. *Sino re
huviera metido en estas Congregaciones...avia sido de los mejores, y mas
acertados Governadores.” Torquemada, i. 726-7.



VIZCAINO’S VOYAGES. 3

might find shelter. He was also to explore gener-
- ally and seek for the flitting strait of Anian, in which
interest had been roused anew by mariners’ tales.
While the results of this expedition add little to the
knowledge gained by Cabrillo, sixty ycars before, yet
the records of Vizcaino’s discoveries furnished for
more than a century and a half the sole guide to the
north-west. They name a number of points, islands,
and inlets, including the bay of Monterey, and leave
the impression that in latitude 42°, the extreme point
reached, a great river had been discovered which stu-
dents found little trouble to identify with Anian Strait.®
Vizcaino sought in vain to promote a further ex-
ploration of this region, for the interest therein had
subsided, but an opportunity presented itself in a
different direction. Franciscans had reached Japan,
and had succeeded after many tribulations in prevail-
ing on the emperor to admit more missionaries and to
send envoys to Spain in order to establish intercourse
with the Spanish people.* They arrived at Mexico
during the rule of the marqués de Salinas, and hrought
news also of some islands rich in gold and silver, which
a drifting Portuguese vessel was said to have found in
Japan waters. Whether this report proved the main
incentive or not, the viceroy determined to respond to
the advances made, and in 1611 Vizcaino was sent as
embassador® with instructions to establish commercial
relations between the two countries, and to spend a
winter in Japan examining the coast and harbors, and
gaining information about the rich isles, which were
then to be sought for. He was accompanied by six
barefooted Franciscans, three being lay brothers, and

8 For a detailed account of the voyage see Hist. Cal., ii. 97 et seq., and Hist.
North Mex. States, i. 153 et seq.

¢The embassy was headed by Friar Alonso Muiioz, and appears to have
reached New Spain in 1610, accompanied by a number of Japanese. Vizcaino,
Rel., in Pacheco and Cdrdenas, Col. Doc., viii. 114.

5In the narrative of this voyage Vizcaino is termed the son of the viceroy,
Velasco the younger. Perhaps he was a hijo polttico, son-in-law; he certainly
must have had Xxgh connections a8 he was ‘ encomendero de los pueblos de
la provincia d¢ Avalos.’ Id., 102. Burney wrongly states that Vizcaino died
in 1606. Hist. Discov. South Sea, ii. 259.
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the native members of the embassy from Japan,® and
set sail from Acapulco on March 22d with one vessel,
the San Francisco.

He arrived in Japan three months later, and was
favorably received, whereupon he proceeded to ex-
amine the coast and in the following year to seek for
the rich isles, though in vain. Meanwhile jealous
Hollanders obtained the imperial ear and denounced
the Spaniards as seeking to add Japan to their ex-
tensive conquests. The result was that Vizcaino’s
embassy failed at the chief court. He prevailed,
however, upon another ruler, called Mazamune, to
assist him in fitting out a new vessel, to replace the
damaged San Francisco, and to send therein an em-
bassy to New Spain. With this he reached Zacatula
in January 1614. During the following years other
efforts were made to establish intercourse, and to
obtain better treatment for the persecuted mission-
aries, but without avail.”

While explorations in northern latitudes proved
failures, or little short of them, expeditions from Peru
had opened a new field for enterprise in the southern
Pacific, under Mendana in 1595, and more successfully
under Pedro Fernandez Quirds, the companion of
Mendana, who in 1605-6 made important discoveries
in the Australasian groups, and concluded his voyage
in New Spain.®

8 Their leader was evidently a convert, to judge from his name, Francisco
de Velasco, baptized at Mexico probably. cy numbered 23 and the crew

60 or more. The names of friars and officers may be found in Vizeairo, Rel.,
102.

7Vizcaino’s failure is also attributed to the indiscreet zeal of a friar. /d.,
198, etc. This appears to have been Luis Sotelo who proceeded with a
Japanese convert to Rome and Madrid and obtained more missionaries, two
of whom, Bartolomé de Burguillos and Diego de Santa Catarina, were ap-
pointed envoys by Felipe J.Fﬁl , and reached Japan in 1616. The feelin
against Spaniards had meanwhile grown stronger and the friars were force
to depart without executing their commission. Japanese from a more friendly
court accompanied them, and were favorably received at Mexico in 1617, but
do not appear to have accomplished anything. Medina, Chron. S. Dicgo, 148-
50. Cavo mentions an embassy in 1615 from Idates, probably identical with
one of the above. T'res Siglos, i. 261, 254, 257-8. The rich isles long continued
to be an object of search to Philippine navigators and others.

® Whence he proceeded to Madrid,with his report. Id., i. 244. The voy-
age is fully related in Burney's Hist. Discor. South Sea, ii. 273-317.
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The successor of Viceroy Monterey, Juan Manuel
Hurtado de Mendoza y Luna, marqués de Montes-
claros,® arrived in September 1603, accompanied by
his wife Ana de Mendoza, and was met at Otumba by
the conde de Monterey, who had there prepared the
most magnificent reception, attended by people from
far and near. The festivities lasted eight days, and
are said to have cost Monterey a whole year’s salary.’

If this reception was intended to propitiate Montes-
claros, it probably failed, for on reaching Mexico and
proclaiming the residencia of his predecessor according
to instructions, he appears to have made no attempt
to shield him. Monterey was condewnned to pay the
two hundred thousand pesos wantonly spent in the
unfortunate attempt to gather the scattered Indians
into settlements. Although the sentence was sct aside
by the king, the count felt it deeply as a reproach on
his administration. Montesclaros showed himself pos-
sessed of an indomitable will and an ability which
under more trying circumstances might have been of
great value to his sovereign. As it was, nothing
rose to disturb tranquillity, save the complaints of
descendants of the conquerors, whose clamor™ for
office he chose to disregard in favor of really merito-
rious applicants. His policy met with approval, and,
the viceroyalty of Peru becoming vacant in 1606, he
was promoted to it.”

A successor had not as yet been selected, but soon

*Knight of Santiago and gentleman of the bed-chamber. He appears to
have been born at Seville, the posthumous son of the sccond marquis, and
held the coveted office of asistente in that city. Pacheco and Cdrdenus, Col.
Doc., vi. 272; Moreri, Gran. Dic., vii. 362. Portrait and autograph in Rivera,
Gob. Mez., i. 80.

10 Torquemada, i. 727. They entered Mexico October 27th. Vetancvrt,
Trat. Mez., 12. '

1 Forty of them became quite turbulent, and the marquis, already on the
way to Peru, was with diﬂicglty restrained from turning back to inflict chas-
tisement. Their complaints against him resulted merely in a decree favoring
his policy. Cavo, T'res Siglos, ii. 246. His views on these points are given in
Advertimientos de Montes Claros, in Instrucciones de Virreyes, MS., i. 254.

12 He was permitted to govern till his departure, and as a mark of distinc-
tion an oidor accompanied him to Aeapulco. 7orquemada, i. 737. He died
October 9, 1628. Morenri, vii. 362.
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after came the appointment, for the second time, of
Luis de Velasco, whose previous rule had endeared
him both to king and people. Weighted by years, he
had shortly before retired from the government of
Peru to spend the remainder of his life on his enco-
mienda of Atzcapotzalco, near Mexico. Duty com-
pelled him, perhaps not unwillingly, to forego retire-
ment, and on July 2, 1607, he made his entry into
the capital, after meditating for a week in the Fran-
ciscan convent of Tlateluleo over the suggestions im-
parted by his predecessor. This appointment was
assumed by many to have been heraldeg by a beautiful
comet which in the previous month appeared to hover
above Atzcapotzalco. Besides the viceroy’s inaugura-
tion, the year was made memorable by the ceremony
of swearing allegiance to the prince of Asturias, the
later Felipe IV., on a scale of grandeur surpassing
any previous display of the kind.

elasco’s path was smoothed in several respects
by the licentiate Landeras de Velasco, late oidor of
Seville, who came as visitador, and proceeded with
great strictness to investigate charges against the
audiencia and departments in connection with it.- At
the entrance to his house a box was placed for those
who wished to make secret complaints and memorials.
The result was that Oidor Marcos Guerrero and Doc-
tor Azoca, alcalde of the court, were suspended and
subsequently sent to Spain. The visitador’s strict-
ness evoke({ hostility in several quarters, but this
served merely to render him more imperious. A ser-
mon by Martin Palaez, rector of the Jesuit college at
Mexico, appearing to reflect on his course, he caused
his arrest and sent him off toward Vera Cruz in charge
of two negroes. Although his departure was sus-
pended, indignities were continued till the royal cédula
came with excuses for the hasty action of Landeras.®
This may have been one cause for the recall of the

¥ Alegre, Hist. Comp. Jesus, i. 4424, places this occurrence in the early
part of 1607.
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visitador, in 1609, to the relief of the officials, who
had sought to hasten his removal by-charges of bri-
bery ang other misconduct. Torquemada condemns
his opponents, and lauds him highly as a man of un-
impeachable rectitude, a friend of the Indians, and
one who returned poorer than he came.™

In the first year of Velasco’s rule was begun the
famous drainage work of Huehuetoca, already pro-
jected by Enriquez, whereby Mexico hoped to obtain
relief from the inundations which had caused such
oft-repeated misery. The rains in the autumn of
1604 had been so heavy as to inflict great damage, and
leave some parts of the city under water for a year.
In the midst of this suffering a Franciscan spread
terror among the people by preaching in the public
square against the prevailing wickedness, and declaring
that the city deserved to be destroyed. Quite a panic
fell on all classes, and the churches were crowded all
night by penitents. No cataclysm followed; but three
days later an earthquake was felt, which frightened
several persons to death.”

So discouraged were the people that they seriously
considered the expediency of removing the capital to
the hills of Tacubaya;* but property-owners, who had
over twenty millions of pesos at stake, succeeded in
preventing the movement. Montesclaros, then rul-
ing, favored the drainage undertaking, but so many
objections were raised that he turned his attention
wholly to repairing the dike of San Ldzaro and the
causeways of San Antonio and Chapultepec, while he
finished that of San Cristébal, in addition to construct-
ing the causeway of Guadalupe.”” Notwithstanding

1 Monarg. Ind., i. 769. The papers of the visita were taken by the presi-
dent of Guadalajara audiencia, Juan Villela.

15 The startling sermon was delivered on the eve of Santo Tomds, during
& heavy rain, by Friar Solano, guardian of the Recollects. Id., 728.

16 Royal permission a.gpean to have been granted to this effect. For other
reasons see Icazbalceta, Col. Doc., i. 506-7; Pacheco and Cdrdenas, Col. Doc.,
xiii. 76-8.

1 The latter occupying nearly 2,000 Indians for five months. 7Torquemada,
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all these measures the city was again submerged in
1607, and in a council held by szsco drainage was
agreed upon as indispensable.

The valley of Mexico lies, as is well known, more
than seven thousand feet above the sea-level, in a vast
basin enclosed by porphyritic ranges, from whose slopes
a number of rivers unite to form four groups of lakes,
the Chalco-Xochimileco, Tezcuco, Cristébal, and Zum-
pango. The first was a fresh-water body, lying two
varas higher than the salt Tezcuco, above whose level
the last two also rose to the north in their terrace
beds four and ten varas respectively. Zumpango re-
ceived the two largest streams, notably the Quauhti-
tlan, which contributed a larger volume than that of
all the other valley rivers combined. During the rainy
season the excess of water overflowed into the Cris-
tébal lake, which again discharged into the Tezcuco,
causing its waters to rise considerably. At certain
periods, once in twenty-five years on an average, this
overflow proved destructive, especially to the capital,
whose main square lay barely four feet above the lake.
Taught by experience, the Aztecs had sought to stem
the waters with dikes, not only round the city but
on the northern lakes. Both of these were, besides,
divided into two sections by transverse causeways.
Although strengthened and extended under Spanish
rule the barriers proved ineffective, as we have seen,
and drainage was at last declared to be the only means.

One natural outlet from the valley existed in the
small stream of Tequisquiac,but measurements showed
that the cost of making it available for drainage would
be too great, and that the only practicable point for
an outlet was near the village of Huehuetoca, as

demonstrated already in 1580 by Licenciado Obregon

i. 728-9. Among the works attributed to him is the presa de Oculma. Inund.
de Mex., MS., 356. Cepeda, Rel., 10, is less exact; and so is Humboldt, Esaai Pol.,
i. 209. On the Mexicalzinco branch of the southern causeway two flood-gates
were added. Nevertheless this construction proved prejudicial to Xochimilco
and adjoining towns. He also began a new aqueduct. Cavo, T'res Siglos, i.
2434, 264-5; Beltrami, Mexique, ii. 62-3.
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and Arciniega. By means of a tunnel between the
mount Sincoe and Nochistongo hill the ever threat-
ening waters from most elevated northern lakes of
Zumpango could be carried through the Tula tribu-
tary of Rio Pédnuco to the qulf of Mexico. This
being decided upon, Enrico Martinez, a Hollander,®
and the Jesuit Juan Sanchez’ submitted plans for
the work, one of which embraced also a partial drain-
age of the middle lakes, while another proposed
merely to divert the waters of Rio Quauhtitlan from
the (gitla.ltepec section of Zumpango Lake. The
latter was adopted as the speedier and cheaper, and
on November 28, 1607, the viceroy broke the first
sod in presence of a vast concourse of officials and
citizens. The work was intrusted to Martinez,” who
displayed great energy, and set an immense number
of Indians to the task, at different points. The
expense was covered by a tax of one and a half per
cent on the city property, and a levy on wine.®

A canal conducted the waters from the Citlaltepec
section of Zumpango Lake, or rather from its great
tributary, Rio Quauhtitlan, to Huehuetoca, and thence
they passed through a tunnel more than a league in
length, and four by five varas in height and width, fol-

18 Educated in Spain, it seems. He enjoyed the title of royal cosmog-
rapher and wrote Repertorio de los Tiempos y Historia Natural de Nueva
Espana, Mexico, 1608; Antonio, Bib. Hist. Nova, iii. 564. Humboldt men-
tions a treatise on trigonometry, Essai Pol., i. 211, but it is probably embraced
in the above.

1% Alegre intimates that the plans are due to him, and that he at first had
chief control. Ilist. Comp. Jesus, i. 438-9. Spanish writers of course prefer
to keep the foreigner in the background. Among others connected with the
surveys and plans were fathers Mercado and Santos and Doctor Villerino.

"’eg:.ncha, the associate, soon quarrelled and retired. Torquemada, i.
758. Cavo places the inaugural day on December 28th. T'res Siglos, i. 247.

NThe real estate, valued at 20,267,555 pesos, yielded over 304,000
peson. Cepeda, Rel., 14. Wine was taxed 50 pesos for every pipe. The
clergy were not exempt. Torquemada, i. 758; Recop. de Ind., 1. 91-2. The
laborers received five reals for seven days, an almud of maize every week,
and a pound of meat daily. A hospital was erected for their sick. They
came from different provinces, to the number of 471,154, with 1,664 female
cooks. Cepeda, Rel., 18. He adds that the actual money paid them between
November 1607 and May 1608 was 73,611 pesos. The authoritative writer of
Mez., Rel. Estad., 2, declares that 50,000 natives lost their lives during the
work, while Cepeda and others maintain that quite an insignificant number
perished. They had reasons, however, for hiding disagreeable facts.
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lowed ‘by a canal to Rio Tula.® On May 15, 1608,
the first canal was completed, and on September 17th
water passed through the tunnel in presence of the
viceroy, amidst the rejoicings of the coYonists who had
reason to be proud of an engineering feat so rare at
that time. It was not long, however, before the in-
efficiency of the work became apparent, the conduit
being too small, on too high a {)evel, and so poorly
vaulted and faced as frequently to ¢hoke with its own
debris. The efforts to remedy the latter defect proved
of no avail,® and it was even proposed to construct
another channel, for which, in 1611, Alonso de Arias
made surveys. Martinez could not well be held to
answer, for he had submitted other more thorough
plans than the cheap and speedy one adopted.* Three
years later the celebrated Dutch engineer, Boot, re-
ported in favor of the ancient Aztec dike system for
the capital, on the ground that the southern lakes
were fully as dangerous as the northern. Martinez
agreed to some of his views, but insisted that it was
above all necessary to maintain the tunnel outlet.*

2 Cepeda’s ng’ Rel., pt. i. 25, iii. 21, are 9,600 varas for the tunnel
when first opened; afterward reduced by extending itinto an open cut. Hum-
boldt is not very exact in giving the tunnel a length of 6,600 meétres, a width
of 3.5, and a height of 4.2,

B Unbaked mud bricks were soon rejected for wood facings, and these for
masonry, but instead of an elliptic arch a mere vault was constructed, resting
on an insecure foundation, so that the walls were undermined and fell in.
The extent of the different facings some years later is given in Cepeda, Ril.,
iii. 21 et seq.

2 Yet several writers seek to blame him, and assume that the rejected
plans had been made by Sanchez. The canal project in 1604 was estimated
to require a length of G to 9 leagues; now the length of a perfect drainage of
t.heretlree lakes was placed at 70,000 varas, with a depth of 40. Cepeda, ubi
sup.; Gemelli Careri, Giro, vi. 122, By this time the cxpenditure for the
work according to official accounts amounted to 413,324 pesos out of 540,000
collected. In Mez., Rel. Estad., 2, the cost is placed at 1,140,000 pesos up to
1623. Instruc. Virreyes, 262. Gonzalez Divila makes it 3,952,464 for the first
few years, during which 128,630 laborers had been employed. Teatro Eclcs.,
i. 2

2 Martinez prevailed on the authorities to let him perfect the tunnel, but
he failed to carry out the agreement, probably because his estimate of 100,000
sesos appeared on closer inspection to be too low. Boot’s reports, and the
iscussion thereon, are given in C(epeda, Rel., pt. ii. 1-17. His views were
strengibencd by troubles from the southern lake water. Civo, T'rex S7tyox,
ii. 249. Doot appears to have been retained as active or consulting enuincer
from 1613 until 1340, with 1,200 ducats pay. Fonseca, Hist. Hacinida, v.
305-Q.
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The value of either plan was disputed till Viceroy
Gelves, in 1623, caused the tunneﬁ to be closed in
order to test the effect of the Quauhtitlan and
Pachuca tributaries on Zumpango Lake and conse-
quently on the Tezcuco. The rise proved consider-
able, and in December came unexpected rains which
so increased it that the city was endangered, and the
Huehuetoca tunnel had again to be opened;* and
work was renewed upon it in accordance with a neg-
lected royal decree of 1516, although not without
much discussion and numerous reports.”

In 1609 occurred a serious revolt among the ne-
groes in the Vera Cruz district. Tired of their masters’
yoke, a number of slaves had escaped from different
towns and plantations, to unite with their free brethren
near the present town of Cérdoba, and ensconce them-
selves among the rugged hills in that vicinity, whence
they would pounce upon travellers and settlements.
Their leader was an aged man named Yanga, who for
thirty years had been seeking to stir his race to united
action against the colonists.® The raids had been
endured for some time, attended by the defeat of es-
corts and improvised troops, under cruel circumstances;
but finally the insecurity of the road to Mexico called
for stringent measures against the bands, which were
growing both in number and daring. Pedro Gon-
zalez de Herrera of Puebla was commissioned to sub-
due them, and set forth toward the end of January
1609 with one hundred soldiers, as many volunteers,
and a number of native archers, to whom some two

3 The statement of a December flood rests on Gemelli Careri, ubi sup., and
has been disputed, but it finds confirmation in the report of & commission of
1624, showing that damage was done to the city by a sudden rise of waters.
Cepeda, Rel., pt. ii. 19; Grambila, Tumultos, MS., 11; Ward's Mez., ii. 282-
7. E"arly documents bearing on this subject are to be found in Dicc. Univ.,
ix. 148 et seq.

TIn lG?gcame disasters which gave energy to operations, as we shall see.

#Torquemads, i. 759, intimates that at Mexico also a revolt was projected,
for Epiphany, when a king would be elected ¢y otros con Titulos de Duques.’
etc. It was quickly suppressed.
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hundred Spaniards and half-breeds were added from
settlements on the way.

A tiresome march brought him near the haunts of
the insurgents, though without knowing where or
how to meet them. From this dilemma he was re-
lieved by the arrival of a message from Yanga and his
military lieutenant Matosa, brought by a captive, who
had been defiantly mstructed to guide the troops to
the foot of the negroes’ stronghold, so that they might
‘measure arms with them. Herrera gladly availed
himself of this vaunting challenge, to which the chief-
tain’s companions had objected, ,and in the last week
of February he came in sight of the negro camp, on
the summit of a mountain. Regardless of the mis-
siles showered upon them, the Spaniards climbed the
rugged slope, and though many a one was felled, now
by a dart, now by some thundering rock or beam wlhich
crushed everythlng in its path, theyﬁ ersevered and
gained the camp, which contained fully three score
houses, with church, public edifices, and newly planted
fields. The negroes retired to several strong points
around, with the loss of quite a number, including
several leaders, yet still defiant. Their spirit failed,
however, with succeeding reverses, and, as they saw
their families falling captive, their houses burned, and
their effects seized or destroyed, they submitted terms
of capitulation to the viceroy. On condition that
Yanga and his free companions be given a site for a
new settlement in the nemhborhoog they promised
to surrender all fugitive negroes in the camps, and
thereafter to assist, if duly rewarded, in the capture
of any who took refuge in that region. This was
agreed to; and soon after they founded the village of
San Lorenzo, remaining thenceforth comparatlvely
faithful.®

In the following year a more extensive campaign

® An alcalde appears to have been appointed from among them, while a
.l;cl"hbonng curate attended to their spiritual wants. Alegre, Hist. Comp.
csus, ii. 10-16.
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had to be undertaken against Indian rebels in Du-
rango. This region was frequently disturbed by one
tribe or another, abused as the natives were by miners,
and favored by the physical features of their country,
which on one side presented rugged ranges, and on
the other plains and deserts. The private explora-
tions of Francisco de Ibarra in this direction had
revealed vast agricultural and mineral resources, and
aided by his influence with the viceroy he had se-
cured a commission as governor and captain-general
to conquer and rule the still unsubdueg country to
the north. He entered with a strong force, and laid
claim to all the region beyond the line now dividing
Jalisco and Zacatecas from Sinaloa and Durango,
applying to it the name of Nueva Vizcaya, a term
which soon became confined to the district east of the
Sierra Madre range, embracing, for a while, a part of
Coahuila. In 1563 he formally established the still
existing settlement of Nombre de Dios as a villa;®
and beyond, in Guadiana Valley, he founded as his
caYita.l Durango, known also by the name of the
valley. In 1621 this was made a city and the seat
‘of a new diocese extending over all of Ibarra’s gov-
ernment.® He pursued his discoveries as far as San
Bartolomé Valley, in southern Chihuahua, and thence
westward into northern Sinaloa, where he founded
San Juan de Sinaloa, laying claim also to the two
southern districts of Culiacan, with the settlement
of San Miguel, and to Chametla, with San Sebastian,
which had maintained a precarious existence since
Guzman’s time. ‘

The tribes of Sinaloa proved very hostile, and San
Juan had to be abandoned. It was refounded in
1583 under the name of San Felipe, but only after
1596, when it became a presidio, was the perma-

% The control of this was long disputed by the government immediately
south, and then seized upon by the viceroy; but in 1611 it was restored to
Nueva Vizcaya.

81 The Augustinian, Gonzalo de Hermosilla, was the first prelate.
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nency of this settlement secured. In 1610 the border
was advanced to Rio del Fuerte, so named after
the fort of Montesclaros there erected; and now the
Jesuits began the conversion of Mayos and Yaquis.
Thirty years later San Juan Bautista was founded in
Sonora Valley, already made known by expeditions
which had passed into the northern regions. All this
country west of the Sierra Madre was ruled by a
military captain appointed by the viceroy, but subject
in civil matters to the governor at Durango. In
Coahuila, Saltillo was formally founded in 1586,
and Parras in 1598, partly by Tlascaltecs, while in
Chihuahua it was not till 1631 that a presidio rose
at Parral in the rich mining region, and permanent
missions in 1639 among the Tarahumaras.®

Side by side with settlers and miners strode the
friars, in this region, notably the Jesuits, whose aim
was not alone to convert, but to pacify and prepare
the natives for the yoke of Christ and the colonists.
It was cheap and effective, this subjugation by the
cross. Wartare against the wilder tribes of the north
proved quite different from that against the more cul-
tured and settled communities encountered by Cortés.
Here the capture of a capital, the treaty with a ruler,
generally sufficed to control the people; but among the
northern tribes treaties availed little with the petty,
irresponsible chieftains unless they were specially
commissioned by the people, and to ravage their vil-
lages was seldom effective. Hence, after many and
costly military operations, Viceroy Velasco had toward
the close of the preceding century found it necessary
to adopt a different course, and stoop to what may be
termed humiliating concessions. But he stooped to
conquer, for under shelter of this purchased peace
missionaries crept forward to fasten a gradually tight-
ening bond, secured at different points by military
colonies. This policy did not succeed in every quar-

32 The history of Nueva Vizcaya, based on such standard authorities as
Ibarra, Relacion: Durango, Doc. Iliat., MS.; Sinaloa, Mem. Hixt., MS.; Al-

o
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ter, nor was it effected elsewhere without occasional
struggles. The resolute opposition of the Sinaloa
tribes to the encroachments of the Spaniards served
to animate also adjoining peoples who had alrcady
submitted and found just cause for discontent in the
oppression and outrages practised by miners and
others.

In 1601 the Acaxées, who occupied the mountain
regions of Topia and San Andrés,® rose to the number
of five thousand, with a solemn determination to kill
or drive away every Spaniard. They swooped down
with unexpected suddenness on the villages and
mining camps, whose number may be estimated from
the statement that over forty churches shared in the
destruction. The first effective resistance encoun-
tered was at San Andrés, where the small garrison
managed to hold out for a fortnight, till Governor
Urdiiola learned of their strait and came to the
rescue with sixty men. The warriors now withdrew
to the mountain fastnesses, and kept the pursuing
troops constantly engaged in toilsome marches an
sharp skirmishes, ever on the alert to entrap them into
ambuscades, though with little success. hat arms
failed to achieve was accomplished by means of Urdi-
fiola’s generous treatment of a number of captured
Acaxée women. This touched the hearts of the
husbands, and with the gentle persuasion of Father
Santaren they submitted and began to rebuild their
churches.* The Sabaibos held out for a while longer
under the guidance of a sorcerer who proclaimed
himself bishop, and even God, and proceeded with
the aid of associated apostles to carry on a peculiar
spiritual and political administration. His rule was
soon cut short, and with him disappeared the last
trace of the revolt.

bieurs, Hist. Mis., MS.; Arl;pui, Ribas, Alegre, Beaumont, Mota-Padilla, is
inllz related in my Hi of the North Mexican States, this series.
For particulars see Vative Races, i. 614.
# For a detailed account of the campaign with its interesting happenings,
see Hist. North Mez. States, i., this series,
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This submission appears to have either irritated or
emboldened the Xiximes, a tribe of cannibalistic ten-
dencies, who adjoined the Acaxées on the south, and
ranked as their bitter foes. The neighbors soon began
to appeal for aid against their onslaughts, and with
intercession of friars they were in 1607 induced to
relent; but three years later they broke out in open
revolt, and an expedition of two hundred Spaniards
and eleven hundred Indians marched against them.
Their two strongholds were quickly reduced, and
after the execution of the ringleaders the excuses of
the remainder were accepted with a readiness that
served only too often to encourage hostilities, as may
be seen throughout the historyrz% this frontier region
to the present time. Had the same policy been pur-
sued by Cortés and his contemporaries, Spanish
domination might have been deferred for years. This
temporizing was owing in part to a change in the char-
acter of the settlers, and a diversion of public interest
from the career of conquest, and partly to actual weak-
ness and indecision; but under the circumstances 1t
was dangerous to display it so freely.

Of this an instance may be found in the more
serious outbreak in the same province, in 1616, among
the Tepehuanes, for no outrages or other good reason
appear to have afforded the pretext. This tribe cov-
ered a wide-spread area in Durango, extending into
southern Chihuahua and bordering east and north on
Topia, and had yielded good fruit-to the Jesuit mis-
sionaries. Dismayed by the downfall of their influ-
ence, the native sorcerers strove hard to combat the
new religion; and encouraged by the example of the
Sabaibo bishop, one of them proclaimed himself a mes-
siah divinely appointed to free his people from the
foreign yoke. This character he sustained by a num-
ber of cleverly executed miracles, and by alluring
prospects disseminated by active agents.

His plans succceeded, and his people rose almost én
masse. At Atotonilco nearly two hundred Spaniards,
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men, women, and children, were massacred; at Pa-
pasquiaro a number were lured to destruction by
treachery; at Zape ninety persons fell. Durango city,
the seat of government, might also have been sur-
prised but for the premature outbreak on the part of
certain greedy chieftains, which gave the alarm, and
enabled measures to be taken against the great simul-
taneous attack on the 21st of November. These
measures extended also to the Acaxées, Xiximes, and
other tribes who were prevailed upon to withhold at
least active codperation in the revolt.

Nevertheless the outlook became so serious that
appeal for aid was sent to the viceroy, who gave
orders upon the royal coffers at Zacatecas and
rango for funds, wherewith to raise more troops. The
Tepehuanes generally avoided an encounter. With
the spring of 1617 the revolt was practically ended.
Deserted by their messiah, who mysterlousiy disap-
peared, the still rebellious bands took refuge in the
mountains, there to be exposed to repeated attacks
from different quarters, to which a price upon their
heads gave incentive. After suffering heavy losses
they were induced gradually to rejoin their submis-
sive brethren. As it was, the outbreak had caused a
drain on the royal treasury of several hundred thou-
sand pesos, besides losses in revenue and to settlers,
and retarded material progress in the province for a
number of years.®

A lenient policy characterized more and more the
attitude of.the government toward the natives, and
experiments were continually tried for promoting
their welfare. In 1602 came a cédula recommending
a system of public hiring of Indians, to take the place
of repartimientos. A fair was ac cordmgly established
in the principal squares at Mexico® under supervision
of a judge, where employers might come to engage

% For a full account see Hist. North Mez. States, i., this series.

% 0On Sundays. Cavo, T'res Siglos, i. 237.
Hisr. Mxx., Vor. III. 2
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laborers. As usual, corruption crept in to counteract
the intended benefits. Speculators found it lucrative
to engage, with connivance of the judge, a large num-
ber of the Indians, and hire them to others at higher
rates. This abuse became so great that the system
had to be abandoned.”

In pursuance of this step, and with a view to re.
move cause for revolt, an important decree appeared
in 1609, commanding that provisions and clothing
must be sold to Indians at reasonable prices, and that
those who attempted to defeat this measure should
be punished. In the mining districts the Indians
were to be gathered into villages and given land to
cultivate, and churches and hospitals. Those who
settled in these villages were to be exempt for six
years from the usual repartimientos; but they must
not leave the place. Since it was necessary to en-
courage work and progress among all classes, reparti-
mientos must be maintained till the increase of slaves
and voluntary workers allowed them to be reduced or
abolished. Not more than one seventh of a village
population should be called away at a time, in due
turn, nor must they be sent to a very distant place or
one differing greatly in temperature from that to which
they were used. The pay must be fair, and cover the
time for coming and going to work. The time and
nature of labor should not be exceeded or changed.
None could be condemned for crimes to personal ser-
vice, nor could encomenderos exact it in lieu of tribute.
The carrying of loads was restricted, particularly where
beasts of burden could be introduced.® Not long be-
fore this a law had been issued exempting from enco-

31 ¢ Clamaron los Indios. . .con instancia, bolver & lo pasado.’ Torquemada,
- 7?’6An earlier decree ’Frohibitad even voluntary carrying of goods, hnt this
could not be obeyed. Those in charge of herds should not be hecld responsible
for lost stock. Officials connected with repartimientos must be men well
known for kindness and probity; they could accept fees only from the em-
ployer. Further minor regulations are given in Montemayor, Svmarios, 216-
26, 14, 15; Ordenes de la Corona, MS., ii. 139. This important letter was

dated May 26, 1609. In accordance with its tenor Velasco regulated the
hours of labor and other matters.

”\
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miendas, and from tribute for ten years, all hitherto
unsubdued Indians who voluntarily gave allegiance to
church and king.® It was a measure well calculated
to aid the missionaries and to promote a peaceful con-
quest. In the settled regions on the other hand we
find a contrast in the confirmation of encomiendas to

the third and fourth life.

The execution of reform measures was by no means
easy, but Velasco sought to do his duty, and though
exercising no undue severity he brought upon him-
self the hostility of a large class. His friendly
feeling toward the natives is displayed in several
recommendations, notably that of giving to them all
the land required, leaving only the balance to Span-
iards.* His zeal was not overlooked, for in 1609 he
received the title of marqués de Salinas, and two
years later promotion to the presidency of the India
Council.# go distinguished a preferment could not
be refused, and he set sail for Spain June 12, 1611,
leaving behind the reputation of a wise and humane
ruler, against whom the only objection may be an
excessive leniency which served well for the time, but
left the seed of future troubles.®

As his entry into the government had been pre-
ceded by a comet, to which his successful rule lent a
favorable significance, so his departure was attended
by an eclipse of the sun; and the terror which this phe-
nomenon inspired received fresh impulse two months
later from an earthquake whereby a number of build-

8 This law was issued on November 25, 1607, and confirmed in 1671 and
1672. Montemayor, Svmarios, 2.

© Advertimientos, in Instruc. Virreyes, 266.

4 Together with 20,000 ducats ‘ayuda de costa.” He already received a
pension of 6,000 at the end of his former rule in Mexico, and now his children
were granted additional allowances. The title of ma?uis appears to have
been issued in 1607, Calle, Mem. y Not., 55, though Vetancurt intimates a
year cﬁ- two l.ster.thf‘rat. Mc:ri, 13. he dav of T

xercisin, e power of viceroy to the day of sailing. 7Torquemada, i.
T Hie o ‘"fi‘” or the Dom ken of vila, uacion,

i iality for the Dominicans is en of in Ddvila, Continuaci
MS,, mp‘rAtlregy very aged, he did not long survive his promotion.
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ings were destroyed in different parts, notably at
exico, involving the loss of several lives.#

Although Velasco ruled until the day of his depart-
ure, the successor to the viceroyalty was already to be
found at Mexico in the person of Archbishop Garcia
Guerra, a Dominican, born about 1560 at Fromesta,
near Valencia, of a noble house.* As prior at Valla-
dolid he managed to gain favor in the eyes of Felipe
ITIL., and a first result was his appointment to the
vacancy caused by the death in October 1606 of Gar-
cia de Santa Maria y Mendoza, archbishop of Mexico.
This prelate had been prior of the convent at the
Escorial, general of the Jeronimite order, and a great
favorite of Philip I1., who named him one of his ex-
ecutors. The successor to the throne extended this
favor by conferring on him the archdiocese in New
Spain which he administered in a satisfactory manner,
living ever the humble life of a friar, yet staining his
memory by the bigoted act of defacing native sculp-
tures. While the destruction was not so serious as
that caused by the iconoclast Zamdrraga,® Santa
Maria deserves even greater condemnation than this
carlier bishop, whose vandalism finds excuses to a cer-
tain extent in the conversion-zeal of his period, and in
its inferior enlightenment.

Guerra made his entrance into Mexico as prelate
September 29th, and by his wise rule confirmed the
royal choice to such extent that with the promotion
of Velasco came his own appointment as twelfth vice-

“ The eclipse was total and lasted till 6 p. M. June 10th. Torquemada,
i. 768. The earthcgmke occurred on August 26th. ‘En ocasion que por
mandado del ispo Virrey...se corrian toros.’ Sigiienza y Gdngora,
Carta, MS., 15; Id., Parayso Occid., 24. There were more than 40 shocks
within 30 hours, says Father Franco. On December 27th a rain of ashes fell
at Mexico, Ddvila, Continuacion, MS., 203; and Mota-Padilla, who places
the cclipse on April 15, describes a similar shower in Colima, caused by the
eruption of the volcano. Cong. N. Gal., 271. In the same month of the fol-
lowing year another earthquake occurred. Cavo, Tres Siglos, i. 257.

 Of the family of De la Vega Guerra. His parents were Andrés de Rojas
and Maria Guerra. He professed as a Dominican in 1578, at Valladolid,
where he became preacher and prior. Gonzalez Davila writes his name De
Ehg:em Teatro, i. 44; Ddrvila, Continuacion, MS., 198-200.

As Torquemada, iii. 208, regretfully points out.
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roy. It was the second time that the supreme political
and ecclesiastical power had been vested in one man,
and, as the benevolence and sagacity of Guerra were
recognized, his inauguration June 19, 1611, created
wide-spread joy.# This was not to be of long dura-
tion, however. Guerra had for some time been an
invalid, a fall from his carriage being one of the
causes, and soon a cold caught during an exposure to
rain laid him low with fever. The phlebotomy so
prevalent among doctors of the time tended to weaken
him; and when an operation was demanded on an
abscess he sank under it February 22, 1612, at the
age of fifty-two.® Manifestations of grief were both
general and profound, and the obsequies surpassed in
solemnity any that had so far been conducted in New
Spain. A description may prove interesting.

The embalmed body, arrayed in pontiﬁca% robes of
purple taffeta garnished with gold and silver, rested
in the chapel on a catafalque, covered with black gold-
bordered velvet, and surrounded with candles. The
interior of the chapel was draped in black. The head
of the corpse reclined on a black velvet cushion, orna-
mented with gold and silver, and bore on the brow a
mitre. Close to it rose the guidon of the captain-
general, a rank held by the deceased in virtue of his
office as viceroy. At the left shoulder rested the
pastoral staff, and in the right hand the archiepiscopal
cross; at the feet were two royal maces of gilt silver,
and between them the prelate’s hat.

For three days a constant stream of visitors appeared
at the chapel to give a last look at the beloved face,
while friars and clergy held vigils, masses, and chants

" He h‘md been staying at the convent in Atlacubaya, and entered by way
of Tlatelulco, under arches and amidst t pomp, on a Sunday. Ddzila, Con-
tinuacion, MS., 202; Vetancvrt, Trat. Mez., 13. Cavo dates his power from
June 17th; and Lorenzana, from June 12th. Concilios Prov., 15656-65, 216,
he counting no doubt Velasco’s departure.

48 Gonzalez Ddvila, Teatro Ecles., ubi sup. Cavo states that the carriage
accident occurred while he as viceroy was i ting certain public works,
aad this tnjured one of bis tibe, giving rise to the sbacess. Tre Siglos, i 256.

On the of January a solemn procession had been held to implore restora-
tion of his health.
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here as well as at other temples. The bells tolled
sqlqmn]y all the while, and nearly every person ex-
hibited some token of mourning, especially officials
and men of means. i

On the 25th a vast concourse gathered at the pal-
ace to escort the body to the cathedral tomb. First
marched the school children with white lighted tapers;
then came thirty-eight brotherhoods, according to age,
with standards, crosses, and other paraphernalia; the
different monastic orders, closing with the Domini-
cans, to whom belonged the deceased, followed by over
four hundred members of the clergy, the prebendaries
of the chapter being last. Then came the coffin, having
at the feet the pre%ate’s hat, and a cap with white tas-
sel, the insignia of a master of theology. Behind were
borne the cross and guidon, draped in black, between
two kings-at-arms. On either side of the coffin strode
the viceregal guard, while halberdiers assisted in keep-
ing back the crowd. Following the guard came the
deacons; the commercial court; the university repre-
sentation, with sixty-four of its graduated doctors
bearing the insignia of the faculty; the municipality,
preceded by their mace-bearers; the audiencia, with
three nephews of the deceased; the royal officers,
bearing a black standard with royal arms in gold;
three companies of infantry in lines of seven, with
arms reversed, marching to the sound of four muffled
drums and two fifes; the maestre de sala of the
viceroy, bearing aloft on a half-pike the arms of the
deceased, gilded on a black surface; the master of
horse and chamberlain, leading a steed in deep mourn-
ing with a long train; another gentleman of the court,
on horseback,%ore the guidon of captain-general, with
royal arms on crimson velvet. The procession closed
with the servants of the palace, led by the majordomo.

Between the palace and the cathedral five cata-
falques had been erected, to serve as resting-places for
the coffin as it was transferred to different bearers.
The oidores bore it from the chapel to the first station;
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then the cathedral chapter, the municipality, the uni-
versity corporation, and the commercial representa-
tives carried it successively, the oidores taking it from
the last station into the cathedral, where it was placed
in a lofty position, amid a blaze of lights. As the
alféreces approached they lowered the standards, and
placed them at the foot of the coffin. On the left
rested Guerra’s coat of arms; on the right were the
cross and the guidon. After service the coffin was
buried at a late hour by the high altar, on the evangel
side. It was a grand and glorious casting-forth.

During the novenary each religious order came to
chant masses, assisted by ecclesiastic and civil bodies.
On March 7th the members of the procession marched
in the same order as before to the cathedral, where
the vigil was chanted, and a funeral oration delivered
in Latin. The following day the funeral sermon was
preached by the dominican provincial.®

The government now passed into the hands of the
audiencia, and the senior oidor, Pedro de Otalora, a
pious man,” took possession of the palace. Affairs
were by no means such as to require a strong hand
at their head; yet the loss of the recognized chief
seems to have created an unsettled feeling, and the
revelation of an intended uprising among the negroes
so alarmed the éapital that on Monday and Thursday
the customary religious processions of the week did
not take place. On the evening of Thursday a
trampling of feet was heard, with much grunting and
yelling, and the cry spread that the negroes were
upon them. The panic-stricken people either closed
their doors or fled for protection toward the palace,
and terror reigned until morning, when the cause of
the uproar appeared in a drove of pigs for the Satur-

9 Ddvila, Continuacion, MS., 206-7; Sosa, Episcop. Mezx., 52-4.

5 ¢« Hombre desinteresado de las cosas de esta Vida, y mui gran Ministro,’
is Torquemada’s estimate of him. i.767. Among his associates are mentioned
the licentiates Diego Nuiiez de Mosquecho and Pedro Juarez de Molina.

.
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day s]aughter, which had been mistaken for a negro
advance.”

This play upon the feelings of people and audiencia
could not be allowed to pass unavenged, and thirty-
three unfortunate blacks were convicted on doubtful
cvidence and hanged.” As during a previous inter-
regnum, the government sought to cover its weakness
under a mask of cruelty. A measure against out-
breaks on the part of negroes was attempted by means
of a decree ordering free persons of their race, includ-
ing mestizos, who possessed no trade, to enter the
service of known masters and take up their abode with
them.®

The audiencia’s rule terminated with the entry into
Mexico, on October 28, 1612, of the thirteenth viceroy,
Diego Fernandez de Cérdoba, marqués de Guadal-
:dzar, and his consort Marfa Rieder.®* His rule proved
exccedingly quiet, though at one time a cloud appeared
in the form of a freebooter. The Dutch had for some
time stru%gled for a foothold in the Moluccas, and to
promote this effort their East India Company in 1614
despatched a well-equipped fleet of six vessels, under
Joris Spilbergen,* with instructions to do what dam-
age he could to Spanish shipping and interests on his
way, notably to the fleet between Manila and Acapulco.
He left Texel in August, touched at the Brazilian
coast, passed through Magellan Strait in April 1615,
and began a series of petty and cautious raids on the

M Panes assumes that this false alarm served to defeat the intentions of
the negroes by rousing the people. Monumentos Domin. Esp., MS., 94-5.

3:"The bodies were exposed in different parts, till public health demanded
their removal.  Four of the victims were women. Ietancert, Trat. Mex., 13.
’l‘ulum-mmlu wmakes the total number 36.

Y I'ena de docientos agotes.” Decree of the audiencia April 12, 1612,
Montemayor, Semarios, pt. 1i. 49,

;‘ Lorenzana writes Riedrer. COH“’SH?:; N. Elsp.,n?:. h

* Alse written Georyg Spilberg, von Spil n, Spi T. e -shi
was the Zon, and the next, the //alve Mgen, urzgneier cgmnmrﬁ; of Jxmsee:g ng
of the vessels were sinaller, and built for speed. The force carried was 1,200
men beaides sailors; so at least declares Usten, a member of the expedition
who eascaped to New Spain, and whose account appears to have been over
looked by Burney and others.  See Nicolui, Newe rnd Warkagite Rel., 17-13.
He, Purchas, and Gottfried differ on several points, about names, dates, ete.



FREEBOOTERS AGAIN. 25

Pacific coast of South America. In this occupation
he was interrupted by a fleet of eight vessels under
Rodrigo de Mendoza, who had vowed to capture the
Hollander. Fortune favored the latter, however, and
the Peruvians retired with a loss of two vessels, one
of them under command of the vice-admiral, who pre-
ferred to go down with his ship rather than surrender.

On the 10th of October Spilbergen appeared be-
fore Acapulco, sadly in want of fresh provisions and
anti-scorbutics for his sick crews. He would prob-

PoORT oF AcAPULCO.

ably have helped himself but for some well-timed
shots which intimated that the place was prepared.”
“Hanging out a flagge of peace, two Spaniards came
aboord, and they agreed to exchange Prisoners for
Sheep, Fruits, and Prouision, which was accordingly
performed. On the 15th Melchior Hernardo came
aboord, to take view of the fleete, which had van-
quished the Kings. He was Nephew to the Vice-Roy

56 ¢ The Castle had seuentie Brasse Pieces, hauing int.e]ligenoe eight moneths
before of their comming.’ Purchas, His Pilgrimes, 1, pt. ii. 84.
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.of New Spaine, and was kindly entertained of the
Admirall.” The squadron left Acapulco on October
18th and cruised off the coast for some time, captur-
ing a California pearl-fishing vessel with two friars.”
A consort vessel, under Iturbide, proved more for-
tunate in bringing safe to port a cargo of pearls,
including one valued at the then high price of four
thousa.ng five hundred pesos.®

Spilbergen now proceeded to Salagua, or Santiago
Bay, where several of his men, while 1n quest of fresh
provisions, were killed and captured by an ambuscaded
party which is said to have been commanded by the
navigator Vizcaino. The fleet passed on to Santiago,
and to Navidad, where a captured monk procured
lemons on being promised his liberty. When the time
came to fulfil the promise, the crews objected to lose
so valuable a prisoner, and Spilbergen had to quell a
mutiny to keep his word with the monk.

Toward the end of November sail was set for Cape
San Lucas, there to watch for the Manila galleon; but
the wind proving unfavorable the prows were turned
for the Ladrones and Moluccas, and after staying
heve awhile Spilbergen completed the circumnaviga-
tion of the globe with a portion of his fleet. While
falling short of the anticipated results of the voyage,
lic confirmed the opinion of his ability as a naviga-

-~ 59
tor. .

While disaster was averted from Acapulco, it over-
took the opposite port of Vera Cruz in another guise.
New Vera Cruz, as it was called, to distingush it
from the old town on Rio Antigua, which still lin-

57 Cardona, the captain, and a portion of the crew escaped by swimming
ashore. The authorities differ as to whether the vessel was on the way from
or to California. She was incorporated into the fleet under the name of the
* Pearlship,’ says Osten, ubi supra.

81 cnegar, Not. Cal., i. 202-4; Cardona, Mem., 46; Mota-Padilla, Cong.
N. Gal., 272-3.

% For an account of the voyage, see, besides the authorities quoted. 7ot
Jried, Newe Welt, 454 et seq.; Bosx, Leben der See-Helden, 393—402; Kerr's
Col., x. 137-8; Berenger, Col. Voy., i. 262, 288-93; Burncy, Chron. Hist.
Voy., ii. 330-53.
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gered, had rapidly risen from a landing-station, known
by the name of Buitron, the chief settler, to receive
in 1615 the title of city. But the buildings were
hastily and irregularly constructed, chiefly of wood,
and when, in December 1618, a fire broke out in the
barracks, the flames spread under a strong north wind,
and consumed the best part of the place, inflicting a
loss of over two million pesos.* Prompt aid was given
toward rebuilding on a safer and more regular plan.

On February 13th the whole country was startled
by an earthquake which lasted for a quarter of an
hour, and extended from Central America far north-
ward. ‘It demolished buildings, rent hills and moun-
tains, disclosed deep caverns, and brought forth new
lakes. Rivers flowed with black waters. At sea ter-
rible sights were seen, and many vessels went under.
Fish sought refuge on land from their natural ele-
ment.”®

Owing to the insecurity of the road between Vera
Cruz and Mexico, infested by robber bands, the town
of Cérdoba was in April 1618 founded in the foot-
hills, on the more southern route later followed by
the railroad to the capital. Its prosperity was soon
assured by extensive sugar and tobacco plantations,
and it received also a share of health-seekers from
Vera Cruz,” as did the more important town of Ori-
zaba, to the west, where sanitary facilities still attract
people.® Cérdoba received its name from the vice-

® Cavo, Tres Siglos, i. 263. In the beginning of 1619, says Alegre, Hist.
Comp. Jesus, ii. 1156. Panes, Veracruz, Lfg?, 2; Lerdo de 7Zjada, Apuntes,
267. A decree was thereupon issued ordering government buildings to be
separated from other edifices fully 15 paces, and urging the employment of
night watches. Recop. de Indias, 1i. 27.

€1 ¢ Corrié quinientas le, de Norte & Sur, y mas de sesenta de Este 4
Loeste.” Qonzalez Ddévila, 51":’:&0, i. 59. This aathor writes at 11:30 A. M. on
February 14th.

63 In May 1714, an earthquake ruined many buildings. In 1850 it counted
4,500 inhabitants. Dicc. Univ., ii. 549. Incited by the faulty accounts in
Villa-Seitor y Sanchez, Theatro, Dr Rodriguez, curate at Cérdoba, pre
a full history and descrigtion of the town which was published at Mexico in
1759, under the title of Cartilla, Historicu y Sugrada Descripcion de Cordova,
4t0, 164 pp. He gives the names of the first 30 secttlers, the coat of arms, and

other interesting material. See also Cordara, Hist. Comp. Jesus, 175.
® The order of San Juan de Dios erected here a hospital about this time.
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roy, whose title of Guadalcdzar was also perpetuated
in that of a mining town founded in 1614 north-east
of San Luis Potos{.* Another town rose about the
same time, on the lake of Toluca, under the name of
Lerma, in honor of the favorite minister of Felipe
II1.® The same rule was signalized at Mexico by
the completion of the new aqueduct begun by the
revious viceroy. It brought additional water from
ganta Fé by way of Chapultepec, and rested for a
long distance on arches, nine hundred in number.®

After a government of eight years Guadalcdzar
was promoted to the viceroyalty of Peru. Yet not
from any merit as a ruler, for although his reign had
proved peaceful, corruption had spread fast in almost
every department, until both social and economic in-
terests were so seriously imperilled as to rouse the
attention of the crown. Guadalcdzar, in truth, was a
mild man, easily imposed upon, and not much disposed
to sacrifice his comfort and peace of mind by inquiries
into matters with which sugordinates and associates
were intrusted. The oidores had not been slow to
take advantage of such neglect to extend their own
importance, and even openly interfered in affairs not
pertaining to their jurisdiction, violating the laws in-
trusted to their watchful care.

On a small salary® they lived in the style and
luxury of the great lords of Spain, surrounded by
relatives and friends, to whom the most desirable
offices were given, and who were protected by their
benefactors from what should have been the results
of frequent and glaring malefeasance. In the audien-
cia the causes of the rich were despatched promptly,
while the calendar was encumbered by the innumer-

84 Calle, Mem. y Not., 70.

 Founded in 1613 says Alcedo, Dic., ii. 572. Cavo places the founding
of both in 1620.

‘¢ And 6 varas in height. The cost was fully 150,000 pesos. Cavo, Tres
Sigios, i. 2434, 264-5.

At this time an oidor of Mexico receives annually three thousand pesos.
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able suits of the poor. For the decision of a case it
was sufficient that an oidor should signify his wishes
in the matter, and he was allowed also to sit in judg-
ment of questions wherein he was directly intereste%.
As a body they sent judges in commission to districts
where ordinary justices existed, this having been
expressly forbidden.® They went further than this,
and released at will even malefactors condemned to
death or to the galleys of Terrenate. All that seemed
to be lacking to them was the investiture and title of
viceroy. The minor officials and the very lawyers of
the supreme tribunal committed excesses with inso-
lent impunity in the assurance that their respective
patrons would shield them from harm. Imitating an
example so plainly set before them, the minor tribu-
nals throughout New Spain, each in its microcosm,
perverted justice at their will

Protected by those in power, who not infrequently
were partners 1n their gain, the rich had monopolized
the very necessaries of life, and this during a time of
great scarcity, when famine was raging in many parts
of the country,” so that the poor had to subsist on
roots or die of want. The regidores of Mexico had
seized and divided among themselves the annual
subsidy of one hundred and thirty thousand reales
granted by the crown in aid of the public granary,
and they, in conjunction with a few wealthy men, had
forced the price of maize, the staple food of the lower
classes, from twelve reales the fanega to forty-eight.
Even at this price the official in charge of the gran-
ary frequently turned away the starving poor, while
to the servants of the rich and powerful he gave a

@It was Ai;in prohibited by the cédula of November 12, 1621. Ordenes
de la Corona, MS., 1i. 164.

 In Querétaro ‘eorl:ﬁomdose los Labradores, y vezinos oyendo las muertes
de los ganados, y perdida de las sementeras,” Medina, Chron. 8. Diego, 56.
Alegre relates similar misery in Yucatan. Hist. Comp. Jesus, ii. 136. See
also Gelves, Rel. Extad., 1-2; Mex. Rel. Sum., 1. There are periodic records
of famines in different parts of the country. In 1610, 1616, 1625, and 1629,
they extended over a number of districts. Oavo, Tres Siglos, i. 2564, 261,
277; Diario, Mex., v. 139.
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superabundance which was disposed of to their own
advantage. So, too, these imitators of their masters,
lying in wait just without the city, forced the Ind-
ians who supplied the general market to give up, at a
nominal price, the scant produce of their toil that the
spoilers might receive the profit. Some of the meat
thus obtained was retailed at an exorbitant price in
a shop established in the palace of the archbishop.

The crown was robbed or defrauded of its dues by
the royal officials and their friends. Shipments to
Peru of prohibited goods brought from Manila were
made openly, and were productive of great gain. The
supplies sent by the king to the Philippines were
purchased by his agents at twice their market value,
and complaints came from that colony of their poor

uality, or rottenness, as well as of scant measure.
At the treasury it was the custom to receive for the
payment of dues coin or silver bullion indifferently;
the oidores and the treasury officials, substituting the
former for the latter, divided among themselves a
gain of three reales in such wares. In all the pueblos
the tax-collectors speculated with the royal funds,
which they withheld from the treasury, either with-
out a shadow of excuse or on the ground that these
sums proceeded from partial payments of taxes which
were not due to the crown until those payments
should be completed. By collusion of those in charge
of the mines and the traders the king was defrauded
of his fifth.

Religious ministers would not unfrequently meddle
in these affairs, even when they concerned neither
their interests nor their native protégés. On the
anniversary of the fall of Mexico, 1618, a Jesuit spoke
in his sermon rather scathingly of the conquerors and
especially of their descendants, as corrupt, unfit to
hold office, and tyrannical toward the Indians. The
remarks were pro{ably exaggerated byinimical persons,
who caused such a stir in the matter that the arch-
bishop was called upon to arrest the preacher. The
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rovincial naturally objected to so stringent an inter-
erence, and caused testimony to be taken, which modi-
fied the expressions and induced the viceroy to release
the Jesuit, only to embitter the already unfriendly
relations between the civil and ecclesiastic chiefs, and
to rouse fresh feeling against the society.” Both
clergy and friars were for that matter infected to a
great extent by the general disorder, and engaged
with anything but meekness in disputes concerning
doctrines and other affairs, or in frequent and un-
seemly bickering concerning the election of prelates,
in which respect the comparatively quiet Augustinians
made themselves notorious for a time. Two oidores
were accused'by the visitador of the order with having
harbored mutinous friars and sought to influence him
by threats and bribes to promote the election of a
provincial favored by them. In the report and counter
report on this subject the leading men of the country,
including the archbishop, were called on to testify.™

As the natural consequence of all this iniquity
among the rich and powerful, the lower classes gave
themselves up to such wickedness as was attainable
to them. Drunkenness, ever prevalent, had increased
to a frightful extent, and was accompanied by its
usual train of want and crimes. The church itself
seemed powerless to check infractions of the law which
to churchmen have ever seemed misdeeds more fla-
grant than murder. Led by vicious inclination or
driven by want, idle men ()(')rmed themselves into
associations of bandits which infested the highways,
and which made life and property insecure even in
the precincts of the viceregal palace.” Roused at
times to some exhibition of interference, Guadalcdzar

79 Thg preacher was the learned and eloquent Cristébal Gomez, who died
&{%& Alegre, Hist. Comp. Jesus, ii. 108, 207; Mex. Disturbios, MS., i.

™One of the oidores was the corrupt Gaviria, whom we shall soon meet.
The voluminous testimony in this case is given in Mez. Disturbios, MS., i.
16-54, 289-91. The same order created trouble also at Ixmiquilpan by carry-
ing off from the mine of Guerrero a miraculous image. Id., 55-119.

7 ‘Tenia el alma en los dientes.’ Grambila, Tumultos.
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succeeded only in arraying against himself now the
church, now the oidores, or other officials whose power
and influence may have been concerned. Their rep-
resentations to the crown must have had some effect,
for his promotion to Peru does not appear to have
been accompanied by the customary privilege to
govern until his departure. At any rate, the audi-
encia assumed control.”

T Licenciado Juan Paez de Vallecillo is named as presiding oidor, assisted
by Galdos de Valencia and Gomez Cornejo, but Verzara Gaviria should be
added. Mex., Rel. Svm., 1; Cavo, Tres Siglos, i. 265; Ribera, Gob. Mex., i.
108. It has been said that Guadalcizar left Mexico for his new post on
March 14, 1621, escorted by the audiencia and other bodies. Fe , Trat.
Mez., 13; but several official reports show that he remained till Gelves
arrived. Gelves, Rel. Estado, 1 etc. ¢ Virrey priuadamente retirado, todo este
tiempo (nearly a year), fuera de Palacio, en vna casa particular.’ Mez., Rel.
8vm., 1; Sigiienza y Gongora, Parayso Occid., 25-6. He ruled for seven
years in Peru.
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QUARREL OF THE VICEROY AND ARCHBISHOP.
1621-1624.

APPOINTMENT OF GELVES — His ENERGETIO AND EXTENSIVE REFORMS —
WaicE ARE FORCED ALSO ON THE CLERGY — HOSTILITY OF GAVIRIA
AND THE REGIDORES—ARCHBISHOP SERNA ROUSED—MORAL LAXITY IN
NEW SPAIN—ARREST OF VARAEZ—SERNA INTERFERES—THE VICEROY
13 EXCOMMUNICATED—ATTITUDE OF THE OrDoRES—THE PaPaL DELx-
GATE PLAYS A PART—MORE ANATHEMAS—THE PRELATE ForoEs Him-
SELF INTO THE PRESENCE OF THE AUDIENCIA — HE 13 EXILED AND
CARRIED AWAY—IMPRISONMENT OF REPENTANT OIDORES—A MEXI0AN
A Becker.

WaLE not aware how wide-spread was the disorder
in New Spain, the newly enthroned Felipe IV. felt
convinced that reform was needed, and looked about
for a man whose character and attainments should fit
him for the task of restoring order. Such a one soon

resented himself in the person of Diego Carrillo de
Mendoza y Pimentel, second son of the marquis of
Tavara, himself conde de Priego and marqués de
Gelves.! For many years the marquis had governed
Aragon, and was actually a member of the council of
war. In the discharge of these high trusts his recti-
tude and love of justice had been proven, while
personal valor was common to those of his princely
house. At the same time the long habit of command
had developed a disinclination to %rook any question
of his authority, especially where the extent of his
Jurisdiction was concerned, and advancing age, for

1He was also a knight of Santiago, holding the commandery of Villa-
nueva de la Fuente.

Hez. Mxx., Vor. III. 8 (83)
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his years were more than sixty, had but served to
strengthen this trait.

The usual instructions were given to Gelves, May
11,1621, in addition to certain special directions from
the king. Urged to hasten his departure, he em-
barked at Seville the 3d of July, in a vessel of the
fleet commanded by Juan de Benavides, attended by
quite a slender following of officials and dependants.

After a prosperous voyage the fleet arrived at Vera
Cruz in August, and the marquis entered with great
energy on the discharge of his duties. He visited
San Juan de Ulda and the fortifications of the city
itself, giving orders for the repairs which he deemed
necessary. Personally he inspected the king’s slaves,
informing himself minutely of their number and con-
dition, and ordering that they should be employed
only in the royal service, and under no circumstances
in that of officials, or of private individuals, as had
been customary. Gelves, having made these and
other reforms at the very threshold of the viceroy-
alty, went on with the work all along the road to
Mexico.

Contrary to established usage, he would not allow
either Spaniards or Indians, at the places where halts
were made, to be at the least expense for the enter-
tainment of himself and his retinue, peremptorily
ordering that everything should be paid for at the
highest current value. Nor.would he receive gratu-
itously gifts suggested by the hospitality of the people
or those offered to him by the many anxious to curry
favor with a new ruler. In this respect he made the
rule inflexible during his whole term of office, for his
servants as well as for himself. The fame of the
marquis preceded him, and on his arrival at Mexico,
on the 21st of September, he was received with great
pomp.

His inauguration was made particularly brilliant
by the elaborate ceremonies and rejoicings which at-
tended the swearing of allegiance to the new king, an
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event deferred till this time, and leading to prolonged
festivities throughout Spanish domains.? There was
a significance in it all more than usual in a corona-
tion, for Felipe III. had not only shown himself inca-
pable, but under his rule Spain had suffered many
humiliations, under which she was rapidly descending
from the high position attained during the golden
rule of Ferdinand and Isabella, and sustained by
Charles and Philip. The opening acts of Felipe I'V.
who ascended the throne at the age of sixteen, no less
than his generous and reflective disposition, gave
promise of better things; but the unformed youth fell
too early into the hands of scheming courtiers and his
nobler instincts were perverted. He yielded too much
to the fascinations of literature and less commendable
pursuits, while the administration was surrendered to
nefficient and corrupt favorites, who accelerated the
descent of Spanish prosperity and influence.

The reform measures of Gelves on the way to the
capital had there roused the most conflicting senti-
ments, for, while honest patriotism hailed the coming
of so just a governor, the placemen and their allies
apprehended disaster, and they were not wrong. The
viceroy soon instituted an examination and found pub-
lic affairs in a condition of shameless disorder. The
evil was greater than either the monarch or himself -
had thought. Permitted an abnormal growth under
the lax administration of Guadalcdzar, 1t had spread
everywhere in the land, and its roots had struck deep
in a congenial soil. With the energy to be expected
of him the marquis undertook reform. His capabil-
ity for work was great, and he found at the outset that
he must attend personally to many things from the
consideration of which his subordinates should have
relieved him. At Mexico it had ever been a current
saying that in keeping the friars and the Indians in

3 *El resto del afio se pas en fiestas no solo en la capital, sino tambien en
todas las ciudades y villas de aquel nuevo mundo.’ Cavo, T¥es Siglos, i. 265

6. This and some other authors assume that the long preceding mourning
was ordered during an interregnum under the andiencia.
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order a viceroy had his hands full; Gelves accom-
plished more in a week than others in a month. But
this very excess of zeal wrought his own undoing.
The land was indeed in want of cultivation; was it
for him who put his hand to the plough to foresee
that thorns, not kindly fruits, wouls be the harvest?
In his eagerness the marquis did not reflect that the
great extent of newly settled New Spain was totall
unlike his compact little government of Aragon, and,
though he had crossed it, he was unmindful of the
broad ocean rolling between a colonial viceroy and the
master whose strengthening hand might at any time
be needed. Most of all he forgot, as will be seen,
that sweeping reforms, such as that attempted by the
strong man in the temple, not infrequently involve in
common ruin reformer and reformed.

New Spain awoke to consciousness of the fact that
she had a ruler of ability and courage sufficient to
redress wrongs and punish evil-doers. Gelves visited
the prisons, and at times sat in judgment in the
courts. He caused delayed business to be despatched
promptly, ordering that in matters of justice no dis-
tinction should be made between the rich and the
poor, and insisted that no magistrate should sit in
any case whercin he was interested. He was acces-
sible always to those who had complaints to make,
and his servants were bidden never to deny him to
the weak and friendless. Criminals who, though
under sentence, were at large, he caused to
arrested and punished, while such as were unjustly
detained in prison were released. He ferreted male-
factors who through official negligence or wilful igno-
rance had gone unsuspected. In some instances it
came out that certain official personages were sharers
in the fruits of robbery. These, also, were punished,
but in causing this to be done Gelves gained the
enmity of others high in station who were their
patrons.?* He forbade the exercise of gubernatorial

3 Among these the following were among the most noteworthy instances:
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powers in the release of prisoners, and ordered that
all such matters should be referred to him for decision.
The license to carry fire-arms was prohibited to all
save persons of good character, and stringent meas-
ures were adopted for the suppression of drunkenness,
gambling, and other vices. The growing insolence
of the free negroes and half-breeds was checked by
compelling them to register in their respective districts,
to pay taxes, and to earn their living, such as were
incorrigible being banished or enrolled in the militia.
This eécient mounted force moved with great celer-
ity, and, being well informed by spies of the move-
ments of bandits, was able to make 1ts blows effective.
Arrest was supplemented swiftly by punishment, and
highway robbery was completely at an end. “1It is
doubtful,” says Cavo, *“ whether since the conquest so
many criminals had been executed” as during this
brief administration. Gelves earned fairly the ap-
pellation of ‘juez severo,” or inflexible judge.

He compelled absentee alcaldes mayores, corregi-
dores, and justicias to return to their jurisdictions.
He put a stop to the sale of votes on the part of the
ayuntamientos, a practice which obtained very gener-
n.fl-; in cities and villas distant from the capital, re-
quiring that lists of eligible persons should be sent to
him that he might select the names of those to be
voted for—the selection being made only after favor-
able inquiry concerning the character of the person
proposed. He compel%ed those who had embezzled
the funds of the public granary to disgorge a certain
amount of their plunder, and in the king’s name took
The assayer’s stamp, used for marking the weight and value of bars of silver,
bhad been counterfeited, and the authorities were unable to discover the
counterfeiters. Gelves took the matter in hand. and the guilty were arrested,
tried, and condemned, by a cédula dated June 15, 1622, to be strangled and
burned at the stake. Mex., Rel. del Estad., 4. Before Gelves’ arrival the treas-
ury at Mexico had been entered forcibly, and some 8,000 pesos abstracted
therefrom. In an arbitrary manner proceedings had been begun against the
treasury officials, who complained to the viceroy of the injustice. By his
exertions the persons really guilty of the crime were discovered and punished.
Mez., Rel. Som., 2.

4¢Los caminos de la Nueva Espafia estaban inundados de salteadores.’
Tres Siglos, i. 266.
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possession of two other deposits belonging to regidores
of the capital. By these means, and by the expen-
diture of ten thousand pesos of his own, wherewith he
made purchases in the neighboring provinces, he accu-
mulated a considerable store of grain.® He broke up
effectually the trade in contraband goods between A ca-
pulco’and Peru. While this was a-doing it was found
that members of the consulado had been concerned,
some of them oi)enly, in these practices.® He removed
the royal officials having charge of the supplies for the
Philippines, putting clean-handed men in their places,
and in consequence the amount of supplies sent to that
colony was greater than ever before.’

He checked immediately all pilfering of the royal
treasury, banishing from the mines the %oreigners and
others who had defrauded the revenue, ordering that
all money received for taxes should be sent at once
to Mexico, and putting an end to other practices by
which so much of the king’s money had remained in
the hands of dishonest officials® Owing to these
reforms in the management of the treasury the vice-
roy was enabled to send an increased amount of
money to Spain, where at this time it was sorely

8 He also ordered that maize should not be fed to cattle within fourteen
leagues of Mexico and ten of Pueblo, and that throughout the viceroyalty
the price of this staple should not be more than twenty reales the fanega.
Abundance soon brought the price down to less than this, and it sold as low
a8 sixteen reales. This public benefaction was acknowledged by the cabild}
of Mexico, in a formal manncr, toward the close of 1623. Mex., Rel. d
Extad., 7-8. The viceroy also ordered that Juan Juarez, fiscal of the audien-
cia, should be present at the granary, at certain determined hours daily, for
the purpose of sceing that the poor were impartialiy treated. He caused the
butcher-shops of the archiepiscopal palace to be closed and prohibited the sale
of all articles of food at the exorbitant prices hitherto prevailing. Grambila,
Tumultos, MS., 3.

6In the prosccutions growing out of this matter the viceroy allowed no
:Epeal; this was afterward qualified asan act of tyranny by the audiencia in

eir answer of February 8, 1624, to Gelves’ protest from his cell in the con-
vent of San Fra.ncisco.m}ler., Rel. Svm., 15.

7" In 1622 the valuc of these supplics was nine hundred thousand dollars,
and in the following year two thirds of that amount. AMexr., Rel. de! Estad., 5.

8Gelves had been told that it would be impossible to recover money turned
into the treasury in partial payment of taxes. On investigation it was
found that there was nearly a quarter of a million of dollars thus owing,
some of it since 1598, and of this amount abeut one half was recovered. Mez.,
Rel. del Estad., 4.
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needed. After paying all the expenses of administer-
ing the viceroyalty and meeting the cost of supplies
sent to Manila, a million of pesos was sent to the
king in 1622, and a million and a half in the follow-
ing year.’

The marquis was a religious man and his respect
for the clergy was sincere. To the archbishop he
spoke privily, regretting the dissensions which rent
atwain brethren who should dwell in harmony. He
also begged the prelate to cease the unseemly prac-
tice of receiving gifts from suitors in the ecclesiastical
court, and to reform other abuses.® He restrained
the inquisitors from intermeddling in temporal mat-
ters not within their jurisdiction. As far as he was
able to exercise control he saw that offices in the re-
ligious orders were held by men fitted for their several
positions.

Convinced by the frequent complaints of the Ind-
ians that the appointment of secular clergymen as
doctrineros instead of friars would be detrimental to
interests of the crown also, the viceroy ordered that
the latter should be retained in the doctrinas, and
that in the future only friars should be appointed to
them. In this matter the viceroy was certainly not
strictly impartial. Moreover in this action he un-
doubtedly laid the foundation for an accusation which
afterward his enemies were only too glad to make.
While his action in the premises had its origin, unde-
niably, in a spirit of just kindness to the Indians—for
to have substituted for the friars to whom they were

?This was more than had been sent heretofore in any corresponding period.
Grambila, Tumultos, MS., 10; Mez., Rel. del Estad., 5.

1The abuse of the privilege of sanctuary was notorious, and criminals
availed themselves of false witnesses in order to prove that they were entitled
to it. Gelves required the fiscal to use every diligence in order to arrive at
the truth in these matters. One Juan de Rincon having brought forward 11
witnesses to prove his right to immunity, on the testimony of 29 others these
men were shown to have forsworn themselves, and were condemned to penal
servitude at Manila. They were sent out of the city together with other
convicts; but notwithstanding the opposition of the viceroy, the audiencia,
on the ground that the sentence was excessive, caused them to be brought
back, and finally they went unwhipped of justice. Mez., Rel. Svm., 2.
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with reason attached secular clergymen ignorant of
their tongues and customs alike, would have been
tantamount to cruelty—it was nevertheless in conflict
with the provisions of royal cédulas. Father Bar-
tolomé de Burguillos, his confessor, was a friar of
San Diego, and possibly his counsels had sufficient
weight with the marquis to induce him thus to slight
the wish of the sovereign frequently expressed.”

The course of the marquis was commended by the
upright, but these were far less in number than the
vicious, and the number of his enemies increased
daily. Those high in place, accustomed to have their
own way in matters of government, were offended at
the summary clipping of their wings. In public they
contented themselves with shrugs and with fingers
laid aside the nose, while privately they spoke in
open anger, and fostered a hatred to the all-uncon-
scious object thereof that merely bided its time for
throwing off the mask. Occasionally, however, re-
sentment overcame prudence.

Pedro de Vergara Gaviria, the senior oidor, was a
self-willed man, who after the brief taste of power
enjoyed before the arrival of Gelves had become un-
fitted to play the subordinate. He had easily become
chief among his fellows, and was not at all inclined
to brook the restraint imposed upon him by the just
though severe measures of the viceroy. Gelves,
always courteous in his treatment of members of the
audiencia and the cabildo, went further than neces-
sary in useless attempts to make a friend of this man,
who on his part seemed to consider all the favors of
the marquis as so many marks of weakness. Gelves
made him his asesor in matters relating to war, and
Gaviria’s inclination to absolutism readily induced him
to fall into the habit of* giving orders without having
troubled himself to consult the viceroy. To this the

11 For the provisions of many different cédulas, too numerous for insertion
here, see Recop. de Ind., in the titles of book first relating to clérigos, re-
ligiosos, doctrineros, and doctrinas, .
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latter very properly objected.” But the asesor went
on in this 1nsubordinate fashion until Gelves found
himself constrained to order that he should be con-
fined to his own house.”

This unruly spirit was common among high officials.
On a certain day of solemn observance some of the
regidores ordered that their chairs should not be taken
to the cathedral, whither it was their duty to accom-
pany the viceroy and the other corporations, alleging
as an excuse for their conduct some unsettled question
of precedence with the royal officials. Noticing their
absence, and informed of the cause,the viceroy ordered
their attendance, without prejudice to their rights,
real or fancied. Nevertheless they did not make their
appearance. Gelves, after consultation with the audi-
encia, sent a corregidor to arrest them in case of a
continued refusal to obey. Persisting in their dis-
obedience, they were put under arrest in the casas de
cabildo, or city hall.* The justices and others in
office had each his grievance. Some of these were
incensed because the peculations of which they had
been guilty, and which for so long a time they had
practised with impunity, were punished by dismissal
from office. Others again gave themselves up to the
resentment felt by little minds because the crimes
which they had been unable to discover were brought
to light through the exertions of the viceroy. The

120n a certain occasion, having received one of these reproofs, Gaviria, in
the viceroy’s ante-chamber and in the presence of several persons, snatched
from the hand of the secretary the papers to which objection had been made
and tore them in pieces, exclaiming petulantly that he would not continue in
office if he were not allowed his way in all things. Mex., Rel. Svm., 2.
. BIn the letter of the cabildo of Mexico to the king, dated February 19,
1624, in which an account was given of the riot of the preceding month, it is
asserted that Gaviria’s imprisonment was entirely owing to his having allowed
to be read before the audiencia certain petitions of some friar of La Merced
complaining of their vicar-general, Fray Juan Gomez, a great favorite of the
viceroy. Mex., Cartas de la ciudad ¢ S. M., in Doc. Hist. Mez., série ii. tom.
iii. 130. In another letter of the same date, in which the cabildo recommends
Gaviria, and Dr Galdos de Valencia, another oidor whom Gelves had found it
necessary to remove from office, to the royal favor, it is stated that the im-
prisonment of the former lasted for eighteen months. Id., 171-2.

1 Thence, however, they rallied at their will, in order to inveigh in public
against the marquis. Mez., Rel. del Estad., 2.
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friars took umbrage because of what they considered
an unwarranted meddling of the viceroy in their
elections. The Jesuits were aggrieved that their
attempt on the doctrinas had met with signal failure,
and these restless intriguers immediately addressed
themselves to the work of undoing Gelves as they
had undermined others.”

By far the most formidable of the enemies of the
marquis was the archbishop, Juan Perez de la Serna,
a man who from the position of canénigo magistral
of Zamora had in 1613 been appointed to succeed the
deplored prelate-viceroy Guerra as head of the church
in New Spain.® He proved zealous in extending
spiritual administration through curacies and convents,
strivin% to bring into greater veneration sacred places
and relics, and to practise charity' in a manner that
brought him in contact with the poor and assisted to
make him popular with the masses. Among the rich
and the officials he found less welcome, owing partly
to his persevering efforts for episcopal rights,® partly
to the enforcement of a stricter morality among the
higher classes. The unseemly strife between friars
and clergy, and the loose conduct of many of them,
greatly encouraged an 1rreh§|ous feeling among those
whose means lured them from austerity and strict
rules to a life of ease and free indulgence, and to laxity
even in sacred matters. Painters, for instance, made
efforts to present church ceremonials in a ridiculous

1BThe venom of one of them appears in a manuscript in my possession
copied from the original in the collection of Gayangos. Although it is anony-
mous there is sufficient internal evidence to show that it was the work of a
Jesuit. Relacion de un estupendo y monstruo cazo, in Mexicoy sus disturbios, i.
631-57.

1¢ He was born at Cervera, studied at Sigiienza and Valladolid, became a
professor at Durango, and in 1597 canénigo mafistral of the church at Zamora,
a position won from nine competitors ‘grandes.’ On January 18, 1613, he
was apPointed archbishop. Vetancvrt, Trat. Mez., 24; Gonzalez Ddvila, Teatro
Ecles., i. 45; Concilios Prov., 1555-65, 216-17.

1 All charities being given by his own hands, * porque dezia ser mucha la
diferencia que ay, de oir la miseria del pobre en relacion, & verla por vista.’
Qonzalez Ddvila, Teatro Ecles., i. 45.

18 Among other troubles was the attempt by officials to deprive him of the

procuracion tribute given by towns and villages visited by the prelate. Gage
gives his income at 60,000 ducats a year. Voy. (Amst. 1720), i. 201.
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aspect, or they painted lewd persons with the attri-
butes and dress of saints. During lent the inhab-
itants of the capital used to perform pilgrimage to a
place called the Humilladero, on foot and in silent
meditation. When Serna came he found that this
journey of penance had been transformed into a car-
nival march, wherein the wealthy appeared in car-
riages, and others in convivial groups, all bent on
enjoyment. To this the prelate sought to }])ut a stop,
under threat of excommunication, and he also did his
best to check drunkenness and other vices, though
herein the corrupt and unfriendly officials under the
weak Guadalcdzar offered no assistance.

The zealous introduction of reforms by Gelves had
at first won the admiring codperation of Serna,” but
when he found them extending too far within ecclesi-
astic precincts impatience turned into open hostility,
for the prelate was exceedingly jealous concerning his
prerogatives, and possessed of a stubbornness which
readily developed into unreasonable zeal. He took
in dudgeon the well meant counsels concerning the
reform of abuses in the ecclesiastical court, and his
resentment was increased by the decision in the mat-
ter of doctrinas. On several occasions he forgot the
dignity of his station, and that the viceroy was the

rsonal representative of the king whom both served.

n the paE).ces of the great, tale-bearers are never
lacking, and reports of the prelatic outbursts lost
nothing in the recital, but Gelves, desiring to avoid a
rupture, took no notice of them. This moderation,
however, did not produce the effect desired, for the
prelate began not only to censure the acts of the vice-
roy with unseemly freedom, but to lean openly to the
cause of those opposed to him, as though a formal
compact had been entered into between them.

Thus, in the short space of two years Gelves, while
he had restored in a signal manner the outward ob-
servance of the law, had failed to establish order
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where order was most needed, and at the close of
1623 Le found arrayed against him the archbishop and
the friars, the audiencia and the cabildo of Mexico.
The lower class of the people knew no will but that
of the church, when that will was signified; the upper
class, composed almost entirely of men with but a
single interest, that of plundering the royal treasury,
was manipulated by the two great corporations.
Against such a combination any man protected only
by an autocrat six thousand miles away must have
been powerless, and it needed but the most trivial
circumstance to bring about an outbreak. The occa-
sion was not long wanting.
In September 1622, Manuel Soto, a person em-
ployed at the public of Mexico, denounced to
the viceroy Melchor Perez de Varaez, alcalde mayor
of Metepec,” accusing him of forcing the Indians of
his jurisdiction to purchase grain of him at an exor-
bitant price, and to sell to him their cattle and produce
at merely nominal rates, as well as of other oppressive
acts. The viceroy caused the charges to be investi-
gated, and the proofs being irrefutable, ordered the
less important to be made grounds of action in Mexico
while the more grave he referred to the India council.
Mecanwhile Varaez had been underarrest in a private
house, and Gelves now ordered that, under bonds, he
should be given the freedom of the city. Varaez
demurred to this, alleging that bonds should not be
exacted from him for a cause so trivial, but the vice-
roy peremptorily ordered compliance,® and referred
29 The count of La Cortina says that his jurisdiction was that of Ixtlahuaca.
Doc. Ilist. Mez., série ii. tom. 1ii. 62; Alcaraz, in Liceo Mez., ii. 122, makes
the same mistaken statement. The two places are near to one another.
Varacz was a person of some consequence and a knight of Santiago. Sosa,
Enpicop. Mex.,60. He was the intimate friend of the powerful oidores Pedro
de Vergara Gaviria and Galdos de Valencia, who tg’ongh their influence
with their associates in that body had procured for him an appointment as
corrcgidor of Mexico. The fiscal had clgi.med that he could not hold both
offices. On appeal to the India Council that body decided that he was incom-
Biey aiated paymment, but Gelven, "oy bad artived meawhil, compolled
y peyment, . )

them to pay i ex., Rel. Svm., 8; Doc. Hist. Mex., série ii. tom. 1ii. 62-3.
7 Varaez alleged further that his denouncer was an insignificant mulatto

”\
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the cause to the oidor Alonso Vazquez de Cisne-
ros.®

The proceedings went on too slowly to suit the
humor of the marquis. After consultation with his
legal adviser, Luis de Herrera, but without the con-
currence of the audiencia, he ordered the case to be
referred to the fiscal of Panam4d, Juan de Alvarado
Bracamonte, who had just come from Manila. Braca-
monte proceeded with activity, sending Sancho de
Baraona, a clerk of the audiencia, to the province of
Metepec to collect additional evidence. To the new
referee Varaez objected, and the viceroy ordered
Francisco Enriquez de Avila, a corregidor of Mexico,
to sit with him. These judges deemed it advisable
to exact from the accused a bond to answer to any
judgment they might render, and Varaez, fearing lest
he might be again imprisoned, sword in ha.m% and
accompanied by dependants, entered a coach and
hastened to claim sanctuary at the convent of Santo
Domingo. Almost simultaneously the judges sen-
tenced him to pay a fine of sixty thousand pesos, and
to perpetual banishment from the Indies.

hortly afterward, Soto having alleged that Varaez
contemplated fleeing to Spain, guards were placed at
the door of his cell, and all communication with him
was forbidden. He contrived, however, that a memo-
rial should reach the archbishop, in which it was
claimed that the presence of the guards was in viola-
tion of the right of sanctuary.® The ecclesiastical

unworthy of credence. What he and his friends felt the most was that the
viceroy would not allow these to be his judges, and that undoubtedly he would
be obliged to return to his jurisdiction. In this way their trading operations
would come to an end. Id., Mex. Rel. Stm., 4.

1 He had arrived recently from Spain, and bore the reputation of being
an honest man. For two months he refused to accept the charge, but the
viceroy compelled him todoso. Sotoalleged that Cisneros was not impartial
in this matter, since he was an intimate friend of Gaviria and his guest. Ubi
sup., and Alcaraz, in Liceo Mez., ii. 123.

B That the prelate himself visited Varaez, as is stated by the author of the
Relacion Svmaria, seems extremely improbable. Still the circumstance is
also mentioned by the conde de la Cortina: ‘y con estruendo y aparato y li-
cenciosa ostentacion, y visitando al retraido, volvia 4 su casa mas prendado,
y dado el filo 4 los aceros.” The count also states that Varaez objected to the
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judge ordered that the guards should be removed
within two days, a demand to which the civil judges
refused to accede because Varaez, having in effect
broken jail, was not entitled to sanctuary. If the
goint were not well taken it was certainly debatable;
ut the archbishop, taking the case out of the hands
of his provisor, excommunicated Soto, the judges, the
guards, and even the counsel employed by them. The
persons so excommunicated immediately appealed to
the audiencia, and in accordance with the royal pro-
vision governing such cases, sentence was suspended,
and absolution ad remncidentiam given at first for
twenty days and then for a further period of fifteen.*
A few days afterward Gelves called upon the arch-
bishop to send the notary to him that he might be
purged of contempt. After repeated instances the
prelate reluctantly consented to do so. The notary
appeared before the viceroy accompanied by the arch-
bishop’s secretary, whom the marquis immediately
dismissed, in a very discourteous manner, as was
afterward alleged by the prelate.* The notary made
certain important statements, but these being re-
duced to writing he refused to sign the deposition
without permission from his prelate. For this he
was adjudged guilty of contumacy, and, being con-
demned to loss of property and banishment, he was
taken to San Juan de Ulda that he might be sent to
Spain.® .
ﬁ:d! only becanse of the expense occasioned to him by their presence.
. Hist. Mex., série ii. tom. ii1. 645; Mex., Rel. Stn., 5. In the matter of
the right of aanctum;{ civil authorities in Spain had issued a number of ex-
elngt.ions which y restricted the privilege.
4 The archbishop demanded a cory of certain orders from the clerk of the
audiencia, C. de Osorio, and being denied he excommunicated
B Gelves was attended by Herrera, Bracamonte, Father Burguillos, and
Baraona. These men, together with the vicar of La Merced, some superiors
of the religious orders, and a few others, were the viceroy’s trusted advisers.
Father Alonso de Villaroel, a priest who afterward testified in support of the
archbishop’s side of the controversy, calls them: ‘aquellos malos cristianos
de sus consejeros aduladores...que le y le adulaban y le dieron
por consejo diciéndole que ¢l era legado del Papa en las Indias y rey en ellas,
asf ia hacer en nombre de S. M. lo que quisiese en las Indias.’ Doe.
ist. Mez., série ii. tom. ii. 336.
% The cabildo of Mexico, in the letter to which reference has been made,
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This act of the viceroy was undoubtedly legal, but
the archbishop immediately declared that he had in-
curred the censures mentioned in the bull called in
cena domini.¥ He therefore excommuicated him,
ordering his name to be placed in the list of excom-
municated persons affixed to the church door.

Gelves now called the oidores and the alcaldes

ether in order to get their opinion concerning the
right of the archbishop to excommunicate him. Their
answer was evasive,”® and he submitted the matter to
a second assemblage, composed of ecclesiastics and
laymen, who decided that the archbishop was clearly
in the wrong.” Fortified by this opinion the viceroy
now retaliated on his antagonist by a decree condemn-
ing him to pay a fine of ten thousand ducados, to con-
fiscation of his temporal property, and to banishment.
The marquis finally sent the alguazil mayor, Luis de
Tobar Godinez, to execute the decree ang compel the
archbishop to revoke his sentence. The viceroy had
notified the archbishop three several times of his de-
cree, but on none of these occasions had the audiencia
taken part in the action as according to law they

amerta that this man was kept in prison for two days and a night, after
which, at midnight, he was-hurried away to the fortress, where he still re-
mained (19th February 1624), notwithstanding the fact that meanwhile |
several vessels had sailed thence for Spain. It is not at all probable that the
archbishop would allow the man, about whose arrest he made such trouble, to
remain in durance for more than a month after the downfall of the viceroy.

7 This celebrated bull is of great antiquity, and received its name from
the fact that it was read publicly in the presence of the pope on Muundy-
thursday, by a cardinal-deacon, accompanied by several other prelates. It
oontains & geneml excommunication of all heretics, and of those guilty of con-
tumacy and disobedience to the holy see. One of its 34 paragraphs provides
that laymen who venture to pass judgment on ecclesiastical judges and cite
them to ap, before their tribunals shall incur the censure specified in the
bull. On this paragraph the archbishop probably based his action.

B Their answer was that they had not studied the point. Cavo, T'res Siglos,
L 270. It indicates what their purpose was. At this time, as at any other
previous to the breaking-out of the riot, the audiencia might have calmed the
rising storm had its members chosen. Peace-making, however, was far from
their intention.

®In defense of the decision of this assemblage Father Burguillos, already
mentioned, published a memorial, which was printed, addressed to the visi-
tador illo. The memorial is contained in 28 octavo pages of close print,
and is a learned production. The Franciscan, citing a host of canonical au-
thorities, denies the authority of any prelate to excommunicate in such a
case. Memorial, in Tumultos de Mex., 67-80.
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should have done. During this passage at arms
neither of the antagonists had conducted himself with
the dignity to be expected from persons of their ex-
alted position. They vied one with another in selecting
untimely hours and unusual places for the exchange
of their peculiar courtesies.®
The appeal to the audiencia, however, was never
decided; for while it was pending the judges and other
persons excommunicated, seeing the obstinacy of the
archbishop, on the 20th of December 1623 appeared
before the papal delegate at Puebla.® The delegate
Eeremptorily ordered the archbish(()ip to remove the
an, which the prelate refused to do, on the ground
that because of the appeal to the audiencia the tri-
bunal at Puebla had no jurisdiction, alleging also that
the time for appeal on the part of the excommunicated
had gone by. Thereupon, on New Year’s day, the
delegate issued a compulsory mandate, ordering the
archbishop to absolve the excommunicated. The exe-
cution of this decree he intrusted to a Dominican
friar, as his sub-delegate, who personally removed
from the church door the obnoxious notices.®
From many of the pulpits of the city the conduct

«  %0n the feast of the Purisima Concepcion, Tobar, by order of Gelves, noti-
fied the archbishop of a decree while he stood in all the dignity of his sacred
office at the high altar of the cathedral, with the host uncovered, and in the
midst of the solemnity of the mass. The outraged prelate, declaring that he
would not permit such profanation, nor that the people should be so scandal-
ized, refused to reccive the notice. Serna, Representacion, in Doc. Hist. Mezx.,
séric ii. tom. ii. 165. The cabildo, in its letter to the king, asserts that the
viceroy ordered proclamation made that none should pass by the archiepiscopal
palace nor assemble in numbers within one block of it. Mez., Cartas dela ciu-
dad @ 8. M., in Id., iii. 134. On the other hand the archbishop was ‘ciego

r el deseo de la venganza que el llamaba cclo divino.” Mora, Mex. y sus
%oev., iii. 244. He also “apresurola por instantes con diligencia estraordinaria;
mandaba hacer 4 media noche notificaciones esquisitas.” Doc. Hist. Mez.,
série ii. tom. iii. 64.

31 This office was created by a special bull of Gregory XIII. for the deci-
ggnbOf difficult cases of this very nature. The delegate generally resided at

ebla.

23 The Dominican, by order of the viceroy, was accompanied by a gnard
for the purpose of preventing any opposition that might be offered by parti-
sans of the archbishop. Father Cavo with his usual bias asserts that the
sub-delegate was a ‘pobre clérigo sacristan de monjas, por no haber querido
gin n sugeto de caricter encargarse de semejante comision.’ Cavo, Tres

iglos, i. 271.
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of the delegate was reprehended in no unmeasured
terms, while, on the streets, knots of heated disputants
took one view or the other of the question as their
feelings prompted. On his part the archbishop, more
than ever exasperated, ordered the spiritual outcasts
to be excommunicated anew with all the dramatic
accompaniments of bell, book, and candle, and that
the list be again posted with the name of the sub-
delegate added to the rest. On that same night of
January 3d, he ordered also that all the churches
of the city should announce the threatened interdict.
While the ceaseless clamor of the bells, ringing as
though for this end only had they been cast, was
inspiring in the souls of the people the shadowy fecar
of some greater ill impending, came the final notifica-
tion of the delegatc commanding the archbishop to
remove the ban. The sub-delegate was ordered, in
case of the prelate’s refusal or neglect, to execute upon
him the sentence of fine and banishment. The stub-
born archbishop again refused compliance, and the
sub-delegate prepared to carry the sentence into effect.
He again removed the censures and ordered the ring-
ing of the bells to cease, and now the very silence
aroused new fears among the terrified people.

Early on the morning of the 9th of January the
archbishop sent Cristébal Martinez de Recalde, parish
priest of the cathedral, accompanied by notaries, to
the viceregal palace with a petition addressed to the
audiencia. After setting forth the facts of the case
in a manner very favorable to his own view of it, the
archbishop demanded that the audiencia should decide-
immediately the pending appeal.* In presenting this.

tition to the oidores Juan Paez de Vallecillo,Juan de-

barra, and Diego de Avendaiio, Martincz said that

# He stated moreover that it was with difficulty he could find a notary
who dared to publish the decree of excommunication; also that in notifying
his decrees the viceroy behaved ‘con menos decencia de lo que convenia,’ and,
finally, that the proceedings against Varaez were unwarranted by law, and
were undertaken solely for the pu?ose of causing delay. Serna, Rep., in Noc.
Hist. Mex., série ii. tom. ii. 151-72.

Hmvr. Mxx., VoL. III. 4
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it was in the power of the audiencia to put an end to
all disagreements, thus preventing a possible breach
of the peace. Vallecillo, who was senior oidor, re-
plied that they had been ordered by the viceroy to
receive no petitions from the archbishop or any clergy-
man, except through the proper channels. Martinez
objecting that such an order took away the prelate’s
opportunity of attempting to restore harmony, Ibarra
replicd: “You know that this is the order of our
president; what, then, would you have us do?’ After
some further specch of like import, and an intimation
of coming trouble from Martinez, he and his com-
panions withdrew.®

Bent on carrying his point, and learning that the
sub-delegate was about to cxecute sentence upon him,
the archbishop resolved upon a last desperate resort.
At an carly hour on the 11th of January, 1624, he
-caused himself to be taken to the viceregal palace, in
a sedan-chair borrowed for the purpose, and attended
only by two pages. That he went in this ostenta-
tiously humble manner, instead of in his coach, with
crozier upborne before him and accompanied by the
members of his household, was of itself a circumstance
sufficiently strange to create attention, and on reach-
ing the palace he was surrounded by a crowd of idlers.

The startled oidores asked what he desired.*® The

34 ¢Y ¢l dicho S. Lic. Vallecillo dijo, andad con Dios que ya estd proveido
con esto los porteros le dijeron que callase, no embargante lo cual el dicho
ic. Martinez volvié 4 replicar.” /d., ii. 175. Informed that the aundiencia

would not receive the petition, the archbishop caused another to be addressed -
to Pedro de Arévalo Sedeilo, tiscal of that body, calling upon him to act as
though it had been received, and to take immediate steps for the purpose of
preventing any harm which might result from want of action on the part of
the audiencia. This was delivered by Aguilar to the fiscal, together with
copics of the petition and of the documents in the case of Varaez, and ey oked
merely an evasive manner. ‘Su merced respondid, que yo el notario dijese
4 8. 8. Illma. del arzobispo mi seiior, que le ba los manos y...hard todo
lo posible, y lo que debe.’ £d., 178.

33 In its letter the cabildo asserts that the archbishop remained at the door
of the audience-chamber, asking leave to enter, and that receiving no answer,
he ventured within, and himself addressed the oidores, telling them his errand.
Mez., Carta dela Civdad ¢ S. M., in Id., iii. 136. This letter is based, not
-only in this particular but in many others, on the representation of the arch-
bishop. 1d., 183.
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prelate replied that he sought justice, and that he
would not leave the audience-chamber until he had
received it.* He then desired to read a petition in
which it was set forth: That he was obliged to appear
thus in person because the president of the audiencia
had given orders that no communication brought from
him by an ecclesiastic would be received, and no lay-
man dared to aid him by presenting one. Since it
was not just that he alone in all New Spain should
be denied the right to appeal to the audiencia for pro-
tection, he humbly besought that body, in the name
of God and the church, to pit.y the wretched condition
of the country as well as of his dignity and jurisdic-
tion, and to receive and hear this petition against the
threatened action of the papal dclegate; further, to
decide the appeal pending in the matter of the guards
of Varaez without delay. Were this not done, he
was determined to go to Spain, there to appeal to the
king in person. This petition the oidores refused to
receive; and summoned by the viceroy they lcft the
prelate in the audience-chamber. He immediately
placed the petition and the accompanying documents
on the table beneath the canopy of state, calling upon
the multitude present to bear witness that he did so.
There were present about one hundred persons, among
them some eight or ten clergymen. Fearful lest
there might be a disturbance, the viceroy ordered
that all persons having no business before the audien-
cia should depart at once, and presently the arch-
bishop, his notary Aguilar, and the two pages alone
remained.

The prelate was now formally required to return to
his palace, there to await the answer to his petitions,
which must pass through the usual course. This he
refused to do, insisting upon receiving justice and
upon the admission of appeals. For this obstinacy
he was fined four thousand ducados, and upon his

% :No se iria de all4 aun cua.ndo lo hicieran pedazos, hasta que no se le
hiciese justicia.’ Mex., Rel. Svm.,
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further refusal the sentence of banishment from New
Spain was added.” It was afternoon when Gelves
ordered Lorenzo de Terrones, alcalde dcl crimen of the
audiencia, to execute the sentence by taking the rebel-
lious prelate to San Juan de Ulda, there to embark
for Spain.®¥ Accompanied by the alguacil mayor,
Martin Ruiz de Zavala, his deputy, Baltasar de
Perea, and others, Terrones notified the archbishop
of the instructions he had received. The reply of the
prelate was that they must remove him forcibly, and
Terrones and Perea, taking him each by an arm, but
in a respectful manner, led him down to the court-
yard, where a hired travelling-carriage drawn by four
mules was in waiting. In this the prisoner, having
his crozier and the insignia of his rank in the church,
and the three officials, seated themselves; some ten
or twelve mounted constables under Major Antonio
Ocampo® of the palace guard surrounded the equi-
ragc, and the whole cortege departed by the streets
eading to the causcway of Guadalupe.

So great was the crowd in the plaza that with dif-
ficulty a passage was made. On all sides the sobs of
the women mingled with the sterner voices of the men,
while they asked whither their beloved pastor was
being taken, or heaped imprecations on the head of the
author of this outrage. Some divested themselves of
their mantles in order to throw them in the road of
the carriage. The crowd grew by accessions from side

streets and from the houses by the wayside, notwith-

37This sentence was based on more than one royal decree. One oidor did
not take part in this act, which he chose to regard as executive matter.
_ BThe order was supplemnented by another fuller and more specific in its
instructions. In the latter, Terrones was ordered to take the prelate directly
to San Juan de Ulia, there to embark in the first ship sailing for Spain that
might suit him.  For each day of service, going and coming, Terrones would
receive twelve ducados de Castilla, the notary four pesos de oro comun, and
the guards their usual pay. All of these expenses, as well as others which
might be incurred, were to be met by the archbishop, and the tithe collector
of the cathedral was obliged to pay 2,000 pesos at once. Doc. Hist. Mex.,
série ii. tom. ii. 233-7, 419-21.

% The viceroy had sent for Captain Diego de Armenteros to command
the escort, but the captain apparently having no stomach for the duty kept
out of the way.
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standing Ocampo’s order that none should go further
than the church of Santo Domingo, until on rcaching
Guadalupe, it numbered fully five thousand Indians,
negroes, and half-breeds. While the archbishop dined
and rested, the people by degrees returned to the city,
there spreading the news and arousing general dis-
content.

That night the three oidores, whether influenced
by partisans of the archbishop or fearful that their
action had been hasty, took counsel of one another.
The result was that Ibarra despatched a messenger
to Terrones bidding him go slowly, for on the morrow
the order touching the exile of the prelate would un-
doubtedly be revoked. On the morning of the 12th,
accordingly, the three met formally, with Vallecillo
as president, passed a resolution declaring that there
had been a lack of accord in the proceedings of the
previous day, and ordering that, while this point was
considered, those having the prelate in custody should
return with him at once. Of this the viceroy had
speedy information, and ordered the clerk of the audi-
encia to deliver up the document. The oidores met
.again, and passed another resolution revoking the
four orders of the 11th, on the ground that they had
not been passed by a quorum, and ordering that the
archbishop should be brought back to Mexico.* In-
formed of this second meeting of the oidores the vice-
roy ordered them into confinement within the palace,
and that two relatores who had taken part with them
should be put in prison. He also ordered that no
action should be taken in the matter of the revoca-
tion by the oidores, in which he had had no part.

Fearing lest the archbishop might renew the inter-
dict, and having strengthened his resolve by an appeal
to the fiscal, the marquis sent Tobar to the cathedral
and the churches, to notify the chapter and the parish
priests not to obey any such order on the part of their

#The document was not properly authenticated because the deputy clerk
stood in fear of the viceroy. Doc. Hist. Mex., série ii. tom. ii. 247-50.
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superior till the delegate should have rendered his
decision. Tobar found the cathedral doors shut, al-
though the building was full of people, but obtained
admittance after some delay. Not without opposition
he read the order from the steps of the high altar, and
was promised obedience by the provisor and the chap-
ter; but the parish priests replied that they had no
power to suspend or impede what their superior might
determine.

In order that the archbishop might not attempt to
influence in any way the delegate at Puebla, the vice-
roy despatched a messenger to Terrones, with orders to
avoid that city and to take another road. A halt had
been made at the town of Guadalupe for the purpose
of allowing the archbishop to rest, and of this he
availed himself to issue two additional decrees. In the
first, after reciting his visit to the audiencia, his arrest,
and his deportation to this place, the prelate declared
that the president and oidores, as well Terrones, Za-
vala, Perea, and Osorio, together with Ocampo and
the alguaciles of the guard, had incurred the censures
mentioned in the canon clementia si quis suadente di-
abolo and the bull in cena domini.** This decree was
made known at once to all the persons named therein,
except the president and oidores, with an offer of ab-
solution if sought within six hours. The second edict
was addressed to the clergy, reciting the facts men-
tioned in the first edict and ordering an interdict to
be established.

The archbishop had wished to remain still longer
at Guadalupe, but Terrones insisting, he consented at
length to go on, and the night was passed at the
hermitage of Santa Isabel. On the following even-
ing he reached San Juan de Teotihuacan. On the
morning of the 13th Terrones entering the bed-cham-
ber of the archbishop found him still abed. He de-

41 He should send back Osorio, whose services were needed in Mexico.
The names of the excommunicated were ordered to be posted in the
esual manner, Id., 191-8.
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sired the prelate to dress and to enter the carriage
which was in waiting at the door. Informed of the
action of the oidores the archbishop pleaded that his
health would not allow him to pursue the journey for
the present. Terrones insisting, he replied curtly that
a formal order would alone have weight with him.®
It was indecent that a person of his quality should be
carried off in this manner, when there was nothing in
his conduct to warrant such treatment; and were he
to go willingly he might be accused of a desire to
proceed to Spain on an errand of his own. Not
wishing to ta{)e extreme measures Terrones sent to
Mexico for further orders. Alarm at his spiritual
plight may have been oune of the reasons why Ter-
rones consented to humor the prelate, but for this he
was reprimanded by the viceroy, who also rebuked
his negligence in ai)l'owing the 1ssue of fresh excom-
munications,* intimating that a prompt execution of
orders would be more pleasing than a waste of time
in sending despatches and awaiting answers. A little
compulsion would do no harm.*

The afflicted Terrones accordingly issued orders for
departure. The luggage was sent on before, the car-
riage stood in readiness, but no archbishop appeared.
At first the attendants of the prelate gave out that
he was at his prayers, and then that he had gone for
a walk; but, on more special inquiry, it was found
that he was actually in the church of the Franciscan

€ <Y no en otra manera, y que esto daba y dié por respuesta.’ Id., 259.

¥ While expressing sympathy for the illness of his grace, Gelves intimated
that the complaint might be merely a pretence.

% Torres, the messenger, afterward testified that Gelves bade him tell
Terrones: *Si el dicho sefior arzobispo dificultase ¢l proscguir en la jornada y
para esto se acostase, que ordenase 4 Don Diego de Armenteros y 4 las guardas,
que con la misma cama se metiese en el coche habiéndole apercibido primero
que se vistiese y airestn.se. ’ Father Domingo Navarro Fortunio, who accom-

ied the archbishop on the journey, testified that on receiving this order

'errones said, his eyes filling with tears: ‘Qué compadrazgos tengo yo con el
sefior arzobispo, ni qué he hecho yo para que se me trate tan infamemente.”
Id., 405, 261. An orderalso came that four members of the cathedral chapter,
who had come to San Juan Teotihuacan by vote of the chapter for the purpose
of accompanying the archbishop to Vera Cruz, should travel one day’s journey
at least in m({vnnce.
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convent.* Terrones followed him, accompanied by
the alguacil mayor, Torres, and four of the reluctant
guard. On entering the church they found the prel-
ate, in rochet, cape, and stole, standing by the high
altar, while the ciborium was open with the host in
remonstrance within. Terrones, weeping, upbraided
him for thus forcing extreme measures, saying that
he had lost his honor, and his life was forfeit to the
viceroy’s wrath. To this outburst the prelate replied
calmly that he could not continue the journey, for he
was engaged in visiting officially the altar of the
parish. Saying this, he took from the ciborium a
wafer which he placed on a paten, and holding this
in his hands he seated himself close to the altar.
But soon the wily priest was carried away by the
excitement attendant on a situation so dramatic, or
possibly he determined purposely to heighten its
effect. 'When the alcalde again desired him to leave
these things and to continue the journey, he burst
into tears, exclaiming that he had not wished to re-
sort to this extremity in Mexico, for the land was
newly christianized, and he feared lest the faith of
the Indians might be shaken by the occurrence of
events to them inexplicable. ‘ Here, however,” he
added, “all are Spaniards; just as I am take me
aiway.” ¢ Thus saying, he placed the paten upon the
altar.

Terrones then ordered the notary to instruct the
captain of the guard to do as the viceroy had ordered.
As, in obedience to the thrice repeated order, Armen-
teros and one of the guards began to ascend the steps

¢ Armenteros says that the archbishop went to the church in an artful
manner, without even a hat, and as if for a short stroll. Id., 423.
1y 1{:‘ sto en csta forma, hablando las dichas palabras, dijo le llevasen
como estaba.’ Id., 263. The account of the archbishop’s taking refuge in the
church rests in the main on the sworn testimony of Diego Torres, the
notary, who in his official capacity has full opportunity of knowing whereof
he spoke, and whose words bear with them intrinsic evidence of their truth.
He stated that the aichbishop accused Gelves of having forced the oidores to
rass the order for his exile, adding that the viceroy was the greatest tyrant
o the yv%rld, and that Torres might tell him so. Doc. Hist. Mex., série ii.
m. iii. 8.

A,



CLERICAL CUNNING. &7

of the altar, the archbishop arose, and lifting the
paten on high before them he said: “Let us see if
there be a Christian man so dead to shame as to lay
hands on Jesus Christ.” The intangible power of the
church was still paramount. Serna successfully played
the part of Becket, but to Armenteros and his men
the spirit of the Norman knights was lacking; burst-
ing into tears the{ retired.¥ On his part Terrones
exclaimed: “My lord, you have wrought my un-
doing!” To this Serna replied: “Sir doctor, I but
work in the cause of your worship and that of these
poor fellows.” The alcalde took his wonted way out
of difficulties, and bade Torres ride with speed to
Mexico in order to give an account to the viceroy of
the turn matters had taken. The latter merely re-
plied that Terrones should be recalled and give place
to a man who would carry out orders rather than
write despatches. All that night the prelate remained
at the post he had chosen near the high altar, taking
such rest as he could on its steps, regardless of the
cold. All night the sacrament remained exposed on
that altar while the guard kept watch by turns.®

4] have already had occasion to k of the faint-heartedness of Armen-
teros in this matter. He lamented that he was an unfortunate man. ‘Que
Eo tenia mas que una vida, y esa la habia de perder por Dios y su rey.’ Id.,

i. 423,

#In the morning the archbishop, wishing to celebrate mass, desired all
who had come under the ban of the church to withdraw. This request how-
ever was denied, for Terrones held that neither he nor any of his party were
excommunicated, since, as the prelate well knew, they were acting under
compulsion, and the mass was left unsaid. The request for continuing the
journe in met with a refusal. The archbishop said he knew the audi-
encia issued an order for his return to Mexico, but if Terrones could
produce one of later date from the same body, whereby he was roquired to
pursue his way to exile, he would cheerfully obey it.
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1624.
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Awona the oldest and most sacred spots of Anghuac
was Teotihuacan. During the early Nahua period
its lofty pyramids were famed throughout the land,
and under the Toltec empire it remained the religious
centre to which pilgrims with rich offerings flocked
from afar to worship in the temples of the sun and
moon. Here kings and priests were elected, ordained,
and buried, and here were fulminated oracles which
overturned dynasties and caused nations to tremble.
It was in the village near this spot, now a mass of
awe-inspiring ruins, that Archbishop Serna had taken
a defiant stand within the convent church, and like
his ancient forerunners he sent forth a decree which
should rouse a people and overturn a ruler. This
was nothing less than a new excommunication of the
viceroy, together with an interdict upon the whole
capital. The decree was intrusted to the priest Mar-
tinez de Recalde, who set out on horseback the even-
ing it was issued, the 14th of January 1624, and
reached the city at dawn the following day. At half

”~
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t five the name of the viceroy again appeared in
the list of religious outcasts, andy an hour later the
interdict was read from the cathedral pulpit to such
of the faithful as were present at matins. The chant
of the choir ceased immediately, the candles upon the
altar were extinguished, the massive doors closed
upon the devout, who, weeping, spread throughout
the city the sad tidings, crying that the land was now
as one possessed by Moors, since God had gone from
among them. Soon, too, the willing feet of priests
were hastening to bear the decree to the other
churches and convents of the town. All were closed
save the convent of La Merced, which remained open
during the morning, while from every belfry tolled
forth the dread tidings to the awakening city.

The events of the past four days had been at work
in the minds of the ignorant. The archbishop’s
mania for excommunicating, and the opposition of
the viceroy to one whom they had been taught to
regard as more than human, if somewhat less than
divine, had formed the sole topic of conversation, and
all day long and till late into the night excited knots
of men hung about the plaza and the street corners

redicting some dreadful catastrophe. They were
aithful children, these poor Mexicans, of a church
the tenets of which to them consisted simply in their
outward manifestation, while they gratefully remem-
bered that its ministers had ever stood, or endeavored
to stand, between them and the tyranny and greed
of their lay masters. Of this the partisans of the
prelate failed not to remind them. If an occasional
skeptic hinted at episcopal missteps, the faithful ex-
pressed themselves as only too willing to give their
all for his ransom. They could not %)ea,r to see the
representative of heaven driven forth like a criminal.
To many it seemed an overwhelming calamity, and
impressed by the popular disquietude others readily
drifted into the current of excitement which at any
moment might develop into a storm.
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At eight o'clock on the morning of the 15th the
%reat square was full of excited peofple. Cristébal de

sorio, regarded as one of the chief oppressors of the
archbishop, passed through it in his carriage and was
recognized by some boys. Cries of “heretic,” “ex-
communicated dog,” and the like came lustily from
their throats until Osorio, losing his temper, ordered
his servants to chastise them. The boys defended
themselves with stones, and at length forced the
coachman to drive toward the palace for protection.!
The viceroy, who was still in his bed, received a
probably exaggerated account of theattack and ordered
out the guard to the rescue. Though roughly handled
at first, the boys were soon reénforced by others and
at length joined by many of the idle men who flocked
to the spot. Armed with sharp fragments of stone
gathered from the spot where the cathedral was
a-building, they soon forced the guard to retire within
the palace gates, against which the mob, which had
now assumed formidable proportions, threw itself.
Gelves with characteristic valor would have sallied
forth sword in hand, but from such a rash proceeding
he was dissuaded by Admiral Cevallos and others
who happened to be with him. He contented himself
therefore with ordering the general call to arms to be
sounded from the palace roof, and displaying from a
window the pendant used during the negro trouble in
1612. The call of the trumpet served first to summon
aid to the rabble, and, amidst the encouraging cries of
his fellows, one of the crowd mounted a ladder and
tore down the flag, which soon waved in triumph from
one of the cathedral towers. But the rioters lost little
time in idle demonstrations. Some busied themselves
in an attempt to fire the palace gate, others sought to

1 The author of the Relacion Svmaria says that the boys were u:ﬁed on
& priest. Mez., Rel. Svm., 8. This was the theory of the causes of the tumul$
wEich Gelves and his friends endeavored to have adopted, and although later
clergymen witnesses unanimously contradicted this, Doc. Hist. Mez., série il
tom. ii. 275-345, there can be no doubt that the secular clergy was to a grea$
extent responsible for the acts of the mob on this day.
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free the prisoners in the jail, all shouting the while:
“Viva la fé de Jesucristo; viva la Iglesia; viva el rey
nuestro seflor, y muera el mal gobierno de este luterano
herege descomulgado!” The %ravado of the untrained
populiace grows more demonstrative the less it is op-
posed, and presently the rioters began to cry that,
unless their pastor? were restored to his flock and the
imprisoned oidores liberated, they would put an end
not only to all in the palace but to the tribunals and
the gentry as well.

The situation was becoming serious, for the supply
of arms was small even for the few defenders of the
palace, and the fire at the gates grew hot. It hap-
pened that the oidor Cisneros, who had not taken part
in the proceedings which led to the arrest of the arch-
bishop, was among the first to obey the general sum-
mons of the viceroy. He now, kneeling, besought
Gelves to recall the prelate, and in this he was sec-
onded by other prominent persons. To this Gelves
at length gave consent, albeit against his will, for he
was still inclined to offer a stout resistance to rebels.
The decree which he signed was intrusted for trans-
mission to the senior inquisitor, who as he left the
palace showed it to the crowd. But the mob had no
faith in the viceroy, and notwithstanding the general
freedom promised them they clamored still for the
release of the oidores and the issue of the decree by
them. Gelves had to yield, and now the mob was
persuaded by the popular marqués del Valle to put
out the fire at the gates, while some Franciseans per-
suaded a large number to depart from the spot.* One
faction in moving away amid exultant demonstrations,
sought to obtain the pendon de la fé from the inquis-
itors; and balked in this they took Varaez from his
confinement and carried him round in trinmph.

This lull by no means suited certain parties; and a
rumor that the archbishop was to be executed assisted

%¢Que lo habian desterrado por defensor de su Iglesia.’ Id., 313.
3 Gaviria claims credit for having aided in this dispersion.
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to draw the rabble again to the plaza. A number now
raised the cry to break open the prisons in one end of
the palace, partly with a view to plunder the building.
The lower jail was easily entered, but not so the upper
and main portion, whereupon torches were applied.*
Reénforced with arms and ammunition the viceroy
opened fire on the assailants, killing quite a number.
This naturally exasperated the crowd, which, armed
with arquebuses, broke into the archiepiscopal palace,
ascended to the roof, and began to return the fire from
the viceregal palace. Gelves now found himself in
greater strait than ever, for the mob was increasing
both in number and fury, and the fire extended rapidly.
Finding it necessary to release the prisoners lest they
be burned alive, he opened the cell-doors on condition
that the inmates should assist in quenching the flames,®
but most of them hastened to join the mob.
Meanwhile the oidores had done nothing beyond
issuing tame appeals for order and urging upon the
viceroy not to persist in opposing the people but
rather to retire,® a not very easy task, had he so
desired. In response to their appeals the people
shouted that they should assume control and remain
in the city hall.” Only too eager to comply with so
flattering a demand, the oidores turned for advice to
officials and notables present, not omitting the clergy,
whose fears prompted but the one counsel of compli-
ance; and so, after much pretended hesitation, they
yielded, in token of which the city standard was un-
furled at 5 p. M. At the same time Gaviria proclaimed
himself captain-general, and set forth to summon citi-
zens to join him in suppressing the riot. He took the

¢ The viceroy’s supporters state that powder alone was used, while oppo-
nents declare that more than 100 persons were killed, and Cavo accepts the
latter version. 7'res Siglos, 3. 274.
s 5This act he describes as prompted purely by commiseration. AMezx., Rel

vm., 10.

6 To surrender himself a prisoner’ to them. Id.

7+ A todos los oidores habian de acabar y matar, y que habian de perecer
si dcjaban de tomar al gobierno.’ Carta de la Ciudad, in Doc. Hist. Mex.,
série ii. tom. iii. 144,
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direction of Tlatelulco, with a view to meet the large
force of Indians who were said to be gathering there
intending to march to the main square.

All this time the rabble at the palace were having
their own way, with little or no attempt at interfer-
ence on the part of the oidores remaining at the city
hall. Gelves even charges them with promoting the
trouble,® and intimates that Gaviria kept away on
purpose, so that he might be driven to extremes for
the benefit of Gaviria’s party. Part of the palace
was already in the hands of the sackers, and the vice-
roy and his adherents were beaten farther and further
back, with loss both in dead and wounded. Finding
that it would not be possible to hold out much longer,
and warned by the insensate outery against him,
Gelves resolved to seek safety in flight. He donned
the garments of a servant,’ took off his well known
spectacles, and favored by the darkness he mingled
with the mob, shouting awhile as lustily as any of
them against himself. With two servants he there-
upon hurried to San Francisco convent, and hid in a
room behind the refectory.

His departure gave the signal for a general aban-
donment of the palace, which the rioters now over-
ran, plundering and destroying, and respecting not
even the sacred vessels and images in the chapel
They also sacked the houses of Armenteros and the
vicerega] asesor, and would have extended their raid
against other adherents of the opposite party, per-
haps against any one whom it might pay to plunder;
but Gaviria now returned at the head of an over-
whelming force of citizens. Whatever may have
been his motives they could no longer be promoted
by countenancing the riot, which now threatened to
endanger the common mterest It was not long,
therefore, ere he had cleared the palace and its neigh-

?Some of their people were actua.lly led against the viceroy under Regidor
Valmaseda. Mexz., Rc? v
% With a white band on the lmﬁ Cavo, T'res Siglos, i. 274.
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barhoed of all dangerous persons; the fire was extin-
guished, the wounged received due care, and patrols
paraded the streets all night, keeping guard and
waintaining bonfires at the corners.

Few, however, of those concerned in that day’s tur-
meil thought of returnirig home, for another excite-
went of a more peaceful nature was in store. Duri
the day the marqués del Valle, and the bearers of the
audiencia order, had come up with the archiepiscopal
party, and urged upon the prelate to return at once
and aid in calming the people. He set out at 3 p. .,
escorted by a crowd, which greatly swelled as he
advanced. At Guadalupe he was met by a proces-
sion of Indians with blazing torches, the advance
guard of many others, and the entry into the capital
about midnight resembled that of a victorious mon-
arch. The houses were illuminated, the bells pealed
werrily, and cheering crowds lined the street,”® im-
pressed more than ever by the grandeur and power
of the church. In the morning the prelate removed
the interdict, and then, borne aloft to the altar over
the heads of the crowds, he held mass and chanted the
te deum, the rest of the day, a Tuesday, being held
as a feast. The dead rioters he buried free of cost,
showing them particular honor, but the fallen defend-
ers of the palace he disregarded.

The same day the audiencia took steps to plant
themselves firmly in power, and rumor being brought
by their zealous henchmen that the ﬁ)eople were again
showing uneasiness at the possible restoration of
Gelves, they seized this as a pretext for issuing a
proclamation to the effect that they would retain the
government. In this document were cited the views
and wishes of judges, clergymen, and citizens of dif-

10 e ti
t0 give b blensing. - Cooms veplaced crowda. - Traian s 4o quiniontes
hachas encendidas.” Doc. Hist. Mex., série ii. tom. ii. 284-5, 291, 296; Id.,
iii. 150-1, etc.

N Jd.,94. Captain Velasco was at first declared a heretic, but a hand-

some fee induced the clergy to bury him. Mez., Rel. Svm., 11. The oidores
received the formal thanks of the prelate for their action.
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ferent degrees. All the provinces were notified and
ordered to obey the new rulers. The demand for
maintaining order appeared to call for a standing
force, and since this would strengthen their position,
they hastened to mass arms and enroll men, and
formed several companies, including a corps of cav-
alry from among the encomenderos under Captain
Legaspi. Contador Juan de Cervantes Casaus was
created maestre de campo. Three companies of one
hundred men each were regularly assigned for guard
duty, their pay being taken from the (ﬁ'&inage fund.”

A number of these were detailed to protect the
ﬁovernment house and enforce the behests of the au-

iencia, and another body attended Gaviria as escort.
He and his associates moved about with great pomp;
banners were lowered as they passed, and besides
carrying staffs and other insignia they adopted the
broad frilled collar hitherto restricted to the higher
nobles. The royal seal was brought from the palace
to their hall, and the papers of the viceroy were
seized, many of them being freely ventilated, notably
his secret report on the character of the officials. It
contained reflections far from flattering, and served
to increase the animosity against him, and to encour-
age hostility. Indeed a number of his most excellent
measures were annulled, wherever the oidores thought
it for their interest to do so. The restriction on
bearing arms was removed, persons exiled for crimes
were recalled, prisoners released, and apostates re-
stored to their orders. Further than this, many
worthy officials had to yield their posts to adherents
of the new party, and among them Pedro Velez de
Guevara, governor of San Juan de Ulda, who was
replaced by Francisco Bravo de la Serna, a nephew
of the archbishop.®® Pedro de la Gorreta, governor
th roof of £h3 goverament houss aad owble pass-words were A Bret sequired.
Id., 13. Fonseca states that merely 39,853 pesos were taken from the fund.
Hist. Hac., v. 359.

13 To this end he was first made corregidor of New Vera Cruz, and as soon
Her. Mxx., Vor. III. §
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of Acapulco, declined to surrender his post to the
relative of Gaviria, who had been appointed to receive
it. The public feeling against the viceroy was main-
tained by libellous notices and abusive songs; and
although printers were not as a rule permitted to
issue them, no restriction was placed on public de-
livery.™

These proceedings received encouragement from the
effort of the viceroy to keep secret his hiding-place,
even from the oidores. They ferreted it, however,
and placed a guard round the convent, ostensibly for
his protection, but really to keep him prisoner. They
also took precautions to restrict visits by allowing
none to enter save with their permission.® Many of
those who came as visitors or servants were subjected
to the indignity of search, and the viceroy’s secretary
was confined elsewhere so as to be unable to commu-
nicate with him.

Notwithstanding the secrecy concerning his abode
the viceroy had not failed from the first to let it be
known that he was still among the living. On the
very evening of his flight he had summoned Inqui-
sitor Juan Gutierrez Flores and Fray Juan de Lor-
mendi, guardian of the convent, and commissioned
them to treat with the audiencia for his restoration to
‘power, and for a meeting between them. They must
-also secure his papers. While considering themselves
firmly enough established to follow their bent, the
oidores ncvertheless thought it necessary to call a

as the fleet for Spain had sailed he assumed command. Guevara at first
refused to yield, but certain promises prevailed upon him. The alcalde mayor
here maintained himself in his office, however, by command of Gelves. Gram-
bila, Tumultos, MS., 17.
14 Even boys sang couplets on the streets, one of which ran:
¢ Ahora vivamos en nuestra ley,
Quo no hay virey.’
The archbishop allowed an abusive attack on the viceroy to be printed by
-one Cristébal Ruiz.
18¢Y que matasen al virey, si instase de hecho en su salida.’ Doc. Hist.
Mez., série ii. tom. iii. 97. The viceroy’s defenders point out that the placing
of a few guards at Varaez’ asylum had raised a terrible outcry, but none ob-
jected to the present violation.
. 18 Also visitador of Peru. Grambila, Tumultos, MS., 16.



PROCEEDINGS OF THE VICEROY. 67

- meeting of leading men to give them support. They
failed not to magnify the danger of restoring to power
so unpopular a viceroy. A civil war might thereby
be ignited which would not only imperil the lives and
estates of every Spaniard in New Spain, but the in-
terests and authority of the crown itself. Although
the marqués del Valle among others made some blunt
objections to these manifest efforts of the oidores to
retain control, yet their influence and arguments pre-
vailed in obtaining a very respectable endorsement.
The more prudent refrained from committing them-
selves. Thus strengthened in their position, Gaviria
and his colleagues replied to Gelves that he had been
deposed, not by them but by the people, and had vir-
tually admitted the removal by aEandoning his post.
Under the circumstances the law and the popular
will demanded that they should administer the gov-
ernment till the king decided in the matter. He
might confer with any oidor, but it would not be ad-
visable for them to meet him as a body. His private
papers would be surrendered, but not official docu-
ments nor his estate.

On receiving this answer the viceroy, partly with
a view of sounding his opponents, proposed to leave
for Spain since it was not proper that he should re-
main after being deprived of his position. It was
also necessary that he should be allowed to consult
with his secretary, his confessor, and other persons, in
order to prepare the report which the king expected
from him. Moreover he needed funds for the support
of himself and followers. To this came the reply that
the viceroy could not be permitted to leave before his
residencia was taken. But residencia in this case
could not be taken except by special order from the
king, it was urged, since the office had not been left
in due form, and bonds would be given if required.
This caused the audiencia to yield and offer a vessel,
at his own expense however. Shortly after they
changed their mind and paid no attention to proposals
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for his departure.”” It was thereupon agreed that a
few assistants would be given to prepare despatches,
and certain means for expenses, but no officials could
be allowed to act for him as messengers to Spain.”
The notaries, however, and other officials necessary
for giving formality to the viceregal documents were
either withheld or delayed, so that negotiations broke
off for some days, and more than one opportunity was
thus purposely lost to Gelves for sending reports to
the court.

On February 7th the viceroy sent a formal protest
to the audiencia. He had learned of their many
proclamations and acts tending to rouse the people,
and bring into contempt the royal authority vested
in him. They had usurped the government, risked
its subversion, and prevented him from fulfilling the
obligations of his office. There could be only one
head of government, and he, as that royally appointed
head, now required the oidores to obey him as vice-
regent, governor, captain-general, and president, re-
store him to office, and protect his person with the
force enrolled, under penalty of being declared rebels,
together with their supporters, a penalty involving
death and confiscation.

In the expectation of such notices it is not to
be wondered at that visitors to the convent were
searched. The audiencia did not fail to express disap-
proval of the extreme language used, and regret that
the inquisitor should have undertaken to carry it.
This official was henceforth forbidden entrance into
the convent. After two days of deliberation the
oidores replied in equally formal manner, in the king’s
name, addressing Gelves as marquis and ex-viceroy.
They recapitulated the different acts of despotism

17 ¢ Teniendo dispuesta mi jornada y embarcacion, la impidieron contra mi
voluntad.” Gelves’ representation of September 1, 1624, in Doc. Hist. Mex.,
série ii. tom. iii. 197. See also /d., 95-6. He might change his place of
abode within New Spain. Mez., Rel. Svm., 14.

18]t was resolved by the oidores to treat all matters with the viceroy in
council and in writing.
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which gave rise to the popular commotion that
caused him to abandon the palace, such as disobey-
ing royal orders; withdrawing right of appeal; pre-
venting the audiencia from administering justice and
fulfilling the duties of their office; suppressing letters
and interfering with the free use of mails to the court
and elsewhere; proclaiming that no will but his own
should prevail, even in spiritual matters, to which
end he had exiled the archbishop and imprisoned the
oidores. These and other outrages had so irritated
the people as to compel the audiencia, by common
acclamation, and by cédulas providing for such cases,
to assume government and save the country from
ruin. Tribunals, secular and ecclesiastic bodies, and
citizens generally had further required them to retain
this power for the safety of all. The efforts of the
marquis to resume his late office were, under the cir-
cumstances, dangerous to peace, and he was ordered
to desist, under penalty of being held responsible for
any trouble and disaster that might arise in conse-
quence. He was, moreover, commanded to obey the
audiencia.”

Without the power to enforce his demands Gelves
could merely continue to issue protests while declaring -
that he would do nothing that might cause disturbance.
Yet he objected to certain measures of the audiencia
as tending to irritate the people against him, and sent
proclamations to municipalities and citizens command-
ing them and other similar bodies in New Spain to
maintain order and oppose the scandalous and dis-
loyal acts® to which the despotic and inimical conduct

19 This document was signed by Licenciado Paz de Vallecillo, senior oidor
and acting president, Doctor Galdos de Valencia, Licenciado Pedro de Ver-
Gaviria, Licenciado Alonso Vasquez de Cisneros, Doctor Diego de Aven-
s:‘;o, the only don umong the six, and Licenciado Juan de Ibarra. Counter-
signed by the escribano mayor Godinez. The text of this and the preceding
protest are given in full in Mez., Rel. Svm., 14-18. The inquisitor consid-
ered the tone too strong, and declined to act as bearer.
® This evoked from the local authorities at Mexico merely a declaration of
" loyalty and of respect for the ‘marquis.’ Doc. Ilist. Mez., série ii. tom. iii. 194
205. Corregidor Avila, as a first cousin to Gelves, waa debaired from taking
part in the consideration of these and later messages from his kinsman.
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of the audiencia might give rise. This body issued a
counter proclamation declaring Gelves to be actuated
by malicious motives, and that his order was intended
chiefly to draw attention from a defeated plot on the
part of his nephew, Francisco Pimentel, to gather
forces in support of the uncle while pretending to
raise them for Acapulco. Pimentel had been arrested,
and all local authorities were charged to aid the au-
diencia in suppressing similar attempts.®

Meanwhile clergy, oidores, and local authorities
of Mexico had combined to gather evidence against
the viceroy, and in support of their acts, and this
evidence together with exculpatory letters were for-
warded by the fleet under Oquendo which set sail
for Spain shortly after the riot. The audiencia
appointed for this mission Doctor Hernan Carrillo
Altamirano, legal adviser of that body, who had be-
come the sworn enemy of Gelves because of his inter-
ference with certain of the doctor’s irregular sources
of income.® The municipality of Mexico commis-
sioned at the same time Cristébal de Molina y Pisa,
one of the regidores whom Gelves had placed under
arrest, and provided him with letters from different
sources, and for the most influential officials in Spain.®
In the representation to the king they depicted
Gelves as a tyrannical, unscrupulous, self-willed, and
violent man, who had made himself so generally feared
and hated by all good citizens as finally to compel
them to rise in selt-defence.*

2/d.,185-93. Gelves claimed that he had received many offers to aid him
in recovering his position, but he preferred not to endanger public peace.
Mex., Rel. Sem., 13.

22 He had once been arraigned for murder. Gelves had punished him and
taken away 600 pesos of unlawful income derived by him from Indians. He
was now captain of one of the companies raised by the new rulers, and re-
ceived 10,000 pesos from the drainage fund for his journey. Ib.

B Cavo alludes to him as the alférez real. Trex Siglos, i. 276. He was
commissivned as procurador general, and carried letters to a number of
leading men, such as Conde de Olivares, prime-minister, Conde de Monterey,
president of the council of Italy, to whose father Molino had been secretary,
the ex-viceroy Montesclaros, now of the council of state, and the members
of the India council. The difterent texts are given in Doc. [list. Mez., série
ji. tom. iii. 152-74.

3 As a judge he had been cruel and unjust; he had removed and appointed.



BEFORE THE COURT OF SPAIN. 73

The archbishop showed himself no less energetic
in collecting and wording his evidence, in which he
figured as a martyr to religion. The viceroy had in-
terfered also in his jurisdiction, and had persecuted
clergymen and oidores for daring to expostulate. In
support of his representation he did not hesitate to
include the declarations of aged nuns, who professed
to have beheld the viceroy’s adherents in the form of
demons, and to have heard a supernatural voice de-
nounce the marquis for his disobedience to the prel-
ate. To another had been revealed that those who
attacked the palace were souls from purgatory led by
their guardian angel.®

As for the viceroy, his documents and letters of
defence were, after long delay, given an opportunity
for transmission in the treasure fleet; but this was
wrecked, with the loss of two millions of precious
metals, and Gelves’ majordomo, Juan de Baeza, went
down with the documents in his charge® Some
earlier reports by him and his adherents appear, how-
ever, to have reached Spain.

The court was not a little astonished and perplexed
on receiving the news from Mexico. It could not well

officials at will, selecting those who unscrupulously carried out his orders,
without regard to their fitness; he had interfered with the duties of the
audiencia and municipality, taking upon himself to decide in many of their
affairs; he shocked the feelings of the community by his lack of respect for
religion, thereby setting a dangerous example to evil-disposed persons. If
the municipality had formerly praised the viceroy, it was due to intimida-
tion; for he had not only exiled the more independent regidores, but caused
all their reports to be submitted to him, and to be filled with praise of him-
self. As for the rioters, they were chiefly Indians and mestizos of feeble
intelligence, actuated by a loyal though misdirected zeal for the king. Regi-
dores Gaviria and Valencia should be rewarded for their good services in
restoring order. /b., Libro Capitular, pt. xxv. 82-8.

% The nun had prophesieg' the riot. Doc. Hist. Mex., série ii. tom. iii.
25-49. Other testimony appears on pp. 230-74.

% Mez., Rel. Som., 13. grrutia names the messengers Melchor de Cor-
doba and Gerénimo de Valenzuela, and relatecs that the documents were
lmu%led into their hands by the aid of & laborer at the convent where Gelves
was living. They further took the precaution of leaving the city with dogs
and falcons as if for a hunt. Once outside they hastened to Vera Cruz to
embark on the ill-fated fleet with which they were to ish. Rel., in Mezx.
y sus Disturbios, MS., i. 363, 497. This smuggling probably applies to an
earlier report sent by Gelves.
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be decided with whom the blame should rest, although
the defense of the archbishop appeared by no means
satisfactory. One thing was certain however, that
the authority of the king had been defied in his repre-
sentative, and that an audiencia which had failed to
support him at a critical moment could not be trusted
with supreme control. It was also the opinion of the
nobles that exemplary punishment should be meted
to the ringleaders, lest leniency give encouragement
to greater disloyalty. But to this the marqués de
Montesclaros objected, saying that “a child could in
his majesty’s name control the whole viceroyalty.”#
Time had evidently left a happy impression on the
mind of the ex-viceroy. .

Nevertheless it was decided to appoint a new ruler;
onc possessed of firmness to assume control of an
apparently disordered country and with sagacity to
guide an investigation and restore harmony by recon-
ciling discordant elements, for it was not thought
either prudent or needful tosend troops. Such a man
it was thought might be found in the governor of
Galicia, Rodrigo Pacheco y Osorio, marqués de Cer-
ralvo,® who combined great physical strength with
tried bravery, and while occasionally subject to pas-
sionate outbursts was reputed to be of jovial dispo-
sition and agreeable in manner, yet withal devout
and addicted to study. These qualities had however
contributed less, it is said, to obtain the favor which
he enjoyed at court than the fortunate circumstance
that he once saved the queen by carrying her away
from a fire.?

Owing to the apparent urgency of the case Cerralvo
hasteneg on his way accompanied by his marchioness
o :org; gzﬁcm ;t'm:; 7y0‘sujetar 4 todo este reino al servicio de 8. M. con

3 And relative of Pacheco, viceroy of Catalufia. Cortina, Doc. Hist. Rei-
nado Felipe, iv. 100-1. Portrait and autograph in Ribera, Gob. Mez., i. 118,

® He once killed a corregidor with a er stroke in a just cause. Once
every week he celebrated the communion. His confessor was a Pauline friar

of great piety, master of the college of Villagarcia. Urrutia, Rel., in Mee. y
ous Disturbios, MS., 1. 3615, © S

-
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and two children,” and some eighty attendants and
officers, four of them knights. He was joined by
oidores appointed to replace certain members of the
doubtful audiencia, and by Martin de Carrillo, inquisi-
tor of Valladolid, the latter bearing special instruc-
tions to investigate the outbreak and see to the
punishment of the guilty. The party sailed in the
fleet of General Chavez and reached Vera Cruz in
September 1624.® On the way to Mexico they were
detained at different places by demonstrations, ad-
dresses, and petitions, and courted by a host of seekers
for favors or clemency, in view of the pros%ective
reforms and punishments to be ordained. At Puebla
the reception was particularly brilliant with triumphal
arches, processious, bull-fights, and other perform-
ances. The bishop here sought to win the good
ces of the marchioness by presenting a casket with
perfumes and the like, all mounted in gold. The lady
kept the perfume alone, returning the rest, whereat
the prelate is said to have felt deeply mortified.®
Cerralvo entered Mexico informally toward the end
of October, conferred for some time with Gelves,® and
inquired into the state of affairs. One result was
that he determined first to restore the dignity of his
office, and to this end ordered the removal of the
name of Gelves from the excommunication tablet®
and his reinstallation. This was a bitter pill to the
higher officials, notably the oidores; but the new
members of the audiencia assisted to overrule objec-

m’v:rhncﬁ mentions only one, a daughter who died at Mexico in 1631.
t. Mez., 14.

31 On approaching this place two fast sailers advanced to gather news, and
met cruising off the harbor two vessels sent bﬁhe audiencia to anticipate the
report of any such arrival and what it might bode. Urrutia, ubi sup.

82 ¢ Pienso utine el despego tan impensado sirve de azada para abrirle en
breve la tura.” Urrutia, Rel., in Mez. y sus Disturbios, MS., i. 443.
Gifts from Gaviria were also declined.

8 Urrutia relates that Gelves made a return visit to Chapultepec where
the marchioness received him kneeling and in tears. Gelves also knelt and
Ve);t till Cerralvo made both rise.

Portillo, the provisor then in charge of the diocesan affairs, made objeo-
tions, but Cerralvo peremptorily ordered obedience, and intimated that he
had power to deal summarily even with prelates.
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tions. On the 30th of October the municipality, with
the best grace possible, issued proclamations in accord-
ance with the order, declaring their joy at the pros-
pective re-entry of their viceroy on the morrow, and
ordering a pompous celebration with salvos and fire-
works to testify ““ the affection which the city enter-
tained for the marquis.”*®

On the 31st a vast procession of officials, nobles,
gentry, and prominent citizens appeared at the con-
vent, whence the troops had been removed, and hat
in hand the oidores made their bow. Gelves vaulted
into the saddle and was escorted to the palace. Alon
the very streets so lately trodden by him as a decri
fugitive shielded by the darkness, he now proceeded
with the pomp of a victor, beneath arches and fes-
toons, amid salvos and ringing of bells,® beneath
floral showers from fair hands, and amid the thunder-
ing cheers of countless spectators, who now and then
made a diversion by cursing the oidores and other
enemies of their beloved viceroy. At the palace gate
he was actually caught in the arms of the fickle popu-
lace and carried to where Cerralvo stood to receive
him. In the evening came festivities with illumina-
tion and fireworks. Gelves did not, however, expect
to assume executive power, for this he regarded as
already vested in Cerralvo. He merely came to
triumph. The next day he left the palace, and fol-
lowed this time by a sorrow-stricken crowd entered
the Franciscan convent at Tacuba, there to await his
residencia.”

The popular demonstrations at his entry and de-
parture were by no means so insincere as at first
glance might appear. An interval of eight months had
calmed men’s passions considerably, and the rule of
the audiencia had tended to exalt in the eyes of most
citizens the salutary strictness of the overthrown gov-

3 AMex., Rel. Estado, 30.

38 At all the temples, save the cathedral, the Jesuit houses, and the Car-

melite convent.
3 Urrutia, Rel., MS., i. 441-61.



INVESTIGATIONS. 75

ernment. The annulling of Gelves’ many reforms, the
setting aside of pending indictments and verdicts, the
permission so generally given to carry arms, greatly
contributed to promote corruption and disorder among
all classes. MI:)nopolies again appeared in force to
raise africes and grind the alpoor, aided by dishonest
officials; rich and influential criminals bought them-
selves free, while humbler law-breakers languished
in prison. Varaez appeared on the street with great
ostentation, and proceeded to his alcaldia mayor to
submit to residencia, accompanied by fifty horsemen,
who were no doubt intended to intimidate honest wit-
nesses.® Bandits again began to crowd the highways
and commit depredations with impunity, and affairs
assumed so forlorn an aspect that many became loud
in their desire for the restoration of Gelves.®

On the Sunday following the nominal reinstallation
of his predecessor, Cerralvo took formal possession of
office as fifteenth viceroy,* and prepared to extend the
needed reforms, yet in a manner more conciliatory and
affable than that of Gelves, so as to gain general good
will. He showed also greater regard for some of the
old oidores than had been expected, Vallecillo being
recommended for promotion and Gaviria intrusted with
several honorable commissions.

The residencia of Gelves was proclaimed with more
than usual formality, owing to the peculiar circum-
stances of his rule. Fully two hundred witnesses came
from different parts to testify, the trial lasting fifteen
months. In connection with this inquisition Carrillo

% He seized his denouncer Soto and forced him with threats to declare his
tl;timony false. Soto afterward reaffirmed his statements. Mex., Rel. Svm.,

3 Yet such expreasions were promptly suppressed. The oidores and regi-
dores made money by selling monopoly licenses. Grambila, Tumultos, MS., 12~
16. No enerietic efforts were &ut forth to recover the booty taken from the

and other places during the riot, although a part was recovered. Doc.
ist. Mez., série ii. tom. iii. , 151-2.

* November 3d, it appears, though Cavo and others place this as the date
of his arrival at Mexico. 7'res Siglos, i. 276.

41 A nephew of the latter was appointed asesor to the viceroy. Mez., Rel
Estado, 30. Gelves does not appear to have been quite pleased with this.
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also iuvestigated the conduct of all concerned in the
riot, including ecclesiastics by special assent of the
pope, yet with prudent leniency, for it was not
politic to stir the more powerful spirits. Examples
were made among the less formidable. Many of these
anticipated events by flight, but several officials in-
cluding two oidores were removed, four of those who
led in the outbreak were executed, and five ecclesi-
astics who had hurried away to Spain were sent to
the galleys.® In a proclamation to the people Cer-
ralvo announced that the trial had convinced the kin
of their loyalty. The outbreak was evidently caus
by rancor against the marqués de Gelves personally.
Filled with a desire to affirm their love and remove
even the suspicion of disloyalty among vassals of
Spain, his Majesty decreed that all who were ar-
raigned or in prison for supposed complicity in the
riot should be released unconditionally.“

Archbishop Serna was among those who had hur-
ried out of the way to Spain. The effect of his con-
duct in causing riot and overthrow of the royal repre-
sentative must have startled him when sober second
thought prevailed. His position became uncomfort-
able; he felt that he must personally plead his cause
at court, and in the spring of 1624 he departed from
Mexico. The desire to anticipate the disgrace of a
recall may have been an additional motive. Highly
commendatory letters were given to him by the
municipality and others, and, still warm in their zeal,

4 Urban VIII., Cartas, in Tumultos de Mez., MS., 141.

$ Doc. Hist. Mez., série ii. tom. iii. 123-4; Cavo, Tres Szgloa, i 277.
Charges being made that Cerralvo had unduly favored Gelves and influenced
the inquisidor, testimony was taken with an almost unanimous approval of
the viceroy’s course. In this document appear the following as new mem-
bers of audiencia: Oidores Juan de Alvarez Serrano, Don Antonio Canseco,
Miguel Ruiz de la Torre, Juan de Villavena Cubiaurre, and fiscal Yiiigo de
Argiiello y Carbajal. Oidor Avendafio remains. The officers of the visita are
also named. Cerralvo, Inform., in Mcx. y sus Disturbios, MS., ii. 221-477.

# This did not exempt those already alluded to from punishment as trait-
ors and robbers. Text of proclamation dated December 25, 1625, in Doc. Hisk
Mez., série ii. tom. iii. 209-12; Tumultos de Mez., MS., 137-8. Before his
de, re Carrillo ordered city officials to give residencia. They protested

and were exempted from a review of ch already paseed by. Cedulario
Nuevo, i. 336; Libro Capitular, pt. xvi. 258,

>
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the people contributed a hundred thousand pesos for
his journey.® A prelate whose obstinacy had been
the chief cause for bringing into contempt a royal
representative, and into peril the authority of the
crown, so as to require costly and radical measures,
such a man could not expect a welcome. He was
certainly treated coldly; but the pope felt pleased
with so firm a champion of the church, and recom-
mended his cause to the king. Other influences were
brought to bear; so that Serna was partially restored
to favor and granted the important see of Zamora.
He died in 1631, with the reputation of an able bishop
and a benevolent man.*® His successor at Mexico,
appointed in 1628, was Francisco Manzo y Ziiga,
one who as member of the India Council, and in other
political positions, had been trained not to imperil
royal interests for ecclesiastic prerogatives. So at
least it was supposed.
Gelves came off with honor from the residencia, as
a righteous judge, zealous for the administration of
justice, for the public good, and the service of the
ing.¥ After the conclusion of the trial he left for
Spain,® and was well received. His delay in coming
had allowed time to soften the remembrance of his
unfortunate mishaps, for success is above all expected
from the agent; and now his family influence® could
be wielded to greater advantage.
© Mex., Rel. Svm.,13. In their letter the cabildo pray the king to send
him back with greater power. Doc. Hist. Mez., série ii. tom. iii. 169-70.
gvo says that he was recalled to suffer humiliation for some time. 7'res Sig-
, i 277,
 Gonzalez D4vila attributes to him Carrillo’s appointment as visitador.
Teatro Ecles., i. 45. Lorenzana assumes continual favor for him with the
king. Concilios Mez., 155565, 217. But this Sosa does not admit, although
he does not agree with Cavo. Episc. Mex., 66. The representations of the
pope in 1625, in his behalf, indicate that he did remain awhile under a cloud.
Cartas, in Tumultos de Mex., MS., 139-40. But Lacunza'’s allusion to deep
i isnot borne out. Disc. Hist., 491.
7¢Sentencia, la dio el Visitador...en 14 de Abril de 1627." Mex., Rel.
‘Estado, 31.
#Several writers, followed by Zamacois, state that he left in 1624, but he
himself declares that he remained in the convent fully a year after Cerralvo’s
inauguration. He appears to have sent a letter from Mexico on January 29,

1626. /d., 30.
“ He was related to the powerful conde duque de Olivares.
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The monarch had good reason to be dissatisfied
with the leading personages in this outbreak, with
the viceroy for being so exacting and unyielding, and
with the prelate for his excess of zeal, when, as one
who professed to set an example in humility, he
should have contented himself with a protest and
appeal to the sovereign, especially in view of the in-
significance of the point involved and the well known
temper of the marquis. The ecclesiastics, on whom
the crown above all relied for supporting its au-
thority, since troops were not kept, had %een the
chief promoters of the riot, wherein they proved
themselves possessed of a power greater than that of
the state. This influence had been strengthened by
the triumphant return of the archbishop, and ex-
tended not alone over Indians and mestizos, but over
the creoles. The Avila-Cortés conspiracy, a half-
century before, had been an outburst on the part of
landed proprietors, with little hold on the people;
here on the other hand came in action a wide-spread
feeling rooted among the very sinews of the colonists
and directed against the more favored children of
Spain, those of Iberian birth who had come across
the sea to fill the best and largest number of offices,
with the intention merely of enriching themselves in
New Spain and then turning their back upon the
country. It is not strange that those born on the
soil, and bound to it by every tie, should look with
distavor on these interlopers who not only encroached
on their rights and possessions, but treated them with
contempt.® The revelation of this antipathy, which

% The importance of the Gelves outbreak, and the wide-spread interest af-
fected thercby, called forth a mass of documents and accounts as we have
already seen. Among the most valuable are those given in Documentos para
la Hixtoria de Mezico, série ii. tom. ii.-iii., 27 in number, collected by the
knight Echeverria y Veitia, and including orders, petitions, and representa-
tions from different sources, yet for the greater part in support of the arch-
bishop, and most of the remainder in favor of the audiencia and cabildo. The
only important paper on Gelves’ side had already appeared in print. This
partiality induced the historian Jos¢ F. Ramirez to collect a complementary
set of documents bearing on the other side. This exists in two 4to volumes of
close manuscript under the title of Merico y sus Disturbios, obtained by me
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could not fail to extend in a certain degree also to
the home government, naturally alarmed the king,
and was a main reason for the clemency observed; but
few well directed steps were taken to profit by the
lesson in conciliating the creoles, and their number
and feeling grew apace till they became irresistible.

from Ramirez’ library, whereof the first contains several important relations
by Urrutia, partly in condensed form; and the second, a lengthy report by
the secretary of (gelves, Tobar Godinez, and one in favor of Serna, from an
early rare publication also in my possession. A third volume folio, Tvmultos
de Mexico, collected by the same gentleman, contains original documents and
early copies bearing chiefly on the investigation, its results and subsequent
acts. Grambile, T'umultos de Mez., is an original folio manuscript in defence
of Gelves; another, Relacion de Tumultos, opposes him. Among the rare
accounts printed at this time are: Mexico, Relacion Svmaria, drawn for Gel-
ves by Inquisitor Flores and Friar Lormendi; Relacion del Extado en que. . .
hallo los Reynos, also prepared by him; Memorial de lo Svrcedido, in favor of
Serna; Burguillos, Memorial para...Carillo, by Gelves’ confessor; Garzes de
Portillo, En la Demanda, bearing on the sanctuary privilege. From one or
more of these sources have been prepared a number of accounts with more or
less impartiality, yet none of them complete or reliable, events subsequent to
the actual riot being almost wholly ignored. Cavo for instances claims to
have used five accounts, three of them in favor of Gelves, yet his clerical bias
is too evident. Much fairer is Sosa, Episc. Mez., 59-63, Ribera, Gob. Mez.,
i 113-17, and Alcaraz, in Liceo Mezx., ii. 121 et seq. Dicc. Univ., x. 653-63,
gives Cortina’s imperfect version. Mora is very faulty. Mex. y sus Rev., iv.
suppl. 2-43. Comparatively brief or unimportant are the accounts in Vetan-
cort, Trat. Mex., 13; Lorenzana, in Concilio Prov., 1555-65, 216; Cortes,
Hist. N. Esp., 21-2; Sigiienza y Gongora, Parayso Occid., 124, 448; Alegre,
Hist. Comp. Jesus, ii. 146-51; Cronica del Cdrmen, vi. 757; Guge, Voy., i.
225-45; Medina, Crdn. 8. Diego, 1561-2; Velasco, Ezalt. Divina, 39-44; Gri-
jalva, Cron. 8. Agust., 110 et seq.; Revista Mez., i. 81 et seq.; Fisher's Nat.
Mag., i. 249-54; Mayer's Mex. Aztec, i. 188-94; Miller, Rei ii. 52-67;
Lacunea, Disc. Hist., 488-91; Bustamante, Voy., No. 10.
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KING AND COLONY.
1624-1639.

DxrENcE MEASURES—THE DUTCH AT ACAPULOO—CORSAIR RAIDS ALONG THE
CoasT OF YUCATAN—THE BARLOVENTO SQUADRON—ROYAL LOANS AND
EXTORTIONS—INUNDATION OF MEX1CO—PROPOSED REMOVAL OF THE CaP-
ITAL—RELIEF MEASURES AND DRAINAGE PRrOJECTS—THE HUEHUETOCA
TouNNEL—SAN FELIPE THE PROTOMARTYR OF MEXICcO—HIS IRREGULAR
Lire AND BraTIFICATION—THE HERMIT LOPEZ—VICEROY CADEREITA—
THE PRELATE ZUN16A—THE FIRST CREOLE ARCHBISHOP.

IN order to guard somewhat against the recurrence
of such happenings as the Gelves outbreak, greater
precautions were observed by the home government,
as we have seen, in selecting the heads for political
and ecclesiastical affairs; additional instructions were
issued to guide them in their relation to others,and a
certain limitation of power was for a time at least
imposed; the king for instance taking upon himself to
appoint the commandants and magistrates of leading
ports, strongholds, and towns,! who had hitherto been
commissioned by the viceroy. Cerralvo retained for
some time the enlisted troops and erected suitable
barracks,? while the enrolment list of volunteers was
preserved for cases of need.

These volunteers really constituted a part of the
general system of militia, formed already by Cortés, in
connection with encomiendas, and extended over set-

1In Calle a number of these appointments are enumerated. Mem. y Not., 168.

3In 1628 the city asked for their disbandment for ‘no quedan ceniza del
suceso del 15 de Enero de 1624,” but this request was not granted till two
years later. Cedulario Nuevo, i. 351. The cost of maintaining them appears
to have been wholly borne by the desagiie fund, which was thus drained of
89,853 pesos. Fonseca, Hist. Hac., v. 358-9. ()
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tlements in all directions. The only permanent stand-
ing forces were those on the frontier, engaged partly
in conveying trains of merchandise, partly in garrison
duty at the | presidios, and those at the leading coast
ports, as Vera Cruz and Acapulco. Altogether they
constituted but a small body, and more were not con-
sidered necessary, as the citizens were always avail-
able, and efficient even against foreign invaders, who
after all could do little beyond ravaging for a few
leagues along certain parts of the coast.® Still there
were points which absolutely required protection, such
as Vera Cruz and Acapulco, the ports for the rich
fleets and the storage place for va{:xab]e cargoes, and
in view of the increasing number of Spain’s enemies
Cerralvo took steps to strengthen the fortifications
there.

The chief reason for the latter measurc was the
arrival at Acapulco of a large Dutch flect. Engaged
in their struggle for independence, the Hollanders
were eager not only to distract the attention of the
Spaniards by carrying the war to the enemy’s coasts,
but to injure them while enriching themsclves. With
this object several fleets were despatched to prey on
Spanish trade and colonies, and among them onc of
eleven vessels with over sixteen hundred men, under
Admiral Jacob 'Hérémite. It was known, however,
as the Nassau fleet, from the prince under whose
auspices it was chiefly fitted out.* It left Holland in
1623 with the chief object of ravaging the rich shores
of Peru. This plan proved a failure so lamentable as
to hasten the death of 'Hérémite. The fleet there-
upon proceeded northward under Admiral Schapen-
bam and entered Acapulco on the 28th of October
1624. The Philippine galleons had not yet arrived,
and the place contained little worth fighting for, espe-
cially as the inhabitants had had time to retire with

;ﬁZ?maoois and others hastily intimate that no troops existed. Hist. Méj.,
v.
‘This has led most Spanish writers to suppose that this prince commanded it.
Hier. Mxx., Vor. III. 6



82 KING AND COLONY.

their valuables. The commandant had entrenched
himself with his feeble garrison in a stronghold, and
thence refused the overtures of Schapenham for an
exchange of hostages, while the latter endeavored to
obtain some fresh provisions.® The Hollander’s main
intention was to ascertain when the Manila fleet should
arrive. He now contented himself with a few attempts
to procure water and fruit, magnified by modern Mex-
ican writers into an invasion of the town. This ex-
treme caution of the enemy encouraged the Spaniards
on one occasion to beat back his men with loss. A fter
despatching part of his fleet Schapenham set sail with
the remainder November 8th, and tired of waiting for
the galleons he steered for the East Indies.®

Warned of the visit, Cerralvo had hastened to send
troops to relieve the town, but their march was coun-
termanded on learning of the enemy’s departure.
Energetic efforts were made, however, to construct
defences” both here and at Vera Cruz, for in the gulf
of Mexico foreign cruisers could frequently be seen.
In 1625 the treasure fleet for Spain under Cadereita,
later viceroy of New Spain, narrowly escaped their
clutches,® but the fleet of 1628, carrying bullion and
other effects to the value of over twelve millions of
pesos, was surprised in the Bahama Channel by the
famous Dutch admiral Picter Heyne, who for some

b It was proposed to give captured Peruvians in return for hostages and
provisions.

¢ The best account of this voyage is the Diurnal vnd Historizche Beschrey-
bung der Nassawischen Flotten, by Decker, who scrved on one of the vessels,
as he states. Strasburg, 1629. It appeared in an carlier shorter form as
Journael van de Naszausche Vioot, issued at Amsterdam in 1626 by Gerrite,
and has been widely copied in De Bry's Hist. Amer., xiii.; Gottfried, Newe

Welt, 565 et seq., and others. Itis well written, yet not so full and candid as
might be desired.

? Eighteen large pieces of artillery were brought from Manila at a cost of
7,411 pesos. Grau, Mauila, in Pucheco and C('drdenas, Col. Doc., vi. 380.
Travellers mention bronze cannon there marked 1628. In the following year,
says Cavo, another Dutch fleet entered to seek provisions without daing any
dnuxage. T'res Siglos, 1. 277.

® For this an annual thanksgiving was ordered on the 25th of November.
What with corsairs, storms, and carclessness these fleets had to meet many
misfortunes. In 1614 scven vessels were driven on shore near Cape Cotoche
with heavy loss, though the governor took steps to recover a portion. Cogol-
dvdo, Hist. Yucathan, 472-3. .
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time had been successfully operating off Portugal
and against transatlantic vessels. The Spaniards
fought bravely and several vessels were sunk before
the flag-ship surrendered. The blow proved no less
severe to the merchants of New Spain than to the
king, who sorely needed the treasure.’®

This success lured a number of other raiders who
for want of better points along the gulf made Yucatan
suffer. In 1632 six vessels threatened Campeche,
but timely succor made them retreat. In August of
the following year the town was again visited, this
time by ten vessels under a leader known to the
Spaniards as Pié de Palo. Guided by a renegade, he
advanced against the entrenchment behind which
Captain Galvan Romero had retired, but a well
directed fire killed several of his men, and caused the
rest to waver. It would not answer to lose many
lives for so poor a place, and so a ruse was resorted
to. The corsairs turned in pretended flight. The
hot-headed Spaniards at once came forth in pursuit,
only to be trapped and killed. Those who cscaped
made a stand in the plaza, whence they were quickly
driven, and thereupon the sacking parties overran the
town.” Seven years later Sisal was visited by a fleet
of eleven vessels and partly burned after yielding but
little to the raiders."

One result of these ravages was an order for the
formation of a squadron, under the name of Barlo-
vento,” to protect the gulf of Mexico and the West
India waters. It was to consist of twelve galleons

*In Vazquez, Chron. Grat., 255, is related a similar surprise by a French
foe, some years later. Fourteen friars perished, but eight others were picked
up and forwarded to Cédiz.

19The corsair demanded 40,000 pesos to spare the town from destruction,
but the citizens refused to interfere. The renegade guide, Diego the mulatto,
felt deeply moved at the death of Romero, who had been his godfather, but
against several other persons he entertained a profound hatred born of former
maltreatment. Cogollrdo, Hist. Yucathan, 596-8; Castillo, Dic. Yuc., 269-70.

1 [n 1637 the opportune appearance of troops had saved the town from
such a fate. /d., 602, 639-40. Pi¢ de Palo was reported to be waiting for
the fleet of 1638, and it turned back. Cavo, T'res Siglos, ii. 10.

12 Windward, in allusion to this other name for the Antilles.
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and two smaller vessels, and the estimated cost of
maintenance, six hundred thousand ducats, should be
levied on the islands and mainland from Panam4
northward. Mexico offered to contribute two hun-
dred thousand pesos by means of an excise tax of two
er cent.® Mgérida placed herself on the list with
P
seven thousand pesos for fifteen years, and other
towns came forward with different amounts. One
duty of the fleet was to grevent smuggling, from
which the treasury suffered greatly, and while the
chief station must be Vera Cruz, other ports were to
be frequented. To this end surveys should be made,
partly with a view to future shipyards.*

The declaration of war by France in 1633 added
another to the many enemies arrayed against Spain
through the unfortunate policy of Felipe IV.* and
the colonies had to share her misfortunes not alone in
the form of pirate raids, but in being subjected to
forced loans and pressing appeals for voluntary and
tax imposts. Already by cédula of December 4, 1624,
the king had intimated to his subjects that they ought
to assist him in his dirc need by voluntary gifts, and
New Spain was told that 600,000 ducats would be
expected by the following year from her rich colo-
nists. They sent 432,000 pesos, and this liberal re-
sponse caused the donativo, or gift, fund to become a
fixed source of revenue.’® The appeal for this fund

13 In addition to four per cent already existing, two reals were also levied
on cards. This offer was accepted by council of October 19, 1638, deduction
baving to be made when no fleet came. The contador of the fund was ap-
pomtcd by the king. Vetancert, Trat. Mez., 30.

WThe first order for the Barlovento flec 't,  dated in May 1635, was followed
by others bearing chiefly on funds for it. The two per mille collected by the
consulado was npphed to it, and other taxes. Fonseca, Hist. Hac., ii. 12-20;
Coyollvdo, Hist. Yucathan, '550. Santa Marfa de la Vltons, in Tabasco, was
one of the places, fortified 'with artillery, and in war time with a lnrge gar-
rison. Calle, Mem. y Not., 87. In 1636 Philippine traders fitted out two
vessels of their own to watch for corsairs.

!3 An embargo was ordered placed on the property of all French subjects
in New Spain, as elsewhere, but timely warning came from Spain and many
saved themselves.

16 By 1638 Mexico city gave 1,100,000 pesos toward it. The revenue from
the Tn‘buloa y Real Servicio fund amounted in the decade of 163140 to

2,390,200, an increase of 400,000 over the previous term. Fonseca, Hist. Hac.,
i. 450, v. 433—41; Gonzalez Ddvila, Teatro, i. 126.
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was enjoined on bishops and other officials; and differ-
ent offices, such as canonries and prebendaryships, were
ranted to those who displayed liberality. Officials
%ad to submit to large deductions of pay under the
term of media anata' and mesada,’ the latter apply-
ing to ecclesiastics. In addition to these exactions
loans were demanded, or forcibly taken when not
otherwise obtainable,”® and certain taxes were sold to
speculators for a large sum payable in cash.”
Frequent prayers rose from all churches through-
out Spanish domains for divine aid toward the efficacy
of these measures, and with a view to incline wor-
shippers to open their purses as freely as their hearts.
There was need in truth to promote Christian forbear-
ance among the oppressed subjects, for, at the very
time they were asked to bear the burden of wars
brought upon them often by mere caprice, they re-
ceived urgent appeals to contribute large amounts
toward the rebuining of royal palaces.™

The most grievously taxed colonists of New Spain
at this time were probably those at Mexico. Recputed
to be among the richest in the wealthy colonies, they
were expected to meet liberally every demand for aid
by the crown, no matter how sorely rulers, or pirates,
or famine might harass them. And now another
misfortune was at hand. In 1627 heavy rains caused
the Rio Quauhtitlan to break the dams confining its

17 It was established in 1631 and exacted half the income of the first year
from each office, as the term implies. This levy was increased at times. For
rules regarding the tax see Recop. de Indias, il 542 ct seq.

18This deduction of ‘monthly’ incomes, as the term imelﬁies, was established
still earlier. For decrees concerning it see /d., i. 152 ct seq.

19 In 1625 Cerralvo repaid 40,000 pesos lent by the municipality, and on
the strength of the good-will created by this promptuess he shortly after de-
manded a larger loan. Cedulario Nuevo,i. 86, 326. Part of the bullion arriv-
ing in Spein was seized and the owners were compelled to accept instead
money of inferior intrinsic value.

"’ﬁoldem of land with doubtful titles were made to pay ‘compromise’
fees, collection offices were extended to new regions, and other means taken
to obtain incceased revenue. See also Gaye, Voy., i. 201. Much of this was
sent direct to Florida, the West Indies, and other parts, which were also
inlied with powder and other articles. Recop. de Indias, ii. 572, 592-3,

1 Fonseca, Hist. Hac., v. 441; Cedulario Nuevo, i. 441,
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waters, and overflo v irto the lower lakes, so that sev-
eral parts of Mexico were laid eighteen inches under
water. The alarmed citizens at once bestirred them-
selves; causeways were raised according to the plans
of the engineer Boot; a new dam was constructed
near Tizayuca; another to divert the Rio Pachuca,
and work on the drainage tunnel received fresh im-
pulse.®

The decrease of moisture in the following year
calmed the ardor of both workers and taxpayers, and
many useful projects were set aside as needless. In
1629 the rains began early with the prospect of a wet
season. Dams broke at several points, and already
on the 5th of September canoes floated in several
parts of the city, and thousands prepared to depart.
On the 21st, St Matthew’s day, came the heaviest
rainfall so far known in the valley; and it continued
for thirty-six hours, till the whole city lay under water
to a depth of fully two varas in most parts.® The
confusion and misery defy description. All seemed
one vast lake dotted with thousands of isolated houses.
Roofs and windows were crowded with men, women,
and children, drenched and suffering from hunger and
exposure. From every direction rose lamentation,
mingled with the agonized cries of drowning persons
and noise of crumbling walls. While some buildin
were undermined with the melting of the adobe bncis,
or the washing away of the foundation, others were
carried wholly away. The costly goods in shops and

warehouses were ruined, and broken furniture and

22Cavo, followed by modern writers, places some of these measures in
1620, and states that the flood of 1627 gave rise merely to useless consulta-
tions, 7'res Siglus, i. 278; but Alegre, Hist. Comp. Jesus, ii. 178, confirms the
more natural supposition that the flood gave impulse to dams and other
works. The dam near Tizayuca, called Presa del Rey, was made or com-
pleted in 1628. Inundaciones, in Col. de Diarios, 356.

= ¢ Llegé a tener dos barcas de alto el agua por donde menos.’ Rel.
pt. ii. 27.  ‘Subia mas de media vara en la parta mas alta.’ A qre, H
Comp. Jesus, ii. 180; Panes, Vireycs, MS., 96-7. Vetancurt writes that tho
main square with mthedml palace, and plnzuela de Volador, and all Santi
remained above water, C’hron., 121; but this must be a mmtake, for
square lay less than two varas above the surface of the lake.
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other household effects floated about the streets. No
one could leave his dwelling save in canoes; and these
did not suffice for all, so that intercourse was difficult.
Public affairs came to a standstill; divine service was
suspended, and bells were rung only for prayer.

The viceroy and archbishop set an example to offi-
cials and wealthy persons by extending succor to the
more needy quarters. The city was divided into dis-
tricts, and canoes were sent round with provisions; the
sick and helpless were taken to better quarters, the
palace itself being converted into a hospital and house
of refuge, where for six months the viceroy dispensed
charity. No less noble were the efforts of other
prominent persons, the prelate establishing half a
dozen hospitals, and seeking also to encourage the
sufferers with religious consolation by going around
daily to hold masses at altars improvised on roofs and
balconies. The flood showing no signs of abatement,
he proceeded to the Guadalupe shrine on the main-
land, and brought thence, for the first time since its
foundation, the image of the virgin,* in the hope that
so sacred a presence might cause the water to retire;
but no speedy relief was experienced.

Under this gloomy prospect the agitation for a re-
moval of the city was renewed, and many began to
erect houses in different parts along the mainland
shore. Petitions were addressed to the king to grant
his sanction, and in a cédula of May 19, 1632, the
elevated plain between Tacuba and Tacubaya was
assigned for the new site, if a representative council
should find the change necessary.®

By this time property-holders were well aware that

* Brought over on September 27th says Medina, who adds the pious false-
hood that the waters at once began to retire. Chron. S. Diego, 123. Alegre,
loc. cit., gives the 24th and leaves the intimation that no good effect followed.
Florencia, Estrella del Norte, 130. Davila upholds the efticacy of the image,
and adds that an image of St Dominic assisted in lowering the waters; so
much so that ‘a fines de Julio del afio de 1630...recibieron por Patron y
nbogu‘lo'a Santo Domingo.’ Continuacion, IvlS..Y 303; I"aueur I"irez/.ea, L{S., 96-7.

This site was on the Sanctorum grange. Cavo, T'rex Siylos, ii. 2-3. Those

who had erected houses elsewhere must not occupy them. This and sup-
plementary decrees ary reproduced in Cepeda, Rel., pt. iii. 7 ct seq.
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such a change would work their ruin, and loud remon-
strances found their way even to the court. The city
Froperty, now valued at fully fifty millions, would be
ost, including a large number of suwmptuous temples,
fifteen convents, eight hospitals, six colleges, and other
public buildings and works. With the growing scarcity
of available Indians the cost of rebuilding would be
immense, and thousands would be reduced to beggary
by the transfer. Besides, how could all the convents
and temples be restored, and how could the inmates
be supported when present rentals were lost?”® Those
who assisted at the councils for considering the ques-
tion were most of them too deeply interested in the
city property to permit a change, and so the project
dropped. They sturdily continued to occupy their
houses, although for over four years the city remained
practically flooded. The higher parts did come above
the surface, but heavy rains on two occasions assisted
to keep the waters above the lower lying districts.”
Meanwhile a large number of families migrated to
Puebla and other towns, and a still larger proportion
perished during the floods and from the exposure,
want, and diseases which followed, particularly in the
poorer and Indian sections.® Energetic measures were
taken to improve communication and other facilities

2¢The most interesting representations on this subject are given in Cepeda.
It is also referred to in Fonseca, Hist. Hac., v. 360; in Cavo; Calle, Mem.
Not., 43; Medina, Chron., 8. Diego, 234; Gonzalez Ddgvilu, Teatro Ecles., L
18. The number of houses is given at 7,700. The oidores who figured at
the time and assisted in deciding the question, were Licenciado Francisco del
Castillo, Doctor Juan de Canseco, licenciates Alonso de Uria y Tobar, Fran-
cisco de Herrera Campuzano, Antonio Cuello de Portugal, Juan de Villabona
Zubiaurri, and fiscales Juan Gonzalez de Pinaficl and Juan de Miranda Gor-
dejucla. Cepede, Rel., i. 29, 37.

* Vetancurt, Chrdn., 121, extends the flood over five years. Velasco, Exalt.
Div., 45-0, says four. Alegre specifies till spring of 1633 and states that the
rains of 1630 nearly gave rise to a riot. fist. Comp. Jesus, ii. 182-3. Some
documents imply that the water practically receded between 1631 and 1633
and finally in 1634, Humholdt, Essai Pol., i. 215, while Lorenzana assumes
il:at rains in 1631 and 1634 raised the decreasing waters. Cortés, Hist. N.

2sp., 22.

# Archbishop Zdiiga exaggerated the loss to 30,000 Indians, and states
that of 20,000 Spanish families (?) only 400 remained a month after the great
inundation. Letter of October 16, 1629. Gonzalez Ddvila, Teatro Ecles., i.
60; Medina, Chron. S. Diego, 121; Grambila, Tumultos, ii.
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so as to decrease the suffering and induce people to
return. Raised sidewalks or causeways were con-
structed along the houses, canoe traffic was increased,
and medical aid provided. In 1634 came a series of
earthquake shocks which rent the valley in different
directions, and assisted greatly to draw off the water.
This was claimed by the native and creole population
as a miracle performed by their favorite, the virgin of
Guadalupe, while the Spaniards stoutly attributed it
to their patron, she of Remedios, intimating that the
mediation of the other image had so far effected no
good. The dispute between the votaries became quite
hot,® though they might more reasonably have cursed
the agency which, having it within its power to deliver
them, had kept them in misery so long. With this
occurrence the city saw herself once more free from
the lake; and now haste was made to clean the streets
and dredge the canals, for to the obstructions in these
channels was partly attributed slow drainage.®

During the excitement consequent upon the first
flood, enemies of the Jesuits sought to direct popular
feeling against them as having broken the dams. In-
vestigation revealed that Martinez, the engineer of
the drainage tunnel, had closed this outlet on behold-
ing the vast flow of water, confident that its force and
accompanying debris would merely destroy his works,
while the latter would be inadequate under the cir-
cumstances to aid in saving Mexico. The Jesuits
were cleared, but Martinez had to languish for a-time
in prison for acting without permission.®

The importance of drainage and diversion of tribu-
tary waters became now more generally admitted, and

* As Betrani, Mez., ii. 67-8, eagerly points out.

¥ The new viceroy Cadereita gave impulse to these o%erations. Cavo

laces the cost at 14,000 pesos, which must be a misprint. Cepeda mentions

&.ooo for certain work, and Vetancurt, Chrdn., 121, states that the Francis-
cans accomplished, with Indian aid, for 90,000 what others estimated at140,000.
Alﬁate speaks of relics of this period, found in the beginning of this century,
under the raised causeways. Gaceta, ii. 124-5.

31 He was also ill provided with funds for work on the tunnel. Cepeda,

Rel., pt. ii. 26. It was charged that he had closed the tunnel on purpose to
raise the estimation of its value. 7/umboldt, Essai Pol., i. 214.
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a number of projects to this end were submitted, all
of which received due attention, the viceroy joining
personally in examination of ground. Several pro-
posed a drain from Lake San Crist6bal through %10
Tequisquiac into the Pdnuco, and Simon Mendez even
urged the extension of the drain to Tezcuco Lake.
He was allowed to begin the task, but its infeasibility
must soon have become apparent, for it did not pro-
gress far.® Another suggested that the underground
passage into which the Teotihuacan rivulet disap-
peared might serve for outlet, and finally the Jesuit
father Calderon revived the tradition of a natural
sink in the bottom of Tezcuco Lake, between two
rocks near Pantitlan. This received more attention
than might be expected, and quite extensive exami-
nations were made under the alluring offer of a hun-
dred thousand pesos for its discovery.®

None of the plans appearing to possess the merits
of the Huehuetoca channel for efficacy and cheapness,
a contract was made with Martinez for 200,000 pesos
to put the tunnel in condition for carrying off' the
tributary waters of Zumpango and Citlaltepec lakes.
The plan was deemed insufficient® and work dragged
slowly along both on the outlet, now destined to be-
come an open cut, and on adjacent structures. The
dam of San Cristébal, protecting the Tezcuco from
northern waters, was restored in a substantial manner;
a tributary of Chalco Lake from the volcano range
was diverted, and several minor dams were con-

32 Each of these plans was estimated to cost from three to nine millions.

8 Humboldt comments unfavorably on the supposition that the porous
amygdaloid of the valley could present any apertures. Essi Pol., i. 216.
For a list of the different projects with details of the principal, see Cepeda,
Rel., 16. pt. ii. 3740, pt. iii. 5-6, 17 et seq.; Fetancrrt, Chron., 123—4; La
Cruz, i. >42-5.

34 This task was to be finished in 21 months beginning early in 1630. Mex-
ico sent 300 Indians to work, and orders came in October ‘que la obra corriera
hasta las bocas de S. Gregorio.” Cwro, Tres Siylos, ii. 2.

33 The a.lverse report of Oidor Cubiaurré on the work in 1632 hastened the
death of Martinez. C(ubiaurré succeeded him as sugrintendent for a short
time. In 1637 the Franciscan comisario general Flores took charge and
his order retained control for many years. /nundaciones, in Col. de Diarios,
MS., 356-8.
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structed or repaired.® In order to relieve the city,
the funds for these operations were obtained chiefly
by means of a tax on 1mported wines.¥ By 1637 the
expenditure on the drainage works had risen to necarly
three millions. During the following decade only
three hundred and thirty-eight thousand pesos were
expended, and after that still smaller amounts, till
176877, when they rose to somewhat over half a
million.®

Mexico was not very successful in her appeals to
the virgin patrons, as we have seen, and her religious
fortitude received a further shock from the circum-
stance that, just before her greatest misfortune, she
had celebrated the canonization of the protomartyr
San Felipe and enrolled him as one of her guardians.
Among a population so largely composed of creoles,
with an immense Indian support, all looking on New
Spain as their native country, and regarding Span-
iards from the peninsula with more or less antago-
nism—among such a people, deeply imbued with re-
ligious feeling, the possession of a national saint must
have been ardently desired. This longing was finally
satisfied in the person of Felipe de Jesus, the eldest
of ten children born at Mexico to Alonso de las
Casas® and his wife Antonia Martinez. Casas had
grown rich as a trader in the capital, and eager for
the redemption of his soul, he designated three of his
six sons for the service of God. One, Juan, became
an Augustinian, and found martyrdom at the Moluc-
cas in 1607; another, Francisco by name, labored
actively in the same order as a priest till 1630;% and

3 By Father Garibay of Mexicaltzinco. Vetancvrt, Chron., 121.

¥ 0f 25 pesos on the barrel, half going toward the fortifications at Vera
Cruz. This tax continued to be levied, though in later years but a fraction
was applied to the drainage. Fonseca, Hist. Hac., v. 368-9.

88 Details of cost and amount of different work are given in the full official

of CePeda, Relacion, pt. iii. 21, etc.; also in Instruc. Vireys, 263.
Fonseca chdies 1,604,531 as expended during 1628-37, and 1,464,883 pre-
viously. Hist. Hac., v. 532.

# Wrongly called Canales by several writers.
% Nam cisco and dying on San Francisco’s day, he must have had
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the third, Felipe, born on May 1, 1575, and educated
at the Jesuit college, joined the barefooted Francis-
cans at Puebla, but fell from his vows and was by the
angry parents sent to the Philippines, there to seek
his fortune.* The large sum of money which he
brought as a means for advancement was soon dissi-
pateg in riot, but the consequences hastened repent-
ance, and in 1594 he became again a barefooted F'ran-
ciscan, displaying this time such devout zeal as to

ain general admiration. After two years of penance
1e left for home.

The vessel touched at Japan,” and there he with
several brother friars was seized to undergo martyr-
dom.® Proceedings were instituted for the canoniza-
tion of the victims, Archbishop Serna himself making
inquiries on behalf of Felipe, and by bull of Septem-
ber 14, 1627, thirty years after his death, the repent-
ant son of the merchant was admitted a saint, as the
protomartyr of Mexico. Two years later, on the anni-
versary of his martyrdom, February 5th, the city
celebrated the beatification with imposing ceremonies,
and received San Feclipe de Jesus as one of the
patrons. The viceroy and archbishop led in the pro-
cession, and the mother of the saint was able to par-
ticipate; but the excitement and joy carried her to the

ve a few days later.*

About the same time efforts were made for the
beatification of a revered hermit named Gregorio

some spiritual relations with this saint, observes Medina, Chrdn. 8. Diego,
114.

1 As a soldier, says Medina, yct he allows him to take large amounts of
money wherewith to speculate. Others intimate that he intended to pursue
the trade of a silversmith, in which he had already engaged at Mexico. Sta
Maria, Chron. St Joseph, ii. lib. iii. cap. x.; Ribadeneyra, Hist. Arch., lib,
vi. cap. iv.; Comp. e Jesus, Defensa, 5.

$0n a mission, it is said, yct Medina declares that Zales drove it there
for refuge. During the voyage singular phenomena gave indication of the
saint on board.

43 The bodies of the victims appear all to have been recovered and taken
to Manila. Felipe was crucified and lanced after losing his left ear.

4 Alegre, Hist. Comp. Jesua, ii. 177-8. Pueblo city also vowed to observe
the day of San Felipe, who first assumed the robe there. Medina, Chron, 8.
Diego, 334, 114-20; Monumentos Domin. Lsp., MS., 96, 363,
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Lopez, who had died in 1596 at the age of fifty-four.
In early years he served as page to Philip II., yet
led an austere and contemplative life, and was said to
be of royal blood. In 1562 he came to New Spain
and retired as a hermit among the wild Indians near
Atemayac, preaching, practising charity, and writing
books. Several of these were printed and two at-
tained more than one edition.** Archbishop Serna
transferred his body to the cathedral at Mexico and
joined in the efforts for his enrolment among the
saints. This was urged as late as 1752, but in vain.*
More persistent and successful were the efforts for
the canonization of King Ferdinand of Spain, toward
which large sums were at this time collected in New
Spain. In 1629 also imposing ceremonies were held
in honor of Cortés the conqueror, on the occasion of
the funeral of his last male descendant. The body
was then transferred from Tezcuco to the Franciscan
church at Mexico, the viceroy, leading corporations,
officials, and citizens joining in solemn procession.®

Cerralvo had twice asked to be relieved of office,
owing to ill-health and to family affairs which de-
manded his presence in Spain. This was granted in
1635, with appointment to the councils of war and the
Indies and a rental of 3,000 ducados for two lives.*
He certainly deserved recognition from the sovereign,

© As Declaracion del Appocalipsi of which I have a manuscript copy;
Tesoro de Medicinas, Mexico, 1673, highly spoken of by Pinelo, Epitome, 1i.
869, and others, also in my possession; Uratora Parentatis, Mex., 1666, and
Collectio Opusculorum, Rome, 1752. A perpetual calendar, a universal chron-
ology, and other pieces remain in manuscript.

One reason may have been the charge of heresy made against him on
first arriving at Mexico, though not sustained. For details of his lifo, see
Argaiz, Vida y Escritos. . . Lopez, Mad., 1678, 1-121; Losa, Vidadel Siervo. ..
Lopez, Madrid, 1727, 1-442; Somoza, Brev. Not., Puebla, 1850, 1-31, and
lleang_ égll accounts in Mexican histories, such as Velasco, Hist. AMil. Ren.,

; Bishop Prado alone paid 6,000 pesos. Gonzalez Ddvila, Teatro Ecles.,
i. 1286, 131.

#For documents on the subject see Alaman, Disert., ii. 524, and_app.
Soea reproduces nany details of the ceremonies. Episc. Mex., 68-9. Pedro
Cortés died Jan 30, 1629, and on February 24th the funeral took place.

®On Indiansin New Spain, granted May 27, 1638. Calle, Mem. y Not., 56.
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for he had proved an able and energetic ruler, dis-

. . . . . b3 .
pensing justice with promptness and impartiality, fos-
tering trade and industries, practising charity, and
looking zealously to the welfare of the people. He
left a power ( f attorney to answer at his residencia®
and hastened away, carrying a considerable amount
of treasure, it was said.

Before his departure the installation took place, on
September 16th, of the sixteenth viceroy, Lope Diez
de Armendariz, marqués de Cadereita, a man of long
and varied experience in the royal service. In 1603
and 1608 he figured as admiral and general of fleets;
in which position he showed himself quite fortunate,
notably in 1625, when he caused wide-spread rejoic-
ings by escaping with a most valuable treasure.” He
afterward became majordomo to the king and mem-
ber of the royal council.”

His reception created less attention than usual on
such occasions owing to the restrictions placed by the
king on costly pageantry.®® Little of note occurred
during his rule; affairs progressed to the general
satisfaction. The Indians received protection, and
settlements were extended northward, one in Nuevo
Leon being named Cadercita in his honor. Yet his
relations with the audiencia do not appear to have
been quite satisfactory,™ and at his residencia some

%0 The only notable charge was by the religious orders for his interference
in their appointments and other acts tending to lower their influence with
Indians and others. Although this was not sustained at the time, a revival of
the residencia took place five years later, without any unfavorable results to
Cerralvo, it appears. Acuzacion, in Tumultos de Mer., 1-13; Cerralvo, Acu-
aacion, in Vireyes de Mezx. [ustruc., pt. 16-17; Samanieyo, Rel., 95-9; Pulafoz,
El Ven. S+iior, 3. Doctor Quiroga y Moya was the judge.

51 An annual thanksgiving was ordered held in consequence. Certain ac-
counts place his fleet at eizht galleons and that of the enemy at 109 vessels.
Agnilar, Niutica Sacra, 2; Pap.Var., i. pt. i.; Papeles Franciscanos, MS.,
série i. tom. ii. 2.

52 He was accompanied by his wife, but his daughter remained in Spain. Ve-
tancert, T'rat. Mex., 14; Davila, Continuacion, MS., 201; Figueroa, Vindicias,
MS., 55. His appointment bore date April 19, 1635. Cedulario Nuevo, i. 344,

8 Ordenes de la Corona, MS., i. 14,

8¢ A cédula of 1639 reprimands the oidores for giving him bad advice. Id.,
ii. 159; vii. 3-7. The names of the leading officials at the time may be gath-
ered irom C'rpeda, Rel., pt. i. 2; Certyy. de Mercedes, MS., 124; Granados,
Tardex, 385-6.
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malice was exhibited, chiefly from his quarrel with
the archbishop. The real nature of this trouble is
not clear, though it arose from the interference of
each dignitary with what the other considered his
special privileges and duties.”® While the crown was
not seriously alarmed, a similar quarrel in 1624 proba-
bly induced it to remove one of them.

The prelate, Doctor Francisco Manso y Zuiiga,*
had on April 12, 1628, been appointed to succeed
the troublesome Serna. He possessed miany qualifi-
cations for his office whereby he gained not only public
approval but the confidence of the king. Educated
at Salamanca, he took orders in 1608, became rector
of Valladolid university, vicar-gencral of Aloa, abbot
of several prominent establishments, oidor of Granada
in 1612, and finally member of the India Council; so
that with high learning and ccclesiastic experience he
combined the training of judge and political coun-
selor;* yet we find him embroiling himself so far
with the viceroy as to lead to his recall in 1635.%
Otherwise his administration proved satisfactory, and
among the people his memory was revered for the
kindness and charity displayed in particular during
the great inundation, and in aiding religious edifices.®
The king indeed was not displeased, for he presented
him to the see of Cartagena and afterward to the
archdiocese of Birgos. In 1650 Ziiiiga entered the
Indian Council with the title of conde de Ervias.®

8 Gonzalez Ddvila, who wrote about this time, merely says, ‘Tvvo encuen-
tros con el Virrey en defensa de la inmunidad de la Iglesia.” Teatro Ecles., i.
61. The marchioness was actually to be prevented from visiting nunneries.

8 Panes adds Mendoza. Virreyes, MS., 96.

57 Gonzalez Dévila writes 1629; but Zuiliga was at Mexico already in Feb-
ruary of this year, and arrived probably at the close of 1628.

He was born at Cafias about 1582, and studied also at Valladolid.

% Cavo crroneously writes 1639. 7'res Siglos, ii. 11.

® Gonzalez Divila speaks also of his liberal cxpenditures at the funeral of
the infante archbishop of Toledo, Teatro, 61, yet this act savors rather of ob-
sequions calculation.

¢! And visconde de Negueruela. Sosa, Episc. Mex., 72. At his death, six
years later, he left treasures to the value of 800,000 pesos, which were placed
under embargo. Gmgo, Diario, in Doc. Hist. Mex., série ii. tom. i. 359. Yet
the greater part no doubt reached his heirs,
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Francisco Verdugo, long connected with the inqui-
sition, and since 1623 bishop of Guamanga in Pery,
was appointed his successor at Mexico, but died in
August 1636, before the bulls reached him.® Mean-
while the archdiocese was administered by Doctor
Fernandez de Ipenza, an intimate of Ziiiga, who
probably assisted in procuring for him the bishoprie
of Yucatan; but death overtook Ipenza before conse-
cration.® The ncxt appointee to the prelacy of
Mexico was a creole, Feliciano de la Vega, born at
Lima and there educated. His great learning and
brilliant talents procured prompt recognition, and he
became successively governor of the Lima archdiocese
and bishop of Popayan and of La Paz. The latter
appointment was conferred in 1639 and in the same
year came his promotion to Mexico. On arriving at
Acapulco carly in December 1640 he was seized with
fever from which he died within a few days,* to the
regret of the creole population at least, who were
naturally eager to sce installed as leading prelate one
of their own class, though born in a distant land.

62 At the age of 75, it seems, though Gonzalez D4vila says 80. He had
been professor at Seville, inquisidor at %Ama from 1601-23, and had repeatedl
declined promotion to Spanish sces. He dispensed all his income inalmus
died decply regretted. Teatro Ecles., i. 62.

The appointment was dated October 6, 1643.

¢ The body was afterward removed from Mazatlan to Mexico cathedral.
He left a fortune of 800,000 pesos, but no will whereby to embalm his memory
in charities, observes Gonzalez Ddvila, yet he adds: ‘Fue vno de los mas
felizes ingenios que tuuo el Reyno de Pird.’ Teatro, i. 63-5. Of 4,000 de-
cisions made by him as ruler of the Lima see none was revoked. The fortune
above referred to gave rise to strange complications as will be seen.

Herewith I give broader references to some authorities consulted for the
receding chapters: Z'orquemada, i. 306-11, 572, 618-19, 671, 690-3, 726-68;
1ii. 269-77, 380-1; Calle, Mem.y Not., 43 et seq. ; Davila, Continuacion, MS.,
120, passim; Alegre, Hist. Comp. Jesus, i. 36, 393-442; ii. 1042, 113, 136,
178-9; Cepeda, Relacion, i. 4, passim; Gonzalez Ddavila, Teatro Ecles., i. 2,
18, 42-61, 92-6, 122-31, 18297, 206-39; Medina, Chrén. S. Diego, 11, 334,
44-9, 113-53, 234, 240; Coyollvdo, Hixt. Yucathan, 232-9, 409, passim; Her-
rera, dec. i. lib. ix. cap. viii.; Tumultos de Mex., MS., 15 et seq.; Vetancort,
Chron. San Evang., 13-23, 120-7; Id., Trat. Mex., 11-14, 30-9; Grambila,
Tumultos, MS.. 1-19; Burgoa, Geog. Descrip. Oajaca, ii. 305-6, 340-2; Id.,
Palestra Hixt., 13948, 193-200; Fernandez, Hist. Ecles., 35-6, 56, 116; Car-
riedo, Estudios Ilist., 114; Vazquez, Chron. de Grat., 255; Certificacion de las
Mercedes, MS., 124; Col. Doc. Inéd., xxi. 447-60; Concilios Prov., MS.,
1655 y 63, 216-17; Ordenes, de la Corona, MS., ii. 145-89; vii. 1-7; Remesal,



FURTHER AUTHORITIES. 97

Hist. Chyapa, 718; Papeles Franciscanos, MS., 2-5; Doc. Hist. Mez., série ii.
tom. ii., passim; Id., série ii. tom. iii., passim; Mexico, Rel. Svm. de Tu-
mullos, 1 et seq.; Sigiienza y Gdngora, Carta, MS., 15; Id., Parayso Occid.,
H4-8; Mexico y sus Disturbios, MS., i. 16-54, 289-91, 301-451; ii. 1-676;
Pacheco and Cdrdenas, Col. Doc., vi. 380; Maltratamiento de Indios, MS.,
1-8; Cortés, Hist. N. Esp., 18-22; Instruc. Vireyes, 203; Recop. de Ind., i.
21, passim; ii. 27, im; AMontemayor, Svmarios, 56-9, 181, 216-17; Fi-
yueroa, Vindicias, MS., 65-73; Morelli, Fasti Novi Orbis, 343, 355; Durango,
Doc. ilist., MS., 140-5; Mezico, Rel. del Estado, passim; Cavo, 1'res Siglos,
i passim; Beaumont, Cron. Mich., MS., 265; Purchas, I{is Pilgrimes, i. 84;
ii. 791; Laet, Am. Descrip., 233-9, 251-316; Humloldt, Essai Pol.,i. 204-35,
674; ii. 817; Il., New Spain, 90-2, 100-5; Id., Versuch, ii. 87-128; Santos,
Chron. Hosp., ii. 433-45, 453-61; 464-73, 589-90; Arlequi, Prov. de Zac.,
81-3, 138-44, 2434, 346; Mayer, Mez. Aztec, i. 149, 163, 176-98; Abdispa de
Chalpancingo, Escritos, 365; Dice. Univ., i. 139, 328, 342; ii. 212-19, 260,
304-5, 378-9, 547-9; iii. 396; iv. 489-93; v. 250-1; vi. 761-2; vii. 485-6;
viik 877; ix. 216-17, 260-1, 3334, 504, 587-8, 805, 930; x. 369-70, 539-43,
653-63, 761, 822, 928-0; Aquilar, Nautica, 2-12; San Sancon, L' Amer., 18;
Zevallos, 1list. Mund., 135; Gonzales, ('ol. N. Leon, 3-16; Alvares, Estudios,
iil. 179-221, 461-505; Touron, Hist. Gen., vii. 278-92, 303-5; Arevalo, Com-
pend., 171-2; Mora, Rev. Mez., iii. 237-56; iv. 2—43; Album, Mez., i. 351-3;
Gottfiiedt, Newe Welt, 472-5, 596-8; Poussin’s Question, 2i-8; Arrillaga,
Recop., 1335, 5-6; Muhlenpford, Versuch, ii. 254—63; Frost’s IHist. Alex.,
138-40; Kerr’s Col. Voy., x. 157-8; Correal, Voy. (Paris ed.), i. 1; Beltrams,
Her., 1i. 62-78; Samaniego, Rel., 98-9; Prescott’s Aex., ii. 105-7; Guage,
Voy. (Amsterdam ed. 1720), i. 68-116, 203-22; Id. (Paris ed. 1696), i. 225-15;
Muller, Reisen en Mex., ii. 52-67; iii. 185-90; Arroniz, Biog. Mezx., 159-62,
250-2; Id., Hist. y Cron., 105-7; Nicolal, Newe und Warhafite, 305; Green-
Row’s Or. and Cal., 89-91; Ogilhy's Am., 245; Ribera, Gob. M.x., 77, passim;
Fancourt’s Hist. Yuc., 176, 223; Castillo, Dic. Hist., 60, 260-72; Bustamante,
Voz de la Patria, i. 10-12; Alzite, Gacetas, ii. 124-5; Granadas, Tardes Am.,
340-1, 385-8; Larenaudicre, Mex. et Guat. (Paris ed. 1543), 150; Shepard's
Land of the Aztec, 37-9; Varios Fmpresos, nos. iii. vi.—vii.; Fonscca y Urrutia,
Real Hacienda, ii. 12-22, 263-337; iv. 429-50; v. 352-61; Churchill’s Col.
Voy., viii. 767-70; Russcll’s Hist. Am., ii. 106; Sosa, Episcop. Mex., 51-71;
Ward's Hist, Mex., ii. 282; Ternauz-Compans, Col. Voy., série ii. tom. v.
322; Zamacois, IHist. Méj., iv. 41, 169; v. 246, passim; Balbuena, Grandeza
AMeq., 1-140; Liceo Mex., ii. 5-6, 40-2, 52, 80-3, 119-33, 144-7, 164-5; Bur-
ney’s Discov. South Seas, ii. 273 ct seq.; Mexico, Rel. de Gelves, passim;
Berenger, Col. Voy., i. 262, 288-93; Compaitia de Jesus, Defensa, im ;
Fisher’s National May., i. 249-54; BMosaico Mex., ii. 269; Mota-Pudilla,
Cong. N. Gual., 271; Registro Yucateco, i. 194-8; Velasco, Exalt. Divin. Miser.,
39-49; Terranova 7 Monteleone, Esposicion, 21-63; Somoza, Breve Not., 2-31;
Rodriguz, Carta Hist., 2-6, 35-50; Soc. Mez. Geoq., Boletin, ii. 7-8; iv. 19,
73; v. 349-52; viii. 165; Palafox y Mendoza, Venerable Seiior, 5-7; Rivera,
Hist. Jalapa, i. 77-91; Hernandez, Estad. Mej., 28-9; Lacunza, Discursos
Hist., no. xxxiv. 486-512; Alaman, Disert., ii. 50-77, 236-9; iii. 19-28, 173,
389; Monumentos Domin. Esp., MS., 13, passim.

Hrsr, Mxx., Vor. IIL. 7



CHAPTER V.

ADMINISTRATION OF VICEROYS ESCALONA, PALAFOX,
AND SALVATIERRA.

1640-1648.

Viczroy EscaLoxa’s ARRIVAL—THE BisHorP AND ViISrTapor Pararox—
QUARRELS ABOUT DocTRiNAS—A Coverots Rtrer—FrurrLess Com-
PLAINTS — STARTLING NEWS FROM PORTUGAL —EscALONA’S Sympa-
THIES—AN INSOLENT CAPTAIN—VICEROY VERSTS BisHoP—Pararox
MADE ARCHBISHOP AND GOVERNOR OF NEW SPAIN—SECRET PREPARA-
TI0NS—THE STROKE AGAINST Escaroxa—HIs VINDICATION IN Sparv—
Pararox AN ABLE VICEROY — IcoNocLAsM — EPISCOPAL LABORS aT
PCUEBRLA — VICEROY SALVATIERRA ARRIVES — CALIFORNIA ExPrLoRA-
TIONS—SALVATIERRA’S RULE.

SaTISFACTORY as the rule of Viceroy Cadereita had
been, the crown had, as it seems, some motive for his
removal,’ and the appointment of a successor was re-
solved upon. Diego Lopez Pacheco Cabrera y Boba-
dilla, duque de Escalona and marqués de Villena, a
grandee f Spain,’ was the personage selected as seven-
teenth viceroy. He arrived at Vera Cruz the 24th of
June 1640, though festivities in that city and at sev-
eral points on the road delayed his entry into the
capital until the 28th of August.®* In the same fleet
came the new bishop of Puebla and visitador general
for New Spain, Juan de Palafox y Mendoza, with a

1 Troubles with Archbishop Manso y Ziiniga may have been the cause.
The reprimand of the audiencia would also indicate grounds for complaint.

2 He was the first grandee that ever held the viceroyalty of New Spain.
Calle, Mem. y Not., 56. Escalona was a relative to the dukes of Braganza in
Portugal.

3 Vetancert, Trat. Mex., 14, followed by Cavo, Tres Siglos, ii. 12; Loren-
zana, Hist. N. Esp., 22-3. Mayer, Mex. Aztec, i. 198, and Ribera, His.
Jalapa, i. 91, state that his entry into Mexico was made four days after his

arrival at Vera Cruz.
(98)
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special commission to take the residencias of the
former viceroys, Cerralvo and Cadereita, and to in-
vestigate the commercial relations with Peru and the
Philippine Islands.

The new viceroy was a man of fair speech, and for a
time won for himself the sympathies of the people,
who expected from him a change for the better in the
condition of affairs. At this period commerce and
mining industries were depressed,* and the common
necessaries of life could be purchased only at exorbi-
tant rates. Moreover the church was in a demoralized
condition, and the religious brotherhoods ever at
strife; the highest ecclesiastical dignity in New Spain
being represented only by a deputy.

The beginning of Escalona’s rule showed some
activity. %—Ie had been ordered by the king to make
explorations on the coast of California, and soon after
his accession a commission was issued for that pur-
pose to the governor of Sinaloa. Certain Jesuits
accompanied the expedition; but the only purpose
which it served was to ascertain that the coast was
rich in pearls, and, though cheerless and barren, in-
habited by peaceful tribes. In the mean time the
viceroy aided effectually in carrying out the orders
which had been given him for the reformation of the
doctrinas, the execution of which rested with the
visitador-bishop Palafox, an able, energetic man,
whose name became intimately linked with that of
Escalona, and with the greatest ecclesiastical strife
which occurred during the seventeenth century.

Juan de Palafox y Mendqza was born in Fitero,
Navarre, on the 24th of June 1600, and was of noble
descent, though a natural son. When ten years old he
was legitimized by his father, Jaime de Palafox y Men-
doza, marqués de Ariza.® Having received an educa-

4 The losses sustained by shipwrecks and pirates during the preceding ten
years were estimated at 30,000,000 pesos. Palafox, El Ven. Sefior, 4-5.

8 The latter title has probably misled several authors, among them Vetan-

curt and Gonzalez Dﬂ.vﬂg. who give Ariza in Aragon as his birthplace. 7%at.
Mez., 52; Teatro Ecles., i. 98.
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tion in keeping with his rank, he intended to enter
the army, but being dissuaded by his father, he studied
law and theology at Alcald and Salamanca, where his
talents won the admiration of his teachers and fellow-
students. His fame soon reached the ears of the king,
who summoned him to court, and he was appointed
in quick succession to several important offices in the
council of the Indies, and of war. During this time
he first entertained the idea of changing his worldly
life for a more sacred calling,® and a few years later
was ordained a priest, being appointed, in 1629, chap-
lain and chicf-almoner to the empress, whom he ac-
companied to Germany,” where he remained for
several years. On the 27th of December 1639 he was
consecrated at Madrid, and on his arrival in New
Spain, in June 1640, immediately entered upon his
duties. His zeal and charity soon gained for him the
love and obedience of his flock, while as visitador he
knew so well how to temper justice with moderation
that litigants highly respected his decisions. The
only matter in which he displayed unwonted rigor was
the removal of friars from doctrinas, and in this he
was scconded by the viceroy.

For years great irregularitics had prevailed in the
appointments to doctrinas, or neophyte congregations,
a great number of which the religious brotherhoods had
held in their gift since the time of the conquest. Friars
were installed and removed at will by their superiors,
regardless of royal and pontifical decrees to the con-
trary, and of instructions directing candidates to be
cxamined and approved by the bishop. Little or no at-
tention was paid to the manner in which the doctrinas

¢Several miraculous escnlpcs from danger had already predisposed him to
this change, and the death of two prominent courtiers hastened his resolution.
His mother, who had become a recluse, encouraged him. Pualajox, Obras, xiii.
10, 15-47.

THe held also for some time the offices of a treasurer of the church of
Tarasona and of an abbot of Cintra. Vetancert, Trat. Mex., 52; Gonzalez
Didvila, Teutro Ecles., i. 98. Lorenzana, in Cuncilios Prov., 1555-65, 251,
I\Iienlti'(:lm Palafox also as visitador of the royal convent of barefooted nuns of
nMadnd.
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were administered, the only object seeming to be the
accumulation of wealth at the expense of others. The
bishop at once resolved to correct this abuse, and
meeting with resistance on the part of the friars,
proceeded to deprive the orders of their missions. In
a short time he had established thirty-seven new
curacies, which formerly had belonged to the Frau-
ciscans, Dominicans, and Augustinians. It must be
admitted that in some instances he went too far,
making a parish out of every district containing a
small church or hermitage, if the ecclesiastics failed
to appear before him during the short term granted
for examination.® Finally, when the religious orders
realized their inability to battle successfully with the
united powers of the bishop and the viceroy, they
submitted under protest to the India Council, a meas-
ure which was of no avail to them, however, as the
conduct of the bishop was approved. The general
feeling of the population had doubtless been with the
bishop, and they considered the great number of friars
as a burden to the country, and one of little benefit;
for a few years later petitions were addressed to Spain,
urging that no more friars be sent to Mexico, and
that no licenses be issued for new convents.
Although an intimate friendship seemed to exist
between Escalona and Palafox, which found cxpression
in the frequent visits they paid each other, the former
had not been deaf to the complaints of the friars merely
for the sake of the bishop’s good-will. He required
a more tangible compensation, which was nothing less
than the assistance, or at least the non-interference, of
the powerful visitador. Pleasure, and the acquisition
of wealth, were dear to the heart of the viceroy. The
duties of his office were a sore burden to him, and he
8The Franciscans as the most numerous seem to have suffered most,
jndgni-lag from the long complaint of Vetancurt, who says that his order had
to suffer many grievances. Only one Franciscan, of Atlixco, submitted to
the bishop’s demand, and having been approved, was left in undisturbed %)s-
session of his doctrina. Vetancvrt, Chron. San Evany., 14-16; Gonzalez Dd-

vila, Teatro Ecles., i. 99. See also Cavo, Tres Siglos, ii. 13; Alaman, Disert.,
iii. app. 28.



102 mCAMNA, PALAFOX, AND SALVATIERRA.

willingly transferred them to his friends and courtiers,
if they would only offer him opportunity for amuse-
went, and his due share of the oﬂiciaiy perquisites.
The best offices were thus given to the partisans of
the duke, and by them resold to the highest bidder.
Among other measures he was induced to order a
census to be taken of all the mulattoes, negroes, and
mestizos, but for what purpose does not appear, save
that of swelling his own coffers, and those of his fa-
vorites. One of his attendants was put in charge of
the granary, the stores of which were sold at exces-
sive rates to the public; another was made judge of-
police and given charge of the public water works.®
A third was appointed juez de pulques under the pre-
text of enforcing the laws against the sale of intoxi-
cating liquors, and made fifty thousand pesos a_year
by his oche. The salc of cacao was also monopolized,
and its price was so extravagant that only rich per-
sons could afford to buy it.*

The people were loud in their complaints, but no
whisper reached the ears of the viceroy, for his friends
did their utmost to prevent him from learning how
great was the dissatisfaction his measures had created.

epresentations were made to the bishop-visitador,
who argued with Escalona, suggesting that if the
offices were sold the proceeds ought to be turned
over to the royal treasury. His counsel was disre-
garded by the duke, who was piqued by it, and after-
ward end}:aavored to keep aloof from him.*

The viceroy still wanted money to redeem his en-
cumbered estates, and a new scheme was devised by
his ingenious financiers. A list of wealthy persons

® Even the salinous water sold at two and three reals a load, and its use
caused diseases among the population.

. 19f thus the wenft.hier classes were unable to obtain it, how could it be

With those who had no means, y con solo cste desayuno ayunaban los dias y
noches.’ Palajox, El Ven. Seror, 6.

! His rooms, in the interior of the palace, were quite distant from that

mt of the building where the offices were situated, and to which the public
access.

. " ‘Pareciéndole que en no oyendo culparse no seria culpado.’” Palafox, A%
Ven. Seiior, 7.

o
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was made, and all were in turn invited to the palace
by the viceroy, who flattered them, feasted them, pro-
moted some of them to office, and finally did them
the honor of borrowing their money, the repayment
of which in all probability was to be made ad Grecas
calendas. To refuse or to concede was alike danger-
ous, and many preferred the latter. So well worked
the contrivance, that within a short time several hun-
dred thousand pesos were obtained.® Occasionally ap-
propriations were also made from the royal treasury
and from the monopoly of quicksilver, the latter prov-
ing so injurious that the product of the mines was
largely reduced.®

éool as were the relations between Escalona and
Palafox, an open rupture had always been avoided by
the latter, perhaps more from policy than from any
other motive. Even the viceroy’s misconduct with
regard to the armada de Barlovento, and the despatch
of the fleet of 1641, did not produce any visible effect
on the visitador, though they widened the breach
already existing. Orders had been given to the duke
to proceed with the organization of this armament for
the protection of the coasts and the escort of mer-
chant vessels. These instructions were carried out in
the most careless manner; a large amount of money
was drawn from the royal treasury and spent on ves-
sels scarcely seaworthy and altogether too small.”® In
addition, the despatch of the fleet was unnecessarily
delayed until the end of July. In vain the visitador
had remonstrated; but though his advice was disre-
garded the result proved how correct it had been, for
a storm destroye(g) the whole flota, and caused the
crown a loss of about eight millions of pesos.’®

13 Authorities differ as to the exact figure, stating it from 300,000 to 400,000

One Alvaro de Lorenzana alone is said to have loaned 50,000 pesos.

141t is asserted that not one mark of silver entered the royal treasury
under Escalona’s rule.

15 The amount is estimated at 800,000 . Palafox, El Ven. Seiior, 8.

1¢ Palafox made of the viceroy’s groeeeg::os a charge of harboring seditious
plans; but this fell to the ground; for at Hxﬁ:ann. the fleet was placed under
the command of an officer quite independent of Eacalona. Escalona, Defensa,
in Vir. Instruc., M8., série i., no. 1, 13-14.
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During this same year the viceroy’s covetousness
was again a cause of offence to Palafox. The late
archbishop elect, Feliciano de Vega, had died intes-
tate, soon after his arrival at Acapulco, leaving prop-
erty valued at eight hundred thousand pesos, and a
controversy arose as to whom belonged the adminis-
tration. The bishop claimed it in virtue of his office
as visitador, and commissioned his vicar-general, Bar-
tolomé de Nogales, to make an inventory. But the

roperty, or at least the greater part, had already
en seized and placed in safe-keeping by the oidor,
Melchor de Torreblanca, by order of the viceroy; and
when Nogales proceeded to comply with his instruc-
tions, he was strongly rebuked by Escalona, and also
by Palafox, who yet strove to remain on good terms
with the duke. Nogales returned in disgust to
Spain;” and the bishop, also annoyed, abandoned his
claim and retired to Puebla.®

During the first days of April 1641 news reached
Mexico that Portugal and Catalonia had risen in
revolt, and were at war with Spain in defence of their
proclaimed independence. The people of Mexico be-
canie alarmed, for the viceroy was a near relative to
the chief of the Portuguese insurgents, the duke of
Braganza, and there was a large number of that
nationality in the country. Many of them were
wealthy and influential, and had always been treated
by Escalona with marked favor. Fears were enter-
tained that the insurrection might spread to the New
World, and the duke’s behavior apparently justified
this apprehension. Cédulas had been sent to the

'7 ¢ Diciendo no queria estar en tierra donde tanto ataba las manos 4 la jus-
ticia la contemplacion de los sefiores vireyes.” Palafox, El Ven. Seilor, 9.

18 The money disappeared mysteriously; ‘murieron (the 800,000 )
como su ducfio muy apriessa.” Gonzalez Duvila, Teatro Ecles., i. 65. Torre-
blanca was later suspended from office and banished to Tacuba, for the term
of five ycars. In 1650 the council of the Indies pronounced a severe sentence
against him—perpetual removal from office, exile from the New World, for
ten years from the court, and a fine of 15,000 ducats. (‘uijo, Diario, in Doc.

Hist. Mcx., 1st ser., 1. 107, All this implies that frauds were committed in
the administration of the estate.
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viceroy to serve as a guide for his conduct toward the
Portuguese, but they were kept secret, and neither
the audiencia nor the visitador learned their con-
tents. The distinctions bestowed on the Portuguese
were remembered; how one had been made castellan
of San Juan de Ulda; how another, even after the
arrival of the news, had been placed in charge of a
portion of the troops, and received the rank og maes-
tre de campo; while a third was appointed comisario
general.” It was also asserted that, on the very day
when the intelligence was received, Escalona, instead
of expressing sorrow, dressed himself in gala costume
and invited his friends to a banquet.

One circumstance, however, although a trivial one,
was brought forward as clearly proving the duke’s
disloyalty. It was alleged that, when offered the
choice of two horses, one belonging to Pedro de Cas-
tilla, and the other to Cristéba% de Portugal, he ex-
claimed, after trying them: “The Portuguese is the
better.”® This remark did not escape the strained
ears of his enemies; and trifling as it was, it was
afterward so construed as to form one of the heaviest
charges against him.® The loss of one of the mail-
ships, despatched in the beginning of the year, also
caused great excitement, and without regard to in-
consistency of dates was by some persons interpreted
as a premeditated step of the viceroy to aid his rebel
cousin in Portugal.

The feeling of the Spaniards” against the Portu-

19 It seems that the first instructions from Spain did not order the dis-
missal of Portuguese officials, who were considered trustworthy, but only en-
joined strict vigilance. The duke retained them in office as there were no
sufficient reasons for their removal.

20 <Mejor es el de Portugal.’ Vetancvrt, Trat. Mex., 14; Cavo, Tres Siglos,
ii. 15; Bustamante in Palajor, El Ven. Seiior, 79. The two last authorities
n{ the horses had been given to the duke. Palafox, Respuesta, in Palafoz,
El Ven. 8eitor, 57, gives to the horses the names of Castilla and Portugal,
and changes the viceroy’s exclamation to ‘Dejo 4 Castilla por Portugal.’

2 Correspondence with Portuguese noblemen, observations approving the
duke of Braganza's treachery, and even the project of a Portuguese invasion
were also on the list of accusations against kscalona, but proofs were never
furnished, and it is not at all improbable that the bishop had a good deal to
do with the airculation of such rumors, if not with their creation.
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guese reached its climax on the 13th of August 1641,
the day of St Hippolytus. When the usual proces-
sion of the banner met a body of soldiers with their
Portuguese captain, the customary salute of lowering
the flag was refused on the ground of the duke’s
absence.® The Spaniards, though greatly incensed,
merely changed their route, and made no attempt to
punish their insolent neighbors. Palafox, who soon
afterward returned to Mexico, represented to the
viceroy the necessity of punishing the captain and of
adopting energetic measures to prevent an outbreak
of the Portuguese, who became more haughty from
day to day. Escalona agreed with the bishop, but
could not be induced to take any active steps,
although the representations were repeated.

While the viceroy and Palafox were yet quarrelling,
information reached Mexico that the Portuguese in
Brazil had rebelled, and that a mutiny had occurred
in Cartagena, New Granada.* The zealous visitador
immediately held consultations with the members
of the audiencia, the inquisition, and a number of
prominent persons, and all urged him to reason with
the duke, and call his attention to the impending
danger. The dismissal of the Portuguese captain
and those of his countrymen who held office under the
crown, and the disbanding of the companies of Portu-
guese soldiers, were deemed necessary. An attempt
to obtain an interview with the viceroy failed, owing
to the latter’s discourtesy; and when the bishop ex-
plained his views in a letter,” the duke’s answer was,

2 No reason is assigned why the viceroy failed to assist. ‘El portugues
dijo: que no halldndose en ¢l (the procession), S. E. 4 ningun otro ag:)uir(a "
bandera.” Palafox, El Ven. Seiior, 10-11.

B Palafox, in his letter to the king, mentions the disrespectful language
of the viceroy. saying that the latter, on one occasion, told the bishop’s chap-
lain: ¢por ahi dicen qu~ me alzo con esto, si eso fuese asi, yo seria rey, y mi
obispo papa.’ Palafox, El Ven. Seiior, 60. There is no doubt that, as well on
this as on other oecasions, the viceroy made merry with the serious remarks
of the bishiop, who really suspected a conspiracy.

4 Cartagena de las Indias, as it was then called, to distinguish it from
that of old Spain.

. ®Con maravillvsas razones y profunda reverencia le proponia la reforma-
cion del capitan portugues, y todos los demas puntas convenientes.’
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“The learned always err.” Nevertheless a meeting
was convoked, consisting of lawyers, friars, and other
personages with little or no judgment on political
affairs. Moreover disputes about etiquette prevented
any definite action.
Comprehending at last the danger of greater delay,
the viceroy issued a proclamation, ordering the Portu-
ese inhabitants to deliver up their fire-arms under
pain of death. The Portuguese captain was dismissed,
and Palafox, in order to manifest his conciliatory dis-
Eosition, went to the palace to congratulate Escalona,
ut was discourteously treated by the viceroy. The
ill-will of the latter increased when his request to the
visitador to pardon a certain prisoner was denied, and
the bishop in some skilful manner contrived to secure
the people’s sympathy for his conduct. The duke re-
taliated, vexing the bishop by petty annoyances and a
lack of courtesy; he persecuted his friends, and forbade
him to interfere with the despatch of the Philippine
vessels, a matter which belonged to the jurisdiction
of the visitador. Toward the end of 1641 Palatox
was desirous of returning to his diocese, but was pro-
voked by the sneering remarks of the duke to remain,
only to experience new offence in the following year,
when the corregidor of Vera Cruz imprisoned a Car-
melite friar on whose person were found letters which
caused him to be suspected of being an emissary of
the bishop, and the latter’s efforts in his behalf seemed
to confirm it. Having failed to obtain from the vice-
roy the punishment of the corregidor, and the resi-
dencia of Cadereita being concluded, in February 1642
the bishop retired to Puebla to attend to his duties,
and to await the result of his reports to the king,
whom as a loyal subject and in duty bound he had
informed of the suspicious behavior of the duke.
His patience was not put to a severe test. The
king had always been aware of the viceroy’s intimate
relation with the Portuguese rebel, who had wrested

% Escalona said publicly he had ordered the bishop to return to Puebla.



108 ESCALONA, PALAFOX, AND SALVATIERRA.

from the Spanish sovereign an important province;—
the critical circumstances of the epoch and the abuses =ms
wrought by the viceroy’s attengz(:nts, magnified as ==
they were by the bishop, effectually undermined the =
king’s confidence. Previous orders to exercise a whole-
some surveillance were now amplified, and the visi-
tador was ordered to take possession of the govern-
ment. Simultaneously his services were recognized
by offering him the archbishopric of Mexico, vacant
since the death of Feliciano de Vega.”

These cédulas arrived toward the end of May 1642,®
and Palafox was not loath to assume the viceroyalty,
which office so well suited his ambition. He declined,
however, the archiepiscopal see.® The latter was in
consequence given to Juan de Maiiosca y Zamora, the
late president of the chancilleria of New Granada.”
He was consecrated by Palafox on the 24th of Feb-
ruary 1645. Keeping secret his appointment, the
bishop proceeded on the 6th of June 1642 to Mexico,
where his exaltation to the highest ecclesiastical dig-
nity had filled with joy the whole population, save the
viceroy, who congratulated him with such scant cour-
tesy® as to rouse the ire of the bishop, who occupied
himself during the two following days with sending
letters to Puebla, Vera Cruz, and other places, making
known his appointment almost simultaneously. On
the eve of Saturday the 9th of June, the final prepa-

7 Diego de Guevara, archbishop-elect of Santo Domingo, had taken poe-
session of the sce in the name of Vega, and ruled until his death. Gonrzalez
Duiivila, Teatro Ecles., i. 64.

®The contemporary narrator, in Palafor, El Ven. Sefior, 18, says March
23d, which is likely to be a misprint, or incorrect reading of the original man-
uscript. The time given in the text is supported by the personal statements
of Palafox, and intimated by Cavo, T'res Siglos, ii. 14.

® Gonzalez Divila asserts because he had vowed not to accept any other
see but that of Puebla.

30 A native of Marquina in Biscay. He was educated in Mexico, studied
in Salamanca, and held later, among other offices, that of inquisitor at Carta-
gena and Lima. Fetancert, Trat. Mez., 25. Some call him Mafiosca, others
Zamora; the first, his maternal name, was with preference adopted by him.
Panes mentions him as Juan Saenz de Mayorca y Zamora. Vireyes, in Mon-
mentox, Dom. Esp., MS., 99.

31Tt is also said that Escalona circulated reports that Palafox owed his
elevation to his influence.
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rations for the stroke were made in the city of Mexico,
as the viceroy intended to retire to Chapultepec. At
a late hour of the night, after previously informing
the members of the inquisition, and ordering them to
be ready for action, the members of the audiencia were
summoned to his house and shown the royal cédulas,
which they obeyed, recognizing Palafox as viceroy.
Subsequently the city council, municipal and royal
officials, and a number of prominent citizens, who had
been assembled, were likewise acquainted with the
king’s will, and all declared their willingness to obey.

During the same night, by order of Palafox, the
maestre de campo, Antonio Urrutia de Vergara,* with
thirty resolute men took possession of and guarded
the entrances to the viceregal palace, allowing all who
8o desired to leave it, but none to enter. This done,
word was sent to the new viceroy, together with the
information, - that everything within the palace was

uiet and that there. was not the least suspicion.

hers had secured the prison, the mint, the house

where the royal seal was kept, and several public
buildings.

Confident as was the bishop that his conduct could
not fail to meet with the approval of the people, he
still deemed it but prudent to have an eye to his own
safety. At five o’clock the next morning cverything
was ready, and the oidor Andrés de Pardo de Lagos,
accompanied by two alcaldes, the fiscal, and a secretary,
parl(l)ceeded to the palace to notify to the duke his down-
fall.®

Escalona was asleep when Lagos and his compan-
ions entered, and awoke to find the party on bended
knee, as they apprised him of the king’s latest reso-
lution. The secretary handed him the cédula, but he

32 He is sometimes only called Vergara, in other instances Urrutfa.

% In some places he is called Lugi or Lu%:).
M Cavo, Tres Siglos, ii. 14-15, expresses his astonishment that they conld

enter the without encountering opposition. He forgets ¢vidently that
the , although only subject to the immediate orders of the viceroy,

not fail to :Ley thoee of the maestre de campo, the second commander,
who, as has been shown, sided with the bishop.
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returned it with the request that it be read to him.
This was done, and raising himself on his shoulder he
listened, speechless with surprise, to the words of his
sovereign, who, under pretext of bestowing on him
greater favors, bade him deliver up the reins of power
to the archbishop and return to Spain. “This isa
hard blow, but the orders of the king must be obeyed,”
was his answer. Informed that his successor had
already assumed office and demanded his early de-
parture from Mexico, he left the capital between seven
and eight o’clock, poorly equipped and with a scanty
retinue,® and retired to the convent of the barefooted
Franciscans at Churubusco, a few miles distant.
When the inhabitants awoke, they learned with
amazement how close to the verge of rebellion the
province had been, and that but for the prudence and
energy of the new viceroy the stain of sedition had
been branded on the most noble and loyal city of New
Spain. Such was at least the manner in which the
friends of the bishop justified his conduct, and though
the people believed it for a while, they were soon un-
deceiveg.

On the 10th of June® Palafox inaugurated his
rule, and his first measure was to place under em-
ba;go all the property and papers belonging to his

redecessor,¥ whose residencia he immediately be,
P ¥
to take. The conduct of Escalona and of certain of
his friends and attendants who were in prison, was
closely scrutinized; but all efforts failed to secure
evidence of the suspected conspiracy. The people,
always inclined to sympathize with the unfortunate,

3 ¢ En un coche de dos mulas, mal alifiada la persona y con un solo page.’
Palafox, El Ven. Serior, 21.

%8The son of Escalona in his complaint to the king says erroneously that
the bishop took these measures on the night of a Sunday, which would have
been Junc 10th. Escalona, Defensa in Vir. Instruc., MS., 1st ser., no. 1, 1-2.
Lorenzana, referring to the Libro de Cabilds, says Palafox entered into office
on the 9th. Hist. N, Esp., 23

3 Cavo, Tres Siglos, ;1 1.4, followed by Zamacois, /ist. Mé¢j., v. 330,
makes the improbable assertion, that the duke’s property was sold at auc-
tion.
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ere long pitied the duke on account of the new vice-
roy’s harsh proceeding, explaining his alleged malefea-
sance as the calumniations of his enemies, and his
mistakes in the government as originated by the bad
counsel of his advisers. Later events seemed to jus-
tify this opinion, and having remained in the convent
of Churubusco till the end of 1642 Escalona removed
to the small town of San Martin, about sixteen
leagues from Mexico, and three months later returned
to Spain.® Here he vindicated his conduct so satis-
factorily that the king intended to reinstall him in
office, but afterward bestowed on him the viceroyalt
of Sicily and a grant of six thousand pesos of rental.
His opinion was also consulted about the government
of New Spain, and among other suggestions he made
was that of resuming the expeditions to California.
There is no doubt that he became a victim to the
visitador’s ambition or scruples, and that on account
of his innate indolence his friends and attendants
were allowed too much influence in the control of af-
fairs, but no evidence has been produced strong enough
to convict him of disloyalty.®

Whatever the reasons which controlled the conduct
of Palafox in all affairs where Escalona was concerned,
once in charge of the highest magistracy of New

38 With him he took written testimony of the city council, other corpo-
rations, and many prominent persons, giving evidence of his innocence.

8 El Venerable Seiior Don Juan de Palafox y Mendoza. . . justificado en el
Tribunal de la Razon, Mexico, 1831, pp. 79, published by Carlos Maria de Bus-
tamante. This work forms part of the Voz de la Patria, and contains docu-
ments bearing on the altercations between Escalona and Palafox. The first
is a relation, written by a contemporary, apparently a friend of the bishop,
but full of valuable information and less Eia:ssed than might have been ex-
pected. The second is a memorial to the king by the son of the ex-viceroy,
asserting the duke’s innocence and severely accusing Palafox. Another,
q:rrently coetaneous copy exists in my manuscript collection under the
title Eacalona, Defensa. 'The last document is the bishop’s reply to the king
concerning the charges preferred against him. Both the memorial and the
np:z, gtrtml as their origin necessarily stamps them, add few historical facts
to the first document, but are valuable because they reveal occasionally the
reasons which guided the two antagonists. Of later writers, most have
adopted the version that the removal of Escalona was an act of unnecessary
caution in view of the slight reasons against him; others, like Alaman and
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Spain he proved himself well fitted for the position.
The abuses which his predecessor had permitted in
the management of the public water-works and the
granary were corrected; crime was severely pun-
ished; and frequent public sessions were held, often
presided over by the viceroy himself* The affairs
of the royal treasury, of late a mine of wealth for
unscrupulous officials, were reorganized, but Palafox
himself did not draw any of the salary due him as
visitador and viceroy.

Vera Cruz and Acapulco were fortified according
to orders from Spain, the duties of maestre de campo
more clearly defined, and twelve new companies of
militia organized for purposes of defence. The vice-
roy then girected his attention to the improvement of
ecclesiastical and educational matters. e made re-
forms in the affairs of the church, visited the convents,
framed statutes for the university, and, though a pro-
tector of the Indians, was sometimes severe in his
endeavor to outroot such superstitions as still lingered
in their minds. To that end a number of ancient
statues and idols, kept by preceding viceroys as tokens
of victory, were demolished.”

In the mean time a new viceroy had been appointed
by the crown, and to him Palafox delivered the reins
of power, after a rule of five months,*” during which
bricf term he gave unquestionable proof of ability and
disinterestedness. By order of the king, he gave to
his successor a collection of ‘instructions’ to guide

Ribera, confine themselves to a mere statement of the facts, without express-
ing their opinions. 1In addition to the authorities already quoted I refer the
reader for more details to Vetancert, Trat. Mezx., 14; Cavo, Tres 8iglos, ii
11-15; Alegre, Ilist. Comp. Jesus, ii. 237-8; Alaman, Disert., iii. app. 28-0;
Rivera, Gobernantes, i. 132-41.

* Dio audiencia. . .en que hablaban en dos dias cuantos no habian podide
hablar 4 S. E. ¢n dos aiios.” Palafox, el Ven. Sefior, 23.

1 This iconoclasm has been severely censured, and justly so, because a
number of curious and doubtless valuable relics have thus disappeared. If
re had simply put them among other objects of idol-worship, the bishop
would also have attained his purpose and remained exempt from the just
charge of intolerance and fanaticism.

#ZTouron is in error when he states that Palafox ruled three years as vice-
roy. /list. Gen. Amérique, vii. 361.



NINETEENTH VICEROY. 113

him in the government,® and then turned his atten-
tion to his duties as bishop and visitador.# The
cathedral of Puebla, which had been commenced in
the middle of the preceding century, was completed,*
the viceroy making a donation of 15,000 pesos, and
obtaining within four years subscriptions amounting
to 150,000 pesos.*

The building was consecrated on the 18th of April
1649, and until the completion of the cathedral in
Mexico was the finest church edifice in New Spain.”
More than a hundred thousand persons were con-
firmed;* the college of San Pedro y San Pablo was
founded, with a library of some six thousand volumes;
the hospital de la Concepcion for orphans was estab-
lished; and many other charitable acts® gave testi-
mony to the zeal of this worthy prelate.

In October 1642 the nineteenth viceroy of New

© These Instrucciones, as they were generally termed, should by order of
the crown be given by every vacating viceroy to his successor, and were gen-
erally rather a résumé of the condition of the country, with suggestions for
tho best government, than what the title implied. Those of Palafox to Sal-
vatierra, contained in AMorfi, Col. Doc., MS., 746, reveal a very thorough
undcxstandiniof the social and political state of affairs in New Spain at that
time, and embrace nearly all the important points which then might come
under consideration. The character of their author readily accounts for cer-
tain stress laid on ecclesiastical codperation.

‘4 His residencia was not taken until 1652, and though he had created
many enemies no charges were made.  ‘No resultd. . .cargo, ni culpa alguna
...ni huuo Demanda, Querella, ni Capitulo.” The council of the Indies pub-
lished tho sentence on August 8, 1652. Satisfacion al Memorial, 31-2; Pala-
Jox, Obrax, xii. 465-7; xiii. 106-14; Guijo, Diario, in Doc. Hist. Mez., 1st
ser., i. 215-16.

5 A royal cedula of January 19, 1640, had directed him to hasten the com-
pletion of the building.

48 Rosende, in Palafor, Obras, xiii. 57-60, followed by Touron, //ist. Gen.
Amérique, vii. 326-7, places the amount at 400,000 pesos; but the former’s
statement probably ori[fiunted in the desire of cxtolling the glory of his

tron. Gonzalez D4vila, Vetancurt, and Calle give the statements adopted
in the text. Teatro Ecles., i. 99; Trat. Mezx., 52; Mem. y Not., 66. Garcfa
says that altogether 333,133 pesos 1 real 11 granos were spent. Soc. Mez.
Geoi]., Bol., viii. 175.

" A description of the cathedral, which contained many costly paintings
and sculptures, and is said then to have been equal, if not superior, to the finest
in Spain, is given by Rosende in Palafoz, Obras, xiii. 55-61; also in Vetan-
cvrt, Trat. Mex., 48-9.

# Petancvrt, Trat. Mex., 52. Gonzalez Davila says 60,000 from 1640 to
1645. Teatro Ecles., i. 99.

# The bishop also established a nunnery, aided in the repairing of more

than 50 churches and hospitals, and in the construction of convents.
° Hrer. MEx., VoL. III. 8
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Spain, Garcia Sarmiento de Sotomayor, conde de
Salvatierra and marqués de Sabroso,® arrived at Vera
Cruz, and in the following month took charge of the
government.” During his administration an expedi-
tion was despatched to the coast of Lower California,
in charge of Pedro Porter y Casanate. Troops were
enlisted, and a large number of persons made ready to
embark on board the fleet; for it was said that the
pearl fisheries of that region were second only to those
discovered by Vasco Nuiiez de Balboa. When all was
in readiness the vessels were destroyed by fire. A
second expedition was fitted out and set sail a few
years later, but resulted in failure. In 1648 Casanate
returned to report to the viceroy that he had failed
even to discover any spot suitable for a settlement.
During this year Salvatierra was appointed to the
viceroyalty of Peru.® His conduct meets with the
approval of the chroniclers of his period, although
the condition of affairs during his régime was far from
prosperous.”® Spain was engaged In external wars
and the suppression of internal revolts; the attention
of her sovereign was concentrated almost exclusively
on European affairs, and though cédula followed cédula
in quick succession they contained little save demands
for money. Throughout the provinces commerce and

59Some authors say Sobroso; Zamacois styles him marqués de Sonora.
Hist. M¢j., v. 334.

81 Vetancurt, 7'rat. Mez., 14, and Cavo, T'res Siglox, ii. 16, say it was on
the 23d of November. Lorenzana, /fist. N. Esp., 23, and Guijo, Diurio, in
Doc. Hist. Mex., série i. 6, respectively place it on the 13th and 15th.

53Cogolludo, Hist. Yuc., 701-2, says Salvatierra was somewhat reluctant
to deliver up the government ; but this is not probable, as the viceroyalty of
Peru was generally held in higher esteem than that of New Spain. On the
12th of June, 1648, his residencia was begun, and though later discontinued
by order of the king, was resumed in July 1652. Guijo, Diario, in Doc. Hist.
Mex., 1st series, i. 10, 15, 223. In June 1660 ncws arrived at Mexico that
Salvatierra, after serving his term as viceroy of Peru, became temporarily in-
sane, and died shortly after his recovery. Quijo, in Id., 443. Vetancurt says
he died at Cartagena when on his way to Spain.

53 The only serious charge bronght against him was that he caused the
Indians to serve as slaves to the friars and to pay their tribute in kind. The
king disapproved of the measure, and in 1644 forbade it. Indians were to be
exempted from all imposts, and from servitude, unless they were paid and
volunteered to do the work. Strict compliance with previous cédulas bear-
ing on the subject was enjoined. Maltratamiento de Indios, MS., no. 5, 1-2

.
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industries languished, and a crowd of quarrelsome
ecclesiastics and indolent officials gathered in the
wealth of the community. Flood and earthquake
were among the causes that made the term of Salva-
tierra’s administration memorable as one fraught with
disaster to the people of Mexico.*

5 A town named after the viceroy was founded in Guanajuato, and in the
followingrznr declared & city. Quintana, in Soc. Mex. Geoy., Bol., 2da ép.
i. §79. e ground, an immense tract of land, had been given by a certain
Alderete under condition that a yearly rent of 2,000 be paid to him and
his descendants in honor of thedonation. Romero, Not. Mich.,223-5. Salva-
tierra was a man of simple manners, and much averse to the burdensome
etiquette connected withgﬁn position. He frequently gave cause of offence
to the oidores by his unceremonious conduct, and sometimes incurred severe
rebukes from the crown.
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During the rule of Viceroy Salvatierra there oc-
curred a bitter dispute between the regular and secu-
lar clergy, and one which though carried on only in
Mexico and Puebla agitated almost all New Spain,
absorbed the attention of the governments at Mexico
and Madrid, and became a frequent subject for dis-
cussion and consultation to the holy see itself. On
one side was the able, energetic, and strong-minded
bishop of Puebla, Juan de Palafox y Mendoza, tem-
porary viceroy, archbishop elect of Mexico, and visi-
tador general of Noew Spain. His adversaries were
the Jesuits, who v-ere not second to him in ability,
whose ranks were thoroughly organized, who had
the command of wealth wherewith to secure friends,
and whose influence over the people was fully equal
to that of the prelate. The early labors of Palafox
have already been rclated; and in order that the
means at the disposal of his antagonists may be bet-
ter understood, 1 shall give a brief sketch of the field

(116)
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worked by the Jesuits since the beginning of the
seventeenth century.

The operations of the society extended not only to
the capital and its neighborhood, but to northern
regions. They partly held possession of Durango,
Sonora, and Sinaloa, and from those points extem?ed
their missions into the unknown territory of California.
Occasionally efforts were made in some districts by
other orders, and by the secular clergy, to deprive
them of their predominating influence; but by ably
conducted intrigues, or even open resistance against
episcopal orders which they regarded as encroaching
upon their privileges, they contrived to maintain their
claims. Wl;th equal success they always regained the
ground temporarily lost by revolts of the natives, and
at the close of the seventeenth century were steadily
extending their dominion toward the north.!

At the same time, while their efforts were chiefly
in that direction, they lost no opportunity to establish
houses and colleges in other provinces, well aware that
if the education of the young could be brought under
their control their influence would be greatly extended.
Thus arose their establishment at Zacatecas, and later
the one at Guadalajara,® both of which became among
the most prominent in the country. In the adjoining
province of San Luis Potosi, there had been but two
fathers during the early part of the century; never-
theless their work was so successful that in 1623 a
college was founded,® and notwithstanding some tem-
porary opposition it prospered. A marked triumph
was moreover secured by the order in Guanajuato,
when the city, in 1616, chose San Ignacio de Loyola

1For a detailed account of the Jesuit labors in the unknown region, I refer
the reader to Hist. North Mex. States, i., im, this series.

2 Both were erected with money mainly derived from donatious; that of
Zacatecas was begun in 1616; the other of Guadalajara was commenced in
1659, but the foundation did not take place till about 40 years later. Alegre,
Hist. Comp. Jesus, ii. 81-2, 416; iii. 64-9, 91-2; Jalisco, Notas, 16-17, 171.

3Sinaloa, Mem. Hist.,, MS., 983-91. Voluntary gifts of considerable
amount were at first offered; later the inhabitants made a donation of a her-

mitage which had been founded under the name of Santa Veracruz, or San
Sebastian. Alegre, ii. 141-2, 162-3.



118 JESUIT LABORS AND STRIFES.

as its patron saint. At about the same time pre-
liminary steps were taken for the establishment of a
college in Querétaro, but it was not founded till some
years later.*

On a more extensive scale were the Jesuit labors
in Michoacan. In their colleges at Patzcuaro and
Valladolid new converts were educated and made
familiar with the native tongues of that region. Thus
practically all the religious work of the bishopric was
in the hands of the society. This success was due as
well to their zeal as to the veneration in which some
of the fathers were lheld, among them Francisco
Ramirez and Juan Ferro.*

While thus the society was gaining ground in the
central and northern regions, it was less successful in
the south-east. In Oajaca the missions of the Jesuits
were in a poor condition,’® and in Yucatan where a
college had been founded under the most promising
auspices,’ they could never attain the same influence
as elsewhere.

This failure, however, was more than compensated
for in Mexico and its neighborhood, where their estab-
lishments were more flourishing than ever before;
and costly structures, the number of which was con-
stantly increasing, gave evidence of their wide-spread
influence. In 1603 was consecrated the church of
the Colegio Mdximo in Mexico,® at that time not sur-
gaseed in magnificence by any church edifice in New

pain. The highest dignitaries often officiated there;
among others Archbishop Garcia Guerra, who held

4 Pedro de Egurrola is mentioned as the first rector. A4legre, Hist. Comp.
Jesus, ii. 205. The same author gives many, though uninteresting, details
connected with the foundation. . .

5 The former labored for 60 years among the Tarascos, and at the colleges
of Patzcuaro and VaHadolid. Ferro was famous as an excellent linguist,
b&vsil’i%lconfesqeq persons in five or six different lan, X .

¢ Dominicans, who predominated in this province, though otherwise
stanch friends of the Jesuits, labored energetically to maintain their own
superiority.

“On May 19, 1618. Later the privileges of a university were also granted.
Cogolludo, Hist. Yuc., 215-16, 449.

*‘El mas suntuoso que habia enténces en México.” Alegre, Hist. Comp.
Jesux, 1. 408.
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services during lent of 1608, the bishops of Oajaca
and Michoacan acting as his assistants. The crown
also favored the society at this time. Since 1582 the
college of San Pedro y San Pablo, established orig-
inally by the first provincial, had suffered many
vicissitudes, and when abandouned by the Jesuits in
consequence of the pretentious behavior of its patrons,
fell into decay. By a cédula of May 29, 1612, the
management was again placed in the hands of the
order, and the Jesuits took formal possession in Jan-
uary 1618, after which it was incorporated with the
college of San Ildefonso, although under the royal
patrona%e.’

Another establishment of similar character and
under the same name was founded some years later
in Puebla, when Ildefonso de la Mota, bishop of that
see, transferred to the society a church anc{) several
houses for the foundation of a college,® with chairs
for theology and philosophy. Viceroy Cerralvo later
endowed it with the privilege of bestowing university
degrees."

Since 1618 the Jesuits had also been presented with
the curacy of Tepotzotlan, where they had a house for
novices, and labored gratuitously as the natives could
not maintain a regular parish priest.” Occasionally
disputes arose, apparently originated by claims for
greater independence from episcopal jurisdiction; but
favorable reports of the ruling viceroys caused the
society to remain in undisturbed possession for many
years.

Stimulated by the success of their labors, as well

® Florencia, Hist. Prov. Jesus, 174-80; Recop. Ind.,i. 212. At the same
time the statutes for its government were issued. Alegre, ii. 96-103.

10 For some unknown reason the bishop abandoned his original project to
establish a hospital for natives. Alegre, //ist. Comp.-Jesus, ii. 155-7.

11 The bishop died before the chairs were established ; and then the church
of Puebla claimed that the donation was null on the ground that it had been
made by the deceased after receiving the last sacraments, and therefore un-
lawfully, a statement which is refuted by Alegre. Hist. Comp. Jesus, ii. 155—
8,1934. Later a compromise settled the dispute.

13 Ribas, Hist. Triumphos, 731-2, says it was the only curacy that the
society held.
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among Spaniards as natives, the Jesuits continued
to amass wealth, though under the guise of poverty;
and well aware of the sympathy bestowed on them
by rich and poor, they were not afraid of adversaries.
This appeared when, in 1639, troubles began be-
tween the Jesuits and the chapter of the cathedral of
Puebla about a donation made to the society by the
prebendary, Hernando de la Serna.” The dispute arose
concerning a farm valued at sixty thousand pesos, and
intended for the establishment of a Jesuit college at
Vera Cruz. Notwithstanding an order of the eccle-
siastical cabildo, forbidding Serna to make the con-
veyance, except to a party subject to the payment of
tithes, the transfer was made to the society. The
vicar-general of the diocese in consequence attached
the remainder of Serna’s property,* to guarantee the
payment of the tithes, and demanded that the dona-
tion be annulled under threat of severe ecclesiastical
censure. Serna protested against the legality of such
proceeding and of course received support from the
Jesuits, who also disputed the authority of the vicar-
general . ®®

Such was the state of affairs when Palafox arrived
in New Spain. As he had always been a friend of
the society, and had given repeated proofs of such
friendship, an immediate and favorable decision was
expected. At first his rule was promising for the
Jesuits; the embargo on the prebendary’s property
and income was modified so as to comprise only the
amount of the tithes involved, and a free disposal
allowed of the remainder. The bishop refused a more

13 Bustamante, in Cavo, T'res Siglos, ii. 20, followed by Rivera, Gobernantes,
i. 144, calls him Hermeneéildo de la Serna. Alegre says Fernando and Her-
nando; Palafox, in his different works, gives Hernando.

14 As an additional reason it was said that two sisters of the donor owned
a certain part of the farm, and being nuns of the convent de la Concepcion,
under the jurisdiction of the see of Puebla, their shares could not be alienated
without episcopal consent. Palafor, Carta del Ven., 119-21. Alegre, Hist.
Comp. Jesus, ii. 223-4, asserts that the donation was made by Serna and his
motﬁcr, and the dee:l signed Feb. 22, 1639. ’

15 Alegre, 226, carefully avoids mentioning why the cathedral demanded
the revocation of the gift.
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pronounced use of his authority, convinced that the
request of the cabildo was founded on justice. He
therefore advised the Jesuits either quietly to await
the result of the law-suit then pending concerning
the property, or to compromise, recommending the
Jatter course. But this counsel was not accepted.
To compromise now, would seem to render their pre-
tensions unfounded. Applications were once more
made to the bishop, usually couched in respectful
phrase, but occasionally imperative in tone. No fa-
vorable answer was received, and thus gradually a
colder feeling was created between the prelate and
the society.

Thus matters continued till 1643, when a council
of the Jesuit order,” where Andres "Perez de Ribas
and Juan de Sangiiesa were elected as proctors,
prompted the bishop to issue a document in defense
of his church. This was despatched to Spain by the
same fleet in which the proctors took their departure.
The emissaries of the society obtained nothing in
Spain, and, when this became known in Mexico, the
provincial, "Francisco Calderon, published a pamphlet
against the bishop’s policy. af;fox had meanwhile
been exposed to many annoyances on the part of his
former friends. Sermons were preached against him
by the Jesuit priests, especially by Father Juan de
San Miguel. During his illness in the beginning of
1647, when a great festivity was held in one of their
churches, he was treated with open discourtesy, and
much ill-feeling was manifested when the society lost
another law-suit about an inheritance,’ as they sup-
posed through the bishop’s influence. All this con-

18 <Que era me]or componer este pleito. ..y con soltar los diez, lograban
los padres los ciento.’ Palgfox, Carta del Ven 120. The want of the ro yal
license for the projected foundation was another reason why Palafox refused
to decide against the cathedral.

17 The usual time was November, but in order that proctors might be sent
to S‘Pun it was convoked in Febmary

They attem to appropriate one half of a legacy of 50,000 pesos, the
administration of which had been intrusted to the society as executors of the
will. Palafox, Carta del Ven., 123.
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tributed to bring about a rupture, which was to be
felt throughout New Spain.”

Palafox retaliated, prohibiting Father Juan de San
Miguel from preaching, and complaining to the general
of the order. The main issue was taken, however, on
ash-Wednesday, the 6th of March, 1647, when his
provisor and vicar-general, Juan de Merlo, suspended
the licenses of the Jesuit fathers to preach and to
confess, until recognized and ratified by the bishop.
A term of twenty-four hours was granted to obtain
the confirmation. The members of the order were no
less provoked than surprised at this edict, and re-
garded it as an inroad on their privileges. True they
had not the exequatur of the India Council,® but they
were, or at least thought themselves, protected by
their office from the wrath of the prelate, who, more-
over, as visitador and viceroy had rendered them all
possible assistance. The pending dispute about the
payment of tithes became now a second matter;
the great question was whether they should comply
with the edict of the vicar-general. Two priests were
sent to the bishop to inform him of the society’s ex-
emption from procuring or exhibiting licenses and

rivileges; but this measure made no impression on

alafox, who as a former member of the India Council,
and one well acquainted with the entire system of
colonial legislation, enjoined the Jesuits either to prove
their rights by presentation of the alleged documents,
or obtain the necessary licenses after previous exam-
ination as to their ability.? Having thus failed, they
strove to gain time, claiming that they were subject

% Temporarily a reconciliation had been effected through the intercession
of the Jesuit visitador Juan de Bueras, but after his death the bishop was
again persecuted. In C'arta del Ven., 138-4l, Palafox makes the hardly
credible assertions that toward the end of 1646 the Jesuits attempted to ob-
tain from the viceroy his banishment from New Spain, and, failing in that,
even suggested murder!

20 GQuch is the assertion of Palafox, which finds a tacit confirmation in the
reticence of Alegre about so necessary a formality.

21 The bishop was doubtless right, but it seems as if the laws on the sub-
ject had not been rigidly enforced of late. Palafox, Obras, xii. 17, 56, main-
tains that in three years only one Jesuit priest had app.ied for a license.
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to the provincial in Mexico, to whom, -they said, the
affair had been submitted. A request to obtain in
the interim permission to preach and to confess was
denied. Notwithstanding areiterated injunction, how-
ever, on the 8th of March Father Luis Legaspi de-
livered a sermon, which had been announced for
several days. The bishop, now thoroughly roused,
ordered a decree to be published, imposing the greater
excommunication and ecclesiastical censures on the
Jesuits, who were described as transgressors of the
tridentine council. At the same time the inhabitants
were warned against attending their sacrilegious min-
istrations.”

The Jesuits obeyed the episcopal orders, and during
the remainder of lent neither confessed nor preached;
but meanwhile they made active preparations in Mex-
ico, to vindicate their cause. Ata meeting convoked
for that purpose by the provincial, Pedro de Velasco,
the appointment of jueces conservadores® was resolved
upon. The difficulty in finding persons willing to ac-
cept such an office, which necessarily would arouse
the wrath of the visitador and bishop, was solved by
the eagerness of the Dominicans, who somewhat reck-
lessly offered their services.* Two prominent mem-
bers of their order, Juan de Paredes and Agustin
Godines, were elected ;*® a memorial in defense of such
policy was published, and, if we may credit the Jesuit
chroniclers, was received with general approbation by
the most influential religious orders.® The bishop

3 An order that the decree be fixed on the church doors was not carried
out, perhaps from fear of scandal, the people being already wildly agitated,
Alegre, ii. 283; but printed copies were distributed all over the country.
The full text of the decree is given in Palafor, Obras, xii. 20-47.

8 This name was given to judges appointed to defend the rights and privi-
leges of a convent, church, or religious corporation against any violent acts
from without.

% <Desde luego ofrecian hasta los cdlices de su iglesia. . . para el socorro y

de la defensa.’ Alegre, ii. 286.

1 Bribed by a gift of 4,000 pesos, says Palafox.

%30 says Alegre, followed by a number of writers; he also gives extracts
of the test.imong obtained in favor of his society. Hist. Comp. Jesus, ii.
289-91. Guijo, however, a contemporary and probably more impartial author,

smys that opinions were divided as to whether the appointment was a pru
dent step. Diario, in Doc. Hist. Mez., 1st ser., i. 11.
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protested through his attorneys, the fiscal Pedro
Melian and the maestre de campo Antonio de Ver-
gara y Urrutia, but was overruled by the viceroy
Salvatierra, who, advised by his asesor, excluded the
audiencia from jurisdiction in the matter,” and declared
the appointment to be valid. The archbishop of Mex-
ico, Mailosca, having given a similar decision, the
Jesuit provincial boldly demanded the nullification
of the bishop’s decree, and that the fathers at Puebla
be restored to their former ministries.

This request was but too easily granted by the
judges, who on April 2, 1647, pronounced a decision
:ommanding the bishop to revoke within six days the
penalties imposed, grant provisional absolution to the
persons concerned, reinstall the fathers in the offices
of which they had been deprived, and revoke what-
ever had been printed during the controversy. The
bishop and his vicar-general were to become liable to
the greater excommunication and to heavy fines in
case of non-compliance, and to more severe penalties,
as general interdict, for continued disobedience.®
- Through the influence of the comisario general of the
Franciscans, Palafox obtained a temporary delay from
the viceroy, but Jesuit intrigues were brought to bear
on the latter and his asesor, and the order remained
in force.

About the same time a libel was published, defend-
ing the policy of the society. The state of affairs
now became exciting. The bishop and his provisor
excommunicated several teachers in the Jesuit college.
In return the judges imposed upon them the same pen-
alty for their disobedience. The inhabitants of Puebla
were in a serious dilemma, as on the one hand they

¥10n the ground that the oidores were subject to the bishop as visitador.
This was true, but the law provided for such cases, and the viceroy could
never concentrate in his own person the entire jurisdiction. Salvatierra was
in fact reprimanded by the king for his illegal conduct.

*8Guijo adds that the bishop’s property at Puebla was sequestered by the
alcalde mayor, Agustin de Valgés. and that he was suspended as visitador.
The text of the sentence is given in Alegre, Iist. Comp. Jesus, ii. 203-7, and
in Palafox, Obras, xii. 113-16.
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were unwilling to forsake their beloved bishop, while
on the other they saw arrayed against him not only
the Jesuits, whom they equally esteemed, but also
the viceroy, the archbishop, and the religious orders.
Each party forbade, under severe penalties, that the
decrees of the other should be read or published. An
essential matter had, however, not yet been disposed
of—the notification of the sentence to the bishop
and his vicar-general. The curate of the church
of Mexico, Cristébal Gutierrez de Medina, together
with Miguel Ibarra, being commissioned to proceed
to Puebla, for this purpose repaired to the Au-

stinian convent amf there published the - verdict.

imultaneously by order of the inquisition several

persons were arrested and sent to Mexico with a
view .to maintain peace. _

Aware of his great influence among the people,
Palafox now proceeded to extreme measures. A trib-
une draped in black was erected in the cathedral; the
bells were tolled during a whole night; and the next
worning, accompanied by the greater part of the chap-
ter, the bishop pronounced, according to the solemn
ritual of the church, an anathema against the judges,
the proctor, and several of the teachers of the society.
At the same time Palafox himself delivered a stirring
discourse on the lamentable fate of the excommuni-
cated. The excitement became intense; and had it
not been for some of the more prudent, who kept
watch, the Jesuit colleges would have been burned
that night by fanatics assembled in the streets of
Puebla.

In order to secure the approval of the pope, on the
25th of May, 1647, Palafox wrote a long report to
Innocent X., in which he complains bitterly of his
offended dignity, and tells his sufferings of late sus-
tained at the hands of the Jesuits, who not only strove
to make themselves masters of the entire wealth of
New Spain, but to undermine the authority of the
church. He also defends his own policy and requests
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that effectual measures be taken to solve existing diffi-
culties.”

As soon as the tumult in Puebla became known
in Mexico it was resolved that the judges themselves
should proceed thither. The bishop remonstrated,
hinting at serious disturbances which might arise, and
showed a desire for a reconcilation; whereupon a
lengthy correspondence ensued, the fiscal, Viceroy Sal-
vatierra, and the municipal authorities of Puebla open-
ing negotiations with the prelate for a settlement of
the dispute.® The preliminaries were arranged; a
meeting was convoked by the viceroy for the 15th of
June, and all were hopeful that at length matters
would be adjusted,when an untowardincident occurred.
The bishop suddenly disappeared from Puebla, and
none knew of his whereabouts. Whatever may. have
been the reason which prompted his flight, distrust in
the sincerity of the proposed reconciliation seems to
have been the principal motive.® It was afterward
known that he had retired to Tepeaca, nine leagues
distant, leaving the affairs of the church in charge of
Alonso de Salazar Varaona, Nicol4s Gomez, and Juan
de Merlo, and advising them not to yield to the pre-
tensions of the Jesuits and their allies.®

The rule of the bishop’s delegates was very brief.
As soon as the flight of Palafox became:known in

®The full text of the report is given in Palafoz, Carta, 1-38, and Id.,
Obras, xi. 27-60.

30 In the beginning of May, the fiscal of the inquisition had presented a pe-
tition to the archbishop for that purpose, but was discourteously received and
ordered from his presence when he repeated his request. Gusjo, Diario, in
Doc. Hist. Mex., 1st ser. 1. 12-13.

31 Guijo asserts that the partial administration of justice,and the want of
& competent tribunal in New Spain to which to appeal, induced the bishop
to flee. In a letter to the pope of Jan. 8, 1649, he says that his flight was
caused by menaces to imprison, exile, and even to kill him, and that he
also wished to evade the bloodshed which otherwise had become inevitable,
a8 his friends at Puebla would have made armed resistance. This assertion,
as well as a similar one in the report to the king, is certainly exaggerated.
Palafor, Obras, xi. 68-71, xii. 204-18.

# The formal appointments were made in a letter from Te and oon-
firmed together with instructions by several others from the same place,
written during his residence therc. Puafor, Obrmu, xii. 218-22; Satigfacion
al Meaoiial, 7000,
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Mexico, Captain Diego Obregon was despatched to
JPuebla to maintain order, accompanied by the jueces
conservadores, and soon after the Jesuit provincial,
Pedro de Velasco, arrived. They were received with
ringing of bells and demonstrations of joy on the part
of the people, who were somewhat disgusted with the
conduct of Palafox. The Jesuits had now the victory,
and knew how to use it. Only two of the appointed
provisors were there, and it was not very diflicult to
oblige them to resign, and to appease the faint pro-
tests of the other members of the chapter.®
The see of Puebla was declared vacant and its con-
trol assumed by the cabildo, the members of which
submitted, or at least a majority of them, to the
judges. The decrees of excommunication published
'{)y the bishop were removed,* and the Jesuits again
laced in possession of their former functions, the
¥arce of an examination of their licenses having previ-
ously taken place.* All the former prohibitions and
excommunications pronounced by Palafox were re-
voked and the inhaﬁitants of Puebla admonished to
visit the churches of the Jesuits. Having thus com-
plied with their mission and, as they regarded it,
restored peace in the turbulent diocese, the judges re-
turned to Mexico. :
Soon after these incidents news arrived that Salva-
tierra had been promoted to the viceroyalty of Peru
and would be succeeded in New Spain {;y the bishop
of Yucatan, Mdrcos de Torres y Rueda. Supposing
that the new viceroy would favor his cause, Palafox
left his place of retirement, and in November 1647
returned to Puebla, where he found a cédula remov-

® Alegre attempts to prove that no forcible means were used to that effect.
Hist. Comp. Jesus, 1i. 312.

% The dean of the cathedral, Juan de Vega, removed with his own hand
from the church doors the censures issued by i’&al&fox, which he himself had
mmwved. Vega and another prebendary had been most diligent in_dechrinﬁ

see as vacant, owing to a bribe received from the Jesuits, as was prove:
in later years. G!:Zo. Diario, in Doc. Hist. Mezx., 1st ser. i. 91.

8 An edict of the c| dated July 19th declared the bullsand privileges
of the society to be sufficient to prove their rights and that they were in ac-
cordance with the instructions of the tridentine council. Alegre, ii. 311-17.
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ing him from his office as visitador general;* but after
some difficulties, originated by the Jesuits, he was
again recognized as prelate of his diocese.¥ His first
measure was to renew his protests against the pro-
ceedings of the judges and to request of the viceroy
a reconciliation, or at least a temporary revocation of
the censures and edicts, leaving the decision of the
entire matter to the India Council. The proposal was
accepted and peace seemed to be restored, the more
so, when at Christmas the Jesuits paid the bishop
the customary visit of respect, “ humbly to kiss that
hand of which the Lord had chosen to make use to
deal them such afflicting, sensible blows.” The color
of affairs, however, was changed, when in May 1648
bishop Torres y Rueda took possession of the govern-
ment, and cédulas were received which the bishop
interpreted as favorable to his cause. Already, before
his flight from Puebla, he had sent messengers to
Rome and Madrid, there to plead in his behalf, 'and a
subsequent letter, written during his retirement,®
again urged the king for redress. In reply there
arrived letters from the court dated January 25, 1648,
reprimanding the viceroy,® the audiencia, and the
archbishop for lack of neutrality, and the Dominicans
for promoting scandal instead of suppressing it; the
judges were suspended; the provincial of the Jesuits
was reproved for having gone too far; and orders were

3 Pedro de Galvez, alcalde of Granada, was appointed to finish the visita.
He arrived in 1650, and having concluded his mission, returned to Spain in
the beginning of 1634. Guijo, Diario, in Doc. Hist. Mez., 1st ser. i. 107-276,

ssim.
P He found on this occasion the support of the viceroy, who apparently
desired a reconciliation. Rivera, Gobernantes, i. 149, says erroneously that
this occurred in the beginning of August, 1647.

38 Dated September 12, 1647, from Chiapa, near Tepeaca, and containing a
narrative of all the events that had occurred since March of that year.
ferring to the numerous copies of documents and libels, issued by both -
ties, the bishop defends his conduct and divides the blame and responsibKi.t.:ry
between the Jesuits, as instizators, and the viceroy as coiperator. Pro-
testing his conciliatory disposition, he requests the king to adopt measures
powerful enough to avoid in future similar excesses, especially those com-
mitted by the representative of the crown. Palafor, Obras, xii. 176-285.

% Rivera, Gobernantes, i. 150, makes the strange assertion that Salvatierra
was removed to the viceroyalty of Peru in consequence of his interference.
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given to transfer all documents bearing on the subject
to the council of the Indies for final decision.® Pala-
fox did not escape censure, and was enjoined to pursue
a more conciliatory policy; but the reproof was un-
heeded by the bishop, who displayed anything but a
forgiving spirit, especially in the prosecutions insti-
tuted against those prebendaries of his church who
had been rather eager to recognize the jueces conser-
vadores and declare his see vacant. His vicar-general,
Juan de Merlo, conducted the trial and sentenced the
accused to removal from office and heavy fines. They,
however, escaped the execution of the sentence by
taking refuge in the Jesuit college of Mexico, where,
although excommunicated, they said mass and other-
wise officiated as priests, appealing to the audiencia
and later to the archbishop.

Under the new viceroy there was a decided ten-
dency to side with the bishop; and availing himself of
this circumstance he instituted proceedings against the
alcalde mayor of Puebla, who during the disturbance
had sequestrated his property. He also connived at
petty annoyances of the Jesuits, who in September
1648 presented several complaints to the bishop-gov-
ernor. Fortune a%ain seemed to favor them, for at
this juncture a royal cédula arrived, directing Palafox
to return iinmediately to Spain, the order being made
more stringent by an autograph postscript of the king.*
Great but short-lived were the rejoicings of the order
at the supposed downfall of the bishop, for they were
soon to hear of the decision given against them by

#The text of several of the cédulas is given in Ordenes de la Cordna, MS.,
i. 7, ii. 200; Palafox, Obras, xii. 286-8 ; Alegre, Ilist. Comp. Jesus, ii. 331-3;
Satisfacion al Memorial, 38-9, 49; see also Guijo, Diario, 6, 16. 1In 1654 the
appointment of jueces conservadores against bishops and archbishops was
strictly forbidden. Montemayor, Svmarios, 39.

a 'Fhe grounds of complaint are minutely given in Alegre, Hist. Comp.
Jesus, ii. 335-8, and relate chiefly to supfosed calumnies and petty vexations
to which they claim to have been exposed.

$3The order is given in brief and peremptory terms, but faintly covered
by the Polite phrases interwoven with the text, and these are more than neu-

ized by the addition in the king’s own handwriting. Still the biographer
of Palafox extols the latter as a rare and noteworthy mark of esteem. The

full text is given in Palafox, Obras, xii. 463—4; Satisfacion al Memorial, 30-1.
Hise. Mxx ., Vor. III. 9
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Pope Innocent X. A brief of the 14th of May 1648
contains the resolutions adopted by a congregation
of cardinals and prelates, to whom the investigation of
the complaints made by Palafox had been transferred
by the holy see. The society was placed under the
jurisdiction of the bishop in all the disputed points, al-
though at the same time lenient measures were recom-
mended to Palafox;*® general absolution was granted
him; and all rights and privileges conflicting with this
decision declared null and void.

With proud satisfaction the prelate sent a copy of
the brief to the Jesuit fathers of the colleges at
Puebla, and however great their reluctance might be,
they could not openly disregard the pontifical orders.
After deliberating about the matter, they expressed
their willingness to obey, and on October 23d exhibited
their licenses, which were not only ratified by Palafox
but supplemented with new ones. A short time after-
ward an episcopal decree revoked all the previous
censures and restrictions. 'While the Jesuits submit-
ted they protested, however, against the pope’s brief
in so far as it had arrived without the exequatur of
the India Council, and so well they knew how to
avail themselves of their influence that although this
necessary requisite was later formally issued, years
elapsed before it could be ordered by the audiencia
that the papal brief should take cffect.# On the ad-
vantage thus obtained all their subsequent opposition
was founded,* for they had always sufficient friends,

#They could not preach or confess in their own churches without notify-
ing the bishop, or in any other without his consent; and were forbidden to
appoint jueces conservadores, or to excommunicate the bishop or his vicar-
general.  For full text of the brief, see Palafoxr, Obras, xii. 289-308. Alegre
asserts that this decision was obtained because the messenger of Palafox ap-

d in Rome unexpectedly, and the proctors of the society, almost ignorant
of the whole affair, had no documents to prepare a comprehensive defense,
1ist. Comp. Jesus, ii. 340-1. The same author in /d., 342-9, explains several
of the decisions with the sophistry characteristic of his order.

“The execution of the papal bricf had heen ordered by royal cédnlas of
Dec. 12, 1648, and March 18, 1651. Palafor, Obras, xii. 318-19. .

#Difficultics created by the bishop about licenses for younger Jesuit
fathers, and the peremptory demand for the execution of the papal brief, were
the main reasons whicg revived the dispute.
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both at Madrid and in Mexico, to procure a delay.
Their efforts to secure in Mexico the codperation of
other religious orders, to sup{)ort their continuous

titions, were only successful to a limited degree.

he provincial of the order of Mercy, who had con-
sented to sign them, was strongly rebuked by the
vicar-general in Spain, and forbidden again to accede
to similar requests.®

Meanwhile there had been a bitter controversy be-
tween the bishop and the Jesuit provincial, Andrés de
Rada, about the formal execution of the papal brief,
and this was terminated only by the departure of Pa-
lafox for Spain* in May 1649. After that event the
dispute which for ten years had excited general inter-
est both in Spain and the Indies approached its end;
for althoixgh it was continued by the vicar-general,
Juan de Merlo, whom Palafox had left in charge of
his diocese, it never again assumed such serious pro-

rtions as before. The trial of the prebendaries was
continued, and the demands for the execution of the
papal brief were repeated, but the matter dragged
along without decisive result till 1650, when Viceroy
Alva de Liste ordered the restoration of the pre-
bendaries to their former offices.® In Rome the in-
vestigation of the dispute was continued till late in
1652, and resulted in the ratification of the former

“The friendship formerly existing between the Jesuits and the Dominicans
also ceased. Juan Paredes, one of the judges, was by the general of his or-
der deprived of all his titles and honors, removed from his position as provin-
cial, and subjected to other penalties. The other judge, Godines, died
suddenly at Vera Cruz some time before.

47 The letters are dated April 7 and 14, 1648, and May 4, 1649. All of
them reveal the great animosity between the bishop and the society, and
though full of pious ghra.ses, are high};ir acrimonious. They are given in
Papeles de Jesuitas, MS., no. 1, 1-17; Palafox, Obras, xii. 387-418; Id., Car-
tas, 10-64. The latter collection contains also letters of the bishop to high
church dignitaries in Spain, and memorials bearing on financial frauds
attributed to the society; together with the Sati+facion al Memorial and
other letters of Palafox it was for a number of years forbidden by the inquisi-
tion and placed on the expu:gntory index. I have consulted several of these
works ans obtained much valuable information therefrom.

#0One of them, Montesinos, had died in the mean time; but the dean,
Vega, was reinstated, an event which was solemnly celebrated by the Jesuits,

though ostensibly the festivities were in honor of the viceroy’s recent arrival,
Guijo, Diario, in Doc. Hist. Mez., 1st ser., i. 88-80, 124-5.
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decision given in 1648. On the 27th of May 1653 a
new brief was issued by Innocent confirming the pre-
ceding one, and enjoining perpetual silence upon both
parties. A royal cédula of June 30, 1653, ordered an
exequatur to be issued by the council of the Indies.
A semi-official letter of Cardinal Spada to Palafox,
dated December 17, 1652, while gently rebuking
the prelate, acknowledges him to be in the right on
the whole question; but the Jesuits would not accept
their defeat, and made extracts from the briefs and
cédulas apparently terminating the matter in their
favor, though the final triumph of the bishop is
beyond question.®

On his arrival in Spain Palafox had yet to realize
the implacable character of his enemies. Having
reached his native country after a tiresome voyage of
nine months, he expected in vain the honors which
had been promised him. The king had intended to
promote him to the see of Cuenca, one of the most
mmportant in Spain, but was dissuaded, owing to the
intrigues of the prime minister, prompted by the
Jesuits.”  Years elapsed, and it was not until 1653
that the bishopric of Osma, one of the least in impor-
tance, was offered him. He took possession the fol-
lowing year and labored with his usual zeal. Though
his straitened means were a great drawback to the
later years of his ministry,” he gained the love and
esteem of his flock, and universal grief was expressed
when his deceasé occurred on the 1st of October,

® The literal text of the last mentioned documents, together with com-
ments on their judicial value, is given in Palafox, Obras, xii. 481-563. The
interpretation given by the Jesuits was printed at Rome in 1653 under the
title Fin de la Cansa Angelopolitana, but placed on the expurgatory index of
1664 by Pope Alexander V1I. for having been artfully included in :{e Bulario
Romano of 1655.

% The Jesuits and the friends of the former viceroy Escalona were doubt-
less the chief instigators, and exerted all their influence to humiliate him if
possible. Rivera, Gobernantes, i. 194, surmises that the duke of Alburquerque,
in 1653 viceroy of Mexico, also intrigued against Palafox, but there was no
reason for him to do so.

31 The income of the bishopric was small, and Palafox had returned from
New Spain burdencd with a debt of 140,000 pesos. He was so r that he

bad to borrow the amount nccessary to pay the bulls for the bishopric of
Osma. Palafozx, Ubras, xiii. 140-7.
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1659.% His funeral took place with the ceremonies
becoming his rank; the corpse was buried in the
principal chapel, and an elaborate tombstone with a
eulogy of his character placed over his grave. Thus
ended in an insignificant town of Spain the career of
a man who had been vested with the highest civil and
ecclesiastical powers ever conferred by the sovereign
on any of his vassals in the New World. After his
death miracles were attributed to him, and these, in
addition to his eminent virtues, were made the grounds
of a request for his canonization. The demand was
supported by testimony from Spain and the Indies,
and favored by the king, the viceroy, and the ecclesi-
astical dignitaries. A congregation of cardinals hav-
ing in 1691 discussed the matter and examined his
writings® reported favorably, and the prescribed pro-
ceedings were instituted. Intrigues in Rome and
Madrid by the Jesuits and the descendants of the
duke of Escalona frustrated, however, all efforts
made at this period and at a later date.™

53The news reached Mexico in May of the following year, but apparently
created no impression. GQuijo, Diario, in Doc. Hist. Mez., série i., i. 442.

53 Palafox was a prolific and able author, his first literary attempts havin
been made in 1618. His writings are not only on spiritual, but onrl’xistoncaf
judicial, and other subjects, the greater part being written in New Spain.

e most important are the Vida Interior, Varon de Desseos, Estatvtos. . .de
la. . .Vniversidad de Mexico, and the different memorials bearing on his dis-

ute with the Jesuits, and his letters to Pope Innocent X. Sorne of his works
ve been lost; the first general edition, comprising nearly all that had been
written by him, and including the manuscripts which he had left to the bare-
footed Carmelites, was published between 1659 and 1671 in eight tomes, to
which another was added. containing his biography by Antonio Gonzalez
Rosende. Another edition was issued in 1762, by order and under the super-
vision of the Carmelite friars of Madrid, consisting of 13 volumes in 15 tomes
in folio. Besides these editions there have appeared, before and after that
time, several publications of single works, chiefly in Spanish, but also in
other languages.

%In 1726 and 1767 Ribera, Gobernantes, i. 151-2, says the beatification
was pronounced on August 16, 1767; but he has evidently misinterpreted
Lorenzana, in Concilios Prov., 15565-65. See also Papelex de Jesuitas, MS.,
no. 8, 8-25, 30. The fact that in the second half of the eighteenth century

ings for the beatification of Palafox were continued, explains the par-

tiality manifested by nearly all his biographersand by the leading chroniclers;
they were either friends or foes, and &:refore overrated his virtues or exag-
gerated his defects. The most unbiassed but unfortunately rather fragmen-
account is certainly that given by the contemporary Guijo in his Diario,

in . Hist. Mez., 1st ser., i. 6 et seq. The information furnished by him,
together with that contained in the memorials and letters of Palafox, and
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The question of tithes, which had occasioned the
unseemly dispute between the church dignitaries of
Pucbla and the society of Jesus, had been a source of
contention for years before. As early as 1624 com-
plaints were filed in the India Council against the
different orders, demanding the payment of tithes from
all the produce of plantations and increase of stock.
The claim was made by the royal fiscal and supported
by the secular church, based on the obligation of the
crown to provide, if necessary, the means for the per-
formance of divine service. On the other hand the
religious orders pleaded their statutes and fueros, the
validity of which was disputed on the ground of the
cession of the tithes to the crown.** The first judg-
ment was given in 1655 in favor of the fiscal; both

arties appealed, the fiscal demanding that the tithes
Ee collected at an earlier date than the one provided
in the judgment, and the orders, among whom the
Jesuits were most conspicuous, clamoring for a trans-
fer of the law-suit to the holy see.

On the 16th of June 1657 the judgment was ratified
by a new decision, ordering their payment after that
date to the king or the secular church. All the orders
submitted, except the Jesuits, who presented protests
to the sovereign, but without avail. On November
4, 1658, and December 31, 1662, orders were trans-

counterbalanced by the prejudiced statements of Alegre, gives doubtless the
best means to arrive at an impartial conclusion. Still the latter anthority, in
his //ist. Comp. Jesus, ii. 274-336, passim, has almost been implicitly followed
by Bustamante, in Cavo, T'res Siglos, ii. 20-33, Ribera, Gobernantes, i. 144-51,
and Sosa, Epixcop. Mex., 83-90. Lorenzana, in Concilios I’rov., 1555-65, 219,
251-69, as is natural, defends the policy of his predecessor, of whom he makes
a glowing panegyric. So does Touron, a Dominican friar, in his Hixt. Gén.
Amérique, vii. 316-86, viii. 1-100, passim. Vetancurt and Gonzalez Divila,
who lived at the time of the dispute, pass it by in silence, but otherwise

ise the saintly character of the bishop. Zamacois, in //ist. M¢y., v. 336-
47, 349-50, is unusually reticent in assigning the causes which led to the dis-
pute, and also abrupt in speaking of its conclusion.

3 Pope Alexander V1. by a bull of Nov. 16, 1501, made a donation of all
the tithes to the crown of Spain, in remuneration for the expenses connected
with the conquest of the American colonies. Diezmos de Ind., no. 4, 5-6. A
royal cédula of June 12, 1625, ordered that all bulls issued by the holy see
to evadc the payment of tithes, and sent to New Spain without the king's

rmission,gbe collected and forwarded to the India Council. Montemayor,
vmarios, 49.
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mitted that the judgment take effect, and the arch-
bishop and cathedral chapters invested with the
requisite authority. Nevertheless execution was de-
layed for years, owing to the difficulties which arose
as to the valuation of property, and several times new
orders, reaffirming previous cédulas, were issued in
Spain. In Puebla the Jesuits contrived to delay pay-
ment till 1673, when after fruitless appeals to the
audiencia, and after being placed under excommuni-
cation, they finally submitted. After that no other
difficulties arose tiﬁ 1732, when investigation showed
that frauds had been committed by the society in their
statements of the revenue derived from their property.*

Notwithstanding the many disputes in which the
society had become involved, the ranks of their parti-
sans continually increased, and new establishments
gave evidence of the sympathy which the order en-
Joyed. Licenses having been obtained in Spain for
the founding of a novitiate at Mexico in support of that
of Tepotzotim, donations of money were made for this
purpose in 1626, and in 1642 it was completed and
dedicated to Santa Ana. Subsequent discussions with
one of the founders caused its abandonment, till
1672, when Andrés de Tapia y Carbajal, a very
wealthy man and one friendly to the order, endowed
the establishment with sufficient means for the main-
tenance of twenty novices and the necessary fathers
and lay-brothers. On the 19th of November the
society took possession of it, changing the name to
that of San Andrés.

Several brotherhoods were also founded by the
order, that of the Immaculate Conception being the
most prominent, and including ecclesiastics, laymen,

® Details on this subject are contained in a number of memorials and -

shleh, forming a collection under the title Diezmos de Indias. Some of the

locuments are of Jesuit origin; others have been written by the secular church

and their partisans. Those numbered from one to five have been consulted
in this chapter; the rest bear exclusively on later disputes.
87 Lazcano, Fida del P. Oviedo, 56-7, says it was in 1676.
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and students of the higher grades. Reoo‘gmmd by
the general in Rome in 1651, the number of its mem-
bers increased rapidly, and a few years later persons
of the highest rank, including a viceroy of New Spain,
were eager to be admitted.®

Before the close of the seventeenth century the
society had still further spread its influence by hold-
ing missions throughout the provinces. Their at-
tempts were successful, and nowhere more so than in
Mexico, through which territory fathers Perez and
Zappa passed from town to town, and made number-
less converts, miracles being wrought, as the chron-
iclers report, to attest the saintly character of the
Jesuits.®

¥ Minute records as to its organization and are in Alegre,
E‘u‘ Comp. Jesus, ii. 259-62; Morfi, Col. Doc., .5 8PP, i. 47.

y descriptions of these revivals are given in Peres and Zappa,
Rel., 61-79.



CHAPTER VIL

VICEROYS TORRES, ALVA, AND ALBURQUERQUE.
1648-1660.

BisaoP TorRES GOVERNOR OF NEw SparN—Hi1s Brixr Rurz—ErmEMIO—
GOVERNMENT OF THE AUDIENCIA—VICEROY ALVA ARRIVES—HIs Quizr
RULE—ALBURQUERQUE APPOINTED VICEROY—HE GOVERNS WITH PRU-
DENCE—AND CHECES ABUSES—L088 OF JAMAICA AND THE INFLUENCE
THEREO¥Y ON NEW SPAIN—YUCATAN INFESTED BY PIRATES—ATTEMPT
TO ASSASSINATE ALBURQUERQUE—THE SwiFr PuNISHMENT THAT FoL-
LowED—PUBLIO REJOICINGS—VICEROY AND ARCHBISHOP RECALLED—
THEIR DEPARTORE AND SUBSEQUENT CAREER.

I had been the usual policy with the court of
Spain, to appoint the archbishop of Mexico as viceroy
ad interim, whenever a sudden vacancy occurred in
that office, but on the promotion of the conde de Salva-
tierra an exception was made, and, as we have seen,
the chief magistracy with the title of governor was
given to Mércos de Torres y Rueda, then bishop of
Yucatan.!

He arrived in November 1647, and remained in
Tacuba till February 1648, when, learning that a
vessel sent for Salvatierra from Peru had arrived at
Acapulco, he repaired to Mexico to receive the gov-

1] have before me a copy of the cédula, appointing him as governor, and
dated July 8, 1647. Ordenes de la Corona, MS., ii. 198-9. He was born in
A in Spain, and, when a student at Salamanca, won the degree of
licenciate in arts among 106 competitors. After holding several important
ecclesiastical offices, he was presented to the bishopric of Yucatan in 1644.
Gonzalez Ddvila, Teatro Ecles., i. 219. In November 1646 he took possession
of his see, the greater part of which he visited in person, attempting on that
occasion to introduce several innovations, which appear to have been for the
purpose of filling his own pockets. Cogolludo mentions his meanness to the
captain who brought him the news of his appointment to the viceroyalty
‘auduno tan corto con el Capitan, que di6 harto que dezir?’ Cogollvdo, Hist
Yuc., 701. o)

(1
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ernment; but on the following day a resolution of the
real acuerdo ordered his immediate return to Tacuba,
there to await the proper moment for his installation
into office.? This did not take place until May 13,
1648,® when the bishop-governor, with the usual reti-
nue, made his official entrance into Mexico, and ex-
hibited in the palace his credentials.

His rule was brief and uneventful. An epidemic is
said to have caused great devastation at Vera Cruz
in the latter half of the year 1648, but in view of the
scanty information on the subject, considerable al-
lowance must probably be made for exaggeration. On
his decease in April of the following year* the audien-
cia assumed the government; and the senior oidor,
Matfas de Peralta, acting as president, removed to
the viceregal palace. Before the exequies of the late
governor were concluded® his entire estate had been
sequestered, partly to guarantee the sum of twenty
thousand pesos, which he had received in advance of
salary, and also because suspicions had arisen that a
large part of his estate belonged to the crown, and
had been fraudulently appropriated by the secretary
and nephew of the deceased, Juan de Salazar. To
that end the surrender was ordered under severe pen-
alties, of all the property of the bishop, and that of
his relatives, to the senior oidor, who, together with
the fiscal, had assumed the functions of executor of

3Guijo, Diario, in Doc. Hist. Mex., 1st ser., i. 7-8, adds that returning to
Tacuba the bishop found that all the furniture of his residence, belonging to
Salvatierra, had been removed in the mean time.

3 Mayer, Mex. Aztec, i. 202, following the Liceo, Mezx., ii. 223, says er-
roneously March 13th.

¢ Torres was on bad terms with the audiencia, and in January 1649 had
some dispute with the municipal authorities, caused by his pretentious con-
duct. It is said that this brought on the sickuess which terminated fatally
on April 22d. Cogolludo remarks that Torres. not supposing his illness to be
of a serious nature, did not make such provisions for the administration of
affairs as his high position required. Hist. Yuc., 702. This does not ap
probable, judging from the deed executed by the governor on the 8th of
April, and appointing, in case of his demise, the audiencia to succeed him ad
interini. Vir. Instruc., MS., lst ser., no. 23, 1-2.

5 He was buried on the 25th of April in the church of the Augustinian con-
vent at Mexico; the bishop-elect of Habana, Nicolds de la Torre, officiated, as
the archbishoo was absent. Guijo, Diario, 53-62.
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the governor’s will. Steps were also taken to prevent
the shipment of such property by the fleet, then ready
to sail; and on the 15th of May 1649 orders were sent
to the governor of Yucatan to attach all the estate of
the late bishop in that province.

Although a considerable amount was delivered up
to the president, a repetition or the order was re-
solved upon, and to maie it more effectual was pub-
lished from the pulpits, ecclesiastical censures being
threatened against all who failed to surrender it or
even withheld information as to its concealment. It
seems, however, that the conduct of the audiencia
was guided more by personal hostility against Torres
and his kindred than by pretended loyalty; for Sala-
zar, having laid his case before the India Council, was
acquitted, and the audiencia reproved and ordered to
restore all the sequestered property.°®

For nearly fifteen uneventful months Peralta held
the reins of power in New Spain, until, in May 1650,
a new viceroy arrived in the person of Luis Enriquez
de Guzman, conde de Alva de Liste, and marqués de
Villaflor.”

His rule was a quiet one, interrupted only in 1651
by the revolt of the Indians in the northern regions,
where the Tarahumares, Conchos, and other tribes in
open revolt killed several Spaniards, among whom

¢ The decision reached Mexico in May 1650, and its ratification in 1657.
The audiencia was reprimanded for disrespect shown at the funeral of Torres,
and ordered to make restitution to all the servants and followers of the
bi.lhoa;‘G:'g'o, Diario, 107-8, 379-80.

T His other titles are: gentilhombre de la c4mara de su estad, seilor
de las villas de Garrovillas, Carvajales, Membibre, i Castro Calvon, i lu-
gares de su jurisdicion, alférez i alguacil mayor de la ciudad de Zamora,
alcaide perpetuo de las Torres i Fortaleza de ella, por el Rey N. Sefior,
alcaide mayor de sacas, y escribano mayor de rentas de la dicha ciudad.
Frailes Doctrineros, in Disturbios de Frgiles, MS., ii. 131. Vetancurt, T'rat.
Mez., 15, followed by Cavo, T'res Siglos, ii. 34, and others, writes Alvade-
liste; Zamacois, Hist. M¢j., v. 360, and Ribera, Gobernantes, i. 177, call him
de Aliste; Guijo, Diario, 121, says de Lista. Miravel y Casadevante, El
Gran Dice., i. 411, in his genealogical account of the count’s family, gives the
name as in the text, and is herein followed by Lorenzana, /Hist. N. Exp., 24,
and Alaman, Disert., iii. app. 31. The official entry of the new viceroy was
ms.t‘ll: July 3d. Lorenzana, Hist. N. Esp., 24, says erroneously it was on the
1
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were three friars, and burned the churches. The gov-
ernor of Durango was ordered to subjugate them, and
during the following year restored peace throughout
the disturbed districts.

The old dispute about the submission of the doc-
trineros to the episcopal authority was revived during
the term of viceroy Alva, but his prudent conduct
prevented it from assuming such significance as the
former one. Royal orders, tending to check the efforts
of the regular clergy to become more independent of
‘the jurisdiction of the crown, were also successfully
enforced® without encountering serious opposition.

Although the count appears to have made a moder-
ate use of his authority, he was jealous of his rights
as the representative of a powerful monarch, and did
not fail to guard them when occasion happened.
Among other instances may be mentioned a case
which occurred in June, 1651, when a dispute arose
about the place which the chapter of the cathedral and
the pages of the viceroy should occupy in the proces-
sion of corpus christi. The procession was forcibly
interrupted by order of the count, who in unison with
the audiencia issued several orders, which caused great
excitement among the people. The matter was settled
by the chapter yielding to the demand of the viceroy,
when the ceremony was allowed to proceed.®

Owing to the wars almost continuously carried on

8Several cédulas were issued to protect the royal jurisdiction. One of
September 18, 1650, ratified on the 6th of June, 1655, declared all briefs and
bufls of the holy see issued to the people of New Spain as null and void, if not
authorized by the council of the Indies, to which they were to be sent. To
the same scrutiny were subjected all those patents for religious orders which
introduced important innovations or referred to the founding of new convents.
Montemayor, Svmarios, 37-8; Ordenes de la Corona, MS., ii. 219-21.

® Guijo, Diario, 179-82; Robles, Vida, 127-9. The viceroy would probably
have encountered more opposition had there been an archbishop. E.l‘he last
one, Juan de Maiiosca y Zamora, had died on December 12, 1650, not in 1653
as Vetancurt, Trat. Mez., 23, has it. Guijo, Diario, 157-9, 167; Panes, Vir.,
MS., 100; Concilios Prov., 1555-65, 219. The see remained vacant for two
years until December 25, 1652, when Pedro de Barrientos took possession of
1t in the name of the new appointee, Marcelo Lopez de Ascona, who arrived
in July, 1653. He died after a few months, on November 10th of the same
year. Guijo, Diario, 227, 220-30, 248-70; Concilios Prov.,1555-65,220. Panes,

"ir., says erroncously 1654. MS., 101.
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in Europe by the Spanish crown, communication with
the mother country had become dangerous, and the
geril of raids on the coast of New Spain increased.
n order to guard against these inroads, the viceroy
stationed some soldiers at Vera Cruz, and provided
the fleets despatched to Spain with a force at least
strong enough to leave them no longer at the mercy
of the first pirate or man-of-war they might encoun-
ter. It was indeed necessary to take some precau-
tions that the treasure remittances should reach Spain
in safety. The money was greatly needed; for it was
only by means of the contributions of the colonies,
that the monarch was enabled to carry on the expen-
sive wars which were to sustain the glory of Castile.
The king was always hard pressed; ang confident of the
forbearance and patriotic zeal of his subjects in the New'
World, had seized about a million of pesos belonging
to private persons, the amount having been remitted
by the fleet of 1649. Viceroy Alva soon after his
arrival informed the people of this proof of the confi-
dence of their royal master, but at the same time
assured them, under pledge of the royal word, that
it would not be repeated, and that measures had even
been taken to make repayment in redeemable warrants
against the revenue, derived from the media anata.’
During the last months of Viceroy Alva’s rule,
earthquake and drought visited the province of Mex-
ico. The former disaster was portended by the ap-
pearance of a comet which was visible from the middle
of December of 1652 till the first days of 1653. The
shock was severely felt in the capital,” and destroyed
the walls of several buildings, causing greater damage

19 ¢Tenia librada la satisfaccion de esta cantidad en juros y media annata.’
Guijo, Diarso, 121. The publication of a similar cédula in March 1651 im-
plies thantnt;in manner of making loans was repeated, notwithstanding the

ise e.

1¢Duré mas del tiempo que. ..rezar dos credos con devocion.’ /d. 232. A
minute account together with a scientific treatise on the comet is given by
Raiz, Discurso A sobre Impressi meteorologicas, Mexico, 1653, 1 et
seq. According to Guijo, Diario, 239, in the same year, 1653, a conflagra-
tion destroyed the whole city of Colima.
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in the environs. That no others were felt was sup-

sed to be due to a solemn procession, held during
the following days in honor of the conception of the
Serenisima Reina de los Angeles. With similar good
effect the interposition of the virgen de los Remedios
was implored some months later; when want of rain
had produced diseases, and supplications lasting nine
days were ordered. The suppEl)lcations were quickl
heard, for within nine days abundant rains feﬁ
throughout the province.

The viceroy’s term of government had meanwhile
expired, and in the beginning of July 1653 news
reached him of the arrival of his successor at Vera
Cruz, and of his promotion to the viceroyalty of Peru.
On the 1st of August he formally laid down his
authority and proceeded to San Cristébal, to greet
the new ruler, the duke of Alburquerque. He re-
mained in Mexico for more than a year, as there was
no vessel to carry him to his destination. The 17th
of October 1654 he left for Acapulco with a large
retinue. At every point along his route he received
marks of respect, for his benevolence and integrity
had gained for him the sympathy of the people.*

Francisco Fernandez de la Cueva, duque de Al-
burquerque and grandee of Spain,” arrived at Vera
Cruz accompanied by his wife, a daughter of the ex-
viceroy Cadereita, early in July, 1653, and made his
official entrance into Mexico on the 15th of August,
amidst the usual ceremonies. In personal qualifica-
tions no less than in rank he was a worthy successor

12His juez de residencia sentenced him to the payment of several amounts
of money claimed from him, and transferred the decision of other charges to
the India Council, but nevertheless declared him ‘por bueno y recto ministro
de S. M.’ Quijo, Diario, 270. After serving his term in Peru he went to
Spain, where he died about 1667.
13He was of one of the noblest houses of Spain, and besides the titles
given in the text, and such as his new goeition gave him, held those of mar-
3ués de Cuellar y de Cadereita, conde de Ledesma, conde de Guelma, seiior
8° las vi].l::dde M&)mbeltra.n y de ri]n Codosera, gentilhombre de lbarsdmm (};
u estad, and capitan gencral de las galeras de Espafia. enes de
,Corc;nnz,gMS., vil. 1; EailaDodr., inDistE:b. de Frailes, M8, ii. 129, 152.
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to the count of Alva. He lacked none of the accom-
plishments then commonly possessed by the nobility
of Spain, and was moreover a man of jovial disposi-
tion, much given to hospitality, and lavish of expense.
During his reign he lost no opportunity of displaying,
though sometimes a little too ostentatiously, his
boundless loyalty to his sovereign. The first occasion
that occurred was in April 1654, when balls and ban-
quets, lasting several days, were arranged by the
viceroy in commemoration of the birthday of his
sovereign. These festivities were, however, eclipsed
by those which were held later in celebration of the
birth of prince Felipe Préspero.* Solemn thanks-
givings alternated with magnificent processions in
costume, headed by the viceroy and the highest offi-
cials. For several days the town was illuminated;
festivals were arranged by the Jesuit fathers; bull-
fights were held in the plaza; there were no regular
sessions of the audiencia for several weeks; and many
of the prisoners confined in jail were pardoned, while
the sentences of others were commuted. So popular
became the viceroy, that a mere hint from him was
sufficient to elicit an annual donation in favor of the
newly born prince of 250,000 pesos for the next
fifteen years,

The treasure fleet despatched from Vera Cruz in
April 1654 was one of the most richly freighted that
had ever left the shores of New Spain, and in the fol-
lowing year a large amount was forwarded; but the
capture of Jamaica® in 1655 caused a large decrease

in remittances after that date.?®

14 In January 1656 public prayers had been said in the cathedral and all
the other churches for an heir to the throne. Guijo, Diario, in Doc. Hist.
Mez., série i., i. 337.

18 Cavo, T'res 8iglos, ii. 36, Rivera, Gob., i. 197, and other Spanish authori-
ties state that Cromwell was ed to despatch the expedition which
effected the capture of Jamaica b;{%homu Gnge, the author of The New Sur-
vey of the West Indies. Gage wasan apostate friar; hence perhaps the state-
ment, which is not founded on fact.

18 During the same year news arrived that a party of buccaneers had been
captured by the settlers of Tampico. Twenty-two of them were sent as pris-
oners to Mexico. Guijo, Diario, 330, 362.
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The news of this disaster caused serious alarm
throughout Spain and the Spanish colonies, though it
was but the beginning of a long series of calamities,
many of which I have related. Already the North
Sea was infested with pirates, and in the islands of the
West Indies thousands of buccaneers, filibusters, and
sea rovers,” who regarded the Spaniards as their
natural prey, had formed permanent settlements.
During the latter portion of the seventeenth century
the colonies, more especially those of Central Amer-
ica, were never free from their raids; Portobello was
sacked; Panamd was destroyed; other cities were
plundered or burned; and within a few years of its
capture Jamaica became the spot where most of these
raids were organized, often with the consent and
always with the connivance of the representative of
the %ritish monarch.

In 1657 the viceroy despatched a force of over four
hundred men to aid the Spaniards in driving the Eng-
lish garrison from the island, but to no purpose.
Most of them perished of disease without inflicting
any loss on the enemy,” and the inhabitants remaining
on the island removed to New Spain.

It was not long before the Spaniards felt the evil
effects of thus tamely allowing the British to gain a
foothold in the West Indies. Every year the convoy
of the fleets became more difficult. In one instance
fifty-five days were required for the passage from
Vera Cruz to IHabana, the ships having remained
near the coast of Florida, to avoid capture by an
English fleet. Often the church bells summoned the

1"For the origin of piracy in the West Indies see Hist. Cent. Amer., ii
451 et seq., this series.

1 Vetancert, T'rat. Mex., 15; Cavo, Tres Siglos, ii. 41; Guijo, Diario,
3034, 406-7, 443. Still this writer speaks in another place of a great victo!
obtained by the auxiliaries, who dislodged the English from the island, ul;-i
says that tie news was celebrated in the cathedral and all other churches of
Mexico. Id., 400-1. ‘Todos miserablemente perecieron en manos del ene-
migo.” It 1s of course well known that the English retained ion.
About this time the town of Alburquerque was founded in New Mexico, per-
haps with a view to give those who had arrived from Jamaica an opportunity
to establish new settlements and restore their fortunes.
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loyal and pious inhabitants of the capital to prayers
for the safety of the treasure ships; but not always
were their prayers answered, for on one occasion dur-
ing the viceroy’s rule the flag-ship with five million

s and four hundred persons on board was lost.
At about the same time another fleet was attacked
and partly captured at the mouth of the harbor of
Céddiz. Henceforth Alburquerque became more cau-
tious, and detained the fleet of 1658 until greater
protection was afforded.

While New Spain was thus harassed by more dis-
tant foes, Yucatan was selected as a favorite scene of
action by the law-defying brethren of the coast. Its
isolated position, the difficulty of moving military forces
from one place to another, the very position of the
towns, all of which were near the seaboard, had long
made this peninsula a favorite resort for pirates.
After a less important expedition in 1613, during
which they took temporary possession of the bay of
Ascension, they reappearel:lyin 1632 near Campeche;
but noticing the energetic preparations for defense
no attack was made. Their project, however, had
not been abandoned. In the following year they re-
turned under the command of their two famous leaders
Pie de Palo and Diego the Mulatto. After a hot
fight the town was taken and sacked. Efforts to ob-
tain a ransom failed, however, and when rumors of a
force approaching from Mérida became known to the
corsairs, they departed.”

_Again a short period of tranquillity followed, till,
in 1644, a squadron of thirteen vessels with fifteen hun-
dred soldiers landed at Champoton. The inhabitants
having fled, the invaders departed after completing
their stores,” taking with them two Franciscan friars

® Under the same Diego the Mulatto, Salamanca was sacked in 1642, the
town having been taken by surprise. Cogollvdo, Hist. Yuc., 658-9.

% They shot some cattle, tpl;f:ﬁm-mg the meat in the church, which sacri-
legious act especially calls forth the wrath of the pious Cogolludo. *Sir-
viendose de la Iglesia para tan indecente execucion, y especialmente de la pila

Bautismal.’ Hist. Yuc., 682
Hwr. Mxx., Vor. III. 10
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whom they found hid near Zihé, and placed on board
one of their vessels. Such an act committed against
the representatives of the faith, say the chromiclers,
provoked the wrath of heaven, and as a due chastise-
ment all the vessels foundered, that bearing the friars
only after the holy men had been placed ashore on
the coast of Florida.*

But this incident made little impression on the
buccaneers, who continued their depredations on both
the eastern and western coasts of the peninsula.
In April 1648 they captured a frigate with more than
a hundred thousand pesos on board, and a few weeks
later boldly attacked a vessel in the very port of
Campeche. At about the same time another band,
commanded by the pirate Abraham, captured Sala-
manca.® During the second half of the seventeenth
century their raids became more frequent. In 1659
and 1678 Campeche was again taken and sacked by
English and French freebooters. They were aided
on this occasion by logwood-cutters, who since that
time had begun to establish themselves on the penin-
sula; and, notwithstanding the repeated efforts of the
Spaniards to expel them, successfully maintained their
positions,™ till in 1680 they were driven from the bay
of Términos by forces sent against them from Mexico
and Yucatan.*

Alburquerque bore the reputation of a just, vigilant,
and capable ruler, one who strictly carried out the
duties of his office, regardless of censure. Hearing
that one of the contadores mayores had challenged
the other, he ordered both under arrest, and sen-
tenced to fines of three thousand and fifteen hundred

1 Cogolludo gives an interesting account of the miraculous powers which
our lady of Champoton and the 11,000 virgins exhibited on this occasion.
Id., 683-4.

2 He repeated the sack of the same town in 1652.

B For a detailed account of the origin of the logwood establishments,
from which the settlement of Belize emanated, I refer to the Hist. Cent.
Am., ii. 623 et seq., this series.

# Robles, Diario, 303-9, gives a pretty detailed account of the trophies
obtained on this victorious expedition.
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pesos respectively, though duelling was at this time®a
common practice in New Spain. During the year
1659 he suspended the corregidor and his lieutenant,
and imprisoned several of the regidores because they
had been bribed to consent to a reduction in weight of
the loaf. Personal inquiries at the mills and bakeries
had convinced him that there was no reason for mak-
ing such a change.

The clergy were not exempt from the duke’s search-
ing vigilance, and in his excessive zeal for the welfare
and dignity of the church he occasionally played a some-
what ridiculous part. Patrolling the streets near the
palace one night, as was his wont, he noticed at a late
hour two Austin friars in a dilapidated looking bakery
eating fritters. The viceroy was shocked, and at once
ordered their arrest; not, he declared, because the act
of eating fritters was of itself unclerical, but that, con-
sidering the time, the place, and the sacred vestments
of the culprits, such an indulgence was scandalous.
One of the ecclesiastics took to his heels and escaped,
but the other was taken to the palace and sternly
reproved and kept in custody till the following day,
when he was delivered to the prior of his order.
After remonstrating with the latter, the viceroy sum-
moned also the other heads of religious orders, and
having expressed his disapproval in general, directed
thein to exercise in future a better surveillance.
This was readily promised, and severe penalties were
imposed for similar transgressions. A reformation had
indeed become necessary; for the greater part of the
friars were no longer the worthy followers of those
whose charity, humility, and untiring zeal had made
so deep an impression on the native population a
century before. In addition to their hypocrisy, some
of them were guilty of the worst crimes common to
their fellow-men; and it is related that in 1655 two

#1n the following year, 1655, the rebuke was repeated, the king having
issued three cédulas, complaining of the increasing disorders of the monastic
life. wwejo, Diario, 311-12.
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Augustinian lay-friars did not shrink from assassi-
nating the former provincial of their order.

It was perhaps the viceroy’s undue interference
in ecclesiastical matters that excited the enmity of
the archbishop. During his administration the same
ridiculous dispute arose which had occurred during
the régime of his predecessor, concerning the prece-
dence of the attendants at the procession of corpus
christi. Neither would yield the point, and the matter
was settled only by an agreement that neither the
pages of the viccroy nor those of the archbishop
should assist.®® The latter, named Mateo Sagade Bu-
gueiro,” was a man of rather haughty character, and
ere long new difficulties arose between him and the
representative of the crown, occasioned by the con-
troversy of the former with the commissary-general
of the holy crusade. The archbishop also publicly
accused the viceroy of withholding and intercepting
his correspondence with Spain, but finally a reconcili-
ation was effected, and after that time a better under-
standing prevailed.

The religious zeal of the viceroy® well nigh cost
him his life. It was his custom each afternoon to
a visit to the cathedral, then in course of completion,
in order to inspect the progress made during the day,
and afterward to attend vespers in one of the chapels.
While kneeling at prayer on the evening of the 12th
of March 1660, a soldier named Manuel Ledesma y

% Similar difficulties continued to disturb the good understanding between
the viceroys and the archbishops, although royal cédulas had clearly fixed the
jurisdiction to which either of them was entitled, their tenor being essen-
tially favorable to the viceroys. In later years under the rule of Mancera an
outbreak of these old hostilities was prevented merely by the duke’s diplo-
macy, and the modesty and genuine christian spirit of the then archbishop
Alonso de Cuevas. Daralos, Mancera, Instrucciones,in Doc. Inéd., xxi. 471-2

7 He was born in San Pedro de San Roman in Galicia, and had previously
held the offices of canon of the churches of Astorga and Toledo. Concilios
Pror., 1555-65, 220. Panes, Fir., MS., 101-2, calls him Mateo de Yaga,
and says he was born in Pontevedro in Galicia. He was consecrated in Mex-
ico the 25th of July, 1656. Guijo, Diario, 362.

% He assisted at the festivals of the churches and made liberal contribu-
tions toward the completion of the cathedral. Guijo states that a royal
cédula arrived in May 1655 ordering that the building be completed as soon
as possible. Diario. 309.
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Robles entered the chapel and gave him several blows
with the flat of his sword. The viceroy sprang to his
feet, and placing the prie-dieu between himself and his
assailant, meanwhile clutching with his right hand at
his sword, exclaimed, “ What mean you?” ‘To kill
you,” was the answer.” At that moment the treas-
urer of the cathedral came to the duke’s assistance
and was soon followed by others. The would-be
assassin was overpowered, and the duke after finish-
ing his devotions returned to his palace. A trial was
held the same evening by the military auditor, but
considering the grave character of the crime, the
audiencia ordered that the prisoner be brought before
their court. At the same time a resolution was
passed that there should be no rest until the law was
vindicated.®

During the whole night the depositions of witnesses
were taken, corroborating the attempt to murder, but
they added little to the contradictory confession of
the accused, who in one place gives as a reason a
supposed offence suffered from the viceroy, while in
another he states that his sole purpose was to per-
petuate his name.® There is little doubt his mind
was deranged; he could easily have killed the viceroy
had he been so disposed; but as it was a great man
who had been frightened, his judges were determined
not to recognize the fact; the appointment of an advo-
cate for the accused was but for form, and no time
was granted him to prepare his defence. At seven
o'clock next morning the verdict was rendered; the

® ¢ Matarlo y que no se diga. misa.” Copia de la Causa Cn‘mina{, in Re‘giatr:o
Trimestre, 289. ‘Voto 4 Cristo, q le he de matar,’ says the viceroy in his
letter of March 16, 1660, to the king, adding ‘me di6 de cuchilladas y esto-
cadas, en las espaldas y rifiones.” The latter assertion, notwithstanding its
source, is exaggerated, as proved by the depositions of the witnesses during
the trial. Carta, in Fir. Instruc., MS., 1st ser. no. 24, 1.

%< Hasta tanto se dé juridica g competente satisfaccion 4 ejemplar tan
atroz, no se deje la mano de las diligencias.” Copia de la Causa Criminul,
7

81Guijo, Diario, 439-40, asserts that he was submitted to torture; but this
is doubtful; as the minutes of the trial would hardly have concealed the ap-
plication of a measure which then was considered quite legal in order to
obtain a confession.



150 VICEROYS ALVA, TORRES, AND ALBURQUERQUE, -

criminal was condemned to be dragged through the
streets,” and thence taken to the gibbet. His head
and right hand were to be cut off and exposed, the
former on the main square, the latter, together with
his sword, in front of the door of the cathedral where
the crime had been committed. Three hours later
the tribunals and loyal inhabitants of Mexico had the
satisfaction of witnessing the execution of the sen-
tence, the corpse, feet upwards, remaining exhibited
on the gallows till late in the afternoon.®

Public demonstrations of joy and processions, ar-
ranged by the archbishop and the religious corpora-
tions, celebrated the escape of the viceroy from death.®

A few months later Alburquerque was informed
that the conde de Baiios had been appointed his suc-
cessor, and that he himself was promoted to the vice-
royalty of Sicily.® At the same time the archbishop
was recalled, and both sct sail from Vera Cruz in May
1661.* In September the duke surrendered the reins
of power to the new viceroy” at Santa Ana, as was
the custom. His residencia was begun at the same
time by Ginés Morote, but difficulties between the
latter and the audiencia prevented its completion
until 1662, when it was concluded by the oidor Fran-

32 ¢ Que sea arrastrado 4 la cola de dos caballos metido en un ceron...y en
la horca. . .ahorcado hasta que naturalmente muera.’ Copia de la Causa Crim-
inal, 301-2.

83 The culprit did not repent of his crime. ‘No pudieron reducirlo 4 que
se confesara, ni 4 que invocase el nombre de Jesus.’ Guijo, Diario, 440. The
viceroy in his letter to the king expresses regret, and adds that ‘both in
writing and verbally he pardoned him for this and the other life.’ Carta, in
Vir. Instrucc., MS., 1st ser. no. 24, 2.

3¢ For details of this event see Copia de la Causa Criminal, in Registro Trim.,
265-305; Quijo, Diario, 439-40; Carta, in Vir. Instrucc., MS., 1st ser. no. 24,
1-3.

3 Guijo says he was made general of the fleets intended to operate against
the Portuguese. Diario, 442.

3¢ Lacunza, Disc. Hist., xxxv. 501-2, speaks of the removal of both as
caused by the king’s displeasure with their conduct, ‘fueron muy ricos, aun-
que con el deshonor consiguiente.” There is not the slightest reason for such
a statement, and their later career indicates plainly the contrary, Buguerio
being presented to the see of Leon, one of the greatest in Spain, and Albur-
querque, as already stated, being made viceroy of Sicily.

'r’qu'ing his term of office he made many improvements in the viceregal
palace.
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cisco Valles.® In the mean time the duke had left
for his native land, carrying with him the sympathy
and good wishes of all the people of New Spain.

GuLr or MEXICO.

38 The visitador fixed the bond at 180,000 pesos, but was overruled by the
oidores, who reduced the amount to 50,000 pesos notwithstanding the pro-
tests of Morote.
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During the latter half of the sixteenth century,
it will be remembered, the governors of Yucatan were
constantly at variance with the church,' and unseemly
quarrels between the secular and ecclesiastical author-
ities were prevalent almost from the time that the
custodian Villapando built at Mani® the first convent

*founded in the Maya peninsula. On August 11, 1604,
the marshal Cdrlos de Luna y Arrellano® took pos-
session of the government, and although his rei
lacked none of the usual strifes, as well with the city
council as with the bishop and the secular and regu-
lar clergy, his qualities as an honest ruler and the
progress which the province made during his admin-
1stration were fully recognized. The strongest proof
of his rectitude is that, although no failure of crops

VIn Mist. Mexz., ii. 428 et seq., this series, the conquest of Yucatan is re-
lated, and on pages 648-654 of the same volume is a brief sketch of the history
of t}xz b‘())l;(l)t‘lln::-)% during the latter half of the sixteenth century.

3The author of Datos Biogrdficos, in Cartas de Indiax, 791-2, says his

Christian name was Tristan and that of his father Cérlos.
(152)
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or other calamity occurred during his administration,
eight years’ service left him a poorer man than before,
while several of his predecessors had entered upon
office encumbered with debt and retired with a for- °
tune.

To Luna succeeded Antonio de Figueroa,* who is
also spoken of as a just ruler, but whose government,
save for a dispute with the encomenderos of Valla-
dolid,® is void of any noteworthy event. After a term
of nearly five years his successor arrived in the person
of Francisco I%amirez Briceiio, the first governor since
Montejo’s time on whom the king conferred the title of
captain-general. He took possession April 27, 1617,°
and being an experienced soldier, at once began the
military organization of the country. During his
brief term of office he gained the sympathy of the
people, and his early death, on December 7, 1619,
excited general grief.

By virtue of a royal cédula of the 24th of May
1600, now for the first time carried into effect, each
of the alcaldes ordinarios governed the different towns
and villas that lay within his own jurisdiction. This
ceased when on September 3, 1620,° Captain Arias,
count de Losada y Taboada, arrived, as governor ad
interim, appointed by the viceroy of Mexico. Within
a few months the reins of power were delivered up to
Diego de Cdrdenas, a knight of Santiago, who, being
appointed by the crown, took possession in September
1621.°

¢ Ancona, Hist. Yuc., ii. 201, misled by a contradictory statement in Cogo-
lludo, gives the date of Figueroa’s succession to the government as Au
29, 1612, instead of March 29th, for which statement he only refers to Lara.

8 They surprised him on a journey to the River Lagartos, and sent him by
force to the viceroy of Mexico, together with a long list of accusations. Im-
mediately acquitted bgothe latter, he returned to Mérida, and against all
expectation refrained from punishing the s,

8 Cogollvdo, Hist. Yuc., 474. In another place the same author says
Figueroa ruled till September 27, 1617.

1 C(;ﬁ?lludo says his death resulted from an illness, and Lara that he was

poison

% August 28th. Lara, Apuntes Histdricos; Castillo, Dice. Hist. Yuc., 61.

? ¢ Manifestaba su Magestad las graues necessidades. . .por las guerras que
tenia con Hereges, Turcos, y Moros.” Cogollvdo, Hist. Yuc., 541.
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On the 13th of July 1618 the title of ‘Muy noble y
muy leal’ was bestowed on the city of Mérida, and in
August of the same year a coat of arms was presented
to the cabildo.” Stiﬁ further to testify his regard for
the inhabitants of the capital the monarch conde-
scended to ask of them, four ycars later, a contribution
in money.

In order to justify the cherished title, liberal do-
nations were made to the royal mendicant by the
city council, the encomenderos, and many other
settlers, the governor himself setting the example
with a gift of one thousand pesos out of his own
galary. Little else is known of his rule, which seems

' to have been unusually quiet,
not even the customary dis-
sensions with the clergy being
mentioned by the historians,
who represent Cérdenas as
a pious and charitable man.
After a reign of seven years"
he gave place to Juan de Var-
gas,”who entered into office on
the 15th of September 1628.
A change now occurs in the
peaceful condition of affairs,
for Vargas is characterized as
one of the worst governors
ever appointed to the prov-
ince.

Soon after the conquest of Yucatan the natives
were made to feel the bitterness of their bondage.
They were robbed and maltreated by their taskmas-
ters, first under the title of alcaldes and corregidores,
and later by officials under different names.” During

MERIDA CoAT OF ARMS,

19The text of the cédulas by which the title and coat of arms were be-
stowed is given in Cogollvdo, //ist. Yuc., 461-2. Calle is in error when be
gives 1619 as the date in Mem. y Not., 82

11 Ancona says erroneously he ruled only four years.

12 A knight of Santiago and descendant of the renowned Spanish general,
Alonso de Vargas.

13Jueces Ce grana, de vino, ¢ de agravios.
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Figueroa’s term of office the production of cochineal
been largely increased, and the number of such
officials, who in reality were but the agents of the
vernor, was rapidly multiplied. In vain prohibitory
and restrictive orders had been issued by the audi-
encia of Mexico and were now repeated in a royal cé-
dula of March 17, 1627. Changing their title into that
of capitanes 4 guerra, the governor evaded the exe-
cution of the law and the evil remained unchecked.
New complaints were filed with the central govern-
ment at Mexico, and Vargas was ordered under heavy
penalties to revoke the appointments, and forbidden
to make new ones under any name whatever.* He
remonstrated, alleging the necessity of such officials,
and refused to obey until representations were made
to the king and the council of the Indies.
Simultaneously an imbroglio occurred between the
treasury officials and the governor, who, transgressing
his authority, proposed to make an inspection of the
royal treasury. To this the former objected, and in
the dispute which ensued one of them was personally
maltreated by Vargas, who, carried away by anger,
seized the treasurer and contador and sent them to
Spain to appear before the India Council, without
ting time for defense.”® Such harsh conduct aided
to swell the number of malecontents, and more claims
were brought before the audiencia of Mexico, urgin
that an oidor be sent to investigate the matter ang
restore order. Vargas, when informed, tried to evade
the blow, prevailing on the city council to support his
protest against the necessity of such a measure by
apgointing his lieutenant-general their attorney.
n the mean time the licenciate Yiiigo de Argiiello
Carbajal®® was sent as visitador, and presented him-

1 A royal cédula of August 23, 1642, approved this decree of the audien-
cia. Calle, Mem. y Not., 88.

18 Ancona, Hist. Yuc., ii. 221, intimates as the probable reason an attempt
of the officials to exact the fines im, by the audiencia of Mexico.

18 A knight of Calatrava and oidor of the audiencia of Mexico. His com-
mission was issued on the 7th of April, 1630. Cogollvdo, Hist. Yuc., 566-76.
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self in Mérida August 14, 1630. Notwithstanding
the governor’s opposition,” Carbajal began to execute
his mission; whereupon Vargas ordered him to leave
Mé¢rida within six days, and the province within fif-
teen days, and made preparations for armed resistance.
At this juncture the bishop, Gonzalo de Salazar, in-
terfered 1n behalf of the visitador. Authorized by a
royal cédula to co-operate with the viceroy in the
suppression of local disturbances, he published, De-
cember 17, 1630, a decree, which under severe
penalties and ecclesiastical censures® ordered the
governor, municipal authorities, and all the inhabi-
tants to obey the orders of Carbajal.

Free from restraint, the licentiate continued the
trial, and after two months sentenced the governor on
some of the charges to temporary suspension from
office and heavy fines, reserving the other accusations
for the decision of the audiencia of Mexico, whither
the accused was to be sent as a prisoner. Other offi-
cials were also punished, and compensation granted
to the oppressed natives. In March 1631 Carbajal
left with his prisoner for Mexico,® the government
remaining in charge of the alcaldes till November,
when Fernando Centeno Maldonado arrived, being
appointed by the viceroy as governor ad interim. He
was replaced by Gerénimo de Guero, who took charge

17 Vargas claimed as governor and captain-general only to be answerable
to the king and the council of the Indies. He also alleged the great expense
and damage to the native population, which the visitador’s mission would
cause. Cogolludo gives these and other reasonsinalengthy way. Hixt. Yue.,
567-9. ‘T'he governor was wrong, however; orders of the crown dated No-
vemler 2, 1627, and May 19, 1631, placed the government of Yucatan under
that of Mexico. Montemayor, Semarios, 91, 159; Recop. de Ind., ii. 110.

18 Excommunication mayor, heavy fines, and liability to be tried for high
treason.

19 Ancona, Hist. Yuc., ii. 223, says nothing about the bishop’s intercession
being based on a royal cédula.

#'In Mexico Vargas was committed to prison, and a trial instituted against
him, but before its conclusion he died. Cogollcido, Hist. Yue., 576-7. Ancona,
Hist. Yuc., ii. 223—4, and Castillo, Dicc. flist. Yuc., 60-1, attribute his death
to grief caused by the stern rebuke of the viceroy. It is nowhere else inti-
mated that Vargas possessed a conscience, or any sense of shame. During his
administration ﬁeavy rains occurred, lasting, as Cogolludo says, for 27 con-
secutive days, and causing a severe famine.
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in 1633. His rule was brief, and is favorably noticed
by the chroniclers of his period. After his decease at
an advanced age on March 10, 1635, the government
again devolved on the alcaldes; but a ?ew months
later was transferred to Centeno, who for a second
time had been temporarily appointed by the viceroy.
During his term of office, which lasted until March 4,
1636, he had serious dissensions with the Franciscans,
and in consequence of their instigations his removal
was ordered. He died, however, before the arrival
of his successor, Andrés Perez Franco, who on March
14th took office as governor ad interim, holding that
position only two months.

On May 17, 1636, Diego Zapata de C4rdenas, mar-
qués de Santo Floro, presented his credentials from
the court of Spain as governor and captain-general,
and was duly admitted. Although the chroniclers
disagree in their estimate of his character, they admit
that serious dissensions occurred between him and the
city council, which corporation even planned a coup
d’état. The fact, however, that his term of govern-
ment was extended to nearly eight years speaks
strongly in his favor, as also do his measures to re-
lieve the natives from the payment of oppressive
taxes.® His efforts on their behalf are probably due
in part to a revolt among the Bacalar Indians, which,
beginning in 1636, lasted till after his removal from
office.

The treatment of the Indians had, as we have seen,
always given rise to dissensions and doubts, both in
old and New Spain. Meanwhile they were continu-
ally being robbed, now by the insatiable agents of the

overnors, now by the priests and friars, and between
th they were despoiled of whatever they possessed.

1 The tribute of the Indians amounted in 1643 and 1644 to about 154,000
peeos, including the former encomiendas of Montejo, and more than 20,000
Eooc belonging to those of the crown. The whole number of encomenderos
lsgueahn was 181. Cogollvdo, Hist. Yuc., 385-8; Calle, Mem. y Not., 82-8,
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It is not strange then that the true faith had little
attraction for them, or that occasionally they at-
tempted to shake off a yoke which plunged them not
only into a condition worse than they had known in
aboriginal times, but threatened the extermination
of their race. It was seldom, however, that they
even temporarily succeeded, and a severe administra-
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tion of justice by the Spanish authorities always sup-
pressed their mutinous tendencies for a number of
rears.

! It is thus that, at frequent intervals, we have to
record Indian revolts. The first one, in 1610 at
Tekax, caused by dissatisfaction with the cacique,
was easily quelled, and three of the ringleaders for-
feited their lives on the gallows of Mérida. In 1638,
owing to a famine some years before, a large number

of natives who had abandoned their villages were
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brought back by force, the governor Centeno employ-
ing to that end energetic measures. A gibbet was
erected wherever he went, and death threatened to
all who would codperate in concealing fugitive Ind-
ians. Thus in the coast districts alone more than
sixteen thousand tributaries were restored in a short
time to their settlements.® A more extensive out-
break, however, occurred in 1636, occasioned proba-
bly by the efforts of the governors to exact the con-
tributions for the Barlovento fleet. Gradually the
revolt assumed greater dimensions, and in 1639 only
the villa of Salamanca had remained faithful, the re-
mainder of the Bacalar district having openly declared
its sedition, and relapsed into idolatry. Armed expedi-
tions were proposed, but objected to by the governor,
Santo Floro, and after long deliberations only some
friars were sent to the seditious region, a proceeding
which utterly failed. It was only in 1644 that part
of the fugitives were induced to return to their vil-
lages.” ter revolts, though most of them of less
importance, occurred in 1653, 1669, and 1670, when
the Indians of Sahcabchen rebelled, and again about
1675.% Still there remains no doubt that the natives
were gradually brought under subjection, and the
zealous missionaries by their incessant labors obtained
more and more influence over the native population.

The successor of Santo Floro, Francisco Nuilez
Melian,® took charge of the government the last day
of December 1643,%)ut his sudden death on April 13,
1644, again made necessary a temporary appoint-
ment by the viceroy at Mexico. Enrique D4vila y

2 For details of thia?dition see’ Cogollvdo, Hist. Yuc., 503-5; also
Ancona, Hist. Yuc., ii. 3

3 Governor Francisco Nufiez Melian succeeded in bringing back about
9,000 Indians. Cogollvdo, Hist. Yuc., 679.

3 The date for the last revolt cannot be exactly fixed, as it is not given by
Vi tierre, who, in his Hist. Conq. Itza, 146-7, merely alludes to them.

# The general Luis Fernandez de Cérdoba, previously appointed, was pro-
moted to the government of Cartagena before und ing the voyage.

Cogullvdo, Hist. Yuc., 678.
% During a review of the military forces at Mérida.
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Pacheco was the one selected, and on June 28, 1644,
he assumed office, relieving the alcaldes ordinarios,
who had ruled in the mean time. His administration
is recorded as one of the best ever experienced. At
his residencia it is said that only one insignificant
charge was brought against him, and after the death
of his successor Estévan de Azcdrraga,” who was in
charge from December 4, 1645, to August 8, 1648, he
was again summoned by the viceroy of Mexico to
represent the crown.® Heremained in that position
from December 15, 1648, to the 19th of October,
1649, at which date a new ruler, appointed by the
crown, arrived in the person of the count de Peiialva.®
Under his rule a serious famine occurred, and great
numbers died of starvation. The evil was increased
by the injudicious though well intended measures of
the governor to remedy it. The number of enemies
thus created was increased by his avaricious proceed-
ings, and on August 1, 1652, he was found assassi-
nated in his room.®

After the death of Penalva governors followed in
rather quick succession, but nothing important is con-
nected with their time. The temporary rule of the
alcaldes ended when on November 19, 1652, Martin
de Robles y Villafaiia, nominated by Viceroy Alva de
Lista, took charge of the government, but being pro-

7 Azcdrraga died during an epidemic which, in 1648, Phyed havoc in Yu-
catan to such an extent that no bells were tolled except for mass. Not even
the governor’s death met with an exception, and the burial took place with-
out any of the usual solemnities. Cogolludo, Hist. Yuc., 714-30, gives man
details referring to the pestilence. From 1627 to 1631, and later in I
floods and bad crops had also produced famine and epidemics, of which many
peogle died. Cogollvdo, Hist. ];'uc., 202-3, 558, 592-3.

One of the alcaldes, who in the interim held the goverment, was Juan
de Salazar Montejo, a great-great-grandson of the Adelantado Francisco de
Montejo.

®Dsvila had been held in such esteem, that after his departure from Yu-
catan, the city council of Mérida in a letter to the king greatly eulogized his
administration. Later, after the death of Pefialva, a petltion was sent in,
requesting that Ddvila bo sent as governor for a third time. Cogollvdo, Hist.
Yuc., 731-3. The full title of his successor was Garcia de Valdés Osorio,
first count de Pefialva. Id., 742.

30 Cogolludo assigns no cause for his death, but his unusually brief mention
of his demise rather confirms the statement of Lava, that such a crime was
committed. No clue was ever obtained.
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moted to the province of Cardcas was relieved by
Pedro Saenz Izquierdo in November 1653, also by
appointment from Mexico, and it was not until May
1655 that Francisco de Bazan arrived from Spain
with a commission from the crown. He was followed
by José Campero,™ who governed from August 1660
till his death on the 29th of December 1662.* Be-
tween his successors, Francisco de Esquivel and Ro-
drigo Flores Aldana, temporary troubles arose, each
claiming the government, and finally the latter, who
had been removed by the audiencia of Mexico, was
reinstalled on January 29, 1667, by order of the
king,® with whom he was a favorite. Without any
apparent reason he was superseded on December 29,
1669, by Frutos Delgado, oidor of the audiencia of
Mexico, who came to take his residencia. But in the
following year Fernando Francisco de Escobedo, ap-
pointed immediately by the crown, took charge of the
%overnment." During his rule, which lasted from

ctober 18, 1670, to March 27, 1672, the governor,
who was an experienced soldier, directed his attention
to the military affairs of the province, and the im-
provements which he made were continued by his
successors, Miguel Franco Cardoiies and Sancho Fer-
nandez de Angulo y Sandoval, of whom nothing
worthy of note is recorded.*

31 Castillo says erroneously in one place that Bazan’s successor was Anto-
nio Ancona, whereas in another he gives Jos¢ Campero. Dicc. Hist. Yuc., 54,
142-5. His full title was José Campero de Sorrevilla, maestre de campo and
knight of Santiago. Ordenes de la Corona, MS., iv. 2.

?His death was hastened, if not caused, by a trick played on him in the
cathedral of Mérida, at alate hour of the night, and the bishop and the Jesuits
were supposed to have taken part in it, in order to gain more influence over-
him. Registro Yucateco, ii. 74-86.

33 Esquivel delivered the government to Flores on July 28, 1664, having
ruled since September 4, 1663, but, obtaining his opponent’s removal, again
took possessiorf on the 28th of March 1665. Guijo calls him Flores de Vera.
Diario, in Doc. Hist. Mez,, série i., i. 548.

34 Robles, Diario, i. 140; Juarros, Guat., 265. He was a knight of the grand
croes of St John, bailio of Lora, and general of the artillery of Jaen. Ancona,.
Hist. Yuc., ii. 263, calls him Fernando Franco de Escobedo, and sai: he was
commander of the villas of Samayon and Santi-Estévan. He was later pro-
moted to the preaidencg of Guatemala.

% Cardofies governed from March 27, 1672, till September 28, 1674, and An-
gulo from that date to the 18th of December 1677. Ancona, Hist. Yuc.,ii. 263-5.

Hmsr. Mxx, Vor. III. 11
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The following governor, Antonio de la Iseca y
Alvarado, an olg inhabitant of Mérida, was removed
through the intrigues of his enemies on the 20th of
February, 1679, by the oidor Juan de Aréchiga,
sent by the audiencia of Mexico. He was reinstated,
however, one year later, and remained in undisturbed
R‘ossession till 1683,* when on July 14th Juan Bruno

ello de Guzman succeeded him. The administration
-of this governor is marked in the annals of Yucatan
by the frequent invasions of pirates, who, owing to
the pusillanimity of Tello, met with little resistance.
To check such raids the fortification of Campeche
was resolved upon, but it was only under the rule of
his successor, Juan José de la Bdrcena,” an experi-
enced soldier and energetic man, that any consider-
able progress was made with the works.®

The rule of the last two governors, who at the
close of the seventeenth century administered the
affairs of the province, is noteworthy for the internal
-dissensions which prevailed. On August 20, 1693,
Roque de Soberanis y Centeno, a man rather young
for such high position, was intrusted’ with the reins
-of power.® Mainly through lack of experience he
mage, within a short time, a number of enemies, in
whose ranks appeared also the bishop of Yucatan,
Juan Cano y Sandoval.® The dispute became so
fierce that Soberanis was excommunicated in July
1694, and upon complaints laid before the audiencia

% Tn 1682 a conflagration destroyed half of the town of Campeche. Robles,
Diario, i. 343.

% (astillo, Dicc. Hist. Yuc.,59-91. Robles, Diario, i. 399, calls him Bar-
rera. He ruled from July 23, 1688, till August 20, 1693.

38 Details are given in Castillo, loc. cit. The total cost of the fortification
of Campeche, derived from contributions by the crown and the inhabitants,
and from certain imposts, amounted to more than 200,000 pesos. In February,
1690, the first pieces of heavy artillery ever seen in the province were landed
at the town.

# He owed his appointment to his descent from one of the wealthiest and
most influential families of Cadiz.

“ Biographers of the bishop, who was a native of Mexico, 8 of him in
very favorable terms. See Regizxtro Yuc., ii. 278-81; Castillo, Dicc. Hist.

Yuc., 145; Concilios Prov., 1555-65, 359-60 ; Figueroa, Vindicias, MS., 70:
Robles, Diario, i. 355, 360, 375.
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of Mexico was removed from office, and summoned be-
fore that tribunal.® Martin de Ursda y Arizmendi,
the governor elect, was appointed to replace Sobe-
ranis, and at once made preparations to avail himself
of the opportunity to carry out his favorite project—
the conquest of the Itzas.

Meanwhile, however, Soberanis, acquitted in Mex-

ico, was restored to his government, and from this
time to his death on September 25, 1699,” made all
possible opposition to the schemes of his successor,
notwithstanding royal orders to the contrary. Ursda’s
second term lasted from 1699 to the end of 1703, when
he was deposed by the viceroy of Mexico, on a charge
of implication in the murder of an alcalde of Vallado-
1lid.** Ursida went to Spain, where he not only justified
his conduct, but obtained new distinctions, and was re-
instated on June 6, 1706, holding office till the 15th
of September 1708, when he was promoted to the
presidency of Manila.“

The services that he rendered in the expedition
against the Itzas in 1697, and which have already
been related,” were probably the main reason for his
preferment, for during that campaign he displayed all
the qualities of a cautious and capable leader.

41 An oidor, Francisco Zaraza, sent to Mérida in December 1694 to in-
vestigate the matter, returned to Mexico in July 1695, without pronouncing
sentence, the bishop having died in February 1695. Robles, Diario, ii. 159
60, 167, 170, 172.

20f yellow fever, the first time the disease a| ed in the country. Lara,
Apuntes Historicos, followed by Castillo, Dicc. gist. Yue., 69.

8 A visitador, Cdrlos Bermudez, was sent from Mexico and later a governor
ad interim appointed, Alvaro de Rivaguda, who punishcd several of the

ilty persons, but failed to discover any evidence of the cumplicity of Ursiia.
obles, Diario, 18t ser., ii. 468, 477, 484; Ancona, Hist. Yuc., ii. 316-25.

# The titles of count de Lizarraga Vengoa, conqueror, perpetual governor,
and captain-general of the Itza provinces, were among others given him.
Elorzn y Rada, Nobil., 211.

5 See Hist. Cent. Amer., ii. 681 et seq., this series.

4¢In addition to the authorities already quoted, the reader is referred to

vdo, Hist. Yuc., 220, 385-6, 452-752, passim; Villagutierre, Hist. Cong.
Itza, 326-40, 410-17, 535-41; Guijo, Diario in Doc. Hist. Mex., 1st ser., i.
223-4, 548; Robles, Diario, i. 81, 140, 312, 343, 355, 858, 375, 399, 452, ii.
155, 183; Calle, Mem. y Nol., 84-3, 87-8; Ordenes de la Corona, MN., iii. G4;
Barbachano, Mem. Camp., 2-8; Castillo, Dicc. Ilist. Yuc., 54, 59-6G1, G3, G9,
72, 93, 204-5; Juarros, Guat., i. 33; Stephens, Yuc., ii. 194; Dicc. Univ., vi.
785-6; viii. 494, x. 763-6.



CHAPTER IX.

FIVE MORE VICEROYS.
1660-1680.

CouxT DE BaRos, THE TWENTY-THIRD VICEROY—A NEW ORDER oF THINGS—
INDIAN REVOLT AT TEHCANTEPEC—AN ARBITRARY RULER—CHARACTER
oF THE MaN—HE 18 REPLACED BY ARCHBISHOP OSORIO—THE PRELATE'S
BRIEF BCT BENEFICENT GOVERNMENT—A NATIVE oF MEXICO MaADE
ARCHBISHOP—ARRIVAL OF MARQUIS MANCERA—HIS EFFIcCIENT RULE—
CaLiForN1A EXPLORATIONS—THE CATHEDRAL oF Mexico—ITs Drbi-
CATION—MANCERA’S WISE PoLicY—ERCUPTION OF POPOCATEPETL AND
OTHER CALAMITIES—VERAGUAS, DESCENDANT OF COLUMBUS, AS ViIcE-
roY—His U~NTIMELY DEATH—ARCHBISHOP RIBERA SuccEeps— His
CHARACTER AND Goop GOVERNMENT—HE DecLixes NEw HoNors—
H1s RETIREMENT TO SPAIN, AND DEaTH.

LaTe in July 1660 the twenty-third viceroy of New
Spain, Juan de Leiva y de la Cerda, marqués de Leiva
i{de Ladrada, conde de Baiios,! arrived at Vera Cruaz.

¢ entered Mexico on the 16th of September, and on
the same day took charge of the government. One of
his first acts was the imprisonment of the castellan of
the fortress of San Juan de Ulda, without any appar-
ent reason, and such arbitrary measures were several
times repeated during his administration which was
in strong contrast with that of his predecessor. Dur-
ing the last months of Alburquerque’s reign, news was
received in Mexico that the Indians of the district
of Tehuantepec were in revolt and had killed the al-
calde mayor.? A small force scnt against them was
defeated, and preparations were made to assemble a
larger expedition. But before this was ready it was

1Guijo calls him Juan de la Cueva Leiva y Labrada. Diario, 444, 447.
?The cause of the outbreak was the usual extortions practised upon the
natives, many of them being driven to suicide. Robles, Vida, 151!;‘!.)
(



WAANA WV VAL GAAWNNAL  A22LALMVAL VAR VA Vasava Rt il st

g his subjects. Vain, arrogant, a.ndJse]ﬁsh, he is
ioned as one of the worst rulers that was ever
d at the head of affairs. As an instance of his
y it may be mentioned that in the second year
his arrival he used his influence to change the
of the procession of corpus christi in such a
er that 1t would pass by the viceregal palace.
1e following year, on repeating this request, he
with energetic opposition from the new arch-
p, Diego Osorio de Escobar y Llamas® who
» severe ecclesiastical penalties forbade any de-
m from the rule observed since the early days
anish dominion.
is was more than the overbearing viceroy could
'e; and considering himself moreover deeply in-
by the general sympathy displayed by the pub-
id the religious corporations, at the sudden death
» commmander of San Juan de Ulda, who had been
soned by his order, he resolved on revenge.®

nacois, Hist. M¢j., v., erroneously gives the date as 1661; Mayer says
a 10662, Mex. Aztec,i. 208; Rivera, Hist. Jalupa, i. 95, 1664. Dome-
»versing the order, says the troubles arose in consequence of decrees
»y Dévalos, Hist. Mex.,i.275-8. A letterof the king dated October 2,
wianks the bishop for his services in flattering terms and promises him
al favor. Robles, I'ida, 164-5.

10ng other instances of his incapacity it may be mentioned that when
as received of the occupation of Cuba by the English the vicervy at-
1 to organize an expedition, but except eulisting a number of recruits

ointing two of his sons as officers, it is not recorded that he accom-
anwbthine
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Failing in his efforts to undermine the influence of
the archbishop, who again in 1664 denied the right of
the count to change the route of the corpus christi
procession,” he next thought of exiling him under
some pretext, which it would not be difficult to find.
Meanwhile he caused all letters from Spain addressed
to Osorio to be destroyed. On the 27th of June
his preparations were concluded, the audiencia had al-
ready been informed, and on the following day the
plan was to be executed. But at this moment an
incident occurred which overthrew his projects. A
vessel from Spain ran ashore near the old town of
Vera Cruz. The crew and mails were saved, and even
the vigilance of the spies kept by the viceroy could
not prevent the agents of Osorio from securing and
delivering in safety the archbishop’s correspon(ince.
The latter with surprise observed that among the let-
ters was one, addressed to him, as viceroy of Mexico.
Immediately the news spread, carrying with it no less
joy than astonishment to all save the count, for he
had withheld and burned six previous despatches of
the same character.®

On the following day Osorio sent the official infor-
mation to the viceroy and the oidores, summoning the
latter to the archicpiscopal palace. Showing them
two royal cédulas, which referred to him as viceroy
and captain-general, he asked their opinion, whether
these documents were sufficient authority for him to
assume the government. The audiencia returned to
the palace, there to discuss the question in presence
of the count. The latter denied the right of Osorio,
unless a cédula expressing the formal appointment be
exhibited. The doubts were soon solved, for in the
box containing the despatches another letter was

"For having attempted this, the viceroy was afterward fined 12,000
ducats.

& When the bishop learned this, he demanded their delivery under severe
penalties. An oflicial of the government, who had witnessed the destraction
of the documents, among which there had been one from the inquisition in

Spain, was imprisoned by the holy office of Mexico for having concealed this
fact. Guijo, Diario, 523-30.



OSORIO’S APPOINTMENT. 167

found directing the audiencia to take charge in case
Osorio should have died or resigned. Immediately
the oidores returned and informed the archbishop that
his authority was recognized, and two hours later he
took the oath and was formally installed. Soon after-
ward, when again in his palace, the ex-viceroy paid
him a visit, as prescribed by etiquette, and left him
his guard. No sooner did the people see the count
alone, than they began to shout, scoff, and throw
stones at him and his companions, obliging them to
hasten as quickly as possible to the viceregal palace.®

Great were the demonstrations of joy at (gsorio’s
appointment. The streets were crowded; there were
festivities and illuminations, and the following day a
te deum was sung in the cathedral. At the same time,
in consequence of his resignation of the archbishopric,
the bishop of Oajaca, Alonso de Cuevas D4valos, had
been appointed as successor. At the request of the
chapter and the new prelate Osorio continued, how-
ever, to govern the sec till November, when Cuevas
arrived. Although the rule of the new viceroy lasted
but a few months, wmany changes were made for the
better. The people began to breathe more freely.
Persons exiled by Baiios, and others, who from fear
had left the town, returned; justice was administered
with rigor, but with impartiality; the count of San-
tiago Calimaya, notwithstanding his high rank, and
Pedro de Leiva, son of the ex-viceroy, were both

® This according to Guijo. Nevertheless many later writers represent
Bafios as a popular ruler. Alegre says the viceroy visited and supported the
hoepitals on e society, and calls him ‘un virey de los mas cjemplares y
ustos.” fHist. Comp. Jesus, ii. 425-6. Similar though less enthusiastic praise
18 bestowed on him by Vetancurt, T'rat. Mez., 15, Lorenzana, Hist. N. Exp.,
25, Cavo, Tres Siglos, ii. 47, and others. Similar manifestations, as whistling
and hissing, were repeated months afterward, when the count was present at
some bull-gghta ed in honor of viceroy Mancera. In October 1664 his
residencia was begun, but not concluded till 1666. Guijo, Diario, 557: Robles,
Diario, i. 15. The entire property of the ex-viceroy was attached, notwith-
lhndu;g royal orders to permit his return to Spain, and he was placed under
bonds for 40,000 pesos. Ordenes de la Corona, MS., i. 38; Reales Cédulas,
MS., ii. 148-9. In 1666 Baiios returned to Spain, where after the death of
his wife he entered the order of the barefooted Carmelites. Robles, Diario, i.
17-18, 223, 239.
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laced under arrest for arranging a duel.® Abuses
introduced under the rule of Baiios were reformed;
all grants and appointments made by the latter were
dec%ared as null and void by order of the crown; and
severe punishment was inflicted on several negligent
and defaulting officials.™
The activity displayed by the bishop-viceroy was
astonishing, and seemed to be transmitted to all de-
partments of the government. Assistance in money,
workmen, and ammunition was sent to Cuba; the
management of the royal treasury was reorganized so
effectually that, after a rule of only six weeks, there
were four hundred and fifty thousand pesos ready
to be sent to Spain, and from July till October more
than seventy law-suits were despatched in the court
of the audiencia. Thus the whole aspect of affairs was
changed, and hopes were entertained, that New Spain
would prosper under his administration, when news
arrived that a successor, appointed by the crown, had
reached Vera Cruz. On September 27th the viceroy
formally gave up his office, and on November 15th lus
archbishopric, when his successor took possession.!
Alonso de Cucvas Ddvalos was the first native of
Mexico who ever occupied the archiepiscopal chair
of New Spain. He was born in 1590, had studied in
the Jesuit college, and been rector of the university
in 1632. After holding the offices of canon at Puebla,

1 The imbroglio arose in 1660 on the arrival of Bafios, in uence of
remarks made by Pedro de Leiva, about the creoles, in presence of the count.
Altercations and brawls followed, but the final settlement of the question had
been delayed till Bafios was removed. Guijo, Diario, 546-7.

! Diego Valles, an official of the treasury and quicksilver department, was
suspended and heavily fined in virtue of a royal cédula, ‘the severest ever
despatched against an official,’ says Guijo. He was charged with being bribed
by Bailos. Two regidores were removed for having revealed the secrets of the
cabildo sessions to the former viceroy. Sce Guijo, Diario, 53748, where also
several similar cases are mentioned.

12 A month later, December 13, 1664, Osorio returned to his diocese of
Pucbla, which he retained till his death in 1673. His residencia was taken
in 1666, and several charges were preferred against him by representatives of
the count of Banos, relative to his conduct at the time of his succession to the

overnment, but no sentence secms ever to have been pronounced agai
im, save one, imposing a small fine, which afterward was revoked by the
council of the Indies. Roblcs, Diario, i. 29-34, 151.
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and deacon and treasurer of the cathedral of Mexico,
he became in 1657 bishop of Oajaca, whence he was
promoted to the see of the capital. He wore the
mitre but for a short time, dying the following year.®

" The twenty-fifth viceroy, Antonio Sebastian de
Toledo, Molina y Salazar, marqués de Mancera,* ar-
rived at Vera Cruz in July 1664, but his entrance
into Mexico was delayed for several months, when,
notwithstanding an order of the crown, it was made
on the 15th of October with the usual ceremonies.’
On the same day he took possession of the govern-
ment.” His previous career had already given him
an opportunity to exhibit his abilities, and he now
showed that his election was fully justified.

Immediately after his arrival the drainage of Lake
Zumpango was recommenced. The undertaking had
been begun nearly a century before, but was still in a
backward condition. Under Mancera a friar of the

13 His appointment was chiefly caused by the valuable services rendered
in mpgreasing the revolt of the Indians of Tehuantcpec. Florencia, Hist.
Prov. Comp. Jesus, 232, says erroneously that from his see of Oajaca he was
promoted to that of Puebla. In August 1665 he fell sick, and on September
2d he died. Five days afterward his bulls arrived from Spain. His biogra-

hy was written by Antonio Robles, the author of the Diario de sucesos nota-
tlec, under the title Resguardo contra el olvido...de la vida.. .del Illmo Sr
Dr D. Alonso de Cuevus Ddvalos, Mexico, 1757, pp. xliv. 208, 38. It contains
minute details of the bishop’s life, and the miracles he wrought, but little
historical material. The work is less bigoted than others of that character
and epoch—the beginning of the eighteenth century. See also Vetancert,
Trat. Mex., 25; Concilios Prov., 1656665, 221, 308-9; Robles, Diario, i. 4-5,
12; Medina, Chrdn. 8. Diego, 240.

14Sefior del Marmol y de las cinco Villas, tesorero general de la Orden
de Alcdntara, were his other titles according to Miravel y Casaderante,
El gran Dicc., vii. 132. He was also comendador de Pucrto-llano in the
order of Calatrava and belonged to the council of war. Palafox, Estatutos De-
dicatoria. Later Mancera was made a grandee of Spain. When he came to
Mexico he had already a splendid record as an able official, having been em-
bassador of the crown at Venice and in Germany.

15 A cédula of July 1663 forbade public demonstrations or receptions to
all new viceroys, for the reason that tf\ey entailed too much expense on the
respective towns and villages. Ordenes de la Corona, MS., i. 11. Rivera,
Gobernantes, i. 214, asserts that no public reception took place, and that
Mancera presented to the king the money appropriated by the city to cover
the expenses. A contemporary, Guijo, gives, however, a minute description
of the festivities held in honor of his arrival, and one which differs little, if
at all, from those celebrated on similar occasions. Diario, 553-5.

18| orenzana, Ilist. N. Exp., 25, followed by Panes, Vireyes, MS., 103,

erroneously places his succession to the government in the year 1665.
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Franciscan order was put in charge of the work,”
and earnest efforts were made for its completion.
Although this was not accomplished, greater progress
was made than under any of his predecessors, and at
a smaller cost.® The work was confirmed by his suc-
cessor, the archbishop Ribera, and concluded in the
middle of 1675, inundations which occurred mean-
while having caused operations to be pushed with
vigor.® A te deum was sung in the cathedral, and
other solemnities celebrated the event.

The viceroy’s attention was now directed to financial
and military affairs, both of which were in a deplorable
condition, owing to the indolence and dishonesty of

revious rulers. Convinced that the creation of new
mmposts would not check the evil, and only add new
burdens to those under which the inhabitants were
already laboring, he began his reforms by improv-
ing the administration of the treasury department.
When he arrived he not only found the strong-box
empty, but was faced by a considerable amount of
debts, contracted in preceding years, when the ex-
penses had always exceeded the income. Exercising
a strict vigilance, and submitting the officials to fre-
quent inspections,”® he put an end to the peculations®
which had been committed in all the different branches

" His name was Manuel de Cabrera, and a monthly salary of 200 pesos was
assigned him. Guijo, Diario, 562-3. Mancera, in the instructions to his suc-
cessor, calls him Juan de Cabrera in one place, in another Manuel.

18 The cxcavations made during the time of Mancera extended over 1,693
varas, the expense amounting to 138,550 pesos. Sce Mancera's report to his
successor, in Instrucc. Vireye:, 263—4. This statement is doubtless more
reliable than that given by Rivera, Gobernantes, i. 236, who speaks of 1,319
varas with a cost of 105,950 pesos.

19 Still the work seems to have been insufficient, for in 1678 another inun-
dation, which damaged the drain somewhat, has been recorded. Robles, Diario,
i. 268. Another peril, though of a different nature, threatened Mexico from
the close proximity of the powder-mill and magazine. Mancera averted the
danger by removing the establishment to a greater distance, and distributi
the powder in several depots, each of which contained only a small qua.ntila.
short time after this was done a flash of lightning struck the factory without
causing any damage.

20+ El primer mévil que da impulso 4 la corriente y pura recaudacion de los
Reales haberes, conteniendo el desdrden. . .es el temor de las cuentas.” Man-
cera. in [ustrucc. Virreyex, 200.

21 In the custom-house alone they amounted in less than two years to more
than 160,000 pesos. Id., 296.
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of the de;mrtment, and was able to leave it to his
successor free of debts, and with an increased revenue.
Besides attending strictly to all the remittances which
then were made to the West India Islands, the Phil-
ippines, and in support of the various presidios, he still
sent more than four million pesos to [S)pam

After the death of Felipe IV., whose obsequies
were celebrated in Mexico with becommg solemnity,”
the queen-regent gave to her loyal subjects of New
Spain a proof of confidence, not uncommon at that
time, by appealing to them for voluntary donations
to meet the increased expenses caused by the change
in the government. Viceroy and archbishop imme-
diately set the example® by subscribing a considerable
amount, which in a short time was swelled to more
than a hundred thousand pesos. It was only natural
that such patriotism should be recognized, and the
crown expressed its approval in several cédulas, the
last of which, dated June 11, 1672, directed that the
viceroy should instruct his successor as to his policy
in financial matters.

Mancera’s reforms in military affairs were less suc-
cessful, chiefly in consequence of the lukewarm codp-
eration of the government in the mother country.
The latter indeed issued on one occasion orders re-
ducing the pensions and gratuitous subventions, and
appropriated the amount thus saved to the support
of a fleet,” but contradictory instructions, now direct-
ing the vessels to protect the coasts of New Spain
and the islands, now recalling them to Spain, left the

BThe had died on September 17, 1665; his demise was published in
l(enoo the th of May 1666, and all persons were ordercd under fine to put

. Early in June the viceroy received the formal visits of condo-

lmee from the audiencis, inquisition, chapter of the cathedral, and the re-

orders; funeral services were also held, but the exequies proper were

not celebrated till July, when they lasted for about a month. After the
beginning of November mourning was laid aside. Robles, Dairio, i. 18—27

8 The former b{‘makmg a gift of 12,000, the latter one of 8,000

* A royal cédula of July 3, 1669, reduced all the pensions ‘of dumﬂ
or less to 200, and beyond that to one half of their original amount. None
were to exceed 4,000 ducats, ‘%1: en esta forma es bastante la recompensa

go .pueda recargar sobre el Real Patrimonio, quando se halla tan exausto.’
ontemayor, Svmarios, 265-6.
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commerce of the colonies at the mercy of the corsairs.
Disregard was also shown to the pressing demands
of the marqués for the improvement of the defenses of
the coast ports on the North and South seas. His
request that the fortifications of San Juan de Ulda
should be repaired were not even answered.*

It was hoped that the treaty concluded between
England and Spain, October 8, 1670, whereby either
power was granted the sovereignty over the lands
then in their possession in the Indies, and all trade
forbidden between the two nations in those regions,
would be of benefit to the provinces; but such was
not the case. The governor of Jamaica, Thomas
Lynch, continued to grant the pirates a tacit protec-
tion, and it was only under his successor, Lord
Vaughan, that the licenses given to the corsairs were
revoked, and a number of the sea-robbers hanged,
when, in disregard of warnings, they returned to that
island to dispose of their booty.

In the beginning of 1672 some English buccaneers
landed near the mouth of Goazacoalco River, and
thence made raids on the neighboring villages. The
viceroy, afraid of provoking hostilities, or for some
other reason, did not proceed against them, but asked
for instructions from Spain. In reply he was rebuked
for his hesitation, and ordered to dislodge the invaders,
and try the captured pirates in Mexico, instead of send-
ing them to Spain, as had been usual. An expedition
was despatched, and succeeded in driving the English
vessel ashore, where it was burned. The crew, how-
ever, fled to the woods. Subsequently detachments

* Mancera himself bad inspected them in the beginning of 1670. Mancera,
in Instruce. Vireyes, 277; Robles, Diario, i. 86. It was not alone from pirates
that danger threatened Vera Cruz; a garrison of tolerable force was also re-
quired to prevent an outbreak of the negro slaves, who at intervals had been
sent there, sometimes several hundred at a time. In 1669 about 500 of them,
when near Vera Cruz, on the road to Mexico, had risen, overpowered and
killed the escort, and fled to the woods. It became necessary to send forces
;yainst them to remove such dangerous neighbors from the principal port of

ew Spain.
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were also sent against British corsairs near Campeche,
and in the Laguna de Términos, but their operations
were confined to the destruction of some settlements
on the coast, as the deep draught and unwieldy shape
of the Spanish ships prevented them from pursuing
the enemy in the shallow water. :

In matters of local interest, as well as in the affairs
of state, Mancera proved himself a zealous ruler.
Aroused by the comments made in Europe on the
slow progress of the cathedral building of Mexico, he
set to work energetically to hasten its completion.
In 1573, as already mentioned, the construction of a
temple worthy the high rank which the capital of New
Spain occupied among all the colonies of the crown,
had been commenced. The grandeur of its plan was,
however, equalled only by the dilatoriness with which
it was executed. In 1615 only part of the outer walls
had been finished, but in 1623 the vaults of the main
sacristy were ready, and three years later the old
cathedral was pulled down; the host was transferred
to the new building, and divine service performed
there. From that time progress was slow, and the
great inundation of 1629 caused it to be entirely in-
terrupted till toward the end of 1635, when work was
resumed with zeal by Viceroy Cadereita, and con-
tinued with good results by his successors.?

The activity of Alva de Liste, who brought the
completion within the reach of probability as was gen-
erally said, and in whose time the construction of a
tower over the ciborium was begun, was, however,
eclipsed by that of the duke of Alburquerque. Owing
to the latter’s personal interest, his frequent pecuniary

% Under Cadereita the first vaults of the principal nave and five others
of the aisles were concluded. During Escalona’s rure part of the main nave
was covered, and in 1641 the holy sacrament placed there, as the sacristy
proved too small. Sariiana, Not. breve, 8. At the time of Viceroy Salvatierra,
other vaults as also some chapels being sufficiently advanced, the conse-
cration of Archbishop Mailosca took place in 1645, and this circumstance
probably misled Gonzalez Dévila who asserts that during Mafiosca’s rule the
cathedral was completed. Teatro Ecles., i. 66.
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donations, and the premiums he gave to the work-
men, great progress was made. The number of
bells™ was increased, the tower and several of the
vaults finished, and the remainder of the church
covered with a roof of wood. On the 30th of Jan-
uary, 1656, the dean and chapter assembled in the
cathedral, and were joined by the viceroy, his consort,
daughter, and attendants; the doors were closed, and
an appropriate speech was made by the duke, referring
to the condition of the work and his satisfaction at the
progress attained. Then in the name of the king he
formally delivered the temple with the keys to the
chapter. In succession the viceroy, accompanied only
by his wife and daughter, proceeded to the presbytery,
and kneeling kissed its first step ¢ with all veneration
and respect.’” This done the three august personages
began to sweep that part of the church in a thorough
way, as the pious chronicler remarks.®

The formal dedication was ordered to be held on the
2d of February. The different religious orders, and
the alcaldes de corte, were assigned sites in the neigh-
borhood of the cathedral whereon to erect altars and
make other preparations. All was in readiness by the
end of January, and neither money nor pains was
spared to produce a spectacle which for its magnifi-
cence surpassed all others of similar character. One
order had vied with another in the decoration of the
altars, covering them with costly trimmings of brocade
and embroidery in gold and silver. On them were
placed the images of the patron saints, often of superior
workmanship, and always of costly material. The
streets along which the procession was to march had

been gaudily decorated, and all passing of carriages

7 According to Sarifiana, Not. breve, 14, Alburquerque increased the nuriber
from 8 to 20. Guijo, in his Diario, 279-326, passim, gives minute accounts
of 19, assigning to the largest, named Doiia Maria, a weight of 44,000 pounds,
a figure which, if correct, would place it among the largest ever made.

1t may be added that, according to the same author, 200 Indians had
already done the preliminary cleaning of the temple some days before at the
expense of the viceroy. Guijo, Diario, 338-9.
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in them was forbidden for several days under pain of
forfeiture.

On the 1st of February all the religious orders,
brotherhoods, and other clergy, together with the dea-
cons, assembled in the atrium of the cathedral, with
crosses and candles, and the procession was formed.
Members of the brotherhood of San Pedro, with
burning lights, and red stoles over their surplices,
carried the images of San Pedro and of Our Lady of
Assumption, the patron of the church. They were
followed by the chapter of the cathedral, amongst
whom rode thirty knights of the military orders, the
dean Alonso de Cuevas D4valos with the holy sacra-
ment, the members of the university, the city author-
ities, the tribunals, the officials of the contadurias,
treasury, and audiencia; the viceroy Alburquerque
with his attendants, all richly attired, coming last.
When the priest carrying the host reached the cathe-
dral, the seven doors were opened, the holy sacrament
was placed in the ciborium, and after prayers had
been said the procession dispersed. Fireworks around
the church and on the tower, together with a general
illumination of the city, concluded the preliminary
festival.

The following day the cathedral was opened to the
public, but no mass was said during the early hours.
At ten o'clock the viceroy arrived, accompanied b
the university, audiencia, tribunals, and city council.
He was received at the main entrance by the chapter,
and conducted amid the ringing of bells into the
church,” while the te deum was being chanted. Re-
fusing the offered cushion he kneeled down, repeated
his prayers, kissed the first steps of the presbytery,
and was then led to his seat, close to which, though
separate, were those of his consort and his daughter.
After a procession in the cathedral with lighted
tapers, divine services began simultaneously in the
four different chapels into which the church had been

® ‘Como &i fuera recfen venido.” Guijo, Diario, 346.
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divided. It was a novel spectacle to the people of
Mexico, upon whom it made a deep impression. The
dean, officiating at the main altar, pronounced the
dedication, to which the canénigo magistral responded
in a sermon, which lasted several hours. At night
the cathedral and city were again illuminated, and so
every night during the ten days which the celebra-
tion lasted,® the scrmons being preached in turn by
members of the different religious orders. Every day
viceroy, audiencia, and other principal magistrates
were present, and the same undiminished enthusiasm
was shown by the people.

Alburquerque continued the work on the cathedral,
and in October, 1659, a number of houses surrounding
the building were demolished in order to allow more
space for the majestic pile. His successors Baiios and
Osorio inherited his sympathy but not his zeal for the
work, and it advanced but slowly under their adminis-
tration. Under Mancera, however, a notable change
took place, and such progress was made, that in the
beginning of 1667 he was able to inform the king a
proximately when the whole interior of the church
would be finished. In reply the sovereign expressed
his thanks for the energy displayed and requested him
to continue his efforts. The viceroy had not promised
too much; for on the 22d of December the second
solemn dedication of the temple took place. It was
a festival similar to the onc held eleven years before,
though the solemnities did not last so long.* The
total cost up to that date exceeded a million and three

30The daily consumption of wax alone amounted to 150 pounds, and its
cost was defrayed by the Cofradia del Santisimo Sacramento. Guijo, Diario,
i The 224 of December was selected, it being the birthday of the queen
of Spain. The festivities were essentially in the same style and on the same
scale as under Alburquerque. One of the sermons was delivered on that
occasion by the Doctor Isidro Sarifiana, a parish priest of Mexico, and in 1668
he published it together with a description of the celebration and an historical
account of the cathedral since its beginning. The title is Noticia breve De La
Solemne. . . Dedicacion del Templo Metropolitano de Mezico, pp. 50, 28. The
work is dedicated to the consort of the viceroy, Leonor Maria del Carreto,

and contains, besides its historical records, a panegyric of the christian re-
ligion, the sovereigns of Spain, and their representatives in New Spain.
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uarters of pesos, but was considerably increased im
ter years, as the completion was not finally effected
till the beginning of the present century.®
The dimensions of the cathedral are 393 feet in
length from north to south, by 192 feet in width from
east to west.® The architecture is of the Doric
order,* all the columns, bases, capitals, cornices, and
friezes being of hewn stone, and the other work of
tetzontli.®
The whole edifice, containing fourteen chapels, is
divided into five parts, the principal one, the main
nave, being 53 feet wide from column to column.
Five portals give entrance, three of them facing the
great square or plaza toward the south, while light is
admitted by 174 windows. The cupola, 184 feet
above the pavement, and of octagonal form, is sur-
mounted by a fanal 44 feet high. In this magnificent
temple were placed many and valuable images and
ornaments. Among the former the most remarkable
was that of Our Lady of the Assumption, wrought of
gold, as was also the pedestal and the four angels sup-
porting the image.® Another was that of Our Lady of
the Conception of pure silver,” and less valuable ones

33 Hernandez, Estad. Méj., 257-8, says that expenses till 1677 amounted’
to 2,543,264 pesos. The annual appropriation from the royal treasury was.
18,500 pesos; and one year 13,000 pesos more were granted by the crown.
8arilana, Not. breve, 20. Bustamante in Aleyre, Hist. Comp. Jesus, ii. 410,
makes a blunder when he gives the cost up to 1667 as 1,050,000 pesos. Worse
still is Saavedra in Dicc. Univ., ii. 280, who asserts that the cathedral was
finished in 1657 by Marcos Ramirez de Prado and dedicated by him on the
22d of December, the amount expended so far being 1,759,000 pesos. Ramirez
did not become archbishop of Mexico till November1666, and died the follow- -
ing Jear in May, seven months before the inauguration of 1667 took place.

Orozco y %erm, in Dicc. Univ., v. 674, copies the above statement of °
Sarifiana, but is evidently mistaken in his Mem. Ciud. Mex., 96, where he:
mentions 130} and 61 metres. Saavedra, in loc. cit., differs again, saying:
155" and 73 varas.

Vetancurt, Trat. Mez., 17, says it is of the Ionic order.

® A red, light, hard, porous stone, which was found in the neighborhood
of Mexico and extensively used for buildings. See also Native Races, ii..
160, 557, 568, this series.

beTta weight is that of 139 marks of gold, then representing 6,984 pesos

oro.

& Weigbi:g.l% marks and more than one vara high ; it was a present of"
the silversmiths of Mexico. Since 1618 it had had its own chapel. Ribera,.
Gobernanies, i. 221, says erroneously it was of gold.

Hsr. Mxx., Vor. III. 12
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were distributed in the different chapels. Of consid-
erable value were also the church vessels, among which
a silver baptismal font, and a monstrance of the same
metal, especially excited admiration.®

Although the viceroy proved himself beyond doubt
a man of christian character, he would not allow the
least encroachment of the church upon his prerog-
atives as the representative of the king. In 1666 a
litigation arose between him and the inquisition about
a small sum of money which the holy office had forcibly
extracted from the royal treasury at Guadalajara under
some trivial pretext. Mancera objected, and with the
consent of the audiencia, notwithstanding loud protests
of the inquisition, obliged the latter to refund the
money. Both parties appealed to the king, who after
-some investigations had been made approved the mar-
qués’ conduct.” At other times disputes sprang up
between him and the clergy about that fruitful source
of discord, the royal patronage, but he usually con-
trived to check their aspirations when too grasping,
while on other occasions he would give way if it
could be done without prejudice to the crown. He
was prompted to the latter course by the king, who
while approving his efforts to maintain the royal au-
thority, intimated that he disliked such quarrels, from
‘which, moreover, little benefit was derived.®

The viceroy always pursued a conciliatory policy,

B The value of the candlesticks and chandeliers for ordinary use alone
Tepresented a considerable sum. ‘Solamente en vn facistor, seis blandones
Imperiales del altar, quatro mayores de cirios. . .y los Ciriales, sirven al culto
casi de ordinario mil y cinquéta y siete marcos de plata.’ Sarifiano, Not.
breve, 28.

¥ The inquisition qualified the order of the viceroy for the repayment of
‘theamount seized as ‘injusta inusitada y de malas consecuencias,’ and told him
#0 in plain language. Manecra, in Instruce. Vireyes, 270-1.

w Fn the instructions given by Mancera to his successor he quaintly remarks,
that notwithstanding his long experience, obtained both in Peru and New
Spain, he still has remained so ignorant of the patronage question ‘que lo
que he aprendido es solo saber, que la ignoro, y que su acierto consiste en
puntos y dpices indivisibles.” He expresses the hope that the new appointee
may be more successful ‘amidst gulfs and reefs so very unsafe.’ /d.,



VICEREGAL REGULATIONS. 179

and thus dissensions which threatened to end in a
serious rupture between him and the archbishop
were avoided. They had been caused by the com-
plaints of the latter about several of the religious
orders, and were decided against the primate when
brought before the audiencia. The government even
threatened him, though in vain, with a suspension of
the temporalities. Ribera refused to obey, but was
finally persuaded to do so under protest through the
intercession of the inquisition.*

When the end of his second term of office drew
mnear, Mancera had requested to be relieved; but the
sovereign was not willing to part with such an able
governor, and prolonged his term for three years more,
the news reaching Mexico in the beginning of Octo-
ber 1670.2 At about the same time a cédula arrived
by which the viceroys of New Spain were again author-
ized to appoint governors ad interim for the Philip-

ine Islands,a right which had been revoked in 1664,

ut was now restored* upon the representations of the
wviceroy to the India Council. Although the condi-
tion of affairs in New Spain was at this time fairly
prosperous, several calamities occurred during Man-
cera’s administration. Soon after his succession to the
wviceroyalty an eruption of Popocatepetl took place,
lasting four days, and the showers of ashes and stones
threw into consternation the entire population of the
surrounding districts.# At about the same time a
tornado struck Vera Cruz, causing an inundation,
which flooded the city and did considerable damage.

€ According to Robles, Diario, i. 834, a rather powerful influence was
exercised by the marqués’ consort, who threatened to enter the convent of
Santa Teresa if no reconciliation were effected.

42 A few days before, a large torch-light procession had been held in honor
of the king’s birthday.

©By cédulas of October 22, 1669, and May 6, 1670. Mancera, Instruccion,
in Col. Doc. Inéd., xxi. 462-3, and in Instrucc. Vireyes, 266.

# Authorities differ about the date. Lorenzana, Hist. N. Esp., 25, says it
was in the same ;‘:‘r when Mancera arrived, but gives the latter erroneously
s 1663. Cavo, Siglos, ii. 47, also adopts 16&, in which he is followed
by Rivers, Hist. Jalapa, i. 93, but this writer makes the blunder of placing
it under the rule of Bafios.
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The fleet, then at anchor, suffered also to a great ex-
tent; one of the larger vessels broke her chains and
was driven on a reef, where she was lost with all her
cargo,” while two smaller ones foundered. Two years
later, in the middle of 1667, earthquakes began to
alarm the population, but although the first on July
30th is said to have somewhat injured the tower of
the church of Santa Clara at Mexico, and the cathe-
dral of Puebla, subsequent shocks, which occurred at
smaller or greater intervals till May 1668, seem to
have caused little damage.

A more serious affliction, however, was threatened
by a failure of the crops of maize and cacao in the
year 1673, producing a famine which caused great
hardship to the natives.* The viceroy in unison with
the city council strove to alleviate the evil, introduc-
ing into Mexico grain from other parts. While thus
engaged hc learned that his successor, the duke of
Veraguas, had arrived; and in consequence laid down
the government on the 9th of November 1673. A
few days later he left the city for Otumba, where he
had an interview with the new ruler. He also gave
him, by order of the king, a full report upon the con-
dition of the country, together with suggestions for
its government.*

About the beginning of April 1674 the marquis set

It was on a reef called ‘Bajo de la Lavandera,’ according to Bustamante
in dlegre, Hist. Comp. Jesus, ii. 439. Robles, Diario, i. 12, gives the name of
the vessel as * E1 Buen Suceso,’ differing from Ale, loc. cit., who names it
8an Javier and relates in a long story, how a few planks of the ship, with the
image of that saint, floated against tide and wind to the city, and remained
at the doors of the Jesuit college till they were recovered by two pious
fathers. Since that time the image has been highly venerated, and is smid to
have miraculously maintained the original freshness of its colors.

#The Indian population increased under the rule of Mancera, as was
ascertained by a census taken by his order, to vindicate the charge alleged

inst the Spanish government of fostering the systematic extermination of

e natives. Mancera, in Instrucc. Vireyes, 266.

47 The full text of these instructions, dated October 22, 1673, may be found
in Instruce. Vireyes, 257-301. In this document Mancera gives a minute de-
scription of the condition of the country, of important events which occurred
under his rule, and of all noteworthy affairs. It is of very interesting char-
acter, free from all ostentation; it reveals the superior administrative talent

of the retiring viceroy, and contains much valuable information, and many
suggestions to guide his successor.
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out from Mexico,” but on reaching Tepeaca his wife
fell sick and died. Her funeral was held on the 28th
of April in the cathedral of Mexico by the archbishop,
and EIancera sailed from Vera Cruz the 3d of July.
His rule had lasted more than nine years and had
materially changed for the better the aspect of affairs
in New Spain.

Almost two hundred years had now elapsed since
the discovery of the New World, when the services
of the great navigator were again acknowledged by
exalting one of his descendants to the viceroyalty of
New Spain. Pedro Nuiio Colon de Portugal, duque
de Veraguas y de la Vega, marqués de -.% amaica, a
grandee of Spain of the first class, and knight of the
golden fleece, was appointed as the twenty-sixth
representative of the sovereign of Castile and Leon.®
On the 26th of September 1673 he arrived at Vera
Cruz, and on the 8th of December made his official
entry into Mexico, taking possession of the govern-
ment. He was well advanced in years, and in a few
days died, that is to say on the 13th, and so suddenly
that not even the last sacraments could be adminis-
tered. His death brought much grief, for he was
said to be kind and benevolent, and the steps taken
by him to alleviate the condition of the natives
seemed to justify the opinion. The obsequies were
held with the pomp becoming his illustrious rank, and
threeul Jears later the remains were taken to the family
vault.

®His residencia had been begun November 20, 1673, by the oidor Juan
de G4rate y Francia, but nothing about its result is known.

@ Alaman, Disert., i. 1st app. 12, iii. app. 36, makes some contradictory
Watements upon the question whether he was at that time a duke of Vera-
guas and grandece of the first class. See also Hist. Cent. Am., i. 274, this
wries. Guijo, Diario, 519, speaks of the appointment in 1663, of a duke of
Ve as successor of Viceroy Bafios.

s g the fleet which sailed from Vera Cruz June 29, 1676. Robles, Diario,
L 218. Cavo, Tres Siglos, ii. 52, supposes the remains were taken to Santo

ingo. Robles intimates that they were sent to Spain, which version has
h“ein pted by Rivera, Gobernantes, i. 240, and is, Hist. M¢j., v.
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The appointment of the duke of Veraguas as vice-
roy of New Spain had been made more with a view
of distinguishing that personage than from political
reasons. Foreseeing that in a%.l probability his rule
would be only of short duration, the queen regent
sent by the same fleet which carried him a sealed
letter to the inquisition with instructions for its de-
livery to the audiencia as soon as his decease should
occur. In compliance with this order the document
was presented on the 13th of December 1673, and it
was learned that Fray Payo Enriquez de Rivera was
appointed successor.™

The new ruler was a native of Seville, and the son of
the duke of Alcald, viceroy of Naples.®® In 1628 he
professed in the Augustinian order, and having studied
in Salamanca, and obtained the degrees of master of
philosophy and theology, held subsequently several
important offices in Spain till 1657, when he was pre-
sented to the see of Guatemala,® and thence in 1667
promoted to that of Michoacan. But before reach-
ing his new diocese he learned of his appointment
to the archbishopric of Mexico,* where he arrived
toward the end of June 1668, the see having been
vacant since the death of his predecessor, Marcos
Ramirez de Prado.* The latter having been pre-
viously bishop of Michoacan for nearly twenty-six

51 Doubts having arisen whether he was also vested with the presid
of the audiencia, a cédula from Spain, which arrived in February 1675, set-
tled the question by appointing him gresident.. Robles, Diario, i. 177.

52 His name is differently given by the various authorities. Lorensana,
in Concilios Prov., 1555-65, 291, calls him Fray Payo de Rivera. In Rivera,
Gobernantes, i. 241, the name has been reversed to Payo de Rivera Enriquez.
The same author, following apparently a version of the Dicc. Univ., iii. 207,
says lic was a natural son.

* Nce Hist. Cent. Am., ii. 667-8, this series, for his career as bishop of thas
diocese.

54Sosa, Episcop. Mez., 142, makes him bishop of Chis and bishop
elect of Michga.cu{)at the time of his promotion to the see of E;xmo. Zama-
cois, Jist. M¢j., v. 422, says Rivera was then in Michoacan.

8 The appointments being always made optional, his pall did not arrive
till October, 1670. Two months later, on the 8th of December, he was for-
maley installed as archbishop.

He was a Franciscan and a native of Spain, but being of an advanced
age, succumbed to the change of climate, when he proceeded from Michoacan
to Mexico. His piety seems to have been equalled by his charity, and greas
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years, had been appointed archbishop in November
1666, but died in May of the following year.

A general feeling of satisfaction prevailed when the
appointment of Rivera as viceroy gecame known, for
the fame he had acquired in Guatemala, and during
his pastoral labors in the capital, had justly won for
him the good opinion of the people. It had been
through his influence that the E])3ethlehemii:es, estab-
lished in Guatemala since 1653, and the first relig-
ious order created in America, were induced to extend
their labors to Mexico. The congregation of San
Francisco Javier, which had not been recognized b
the king, were persuaded by the archbishop to cede
their house to the new-comers. The latter to the
number of four, Francisco de la Misericordia, Gabriel
de Santa Cruz, Juan Gilbé, and Francisco del Rosario,
the superior,® took possession of the building, and
being aided by the viceroy, and the count of Santiago,
were enabled ere long to open a hospital for conva-
lescents, and subsequently aIl)so a church, the former
on the 31st of May 1675, and the latter on March 25,
1677,% and gradually their labors extended more and
more, the example given by the viceroy Rivera, in
defraying the expenses of the hospital for every first
day of the month, having been followed by other
donations from prominent citizens. Later, however,

eulogy is bestowed on him for his untiring zeal during an epidemic, which in
1643 swept away a great part of the population of Michoacan. Gonzalez Dd-
wila, Teatro, i. 130-4; Romero, in Soc. Mex. Geoy., Boletin, 1a ép. viii. 543—4.
Before and after the succession of Ramirez to the archbishopric, noisy dis-
turbances had occurred between the members of the chapters, two parties
having sprung up, both of which claimed a right to the most important offices.
The dissensions lasted from 1665 to 1667 amf excited considerable scandal in
the city. Robles, Diario, i. 7-10, 39047.

$7See Hist. Cent. Am., ii. 666-7, this series, for the establishment of the
order in Guatemala.

%8 Garcia, Hist. Beth., ii. 110, gives the first name, probably by misprint,
a8 Francisco de la Miseria; Vetancurt speaks only of three brothers, mention-
ing one as Francisco de San Miguel, in which he is followed by Cabrera. Es-

de Armas, 429; Trat. Mex., 37. Orozco y Berra, Mem. Ciud. Mez., 133,
says two brothers began the foundation at Mexico.

% Robles, Diario, 1. 189, 232; Vetancvrt, Trat. Mex., 37; Cavo, Tres Siglos,
il. 556; Medina, Chrdn. 8. Diego, 12. Orozco y Berra, Mem. Ciud. Mez., 133,
dm'cin, assigning the dates as May 29, 1675, and February 12, 1677, respec~
tively.
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hospitals for sick persons in general, and prim
schools for children, were founded, together with
houses where food and shelter were provided for
travellers and strangers. The members lived accord-
ing to monastic rules after the Augustinian rites, but
were subject to secular jurisdiction.® Their four vows
of poverty, chastity, obedience, and hospitality were
binding only while they remained in the brotherhood,
but after a membership of three years they were al-
lowed to bind themsegves for life by an additional
vow.

On his departure from New Spain in 1680 the vice-
roy further showed his regard for the order by making
a donation of a thousand pesos and presenting them
with all his carriages.® Rivera proved himself no less
capable as a military leader than as a prelate, and in-
deed it was necessary that at this epoch, when the
coasts of New Spain were continually infested with
corsairs, the one at the head of affairs should possess
the qualities of a soldier. Meetings were convoked,
and measures adopted to prepare against threatened
depredations. A council was held in February 1675
to discuss the means of raising a force of nine hundred
men, asked for by the governor of Campeche. Soon
afterward news reached the capital from Habana that
a hostile force of about fifteen hundred men was pre-

aring to land between old and new Vera Cruz, and
immediately steps were taken to place that port in a
state of defence. Ammunition was sent there, com-
panies of cavalry were raised, and guns placed at the

% The bull of Pope Clement X., issued in 1674, placed the order under the
jurisdiction of the bishop, Medina, Chrdn. S. Diego, 12, but the royal cédula
of February 29, 1676, permitting its cstablishment in Mexico, forbids
the establishment of a convent, ‘que no ha de ser ereccion Eclesiastica,
sino sugeta é incorporada al Real Patronato...apartando todo u;uello, que
puedo tener color de Convento, 6 Casa Religiosa, ¢ Eclesiastica,’ expresaly
placing it under secular jurisdiction. Montemayor, Svmarios, 11. xI'I::n' the
rules of the order see Garcta, Hist. Beth., ii. 174-97.

61 A detailed account of the Bethlehemite order will be found in Gareta,
Hist. Beth., ii. 100 et seq. Vetancurt, Trat. Mez., 37-9, gives also many
pa.rl;ciculnn, as the founder, Pedro de San José Vetancur, was a near relative
to him.
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openings of the streets. The inhabitants, however,
be§an to leave the town, taking with them their valu-
ables.® Fortunately the alarm proved to be false, for
on the 19th of June 1675 letters from Habana were
received stating that no enemy had appeared as yet,
and the panic subsided. At about the same time ru-
mors spread of other projected invasions on the South
Sea coast, and preparations had also to be made in that
direction. At greater or less intervals similar news
was received during the following years.®

In 1678 the pirates operated successfully against
Campeche, and during the same year exaggerated re-
ports announced the presence of eleven sail in sight
of Vera Cruz. A meeting was hastily summoned, the
treasure ready for remittance to Spain was sent to
Jalapa, and the despatch of the fleet delayed. It was
soon learnt that the hostile force consisted of but one
vessel, which, defying the Spaniards, had been so
daring as to enter the port of Vera Cruz and recon-
noitre. This feat was afterward repeated by another
ship, but as the garrison had been reénforced by the
viceroy no attack was made.

Much difficulty was found in raising the required
force for the Philippine Islands. Many of the sol-
diers dreading the climate would desert before reach-
ing Acapulco, and new schemes had to be devised to
obtain recruits. Thus in 1677 all criminals willing to
enlist were pardoned, and one hundred and twenty-five
pesos a year given them as pay. Still, only a small
number could be induced to accept this offer.

While Rivera was actively engaged in discharging

6280 says the contemporary author, Robles, Diario, i. 191. Still Zama-
cois speaks of the extreme valor of the inhabitants, who ‘grasping their
swords anxiously awaited the moment to cross them with those of their ene-
mies.” Hist. M¢)., v. 424.

©Tn April 1676 it was said that gre tions were made at Jamaica to
capture the treasurefleet. Some months later rumors spread that Pdnuco had
been taken by the enemy. Robles, Diario, i. 216-19. The following year
several vessels cruised in the neighborhood of Alvarado but escaped the pur-
suit of an armament sent against them. Id., 237-8, 242-3. Panes, Vireyes,
MS., 104, speaks of serious losses caused to the English by the gallant resist-
ance of the inhabitants of Alvarado.
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the more urgent duties of his position, he by no means
neglected internal affairs. The pavements of the city
were repaired, improvements were made in the vice-
regal palace, and the drainage labors were concluded
in 1675. In 1676 it had also been decreed that gold
be coined in Mexico, but it was not till 1679 that
the first pieces were stamped. On that occasion the
viceroy and the audiencia repaired to the mint, to
witness the first coinage. Rivera’s pastoral labors,
however, did not suffer from the multitude of worldly
affairs which claimed his attention, as was proved
by the numerous consecrations of bishops, churches,
a.K‘.a.rs, and temples, held by him. There was no
great religious festival at which he failed to attend,
and occasionally he would ascend the pulpit and
preach. During the thirteen years that he wore the
mitre, he visited twice all the different parts of his
diocese.*

On several occasions the archbishop-viceroy had
requested of the crown and the holy see that he
might be removed from office, but both were unwilling
to dispense with the services of so faithful a servant.®
At last the king granted his petition, on account of
his impaired health, but desirous of retaining him
in his service, offered him the bishopric of Cuenca,
and the presidency of the India Council. In Sep-
tember 1680 the new viceroy arrived at Vera Cruz,
and in the following month Rivera formally deliv-
ered over the government. He remained, however,
in Mexico, where his residencia was being taken
by the oidor Frutos Delgado. On the 27th of Feb-
ruary 1681,% the latter published the sentence, ac-

6¢ For details see Vetancort, Trat. Mex., 25-6; Robles, Diario, i. 116-324,

im ; Sosa, Epixcop. Mex.,144-5. The latter authority asserts that Rivera
orbade, in 1670, all public processions on account of the disorders and excesses
to which they gave rise.

6 Repeatedly since 1675 rumors had reached Mexico of the appointment,
and sometimes even of the arrival at Vera Cruz, of a new viceroy, but they
bad always proved unfounded, and in every instance the people rejoiced that
this was the case. Rolles, Diario, i. 197-201, 216-17, 222-3, 236-7, 260, 270-1.

% Robles, Diario, i. 318. Sosa, Episcop. Mex., 149, without assigning an
sathority, says the 3d of May 1681.
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quitting the ex-viceroy of all the charges preferred
against him.”

Four months later, on the 29th of June, he took
leave of his flock in the cathedral,and the following day
left Mexico. The viceroy, at whose right side he was
seated, the audiencia, and the tribuna{fs accompanied
him to Guadalupe; the ringing of the bells gave no-
tice to the entire population of the departure of their
beloved prelate, and fervent prayers were offered in
all the churches for his safe return to Spain.®

On reaching Puerto Real in Spain, he resigned the
two high positions to which the king had recently

romoted him, and retired to the convent of Santa
gl[arfa del Risco. Still leading a pious, humble life,
he received while there further marks of favor from a
grateful sovereign. The king granted him a yearly
rental of four thousand ducats, to be defrayed by the
royal treasury of Mexico, and the pope gave him the
privilege of entering any church of Spain dressed in
the archiepiscopal garb. On the 8th of April 1684
he breathed his last,” and when the news of his de-
cease reached Mexico, imposing funeral services were
held in several of the churches to honor the memory
of one whose name was deeply graven on the hearts
of the people.” '

® This decision was formally ratified by the India Council on the 23d of
December of the same year. The same body recommended Rivera as worthy
of the king’s further protection. ¢ Declaré assimismo ser digno, y merecedor
de que su Magestad empleasse su persona...en a(.;}uellos y otros mayores

estos, condignos 4 su ajustado obrar.’ The tenor of the sentence is given in
Ebcm' , Sentencia, 1-4.

¢ Limes 30, dia triste para Méjico, se fué el Illmo y Exmo sefior maes-
tro D. Fr. Payo Enriquez de Rivera,’ says Robles, Diario, i. 324. C. M.
Bustamante in the Diario Curioso of Rivera, 18, makes the blunder of stating
that Rivera ruled 17 years as viceroy, from 1663 till 1680.

®]orenzana, in Concilios Prov., 1555-65, 222, 291-2, says in one F]we
1684, in another 1685; the latter date has erroneously been adopted by Juar-

Quat., 284.

9For fuller and additional references to authorities bearing on the pre-
ceding chapters see T'orquemada, iii. 596-7; Alegre, 1list. Comp. de Jesus., i.
43-65, 201-3; ii. 64, im; iii. 6-108, 165-72, 224-6, 251-2, 299; Cortés,
Hist. N. .y 22-8; Pinelo, Relacion, 4; Calle, Mem. y Not., 46, 54-8, 66, 73,
81-7, 122; Seriano, Prdlogo, MS., 7-9; Villa-Seflor y Sanchez, Theatro Mez.,
i 17-18; Robles, Vida del Arzbpo. Cueyas, 148, passim; Gonzalez Ddvila, Tea-
tro Ecles., i. 65 et seq.; ii. 34, 91-2; Ribas, Hist. Trivmphos, 735-44, Arrici-
vita, Cron. Serdfica, 158-206, 6517-18; Carriedo, Estudios Hist., 115; Concilioa
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Prov., 1655 y 1665 (ed. Mex. 1769), 218, passim; Florencia, Hist. Prov. Comp.
de Jesus, 174-6, 232; Medina, Cron. 8. Diego, 12, 27, 162-8, 240-1, 251-5;
Vireyes de Mex., MS., 1-3; Vetancort, Trat. Mez., 14-16, 25-6, 35-8, 52-3;
Cogollvdo, Hist. Yucathan, 215, passim; Villagrtierre, Hist. Conq. Itza, 165-7,
190-2, 437-46; Ordenes de la Corona, M3, i 7-11, 38, 182; ii. 198-221; iv.
2-8; vii. 4,6"-3 Col. Doc. Inéd., xxi. 440, 466 471; Izspmosa, Chron. Apod.
mo-ss Palafox y Mendoza, C’arta al Papa, 1647 1—38 Id., Carta del Ven-
erab., 47—401 Id., Obras, xi.-xiii., cnerab Senor, passim; Id.,
Vie du Venerab passim; R«aIaC ulaa, MS 148—9 Doc. Hist. .lla:., ném
Lhom.x.,pamm Id., série i. tom. ii., passnm, Id., "série ii. tom. vi 5-29;
Papeles de Jesuitas, MS 1-17; dela Padilla, Hsst Fond. Mex., 1-14, 29
45-62; Disturbios de Fraalea, MS., 129-43; Morelli, Fusti Nori Orbw 355,
440-1, 457-8, 479; Recop. de Iml i 212, 339 ii. 178; Figueroa, V' ndmaa,
MS,, 56 70; Montemuyor, Svmanoc, 10—11 91; Doc. Ecles. Mex., MS., i. 2;
ii. 13—14 v. 1-34; Ancona, Hist. Yuc., 11.239—3‘76 Castillo, Du:c Iltst 18.

Soc Mez. @eoq., Bol., viii. 543—4 Id., 2la €p.,_iv. 166-7; Monw-
smentos Domm. Izap ., MS., 15, Fpaaaxm Cam, 7rea Stglos, ii. im; Robles,
Diario, ii., passim; Correal oyage (ed. Paris), i. 46-64; l (ed. Amster-
dam), i, 52-73; Juarros, (,ompendw, 282-3; I1d., Guat., i. 284 Liceo Mezx.,
ii. 171-3, 186-7, 201-7, 222-3, 254-7, 283—3.);, Guijo, Dnano, ii., passim;
Laet, Am. Descript., 271-6; Soaa., E’pwcop Mez., 71-141; Zamacois, Hist.
Hq,lv 169, 653; v. 328-432; Alaman, Disert., iii. 28—38 184-5; Mayer’s
Mezx. Aztec, i. 198—"13 Touron Hist, Gen., vii. 309—86 viii. l 188; Lucunza.
Discursos Hist., no. xxxiv. 492 XXXV. 501—3 Bustamanle Efeméndu, i,
passim; Id., Dq/'cma, 27; Granadoe Tardes Am. 341-2 386—9.), Sammlung,
Aller Rewebech xiil 000—7, Museo, Ma: 1.49—133 m.230—3 Wilson's Mez.
and its Rdzgwn, 296; Vidal, Vida de Amana, passim; Regutro Yucateco, i
265-305, 354-6, 389-91 449—56 ii. 73-6, 116-17, 121-31, 143-5, 329-43;
Gallo, Hombres Tlust., ii. 303—12, Fancourt’s Hist. Yuc. .y 223—7, Prior's All
the Voya 57; Muller Reisen en Mez., iii. 192; Robertson’s Hist. Am., ii.
908-9; Velasqua, Carta, 1-31; Omcdo, hda, passim; Dice. Univ., i. 293,
804, passim; ii. 97, 252, 304, 352, 559-60; iil. 208 et seq.; iv. 171-2, 776,
790 v. 143, 183, 225 viii. 99 129-34, 138-9 149, 237-40, 3334, 511-12,

571-2, 607; ix. 143 n; x. 368 et seq.; Barbachano, Mem. Camp ., 10-12;
Alvarez, Estudios Hist., iii. 221-63; Damp:cra Voy., ii. pt. il. 9-39, 41- 199-
Btephens’ Yuc., ii. 194—5 Arromz, Biog. M 136—8 195-7; Id., Hu&'

Cron., 88, 110 Darien, quence, 11-13; I1d., lmdu‘ataon. 149-60;

Rev. Ma: 528 Navarrete, Relac. Peregrmo, ii. 30-1; iii. 27-33; Id. Tra

tad. Hist., 290—6 LaCru:,m637, Pap. Var., clnx., passim; clxxi.” 27 eb

0eq. ; Domenedl Hwt Mez., i. 276; Rivera, G’obernanlea de Mez., i. 127-2513

. Diario Mex., vii. 7; Nuevo Ma: Doc. Hist., MS., 1199-1200; Rivera, Hist,

Jalapa,x.82-97 Rubau.Smunaa,p-mm Lamo VidaddP Oviedo, 17
et seq.



CHAPTER X.

THE SACK OF VERA CRUZ, AND OTHER PIRATICAL RAIDS.
1680—1686.

THE ComsSAIRS IN CENTRAL AMERICA AND NEW SPAIN—LAGUNA APPOINTED
VicErRoY—VAN Horx THE SEA RovER—THE PIRATES RESOLVE TO AT-
TACK VERA CRUZ—THE CORSATR LORENCILLO—A CLEVER STRATAGEM—
VzrA CrOZ SURPRISED BY BUCCANEERS—THE INHABITANTS IMPRISONED
v THE CHURCHES—AND Kxpr ForR THREE Davs witHOUT FoOD OR
‘WaTER—THE CaPTIVES TAKEN TO THE ISLAND OF SAcrIFICIOS—DE-
PARTURE OF THE CORSAIRS—DIvVisioN or THE Boory—NEws or THR
Ra1p RECEIVED IN MEX1CO—FURTHER OPERATIONS OF THE FREEBOOTERS
—DaAMPIER AND OTHERS IN THE SOUTH SEA—END oF LAGUNA’S ADMIN-
ISTRATION.

Berween the years 1680 and 1687, it will be re-
membered, the principal towns of Central America
that lay near the shores of the South Sea were con-
tinually infested by pirates. The settlements on the
North Sea had been so frequently sacked that few of
them contained sufficient wealth to tempt the free-
booters, with the exception of Cartagena, which was
too strongly fortified to fall an easy prey. Neverthe-
less they were not exempt from attack. In August
1682 four French vessels entered the harbor of Porto-
bello and rescued a number of their countrymen who
were detained there as prisoners. From a negro slave
on board the squadron the governor ascertained that
fifteen French vessels had arrived at Martinique with
three thousand persons on board, the purpose of the
expedition being the colonization of Darien. In
Nicaragua news was received that two thousand fili-
busters were assernbled at the same point, intending

to make a raid on Panam4. Vera Cruz and other
(19)
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parts of New Spain were also threatened, and the
marqués de Laguna! who took office in November
1680, at once made preparations for defence; the
militia were called out; the principal harbors were
strongly fortified and garrisoned, and the armada de
Barlovento was refitted and ordered to cruise off the
coast of Tierra Firme.

But at this period corsairs ceased not to harass the
Spaniards on land and sea. During the absence of the
settlers they made sudden raids on the coast, sacked
the towns, and carried off the cattle, thus causiog many
thriving colonies to be abandoned. Hovering on the
shores of New Spain, they lay concealed in their light
swift craft behind some point or reef, whence on the
appearance of a treasure ship they darted like hawks
on their prey. Laying their vessels athwart the
Spaniard’s bow they raked her deck with musketry,
then pulled alongside, and dagger in hand swarmed
over the bulwarks. Rarely did they fail to secure
their prize, and often the Spaniards made no defense;
the pirates finding them on their knees in suppli-
cation to the virgin and the saints, who sadly failed
them in their emergencies.

In consequence of these depredations the viceroy
gave orders that no ship should leave Vera Cruz
without orders. This measure remedied the evil to
some extent; but still the corsairs lurked among the
numberless islands and reefs of the Bahama Channel,
through which vessels must pass on their way to
Spain, and many a richly laden craft fell a prize to
them before those on board were aware that an enemy
was within sight. On one occasion while the vice-
admiral of the treasure fleet was at dinner in his

!Don Tomés Antonio de la Cerda, conde de Paredes, marqués de la La-
(gl'una. de la orden de Alcantara, del Consejo de su Magestad, Camara, y junta
e Guerra de Indias. Ordenes de la Corona, MS., iv. 47. He took office on
November 30, 1680. Vetancvrt, Trat. Mex., 16. In Rivera, Gob., 252, heis
called Antonio de la Cerda y Aragon. According to this authority he wasa
man of illustrious family, the members of which had always been employed
in civil and military atfairs. He was accompanied by his wife, the Dodla
Maria Louisa Manrique de Lara y Gonzaga.
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cabin, his ship was boarded by a boat’s crew of twenty-
eight men in charge of a Frenchman named Pierre, a
native of Dieppe. So sudden and daring was the
attack that the vice-admiral and a number of officials
who sat at table with him found themselves prisoners
before they had time to gain the deck. The cap-
tives were put on shore at Cape Tiburon, and a few
weeks later Pierre entered the port of Dieppe with
his prize, which contained a rich freight of treasure
and merchandise. This adventurer 1s dignified in
buccaneer history by the title of le Grand.

In 1682 Tampico was sacked by corsairs and thirty
prisoners taken. During the same year a sea rover
named NicholasVan Horn captured two vessels off the
coast of Honduras. Van Horn is described as a man
of swarthy complexion and short stature, a thorough
seaman and a capable and far-sighted commander. I%e
began life as a common sailor, and remained in that

sition until he had saved money enough to purchase
a small craft of his own. Collecting a crew of twenty-
five or thirty men, he began his career as a pirate by
capturing several Dutch vessels, which he sold, and
with the proceeds sailed for Ostend and there pur-
chased a ship of war. His further operations were
successful, and in a few years he was in command of
a small fleet, with which he swept the seas, taking
many prizes, and requiring all but French vessels to
lower their flag as they passed him. Finally he gave
offence to the monarch of France, and a captain
named D’Estrées, being ordered to arrest him, put to
sea in a well armed frigate for that purpose. When
the captain’s vessel fell in with Van ﬁorn, the latter,
finding himself outsailed, and not wishing to fight,
for he was aware that D’Estrées was acting under
orders from the crown, boarded his ship in a small
boat, and demanded his intention in thus pursuing
him. “ To conduct you to France,” replied the cap-
tain. “But why?”’ exclaimed the pirate; “I have
given no cause of offence to his Majesty, and have
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made war only upon his enemies.” “My instruc-
tions are explicit,” rejoined D’Estrées, and after some
further parﬁay ordered the anchor to be weighed.
“What are you about?” cried the corsair angrily, and
looking the captain straight in the eye. “Think you
my men will not fight when they see me thus carried
off before their eyes? You will find that my lieuten-
ant is prompt to act, and that my crew fear neither
danger nor death.” The captain saw that his prisoner
meant what he said, and as he had no orders to risk
his vessel in an encounter with the corsair, he allowed
him to depart.

Van Horn had the reputation of being the bravest
of all the sea-rovers, and his crew was composed of
men after his own heart. During the hottest fight
he would closely observe their actions, and if any
showed signs of fear, such as stooping to avoid the
enemy’s missiles, he would shoot them dead on the
spot. But while he thus punished cowards, he re-
warded without stint those who distinguished them-
selves in action, for he had amassed enormous wealth,
and like others of his craft was lavish with his means.

Soon after joining the buccaneer fraternity he ob-
tained a commission from one of the French gov-
ernors, of whom there were now many in the West
Indies, and proceeded to the island of {{oatan, where
he was joined by captains Laurent de Gaff, Michel
Grammont, and others, who were there lying in wait
for Spanish vessels. He now proposed an expedition
against Vera Cruz, which was then the storing-place
for the treasure and merchandise which passed be-
tween New and Old Spain. The city was protected
by the island fortress of San Juan de Ulda, which
at that time was supposed to be impregnable. The
fortress was mounted with sixty guns which com-
manded the town, and swept the approach by sea.
and at the north-east and south-west corners of the
city were two other forts with twenty guns. A few
companies of veterans were stationed on the island;
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in the city itself was a garrison of trained soldiers, and
several thousand men could be concentrated within
twenty-four hours from the interior. The enterprise
was a bold one, and by many deemed too hazardous;
but the filibusters were now assembled in force, mus-
tering probably about a thousand strong,? and their
leaders were men fertile of resource.

ERA CRV
de -

Mar o VErRA Cruz.

2<Ce fut en l'année 1683, aprés avoir fait une revue générale de la
flotte, qui se trouva montée de deux cens Flibustiers, tous gens d'élite.” Ex-
quemelin, Hist. Flib., i. 269. Probably the 200 included only the French con-
tingent. They numbered over 1,000. Rivera, Gov. Mer., i. 255. 800 men,
Cavo, ii. 63-4. The expedition consisted of 960 men, a motley gathering,
$ncluding French, English, Spaniards, mulattoes, and Indians. Mowaico, i.
407. 8,000 men, Robles, Diario, i 370; Zamacois, v. 438. The last estimate:
Hist. Mxx., Veu, 1. 13
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Laurent, or as he is more frequently known by the
chroniclers Lorencillo, by which name we shall hence-
forth call him, was appointed commander of the fleet,
while Van Horn was in charge of the land forces.
The former i3 described as a tall, well proportioned,
and handsome man; light-haired and comely of aspect,
a generous ruffian withal, though of course always
alient profusus, and one very popular among his com-
rades. He was in fact a model corsair. It is not
recorded that he was ever guilty of quite such dia-
bolic atrocities as were laid to the charge of Morgan
or L’Olonnois, but if we can believe the Spanish rec-
ords of this period, his deeds were sufficiently diabol-
ical to be interesting. It is there stated that while
still a youth he was punished by an alcaldc of Tabasco
for some offence. Vowing vengeance he disappcared,
and not long afterward returned with a gang of male-
factors who sacked and burned the town and outraged
the women. But the account given by Esquemelm,
one of his fraternity,® and probably the more truthful
version is that, being captured by pirates while serv-
ing on board a Spanish vessel, he consented to join
the buccaneers. This writer describes the character
of his favorite hero in glowing colors, giving him
credit for all the qualities of a true gentleman, and
remarking with amusing naiveté that his only fault
was his 1mpat1ence and a habit of swearing a little too
frequently.*

Toward sunset on the 17th of May,® 1683, two large
ships flying Spanish colors were seen to the leeward of
Vera Cruz, crowding all sail to make the port, for a

is of course absurd. Robles himself gives them only 15 vessels, while in
the Moxaico are mentioned 11 ships and nine piraguas, one of the former
being mounted with 50 guns, according to the author of West Indies, Geoy. ard
Hist., 146, the other ships having in all 124 guns. This chronicler places the
land forces at 1,200

3/list. Flib., i. 276 et seq.

41d., i. 276.

5The Oth of May in Sharp’s Voyages, 116. The 17th is the date given
in FVillarroel, Inrasion Vera Cruz; Lerdo de Tejada, Apunt. Hist., 273. Al-
though the latter is somewhat contradictory as to dates in relating the sack
of Vera Cruz, he is probably right in this instance.
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league or two farther out at sea was a strong squadron
apparently in pursuit. At nightfall, the Spaniards
on the island and mainland made fires to guide them
into the harbor, for they were supposed to be two
vessels laden with cacao that were now due from the
coast of Caracas.® The pursuing squadron had changed
its course when the ships neared the fort, casting anchor
a short distance from the city, and the townsfolk went
to vespers and to rest as usual, apprchending no danger.

About an hour after midnight a few musket shots
were heard, but the inhabitants, suppo:ing a salute
was being given to some prominent citizen, remained
quietly in bed. The town was well garrisoned; the
castle of San Juan de Ulda was the strongest fort-
ress in the New World, and to add to the feeling of
security, the great fleet was daily expected from Spain.
Never, for years, had the citizens been more frec from
alarm than when they awoke at sunrise and prepared
to go about their dai%’ avocations. The church bells
tolled as usual for matins, and the people set forth to
obey the summons. But no matins were said that
morning in Vera Cruz; for those who first made their
appearance in the strects found them guarded by par-
tics of armed men, and soon the dread news spread
from house to house that pirates were in possession
of the city.

The buccaneers had obtained information from pris-
oners captured off the coast of the two ships laden
with cacao that were hourly expected at Vera Cruz,
and this information had suggested the stratagem
already related. On board the vessels which the
Spaniards had supposed to be thus laden was the
main body of the pirates, captains Van Horn and Lor-
encillo in charge. During the night nearly eight hun-
dred men, armed to the teeth, had landed at a distance
of less than a league from Vera Cruz, and guided by
slaves had crept stealthily on the city, surprised the

$Sharp’s Vogages (London, 1684), 116; Burney’s Iist. Bucc., 127.



196 THE SACK OF VERA CRUZ.

forts, and made themselves masters of the place with
the loss of only four men.’

Lorencillo had recommended that a party be sent
to surprise the fortress of San Juan de Ulda, and if
his advice had been taken, the pirates might have re-
mained masters of Vera Cruz long enough to obtain
an immense ransom. But this was deemed too hazard-
ous, and they resolved to plunder the town and make
good their retreat as speedily as possible. The doors
of the houses were battered in and the panic-stricken
inhabitants dragged forth without regard to age, sex,
or condition, into the public square, and soon after-
ward lodged in the principal churches, where, by nine
o’clock in the morning, over six thousand persons were
confined, most of them being placed in the parish
church.® For three days and nights they were kept
without food or drink, while the buccaneers plundered
the city, and when at length water and a small dole
of food were given to them, many died from drinking

T Three of these were killed by their own comrades, who mistook them in
the darkness for Spaniards. Sharp’s Foyages, 117. There is considerable dis-
crepancy among the authorities as to the particulars of the capture of Vera
Cruz. Sharp’s Voy., it is stated that tho buccaneers landed 774 men, who
by break of day had made thcmselves masters of the town and forts on the
mainland, and that after stationing guards at the streets ‘they sent parties to
break open the houses, where they found everybody as quiet as in their graves.’
Villarroel’s version is that on the 18th of May the pirates landed GO0 men,
who reached the city at 4 o’clock in the morning and chm‘l%ed through the
streets firing their muskets and crying ‘Long live the king of I'rance!” The
garrison, he says, rushed to arms, but were shot down or captured as soon as
they appeared, while all the citizens who attempted to leave their houses met
with a similar fate. Villarroel, Invasion Vera Cruz, in Lerdo de Tejada, A punt.
Hist., 274-5, 285. Esquemelin, //ist. Flib., i. 271, states that the inhabitants
remained quietly in their beds, ‘jusqu’a ce que I'’heure de se lever fQit venue;
mais alors ils furent bien surpris d’apprendre que les Flibustiers étoient maf-
tres de leur ville.’ Esquem?])in's account seems to be the more probable on
this point, for the pirates, having possession of the forts which commanded
the city, had nothing to gain by rousing up the inhabitants by night, and thus
giving them a chance to escape during the darkness. The stratagem by which
the buccancers contrived to make their landing undiscovered is related in
Burnen's Hist. Buce., 127, and is apparently taken from Esquemelin, and the
author of Sharp’s Voyayes, though neither mention that the buccaneer flect
appeare ! in chase of the two vessels.  Such a ruse was, however, very likely
to have been adopted.

® Villarroel, Invasion Vera Cruz, in Lerdo de Tejada, Apunt. Hist., 274-5.
In Sharp's Voy., 118, the number is given at 3,700, all of whom were confined
in the parish church; but it is not probable that the building would contain
80 many.



SPOILS AND RANSOMS. 197

immoderately. Mecanwhile the ruffians who kept
guard over them mocked at the wailings of the women
who begged of them in vain to save the lives of their
little ones. The captives were told that they were all
to be burned alive, and barrels of powder were placed
in their sight at the doors of the church, ready to blow
up the building in case they should attempt resistance.
Not a woman escaped outrage, and each day they were
driven off in bands, like cattle, to satisfy the lust of
their tormentors.’

A quantity of plate was found in the churches, and
the altars and sacred images were stripped of every
article of value; but these were only a small portion
of the spoils. Besides the property of the inhab-
itants, the pirates secured large amounts of specie,
bullion, and merchandise which had arrived at Vera
Cruz in transit for Spain. Among the plunder was
much valuable jewelry and about three hundred bags
of cochineal, each weighing from a hundred and fifty
to two hundred pounds.”® The freebooters were not
yet satisfied, however, and suspecting that some of
the wealthier citizens had secreted their treasure, put
several to the torture, again threatening to burn
the parish church with its inmates unless all their
valuables were delivered up. Thereupon, one of the
priests ascended the pulpit and besought the captives
to surrender their property in order to save their
lives. Thus a further large amount was obtained.
For the ransom of the governor, who was found hid-
den under a pile of grass in a stable, the sum of
seventy thousand pesos was paid.

Troops of mounted Spaniards now appeared on the
outskirts of the town, and occasionally made a dash

? ‘Las mugeres pasaron muchos travajos, porque su maldad no reservava
blanca, ni prieta, ni doncella ni casada, que 4 fuerza de su vigor no las sacasen,
llevandolas 4 forzarlas. Siendo este caso una de las cosas mas sensibles.’
Villarrvel, Invaxion V. Cruz, 275.

10 Esquemelin estimates the value of the booty at 6,000,000 crowns, but
this must be an exaggeration. /list. Flib., i. 272.

! Among these was one Gaspar de Herrera, who was suspended by the
private parts until he was nearly dead. AMosaico, i. 401.
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at the pirates, though they did not venture an organ-
ized attack. It was observed, however, that their
numbers constantly increased. Moreover the fleet
from Spain was every moment ecxpected, and the
corsairs deemed it prudent to depart. The spoils
were therefore removed to the island of Sacrificios
where the fleet was stationed. All the negroes and
mulattoes of both sexes, and some of the §paniards,
were taken from the churches to serve as pack ani-
mals. The latter were unused to such work, and be-
ing enfeebled by fasting could barely stagger under
their burdens, but were urged on by the merciless
blows of their captors. Not even yet were the pirates
satisfied. About fifteen hundred prisoners, intSudin
the governor and the leading citizens, were conveyeg
to the island, and a ransom of a hundred and fifty
thousand pesos demanded from the citizens of Vera
Cruz, under threat that twelve of the principal Span-
iards, whom meanwhile they would hold as hostages,
should be put to death in case of non-payment.”
Haggard and gaunt with hunger after their four
days’ imprisonment in the stifling and fetid atmosphere
of the crowded churches, the captives were in a piti-
ful condition;but further suffering was in store for
them. Before embarking for the island and on land-
ing they were closely scarched and everything of the
least value taken from them, even to the piece of straw
matting which was their only bed at night and their
shelter from the sun by day. Their food was of the
coarsest, and barely sufticient to sustain life. ~ A supply
of provisions sent to them from the city was appro-
priated by the pirates. They were constantly ex-
posed to insults and threats, and most of them expected
only death, or, as a worsc alternative, a life of hopeless
captivity. For ten days they remained on the 1sland
until the ransom was paid, about midday on the second

12 Robl: », Diario, in Doc. Hist. Mcx..i. 371-3. According to this authority
the ransom was demanded from the viceroy.  Zamacois places the amount at
160,000 pesos, v. 433-9.
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Sunday after the capture of Vera Cruz. The Span-
iards who had been held as hostages were then relcased;
the negroes and mulattoes, to the number of at least
thirteen hundred, and the most attractive of the female
captives, were placed on board the fleet;”® and the
buccaneers prepared to set sail from the island.

During the afternoon a double guard was placed
over the remaining prisoners; the rude huts which
they had erected of branches to screen them from sun
and dew were destroyed; and the pirates, brandishing
their weapons, never ceased to menace them with
death, in the hope of yet extorting a further ransom.
The threats were not executed, however, and at night
all the corsairs withdrew, for the ships were now ready
for sea. The following morning a boat’s crew returned
to take on board another load of captives; but found
that all had concealed themselves. 'Fhe governor and
two friars were discovered, and having no time for
further search the pirates carried them off to their
vessels, though the latter were afterward released.
They securetf also a launch laden with provisions,
which had been sent from the city for the relief of
the famishing prisoners.

No sooner had the ransom been paid than the fleet
from Spain appeared in sight.* The governor of
San Juan de Ulda immediately despatched a boat
to the admiral, proposing to make a combined attack
on the corsairs, who now put to sea, not waiting even
to take in water, or a supply of fresh meat which
they had provided at the mouth of the Medellin
River. Now once more the Spaniards let slip their
opportunity, for, like the Austrians in the days of
Bonaparte, they knew not the value of minutes. If
a prompt and vigorous attack had been made on the

BVillarroel states the corsairs took with them over 3,000 mnulattoes,

, and boys. Invasion Vera Cruz, in Lerdo de Tejada, Apunt. Hist.,

. Robles, that they carried away only 1,300 negroes. Diario, in Doc.
Ifixt. Mez.,i. 376. The latter is probably nearer the truth, for 3,000 captives
in addition to all the plunder would have overcrowded the vessels.

1]t consisted of 11 sail. Robles, Diario, in Doc. Hist. Mex., 374. 17 ves-
eels. Esquemelin, llist. Flib., i. 274. 12 great ships. Sharp’s Voyages, 118.
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overladen ships of the buccaneers it would probably
have been successful; but instead of instant action a
council of officers was summoned, and while they
were yet in deliberation, the pirates, crowding all sail,
made good their escape.” '

Before leaving the island of Sacrificios a partition
was made of the spoils, which were divided into 1,200
shares; and it was found that each share amounted
to 800 pesos, the total being valued at 960,000 pesos,
Van Horn demanding for himself 80 shares or 64,000
pesos. Lorencillo appears to have been dissatisfied
with his portion, for he quarrelled with the former
concerning the dividend,” and the dispute ended in a
duel in which Van Horn was wounded in the wrist.
The commander of the buccaneers paid no attention
to his hurt, for trifling wounds were not regarded
among his fraternity; but this neglect cost him his
life. His wrist grew worse; soon mortification set in;
and when fifteen days out at sea, he was thrown over-
board, a corpse, off Cape Yucatan. The plunder on
board his vessel, amounting to one hundred thousand
pesos, was bequeathed to his son, a youth of twelve,
and the command of his ship devolved on Grammont,
his lieutenant.

13 Robles, Diario, in Doc. Hist. Mez., i. 373; Cavo, ii. 64. The French and
English versions of the matter differ materially from the above. Esquemelin
says that the fleet arrived while the buccancers were at Vera Cruz, Hix.
Flib., i. 274; the author of Sharp’s Voy., 119-20, that Van Horn proposed to
attack it and offered to board the admniral’s ship, but that Lorencillo refused
to cooperate with him. It is not likely that the buccaneers would think of
thus risking their spoils, or would have ventured to remain on the coast in the
presence of 50 strong a flect, supported by the artillery and garrison of the
fort.

16Skarp’s Voyages, 119. Esquemelin attributes the quarrel to a report that
Van Horn had said something offensive concerning Lorencillo, whereupon the
latter went in search of his traducer, and though he denied the charge, drew
his sword, exclaiming, ‘Voila ce qui va me venger de l'injure que tu m’as
faite.” Van Horn also drew, and in the fight which ensued was wounded in
the wrist. /list. Flib., i. 201-2. Villarrocl's version is that immediately after
Loasting before his prisoners that he believed in no God, and that his success
was duc to his own valor, he was met by Lorencillo, who reproved him for
his harsh treatment of the captives. Hence the quarrel and the duel. Znra-
sion Vera Cruz, in Lerdo de Tejada, Apunt. Hist., 281. Robles states that
both were wounded, and that Lorencillo ofiered to restore the booty on certain
cenditions. Diario, in Doc. list, Mex., i. 313. The acconnt given in Skarp’s
}oy. seews the most probable.
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Overcrowding and want of provisions caused sick-
ness on board the buccanecer fleet, and numbers per-
ished. Lorencillo and his squadron were next seen off
Jamaica. Grammont sailed for the island of Little
Guayove, where he arrived in safety, though with the
loss of two thirds of his prisoners. A vessel which
accompanied him was chased by a Spanish armadilla;"”
and the crew were compelled to take to their boats,
securing their treasure, but leaving behind them the
slaves and merchandise. No further attempt was
made to pursue or punish the marauders. The Span-
iards contented themselves with offering up thanks to
the Almighty for their deliverance, and an order was
issued that in all churches, chapels, and convents
founded by the crown, a solemn annual mass should
be celebrated in gratitude “for the happy event of the
flight of Lorencillo.”

After the departure of the pirates those who re-
mained on the island of Sacrificios were at once trans-
ferred to the city, which was now guarded by a large
force of cavalry. During the raid over three hundred
of the inhabitants perished, and many of the survivors
were reduced to beggary. The entire loss amounted
to several millions of pesos. None of the buildings
were destroyed, but all were more or less injured, and
most of them were found in a filthy condition. Sev-
eral months were required to purify the churches.
The streets were choked with garbage, and the air
was poisoned with the stench o? decomposed bodies.

For many years the name of Lorencillo was re-
membered with terror by the people of New Spain,
and even to this day it is not forgotten.® Such was

70n June 17, 1683, it was reported from Goazacoalcos that the pirates
demanded 60,000 pesos of ransom for their negro and mulatto captives. An
armadillo of 6 vessels with G00 men left Vera Cruz for Goazacoalcos in the
middle of July, in pursuit of the pirates; but was drived back by a storm
and detained for about a week. About the 20th of August the armament re-
turned with 6 prizes and 90 slaves taken from the enemy. Rolles, Diario,
in Doc. Hist. J}:'z., i. 370, 380-3. The recapture of the sf;ves is confirmed
in Esquemelin, but it is nowhere mentioned cxcept in Robles that the Span-

iards took more than one vessel.
BThe name of Lorencillo afterward became a byword in Vera Cruz.
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the dread which he inspired that life and property
were no longer considered safe in Vera Cruz, and
when foreign vessels appeared in sight the inhabi-
tants fled to the woods. It was now ordered that
the treasure destined for Spain should be detained at
Jalapa until after the arrival of the fleet, and the
armada de Barlovento was ordered thenceforth to con-
voy the vessels as far as Habana. This force was
reorganized, and its commander tried by court-martial
and cashiered for neglect of duty, Don Andrés Ochoa
y Zirate being appointed in his stead.

The raid of Morgan and his gang on Panam4, in
1671, had always been considered as the boldest ven-
ture of the buccaneers; but the sack of Vera Cruz
was a vet more daring exploit. When Morgan was
once in possession of Panamd it was impossible that
any large body of Spanish troops could arrive in time
to interfere with his operations, but at Vera Cruz the
case was different.  Apart from the garrison of San
Juan de Ulta there were troops stationed at several
points not more than thirty leagues distant. A
couricer vas despatehed to the eity of Mexico within
a few hours after the landing of the pirates, and ar-
rived in three days,” reporting that thev came in fif-
teen laroe ships and numbered cight thousand men.
On the fullowing day a bastily levied force of nearly
two thousand horse and a few companies of foot set
forth, soon to be followed by large reénforcements
from the capital, all Spaniards capable of bearing
arms, between the ages of fifteen and sixty, being en-
rolled. The ecclesiastics assembled in the cathedral
and resolved to join them in a body. But before any
of these reénforcements could arrive the buccaneers
Lad abandoned the city, and news of their departure
was received in Mexico on the 5th of June.”

When anything was irrecoverably lost it was customary to say that Loren-
21‘11; h:‘;:\l;n‘iuu it. Vill irree’, Invasion Vera Cruz, in Lerdo de Tejada, Apunt.

¥ The Jdistance is about 94 Spanish leazues.
= The chici aatiaoriiies wiich have been consulted in relation to the sack
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On the 28th of July the viceroy arrived in Vera
Cruz. His first measure was to cause the governor
to be tried for cowardice, and sentence of death was
pronounced; but an appeal being made, his life was
spared and he was ordered to proceed to Spain. The
defences of the city were repaired and strengthencd,
and to ensure the earlier departure of the fleet it was
ordered that the annual fair be transferred from the
capital to Vera Cruz, which was as yet the only port
of entry in New Spain, and now for a few years became
the distributing point for the merchandise of Seville.

During the remainder of Laguna’s administration,
the raids of corsairs and privateers continued almost
without intermission. On the 3d of August 1683
news was received in the city of Mexico that war was
declared between France and Spain, and in the follow-
ing year hostilities broke out with England. The

operations of the English buccaneers were inainly

directed, as we have seen, against the cities of Central
America; but those of the French filibusters extended
over all portions of the coast of New Spain. On the
northern portion of Santo Domingo nearly ten thou-
sand of the latter had their head-quarters, all of them

of Vera Crnz are the contemporaneous accounts of Father Villarroel and
Antonio Robles. The former, who was assistant parish priest of Vera Cruz
at the time of its capture, has left in one of its registers of births a detailed
record of this event. It contains occasional repetitions, and, as I have said,
there is some confusion in the dates, but otherwise it is clear and graphic.
A literal copy is given by Lerdo de Tejada, in his Apuntes Hi-tdricos, 273-83,
and another copy, less carefully taken, will be found in the Mosuico Mexi-
cano, i. 399-407. Though the Diario of Robles, i. 370-83, contains only
brief items relating to this event, it serves to contirm the main statements of
Vil'arroel and furnishes some additional facts. These are the sources from
which the priucipal writers of later times have drawn their information,
though not always conforming to the originals. Among the nuinerous forei n
writers, English, French, and Dutch, who treat of this event in connection
with the buccaneers, the author of Sharp’s Foyuges and Esquemclin are

robably the best, though both are biassed, and the latter superficial. The
ormer narrative is meagre, but professes to be taken from despatches sent
from Jamaica in August 1683. As his work was published in London during
the following year, this is probably the case. Further mention of this writer
is made in Hist. Cent. Amer., ii. 510-11, this scries, and of Esquemelin in /d.,
567. These works are probably the most reliable so far as they relate to the
stratagem by which the city was surprised, and to questions of detail relating
to the buccaneer armament; for the Spaniards captured no prisoncrs, and
neither Villarroel nor Robles could have known anything definite about these
matters.
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professing allegiance to the king of France. The
waters of the Caribbean sea swarmed with pirates who
defied the Spanish cruisers and the armada de Barlo-
vento. All the efforts of the Spanish authorities to
rid the seas of this scourge were of little avail. Orders
were given that whenever a pirate craft was captured
the captain and officers should be shot and the crew
sent to work at the galleys in Spain. Nevertheless
it seldom happened that a vessel arrived in Vera Cruz
without bringing news of further depredations.

At the very time when Van Horn and his gang
were sharing the spoils of this city at the island of
Sacrificios, a large force of French corsairs captured
the city of Guayana with its governor and garrison,
and took possession of Margarita and other small
islands in the West Indies. Maracaibo was also
threatened, and the audiencia of Santa Fé petitioned
the viceroy to allow the armada de Barlovento to pro-
ceed to New Granada. On the 2d of May 1684 news
arrived in Mexico that Tampico had again been
sacked by a large force of pirates, and a number of the
inhabitants carried off as captives. Two days later
the Barlovento fleet sailed in pursuit of them and
captured three of their ships.® On July 6th of the
same year Lorencillo appeared once more in the North
Sea, this time off the port of Campeche, which he
captured after a five days’ siege, and thence marched
on Mérida, but was driven back with heavy loss. On
his return voyage he encountered the armada under
command of Ochoa, and one of his frigates mounting
twenty-seven guns was captured by Spaniards. Lo-
rencillo escaped with his own vessel”? and henceforth
appears no more in connection with piratical expedi-
tions on the mainland.

21 Rivera mentions that, during this year, a pirate vessel was captured
near Tampico with 104 men on board. The prize was taken to Vera Cruz and
5 of the corsairs were hanged. The rest would have met with the same fate
but for a recent order requiring that all frecbooters taken captive should be
sent to Spain. Gob. Mez., i. 263.

7 ]d., 426, 428, 435-7. Ochoa died about this time; but whether he was
killed in action is not recorded.
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Nevertheless the settlers of Mérida were constantly
in dread of filibusters. Many of the corsairs when
not engaged in their raids emp{oyed themselves in the
proﬁta%le occupation of tortoise fishing, these grounds
extending from Campeche to the confines of Nica-
ragua. Among the numerous keys, islands, or coves
of this long stretch of coast they careened their ves-
sels, pursued their fishing, and planned their expedi-
tions, safe from the attacks of Spanish cruisers. The
intricate coast of Campeche, with which they were
perfectly familiar, was constantly frequented by these
marauders, and in consequence Mérida was contin-
ually exposed to their attacks. The garrison consisted
of but two companies of - half-clad and poorly fed sol-
diers, until after the raid of Lorencillo, when two more
companies were sent from Spain. The encomenderos
offered to build a wall around the city at their own
expense, asking only that they should be released from
the tax for the support of cavalry called montado.

During the years 1685 and 1686 the principal oper-
ations of the pirates were the raid of Agramon on
the coast of Florida, and the expedition of Dampier to
the South Sea. The former was driven off with the
loss of fifty men. The operations of Dampier, Swan,
and otherson the coast of Central America have been
related in their place; and it has already been men-
tioned that the latter, accompanied by Townley, re-
solved to try his fortune on the coast of Mexico, hoping
to capture the Manila ship, which at this epoch was
wont to leave the Philippines in June and arrive at
Acapulco about Christmas. After an unsuccessful
attempt to take the Lima galleon from under the guns
of the fort at _Acapulco early in November 1685, and
an equally vain effort to find the town of Colima on
the 26th, they reached Salagua, or Santiago, Decem-
ber 1st, and had a skirmish with the Spaniards, cap-
turing two mulattoes, but were unable to find there
Eny such town as was described in the Spanish pilot-

ooks.
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Many of the Englishmen died in this region of a
prevalent dropsy following chills and fever. The
malady might have been easily cured by certain parts
of an alligator pulverized and taken in water, but
there werc no alligators to be had. On the 11th they
sighted Cape Corrientes, and it was their plan to
cruise about this place and watch for the galleon; but
it was also necessary to obtain supplies, and during
one of the raids made for this purpose, the galleon is
supposed to have passed by unnoticed; at least the
hope of taking her was soon given up, and on January
6, 1686, the fleet separated, sailing from Banderas
Valley, where on December 4th they had had a fight
with the Spaniards, losing four men and killing seven-
tecn. Captain Townley with two vessels returned
down the coast, while Captain Swan continued his
voyage northward in the hope of finding towns or rich
wines.  The northern limit reached by the ships was
23° 30/, just above Mazatlan, although Swan went in
boats still farther in search of Culiacan, which he did
not reach. The fleet turned about on February 2d.
On Fecbruary 11th they anchored at the mouth of the
Rio Santiago, or Tololotlan, up which stream seventy
men were sent in four boats; but having captured an
Indian who could guide them to Santa Pecaque, prob-
ably Centipac, Swan set out in person with double
that force. The inhabitants ran away, and the town
was entered without resistance. Several days were
spent in loading the canoes with supplies, and on the
19th fifty men on their way from the town to the
landing, each leading a horse laden with maize, were
attacked by Spaniards, Indians, and negroes from
Santiago, and every man killed, as already related,®
including Ringrose the buccaneer author, who was
Swan’s supercargo. This disaster discouraged the
British “from attempting anything more hereabouts.”
It was proposed to go to Cape San Liicas for repairs,
and they sailed on the 21st, passing the Tres l\f:rias

B Hist. Cent. Amer., ii. 568, this series.
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but were driven back thither on the 7th of March.
It was now decided to sail for Manila, and after taking
water at Banderas they left Corrientes on the last day
of March. The men murmured at the long voyage
before them, but hoped for rich booty in the East
Indics. The historian of the expedition naturally
does not quit the coast without having his say about
Californian geography and the Strait of Anian.*
Apart from the raids of buccaneers few incidents
worthy of note occurred during the reign of Viceroy

. . o .
Laguna; there was an Indian revolt in New Mexico,

and an expedition to the coast of Lower California,
which will be related in their place. On the 8th of
February 1684, the viceroy received intelligence that
his term of office was extended for threc years.® In
1686 his residencia was taken by the fiscal Bastida.
The charges were trivial, and about two years later
he returned to his native country, where, having
made a donation of fifty thousand pesos for some
charitable purpose, he received the rank of grandee
of Spain, and. his son the title of duke of Guastala.

% Dampier's New Voyage around the World, London, 1699, i. 237-78.
The author, Wm. Dcmpier, was on the fleet, but in what position does not
appear. He had left Virginia under Captain Cook in Aug. 1583, had been
with Captain Davis in the south, and had come north with Captain Swan.
Between 1686 and 1688 several attacks on the coast of Cumand were repelled
by Governor Gaspar Mateo de Acosta, but he was unable to expel a French
colony established at the mouth of the river Guarapicheto, and the armada de
Barlovento was ordered to proceed to his aid. A number of French pirates
were pardoned, and one of them, named Lorenzo, aspointed sargento mayor.
In December 1686, three prisoners taken at Laguna de Términos gave inform-
ation that 100 men had been engaged there for several months in cutting log-
wood and shipping it to Jamaica. Measures were taken by the viceroy to
cxpel them. Rivera, Gob. Mex., i. 263-4. The treaty concluded between
England, France, and Holland at this period, whereby these countries were
pl to aid each other in extending their possessions in America, caused
much uneasiness to the Spanish crown, and the viceroy was ordered to make
vigorous preparations for defence. The forts were re]mired, the armada de
Barlovento was refitted, another vessel purchased, and Jacinto Lopez Gijon,
admiral of the Flemish squadron in the ocean fleet, placed in command.

® During the previous year an impostor appeared in the person of Antonio
Benavides, who represented himself as the marquis of Saint Vincent, a field-
marshal and governor of the castle of Acapulco. He is commonly known as
the Tapado. %e was arrested by order of the audiencia, tried, and sentenced
to death. While in prison he tried to strangle himself with a handkerchief.
After his execution his head and one of his hands were taken to Puebla. The
other hand was fastened on the gallows. Robles, 370 et seq.; Cavo, ii. 64;
Ordenes de la Corona, M8, iii. 60-1.



CHAPTER XI.

THE PROVINCE OF VERA CRUZ.
1683-1803.

ExTENT oF THE CrTY OF VERA CRUZ—ENTREPOT OF COMMERCE—CHARACTER
or THE POPULATION—PROSPERITY OF THE PEOPLE—ITS INHABITANTS—
Its TRADE—ScArcITY o WATER—THE Brack-voMrr—THE PorT or
VERA CRtz—THE FoRTRESS OF SAN JUAN DE ULVA—ITS GARRISON—
TeE WoRkS CostT NEARLY ForTY MILLIONS 0¥ PESOS—CESSATION oF
BoccaNEERING RaIDS—THE Towns oF CORDOBA, JALAPA, AND ORIZABA.

Trzere are few records as to the condition of the
arovince of Vera Cruz for some twenty or thirty
years after the sack of its capital. About 1730 the
city contained perhaps three thousand Spaniards,
mulattoes, and negroes, apart from its garrison; the
remainder of its heterogeneous population including
people from all the western nations of Europe. The
city was about one sixth of a league in length and
half that distance in width. Most of the inhabitants
were mulattoes; some of them being wealthy, for
money was readily made at this entrepdt of com-
merce, and even the negro slaves could accumulate
enough to purchasc their freedom.

In the middle of the sixteenth century Vera Cruz
was but an insignificant port,serving as a landing-
place for the bands of adventurers who came to the
shores of New Spain. At the opening of the nine-
teenth century it was the commercial emporium of a
territory whose vast resources, little developed as they
are even to this day, had excited the envy of the
world. At the latter date its population was esti-

mated at over thirty-five thousand, of whom about
(308)
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twenty thousand were permanent residents.! The in-
habitants were quiet, orderly, and peaceable. Business
dishonesty was unknown, and property of all kinds was
secure, few precautions being needed to insure its
safety. There were no beggars in the streets, and
few criminals in the public jail; the poorer classes
were all employed in some useful occupation, and
among the rich were not a few who had acquired
immense fortunes in commercial pursuits. The gov-
ernment employés, both civil and military, performed
their duties faithfully and were accorded the consid-
eration due to their rank. The church was well sup-
ported, and the religious orders were among the largest
property-holders in the province.?

A
10f the floating population 3,040 were seamen, 7,370 muleteers, and 4,500
passengers, troops, servants, and non-resident tradesmen. Lerdo de Tejada,
Apunt. Hist., 3066. In old Vera Cruz therc was in 1777 a population of 777
ns, of whom only 39 were Spaniards. Vera Cruz, Fabrica, in Mex. Doc.
les.. MS., i. no. ii. fol. 10. At this date the population of the new city
was cstimated by the traveller De Menonville, in Pinkerton’s Col. Vey., xiii.
777, at 6,000 to 7,000. If this be so it had increased more than five-fold
within 30 years. The writer affirms that at the time of his visit the houses
were built entirely of stone brought from Campeche, and that he saw the
ruins of at least 20 buildings that had lain there for fifty years, the walls of
which were of masonry; but why stone should be brought from Campeche
when there was excellent material in the neighborhood he does not explain.
Speaking of the city he remarks that not the slightest culture einbellishes
the neighborhood. *The men,’ he continues, ‘are, generally speaking, lofty-
minded and proud; either from this being the specific character of their
nation, or owing to their excessive wealth in a country where gold stnm{)s s0
much value on its possessor. They comprchend trade very well, but here,
as elsewhere, their natural indolence, and their rooted habits, and supersti-
tion, render them irremediably averse from labour. Incessantly they are
seen with their chaplets and relics on their arms and round their neck; their
houses are filled with statues and paintings of saints; and their life is a series
of devotional Bmctices. The women live recluse in their apartments above
stairs, to avoid being seen by strangers; though it is by no means difficult to
perceive that, but for the restrictions placed on them by their husbands, they
would be far more easy of access. Within doors they wear over the shirt
nothing but a small silk corset, laced with a gold or silver cord. Still, though
80 simple their dress, they wear a gold necklace, bracelets at the wrist of the
samec metal, and at their ears pendants of emeralds of greatest value. Gen-
erally speaking, the fair in this city are not handsome; for however rich their
dreas they show a deficiency of grace and funcy, and, under an apparent
reserve, are strongly inclined to %nr:ci\'ionsness. The only amusements are
the neveria, a sort of coffec-house, whither the gentceler sort repair to take
ice-creams, and some imitations of bull-fights for the vulgar; unless indecd
under this denomination be comprised the processions and Hagellations of the
holy week.’ .
*In 1746 Vera Cruz contained seven convents belonging to the Dominican,
Franciscan, Auq:xtininn, and Merced orders, two hospitals, and a Jesuit col-
Hist. ., Vor. II1. 14
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At this period the trade of Vera Cruz probably
exceeded thirty million pesos a year. Apart from
commerce the city had little to depend upon. So
limited was the area of cultivated land in its vicinity?
that nearly all the leading articles of consumnption
were brought from a distance. Stock-raising was the
chief occupation in the surrounding country, and
hides and dried fish the only commodities exported
from the province. Much of the prosperity now
enjoyed was due to the measures adopted by Cdrlos
III. in 1778 with a view to facilitate commerce
between Spain and her colonies. Many of the re-
strictions which had aimed at a monopoly of trade,
and had served only to divert it into the hands of
forcigners, were now removed, and no community
was more greatly benefited thereby than that of
Vera Cruz, which was still the only port of entry on
the northern seaboard of New Spain. In 1795 a tri-
bunal of commerce* was established there by royal
decree, and its opcrations were of great benefit both
to the city and the province. At the opening of the
nineteenth century the city had attained the full
growth of her prosperity, and more substantial build-
ings were erected than during the two preceding cen-
turies. The madrepore stoue, called by the natives
piedra micura, and found in abundance on the reefs
lege. There were also two chapels outside the walls. Villa-Sedior, Teatro, i.
271. Although there were more priests in Vera Cruz than were needed, many
of the towns in the district had none, and in 1802 had not been visited by the
bishop of Puebla, to whose diocese they belonged, for 47 years. The first -
hospital was established by two Jesuits on the island of San Juan de Ulua
During the rule of the Marquis of Montesclaros a hospital was founded in
Vera Cruz and named after the marquis. It was abandoned in 1805. The
next one founded in the city was the military hospital of San Cé4rlos, com-

leted in 1764. One named Our Lady of Loreto was built for the accommo-
dation of women, and one for convalescents was commenced in 1784 and
placed in charge of the Bethlehemite nuns. The last three, ther with the
gublic hospital of San Sebastian, existed in 1807. Lerdo de Tgada, Apunt.
fist., 377-8.

3 Elsewhere in the province agricultural products were considerable, in-
cluding among other items 300,060 fanegas of corn a year, 243,750 arrobas of
cotton, and 80,000 arrobas of sugar. Lerdo de Tejada, Apunt. 1ist., 365-G.

* *Consulado.” In 1784 the office of ¢ comandancia dei resguardo de todas

las rentas’ was created in Vera Cruz by order of the crown, the regulations
adopted being the same as those in force at Cidiz.
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in the harbor, supplied an excellent material, and
came ihto general use. Before this time the houses
were built for the most part of wood, although during
the preceding century and a half the city had several
times been partly destroyed by fire.®

The streets of Vera Cruz were regularly laid out,
their direction corresponding with that of the car-
dinal points of the compass. Their pavement was
commenced in 1765 and completed in 1776. In April
of the following year they were lighted for the first
time by order of the municipality. In 1790 a cemetery
was opened outside the walls of the city, and by order
of the viceroy the burial of the dead in church vaults
was forbidden. To this practice and to the scantiness
and poor quality of the water® may be attributed in
part the pestilences from which the inhabitants were
seldom free. The rich obtained their supply from
cisterns built on their own premises, the poor from
an aqueduct’ which was usually empty during two or
three months in the year, when they were dependent
on a single well sunk near the bastion of Santa Bir-
bara. Another cause of the prevalence of disease
was the overcrowding of the houses, which were
packed so closely together in the poorer quarters of
the town as to impede the circulation of the air.

The rains set in at Vera Cruz about the 20th of
March and lasted for six months, being followed by
violent north-west winds which continued almost
throughout the dry season, raising the sand in such
clouds as often to obstruct the sight and render breath-
ing difficult. September and October were the most
unhealthy months, and it was then that the sickness

§ The fire of 1618, spoken of on page 27 of this volume, is not even men-
tioned by Miron in Noticia Instructiva, although there is no doubt that it
occurred; but he speaks of two others that happened in 1606 and 1608.

¢ As early as 1703 an attemfrt was made to bring water into the city from
the river Jama In 1795 a dam was built and an aqueduct constructed for
some distance, but the work was abandoned. Though surveys have since been
made and revenues assigned for the purpose, nothing has been accomplished.
Lerdo de Tejada, Apunt. Hist., 322-6.

7 Constructed by Malibran in 1726.



212 THE PROVINCE OF VERA CRUZ.

known as the black-vomit was the most deadly. This
scourge was supposed to have been introduced by an
English slave-ship in the year 1699, but was more
pro%)ably an endemic disease due to the causes already
meuntioned, and to the malaria generated by decaying
animnal and vegetable matter.® At the close of the
last and the beginning of the present century so great
was the havoc wrought by this malady that it was
proposed to abandon the site of Vera Cruz and re-
move to Jalapa.

The port of Vera Cruz was neither safe nor com-
modious, being but a roadstead, sheltered on the east
side by a few small and widely separated reefs and
islands. On the north it was entirely exposed, and
from September to March was swept by violent north
winds, which made the anchorage unsafe. The island
of San Juan de Ulua is less than a mile distant from
the city, only its south-west point on which the fort
was built being above high-water mark. On the lee-
ward side of this island, facing the city, vessels made
fast by cable ropes to huge bolts and rings let into
the walls of the fort. Here the depth of water was
six or eight fathoms, and from this point passengers
and freight were transferred to the mainland in boats.
Opposite the city, and at about the same distance, was
a small reef called Lavandera, near which was also an
anchoring ground for merchant craft. Five or six
miles to the south-east are the islands of Verde and
Sacrificios, where were the quarantine ground and the
station for ships of war. The harbor was entered by
two channels, the best one being on the north side,
between Ulda and the mainiand, with a depth of four
to five fathoms and a width of four hundred varas.
The other channel lay between the island of Sacrifi-

8 Hhumboldt, Exzai, i. 276-9. In 1803, the eminent Spanish physician Flo-
renciv Perez de Comoto declared that the discase had not been introduced
from any foreign country. The presence of foreigners, of whom large num-
bLers did of yellow fever, was, however, believed to aid the development of
the germs of this discase, and such was the c,\"l»:ricncc in all places subject to

it.  In IN25 the legislature offered a reward ot 100,000 pesos to any oue who
should discover a remedy.
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cios and the P4jaro reef, and was of the same depth
and width.

A larger and more sheltered harbor, named Anton
Lizardo, was situated a few leagues to the south-east
of Vera Cruz,® and there appears to be no good reason
why the latter was selected, except that the island of
San Juan de Ulda was a favorable spot for the con-
struction of a fortress. No attempt was made to

Sanx JuaN pE ULUA.

improve it, and at the close of the eighteenth century
it remained in the same condition as when first dis-
covered by Grijalva in 1518.

% Anton Lizardo was the harbor in which the French fleet anchored in
1838 and the Americans in 1847-1848.
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There are no reliable data as to the exact time
when the fortress of San Juan de Ulda was erected;
but the works must have been commenced between
the years 1582 and 1625. At the former date the
island was occupied only by sailors and merchants; at
the latter the fortress is mentioned by the traveller
Gage, in connection with his visit to Vera Cruz, and
appears to have been then well advanced. It was
probably the strongest fort in the New World, and
until the improvements made in modern warfare was
considered almost impregnable, being often termed
the San Juan de Acre of America. In 1746 it was
mounted with one hundred and twenty guns and
three mortars. In 1780 it contained one hundred
brass cannon and about fifty pieces of ordnance made
of iron, the latter being of heavy calibre.” The main
building was in the shape of a parallelogram, with a
bastion at each of its angles. The one at the south-
west corner was named the bastion of San Pedro and
was completed in 1633. It was surmounted by a
high tower on which was a revolving light. On the
south-east corner was the bastion of San Crispin,
completed in 1710. Here was built a lookout tower
whence vessels were sighted and communication main-
tained with the city by a system of signals. Others
named Our Lady del Pilar and Santa Catalina were
finished in 1778 and 1799 respectively. The curtain
and the flanks of the bastions facing seaward were
covered with stakes of hard wood sharpened at the
end and rising a foot and a half out of the water, so
that at high tide vessels could not 